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Cyrus Ives Diaries, 1862-72:  Names referred to.  Updated 12/19/13 through 11/19/14 using copy & paste

A, G [George Atkins?]  7/30/68 got a letter from G A;  11/1/68 wrote to G A;  

Abbey, N [M?]  2/13/68 went over to N [M?] Abbey around to Abiram's got a load of tubs shod a horse for J [?] Hall;  

Adams Hall  3/6/66 Rat & Francis Hale came down to Winsted went up west with them went to Adams Hall in the eve;  
Adams  11/2/69 went to Election voted for Adams for Governor;  
Adams, Mr  7/20/62 went to meeting Mr Adams preached;  
Addams, Mr  9/15/62 traded sheep with Mr Addams;  
Alfred Lot  7/9/62 mowed clover down on the Alfred [?] lot;  
Allen, F & G  8/30/63 went over to Sandisfield funeral sermon of Lieutenant B Deming & B Wolcott F & G Allen H 
Richardson preached;  
Alois  11/5/69 helped Cotton set window glass Alois repairing his house came down here in evening;  
Andrews, Emery  8/30/69 Emery Andrews came over bought a bull of Del for 50 dollars;  
Asin, Mrs Miller  2/17/69 Mrs Miller Asin [?] & Mozart spent the afternoon here;  
Atkins, George H  5/10/72 went up to E Slocum's to Bennett Moore's on the hill down to Hodge's Chase & G Atkins & 
back to Mrs Bentley stayed all night;  5/15/72 went down to J Johnson G Atkins traded the Hull oxen with George for a 
pair of steers $50 to boot;  5/25/72 went [from L Smith's] down to G Atkins came over to Father's with Em took supper 
went down to Northway's stayed all night;  7/1/72 came down to the [mill] from home Mr Pebbles helped me board 
some on the ends went down to H Chase & G Atkins;  8/30/72 went down to the mill & sawed went down to G Atkins J 

Johnson's & to Hodges;  10/4/72 went down to G Atkins he paid me the balance on note;  [Cash Account 1872] Oct 5th 

G H Atkins $30.75 Received;  
Atkins, William  7/1/62 William Atkins fell wounded near Richmond taken prisoner by the rebels;  7/26/62 W Atkins 
exchanged;  8/12/62 Wm H Atkins died at the hospital at Philadelphia;  8/24/62 went to West Granville to meeting W H 
Atkins funeral sermon preached by Mr Gardner;  

Aunt Lurene  2/2/68 wrote to Aunt Lurene;  9/20/68 wrote to Aunt Lurene;  12/17/68 received a letter from Aunt Lurene;  
12/18/68 wrote to Aunt Lurene;  11/23/69 Received a letter [from] Lurene;  2/6/70 wrote to Aunt Lurene;  9/24/70 
received a letter from Aunt Lurene;  10/2/70 wrote to Aunt Lurene;  1/29/71 wrote a letter to Aunt Lurene;  7/30/71 wrote
to Aunt Lurene;  2/4/72 wrote to Aunt Lurene;  11/3/72 went to Colebrook River by Father's attended the Funeral of 
Uncle Silas Sermon by Dr Babcock text ["]Work while tis day for the night cometh when no man can work["] stayed to 
Father's over night wrote to Aunt Lurene;  12/19/72 received a letter from Aunt Lurene;  12/29/72 wrote to Aunt Lurene;  
Austin  [Beef peddled in 1864?] O Austin  X2.96;  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  O Austin  X146;  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XO 
Austin  X100;  12/23/65 hired a horse of Austin [in Winsted] came to the River;  12/30/65 came to Salisbury [from 
Winsted?] with Charles Thorpe had a team of Austin;  

B, C F  1/9/70 went up to C F B in the evening played Euchre;  
Babb  1/8/70 came up in a sleigh Babb came up to Cold Spring;  
Babb, Curtis  3/22/69 Curtis Babb came here stayed all night;  3/23/69 Curtis Babb stayed here;  8/11/70 Curt & Del 
came down & got Dim & I; went over to the reservoir; the body of H Scoville found by Wm Stowe Aged 20 yrs;  8/13/70 
mowed for C Babb around the old barn place on the east lot Del went home at night;  8/14/70 A Cotton & wife came 
down to Curt's;  8/21/70 went over to D Farnham's & over on Beech Hill Del went with me raked some hay for Curt;  
8/25/70 worked shingling Curt's barn;  8/26/70 finished one roof of Curt's barn Father came up and worked A Case 

worked;  [Cash Account 1870] August 27th Curtis Babb for haying $20.25 Received;  8/29/70 went up on the hill up to 
Curt's with John Cotton;  
Babb, L  1/1/68 shod a horse for L Babb;  1868 Cash Account August 22nd L Babb for veal $2.95;  

Babb, N [M?]  12/23/67 shod a pair of oxen & horses for N Babb;  8/8/68 shod M Babb's horses;  3/16/69 went up to C 
Case's to N Babb down to Melman's home up to David Farnham with Del to a dance stayed to Howd's over night;  
Babbitt  4/13/66 went down to Babbitt's helped helped Erastus sugar off;  4/19/66 went down to Sheff's got a jug of 
cider helped Erastus gather his tubs stayed to Babbit's;  
Babcock  6/1/72 Mr Babcock came up in the evening;  
Babcock, Dr  11/3/72 went to Colebrook River by Father's attended the Funeral of Uncle Silas Sermon by Dr Babcock 
text ["]Work while tis day for the night cometh when no man can work["] stayed to Father's over night wrote to Aunt 
Lurene;  
Babcock, Walter  7/7/63 mowed for P M Fowler on the Babcock farm;  7/10/63 went over to Levi's up to Cases around 
to the Babcock farm got my tools;  9/9/63 Mrs Babcock died about 9 oclock;  9/11/63 Stillman & Mrs Babcock buried;  
9/20/63 Walter Babcock died in the afternoon;  2/10/64 went to auction of Walter Babcock;  
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Bach [?], Mrs Herman [?]  2/14/69 Funeral of Mrs Herman [?] Bach [?];  
Bacon, L  6/15/62 went over to L Bacon's [in CT?];   6/23/62 went up to L Bacons [in CT?];  11/8/69 started with Hall for 
Springfield stayed to L Bacon's;  11/10/69 came home from Springfield by Bacon's took dinner with him brought a load 
of windows & doors for Hall;  
Bacon, M  1/17/62 drawed rails down to M Beacons [Bacons?];  6/9/62 drawed rails off from the mountain by M Bacons 
[in CT?];  
Bagg, [?] Deacon  1/14/67 went down to C Deming's got Georgia [Hotchkiss] carried her to Dea Baggs;  
Bailey, F  5/13/70 commenced peeling bark with Dim for Northway on Daniels's went over to Baileies [?] in the evening; 
5/19/70 peeled bark went over to F Bailey's in the eve played cards, Lizzie Treat was there;  
Bailey, Sarah  1/3/70 Sarah Bailey went down a passenger up to Otis;  1/18/70 went up to Tolland called to F Hale's & 
S Hale's went to Otis Sarah went up to Otis broke a wheel of the stage got a wagon of L Caul;  
Bailey, T  3/15/67 went from Riverton to Collinsville over to Winsted stayed to T Bailey's;  
Baird  9/1/66 came up [from J P Hall's] to Father's Baird came to Hall's;  9/22/66 came down [from Smith's, Otis] with 
Baird came up home;  
Baldwin, D  [Beef 1864?] XD Baldwin  X82;  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XD Baldwin  X68;  10/5/67 fixed boots shod 2 
horses for Baldwin;  12/11/67 went to New Boston shod Nelson Twining's oxen a pair of horses for D Baldwin;  
12/16/67 shod a pair of oxen for D Baldwin;  7/7/68 shod Baldwin's horses;  7/30/68 shod Baldwin's horses;  
Baldwin, H  6/11/72 went [from Ira Smith's] down to the River with H Baldwin rode part way back with Dr Gay;  
Baldwin, L  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XL Baldwin  X115;  
Baldwin, Mary Jane  5/14/68 Dellas [Dallas?] Person [Parson?] [and?] Mary Jane Baldwin were married;  
Baldwin, Rollin  2/12/68 went over to Abiram's got a load of sap tubs shod Rollin Baldwin's horse went up to singing 
school Clara came up;  4/3/68 shod a pair of horses for R Baldwin;  7/7/68 shod Baldwin's horses;  7/30/68 shod 
Baldwin's horses;  
Ball, H  1/8/65 went down to A Ostranders over to H Balls in the eve to hear him fiddle;  
Ball, J  3/4/65 went over to Chapinville [from Dels?] went down to J Balls in the evening;  4/23/65 went down into Balls 
swamp [from Del's?];  
Bane, J  [1868 Cash Account] October 31st J Bane for cabbage $4.00 Received;  

Bany, E  Memoranda [1865 Diary]  E Bany [sic] Dr  April 22nd By 31/2 days work  April 29th By 4 days work  May 6th By 6 

days work  May 8th By cash to F Hibbert $3.00  May 13th By 51/2 days work  May 20th By 6 days work  27 By 6 days work

June 3rd By 5 days work  June 10th By 51/2 days work  June 17th By 51/2 days work June 24th By 6 days work  July 1st By 

51/4 days work;  Memoranda [1865 Diary]  Edmund Bonay [sic] Cr  May 8th By cash  $20.00  May 11th By cash  $3.00  

June 27th By cash  $35.00  July 8th By an order on Wm Barnum  $45.48  Received in full;  
Barber,  5/3/72 went over to Barber's in evening;  
Barber, John  7/30/65 John Barber came down in the evening;  
Barnes, Emerson  10/26/71 went over to E Barnes in forenoon came back [to L Smith] with Harger;  10/28/71 chopped 
wood [for L Smith] went into the woods where Barnes boys were piling logs came home [to Father's] in the evening;  
11/28/71 went over to E Barnes, very rough going;  2/20/72 went over by Lawrence, and commenced drawing Barnes 
bark 4 teams C Northway & Cotton helped me;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] Barnes Bark $3.50 per ton [for 8 ton 910 [=] 

$29.58 [Total] $45.27;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] Barnes Bark Feb 20th 2800 Feb 22nd 2310 Feb 23rd 2650 Mch 3rd 2540 
[sum=] 10,300;  5/13/72 went up to E Barnes in evening;  5/14/72 went up on Barnes lot got a stick of timber for a sill;  
7/26/72 Father carried me down to the saw mill sawed some boards for Barnes;  7/27/72 run the mill E Barnes came 
down;  11/2/72 Vincent & Emerson came down drew out boards and in logs;  11/7/72 Emerson came down drew out 
boards;  11/18/72 Barnes came down drew out lumber & in logs;  11/21/72 Barnes came over drew out lumber & in 
logs;  11/26/72 Emerson Barnes came over drew out boards;
Barnes, Emerson  11/26/72 Emerson Barnes came over drew out boards;  11/27/72 run the mill E Barnes & Wm 
Phelon came over drew out boards and in logs;  
Barnes, Frank  4/6/68 town meeting in afternoon Frank Barnes came down & stayed all night;  4/7/68 Frank Barnes 

stayed here all day;  [1868 Cash Account] April 8th F Barnes between watch $0.25;  

Barnes, O  4/17/71 went over to Granville in stage up to O Barnes over to L Smith down to H Cox's to get an ox wagon; 
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Barnes, Vincent  4/21/72 went over to V Barnes;  5/16/72 went over to V Barnes borrowed $130 of him & sent it to W 
[?] Harrick [?] towards paying for mill;  6/14/72 went down to Hodge's J Johnson's & to L Smith took dinner went over to 
V Barnes borrowed $200 of him came home [to Father's];  8/13/72 went over to Barnes in the morning worked at 
sawing Vincent came over and drew in some logs;  9/16/72 run the saw mill Vincent came down and drew in some 
logs;  9/17/72 run the mill Vincent and Jeremy Moore came down and drew in logs & out boards;  9/19/72 run the mill 
Vincent & Jeremy came down and drew in logs;  9/21/72 run the mill Vincent came down and drew in logs & out 
boards;  9/24/72 Vincent came over drew out boards & in logs, took up a note of $37;  9/28/72 sawed a little Vincent 
came down drew out boards;  10/7/72 run the mill Vincent came over drew out his boards;  10/8/72 sawed hardwood 
for V Barnes in the afternoon;  10/9/72 sawed for Barnes;  10/14/72 Vincent & Jeremy came down drew out lumber and 
in logs;
Barnes, Vincent [contd] 10/18/72 run the mill Barnes & Jeremy came down and drew out boards and in logs;  10/28/72 
run the mill Barnes & Jeremy came down drew off boards and in logs;  10/31/72 Vincent came down drew in logs;  
11/2/72 Vincent & Emerson came down drew out boards and in logs;  [Memoranda 1872 diary]  V E Barnes Dr  By 

Sawing Hardwood $4 per 1000 ft  1975  1322  1338  1639  2456  Pine Sept 16  1373  356  Hardwood 264  Sept 16th  

1006  18  942  19  1652  20  1676  21 1218 bill [sum =] 15224  23  851  24  717  26  1225  27  1202  28  252 [sum 

10/23 thru 10/28  =] 4247  Oct 9th 1327  12th Bill 1047  14th  1780  15th  900  18th  1502  19th  1507  22nd  197  28  1063  

29  1464  30th  1538  31  1339 [sum =] 11290  Nov 1  844  2  1769  5th  1674  6th  595  7  1715  8th  1758  14th  1380  

15th  1851  16  1337 [sum =] 12,079 [+] 1844 [=] 13,923 [Circled total mid-page =] 42,350 [Calc = 42,430; Pine Sept 
16th discounted?];

Barnes, Vincent [contd]  [Memoranda 1872 diary] Vincent Barnes Dr  Sept 21st For sawing  $15.82  Cr 21st For sawing 

$3.06 Received Cr Deduction .25 per 1000 ft $4.23 Received sum = $7.29  30th  Interest over paid on note $0.43 30th 

Sawing 4247 feet $15.92 +15.82 + .43 = $32.17 Oct 12th sent Bill Due $33.78 Nov 1st 13134 feet $49.25 Wm E Barnes 

Oct 28th sawing 3873 feet $14.52;  [Memoranda 1872 diary] Wm E Barnes Oct 28th sawing 3873 feet $14.52;  

[Memoranda 1872 diary] Vincent Barnes, Cr  Dr Sept 30th  $32.17 Sept 24th Note & Interest $37.71 Received Nov 21st 

Note $99.06 Received [All the above "X"ed out]  Balance due on the same Nov 1st Nov with Interest $5.09 Vincent 

Barnes Cr Nov 21st Note bearing interest from Mar 16th $99. at 7 percent Interest $2.98  4247 [+] 2374 [+] 11139 [+] 
3873 [+] 12079 [+] 13982 [+] 2233 [=] 50, 874 [several digits unclear];

Barnes, Vincent [contd]  [Memoranda 1872 diary] Vincent Barnes Dr Sept 21st After taking up the first note $9.02 Sept 

30th Sawing 4,247 ft $15.92 Oct 12th 2,374 ft $8.90 Nov 1st 13,134 feet  $49.25 Wm E Barnes 3,873 $14.52 Nov 16th 

12,079 $45.29 Wm E Barnes 13,932 $52.24 Nov 28 [sum =] $195.14 Dec 9th 1,235 $4.63 [total =] $199.77 Jan 19th 

1873 Settled with Vincent Barnes and endorsed on note given June 14th 1872 of $99. withen [?] $8.46;  
Barnes, William E  [Memoranda 1872 diary]  Wm E Barnes Dr  By Sawing $3.75 per thousand  Oct 22nd  1827 feet  26th 

1509  28th  537 [sum =] 3873  Paid  Nov 18th  1003  19th  1553  20th  1592  21st  1688  22nd  1173  23rd  2058  25th  1797  

26th  1397  29th  1553  28th  116 [sum =] 13,932 [Calc = 13,882] [+] 13923 [+] 1235 [=] 29,190  Hardwood 264  Dec 9th  

971  [product of] 1235 [X] 3.75 [=] 4.63125;  
Barns, J  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  XJ Barns [?]  X34-80;  

Barnum, William  11/30/64 cut wood Stephen Newberry helped us Barnume [?] & Loring [?] his agent came into the 
bush;  7/10/65 went to Lime Rock with Mike got some money of Barnum [?];  back of 1865 Diary William Barnum;
Barry  [same as Borinay?] 4/19/65 worked for Barry [or Bony?] making [charcoal] pit bottoms;  4/24/65 made pit 
bottoms Bony [?] went to Lime Rock;  
Bartholomew, Willis  11/14/65 went up to Willis Bartholomew & up to Jackeets's bush down to Mike's over to 
Chapinville;  
Bartlett  1/7/68 went over to Chapinville bought some oats;  1/24/68 came out to Chapinville bought a load of oats of 
Bartlett stayed to Sam's;  
Bassett, Francis  10/13/65 finished the bush Francis Bassett helped us;  
Baxter, Dennis  2/27/63 went up to New Boston with Sheff & Den Baxter to ball;  3/8/66 Dennis Baxter came up & got 
his horse shod;  
Baxter, Dwight  1/31/63  Dwight Baxter died at half past 12 o'clock morning;  2/1/63 Dwight was buried our folks went to 
the funeral;  
Baxter, G  12/24/63 shod a pair of cattle for G Baxter;  
Baxter, Mrs  1/7/63  went to school Mrs Baxter the School teacher came here & spent the night;
Bazney  12/31/69 A Bazney [?] girl two passengers [on the stage] to Otis Dowd went up;  
Beach, Ellie 1/25/70 Ellie Beach came down [on the Stage] S Welch went to Otis to call for a dance to Day's;  
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Beach, George  9/3/66 agreed to go to Stockbridge to work on the road for Geo Beach;  9/11/66 Beach went to Lee in 
the afternoon;  9/15/66 drew stone for a bridge G Beach helped split stone;  9/21/66 helped start George off went over 

to Lee took the Stage to Otis stayed to Smith's;  1866 Memoranda $21.00 from George Beech;  Sept 22nd George 
Beech $21.00 Received;  
Beach, Sam  6/1/63 went down to Sam Beach's took a job of peeling bark;  6/8/63 commenced peeling bark on S 

Beach's;  6/15/63 finished peeling bark for Sam Beach Lucius helped me stack;  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  S Beach  X38;  

Memoranda Sept 19th  For work done in 1864 for Beach  [$]5.00 Received;  
Beales, R  12/3/69 R Beales came down with Hube stayed all night [Cyrus's 29th] Birthday;  
Beardsley  [Cash Account 1870] Feb 12 Dinner to Beardsly [?] $0.50;  
Beech  6/3/69 peeled bark [for] Perkins...went down to Beech's in evening;  
Beech, Sammy  2/25/70 Sammy Beech went down in the morning Mrs Hawley went down [on the stage];  4/26/71 
came over [from L Smith's] with bark stayed to Father's Sammy Beech stayed here all night;  
Beecher  9/18/68 Father came home from Blandford Beecher came along;  
Beeson, J  2/23/72 received a letter from J Beeson;  
Beck  2/27/66 went to the lecture [in Winsted?] on A Lincoln by P[or "B"?]eck;  
Beck, Mike  6/3/65 covered pits Mill Valley Mike Beck [?] came on the bush;  
Belden  5/6/69 went on the Belden hill making fence [for Northway?] Grove Huntly helped;  5/7/69 worked making fence 
on the Belden hill finished.  Farewell ball at Gabriel's Riverton;  9/6/70 went with Del up to Boardman's met T Harrington
& Spelman in the Belden woods Del traded his oxen for a horse with Spelman;  8/20/71 went over to Belden's with Ed 
Sears just at night to see his colt;  8/22/71 went over to Belden's bought a piece of grass of him for eight dollars;  
8/23/71 went over to Belden's mowed;  
Belden, A  1/9/64 shod...a pair of cattle for A Belden;  4/24/66 Erastus & I went down to Phelps down to Belden's up to 
Horrigon's over to Frank's & to Seymour in the evening;  5/2/66 went down to Belden's with Erastus & up on Camp's lot; 
7/23/66 went to Winsted with Erastus had Belden's horse stayed there all night;  8/9/66 F Simons & Belden came here 
went up to O Snow's;  9/23/66 went over to S Hale's to Horrigon down to Belden's with E Hale;  9/24/66 chopped & 
piled wood came up home;  
Belden, Alfred  12/31/68 Lurinda Salome Jane [Hale?] & Alfred Belden called & took tea;  1/5/69 went over to F Hale's 
in the evening Alfred & Ella Clark went over;  1/31/69 wrote to Belden;  2/8/72 Alfred Belden buried;  
Belden, Ashton  1/27/63 Ashton Belden died aged 21 years;  1/29/63 went to the funeral of A Belden Mr Grant 
preached the sermon;  
Belden, E D  12/3/69 E D Belden came down Harrison went up with stage;  
Belden, H  2/5/64 shod 2 pair of stags for H Belden;  12/2/71 went to Glassheen [?] to H Belden's up through free 
quarter over to North Colebrook to Ira Smith's stayed all night;  3/4/72 H Belden thrown from a wagon injured so he 
died;  3/6/72 Henry Belden died from injuries received from being thrown from a wagon near R Gladding's New Boston 
Aged 71 yrs;  3/9/72 Henry Belden buried, killed from being thrown from a wagon near Gladding's;  4/12/72 went to 
auction at the Henry Belden place;
Belden, Stanton  5/12/72 Stanton Belden buried at New Boston;  
Bell  4/13/71 went over to Lucius Twining's with Bell;  
Bell, Mr Philo  4/7/62 went down to Mr Bells traded a watch with L [S?] Brown for a fiddle & a locket;  1/3/63/ shod a 
horse for Bell;  1/5/63 Adelbert sold some cattle to P Bell;  9/11/63 helped make a pair of shoes for P Bell shod him all 
around;  9/15/63 shod horse for Mr Belle [sic];  10/30/63 carried a pig to Mr Bell went up to Calvin Moores bought some 
old iron;  12/12/63 shod a horse for Bell;  12/25/64 Philo Bell came here [Salisbury?] went up to L D Jones got a tooth 
pulled;  3/2/66 went down to the scythe shop rode up West Street [Winsted?] with Philo Bell;  10/25/66 Auction to Philo 
Bell's;  11/15/66 went down to P Bells got some axe heads went up to Sam Loomis;  12/2/68 Philo Bell stayed all night 
went over to A Down's to party;  
Benjamin, Dr  10/8/71 Mother was worse Father went after Dr Ben____ about 4 oclock;  1/21/72 Fred Cotton found on 
meeting house hill insensible by being drugged by Augustus Slocum brought to Miller's by M M and Dr Benjamin sent 
for;  1/25/72 Saw Dr Ben--- had him come over and see Mother Mr Burt, Hamilton Dr Ben--- & Cotton were all here in 
the forenoon related stories:  Abe's pants, Educated,  RR Station;  5/18/72 Father & Cotton came down to help me [at 
the mill] worked until 11 o'clock hurt my eye by a piece of a knot flying into it came home went over & see Dr Ben--- Mrs 
Cotton came down in evening;  
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Bentley, Mrs Ellen M  2/27/72 came home [from L Smith's] called to Mrs Bentley;  3/8/72 went to West Granville carried 
Lib over to L Smith went to R Smith's got 4 hundred meal called to Mrs Bentley;  3/11/72 went and looked at the saw 
mill on Mrs Bentley with Northway;  3/28/72 went down to Mrs Bentley's towards night bargained for her saw mill;  
3/29/72 went down and looked over the mill went up to A Hull; 3/30/72 went down to Mrs Bentley's over to L Smith's 
stayed all night;  4/5/72 met Mrs Bentley at F T Moore, took a deed of the sawmill and shop and six acres land gave a 

mortgage for $250 and $250 down;  [Cash Account 1872] April 5th Ellen M Bentley $200.  F T Moore for deeds $2.05 
[to purple ink] Ellen M Bentley $50;  5/7/72 worked around the sawmill went out to Father's got Erastus came back to 
Mrs Bentley's stayed all night;  5/10/72 went up to E Slocum's to Bennett Moore's on the hill down to Hodge's Chase & 
G Atkins & back to Mrs Bentley stayed all night;  5/13/72 took the team down to the mill drew up some wood for Mrs 
Bentley;  

Bentley, Mrs Ellen M [contd]  6/17/72 Father carried Clark down to Mrs Bentley's done his chores and then went down 
& worked on the mill at hanging the wheels Clark helped me;  6/29/72 got the steers up got a load of wood for Mrs 
Bentley;  7/12/72  worked on the mill in forenoon hoed potatoes for Mrs Bentley in afternoon Mrs Rowley & Winnie 
Bentley came up;  7/15/72 called to Mrs Bentley's;  8/16/72 Mrs Bentley was sick during the night;  9/2/72 went down to 
Mrs Bentley's with the oxen went up to Lawrence;  9/3/72 commenced mowing on Mrs Bentley Father & Del helped me; 
9/9/72 mowed on Mrs Bentley got in two load went up to L Smith's in the evening;  9/10/72 finished haying on Mrs 

Bentley's A Nelson & son helped me;  [Cash Account 1872] Sept 25th J Hall for Mrs Bentley $2.00;  [Cash Account 

1872] Oct 26th Ellen Bentley board $6.00 Ellen Bentley board $5.00;  12/14/72 went over to Mrs Bentley's got a load of 
hay;  12/17/72 drew two loads of hay from Mrs Bentley's Lawrence helped me;  

Bentley, Mrs Ellen M [contd] [Memoranda 1872] Board to Ellen Bentley Mar 11th 2 days 18th 5 June 22nd 6 Clark 6 Extra 

1 Extra 5 Clark 6 Extra 5 July 7th 6 Extra 1 13th 2  13th 7  20th 12/3 27th 11/3 [sum =] 8 weeks Aug 17th 4  21st 11/3 Sept 7th 

71/3  4
1/3 Cr By cash Jun 29th $1.40 $10.00 By work 1/2 day $1.00 Jul 19th by sugar & tea $2.73 [=] $14.13 Aug 13 By 

cash $5.00 Sept 7 $10.00 Due $13.08 Cr For J Hall $2.00 Oct 1 By cash $5.00 29th $6.00;  
Bentley, W  9/18/69 Bentley & son came up & took tea;  6/24/70 peeled bark Lawrence helped us went down to 
Bentley's pond & washed;  8/7/70 went [from peeling bark for L Smith] down to Bentley's pond went in swiming;  
12/28/70 drew logs from the west side Chestnut Hill to Bentley's mill;  1/2/71 drew three loads of logs from Chestnut Hill 
to Bentley's mill Dim drew the same;  3/20/71 drew off boards and on logs at Bentley's mill Lawrence helped me;  
3/31/71 went over to L Smith's got him to help me get off some boards at Bentleys mill helped him draw on some logs;  

[Cash Account April 1871] 10th W Bentley sawing $20.00 Paid;  4/20/71 went over to Frank Hale's got Erastus went 
down to Bentley mill stuck up boards;  11/4/71 helped Lawrence get in logs to Bentley's cut logs came home in the 
evening;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] Bentley for sawing $10.00;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] Lumber at Bentley's mill March 

20th 8,140 ft March 31st 5,924 feet Chestnut 325 feet Ash 102 feet square timber 108  [total=] 535 feet [Column to sum] 
[$?] 66.66 + 63.49 + 23.75 = 153.90 + 24.95 = 198.65  [On left] 4,510;
Bentley, W  8/14/72 sawed logs Father & Bentley came down;  
Bentley, Winnie  7/12/72  worked on the mill in forenoon hoed potatoes for Mrs Bentley in afternoon Mrs Rowley & 
Winnie Bentley came up;  
Bestell, Madame  [1868 diary note] Fifth avenue & Fifty second St Madame Bestell [possibly Reestell?];

Biddeford  1/28/66 Charlie fixed the shay came [from Del's, Salisbury] back to Winsted took supper to Biddeford's;  
Bidwell, Dr  1/14/69 went to Winsted carried C Welden down saw Dr Bidwell made application for compensation on 

accident insurance;  [Cash Account 1869 January] 14th Dr. Bidwell $0.50;    
Bidwell, Fanny [Francis?]  2/28/62 stayed to Grandfathers all day went up to uncle Abirams in the evening stayed here 
all night.  Introduced to Miss Bidwell;  3/4/62 carried Eugenia Griffin to New Boston & Francis Bi[d]well to Mr Veits's 
stayed to tea;  3/5/62 went to the social Parsons & Oatman shop carried Miss Fanny Bidwell;  1/17/64 went down to 
Bys in the evening rode out with Fanny Bidwell good sleighing;  8/22/64 stayed to Abiram's over night Fanny Bidwell 
was there;  9/2/64 True, Henry & Seth Maltby, Jenny Griffin & Fanny Bidwell came up here went to Noyes pond sailing;  
1/21/66 spent the day with True Fanny Bidwell was there a visiting Harvey Parsons came there [Uncle Abiram's] in the 
evening;  3/9/66 went over to Uncle Abiram's in the eve with True & the girls Fannie & Maggie Bidwell were there;  
6/1/66 Fanny [Bidwell or Hale?] & Julia [Aunt?] came down to Snow's;  2/23/67 Fannie came here [Abiram's?] 2 ocl. in 
the morn;  2/25/67 Fannie & Selenda went over to True's;  3/2/67 By went to New Boston Harvey & Fannie came from 
Viet's True got some tubs;  3/4/67 Fannie went over to True's;  

Bidwell, Miss Fanny  4/25/67 Lib & Fannie Bidwell came over;  8/2/67 went over to Sandisfield got Fannie Bidwell;  
8/3/67 went over to S Hale's with Fannie the girls & Rat went up to the center by Marshall's home in the evening;  
8/4/67 Harvey came up & got Fannie;  8/10/67 went [from Abiram's] up to John S[?]age, carried Mrs S[?]aged & Fannie 
Bidwell to Winsted;  10/16/67 Harvey Parsons & Fannie Bidwell were married;  3/11/69 to Winsted called on Fannie P;  
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Bidwell, Mrs J  1/5/70 Mrs L Clarke & J Bidwell went down to Dowd's a visiting;  1/7/70 Marcia Clark went up in the 
stage & Mrs J Bidwell, two passengers to Otis;  
Bidwell, Maggie  3/9/66 went over to Uncle Abiram's in the eve with True & the girls Fannie & Maggie Bidwell were 
there;  
Bidwell, Miles  10/4/64 peddled beef went down to the River carried a quarter of beef to Miles Bidwell $6.88;  5/3/70 
helped raise Miles Bidwell saw mill;  
Billings, Jim [Winsted?]  1/12/66 went down to Jim Billings in the evening;  1/19/66 went down to Billings & White in 
evening;  2/2/66 went down to J Billings in the evening;  2/3/66 went down to James Billings in the evening;  2/10/66 left 
Holmes [?] came to Denison Hotel [?] & stayed went to Billings saloon in evening;  
Bills, Mr  4/17/70 Mr Bills was buried called to George's to Dowd's came up to F Hale's, over to S Hale's in evening 
stayed to G [F?] Hale's;  
Bird  11/5/72 went to Election Voted for Greeley & Brown for Pres & Vice Pres, Bird for Gov, C Mo[?]pson for 
Representative, of Montgomery;  
Blair  11/3/68 attended election voted for Seymour & Blair for President & vice President;  
Bliss, Mrs  2/16/63  Mrs Bliss buried;  

Boardman  9/6/70 went with Del up to Boardman's met T Harrington & Spelman in the Belden woods Del traded his 
oxen for a horse with Spelman;  2/28/71 went up to O Harding's & to Boardman's looking for a pair of oxen went down 
across from H Soule's, to New Boston bought a pair of oxen of A Hull, 5 years old weight 2800 paid $200;  
Bodurtha, A  6/8/68 peeled bark L Frost & A Bodurtha helped us Charlie came back in evening Father came up & 
worked;  6/9/68 peeled bark Frost & Bodurtha worked in forenoon Father came up all quit at 3 o'clock;  [1868 Cash 

Account] June 9th A Bodurtha work $1.00;  
Bonay, Edmund  1865 Diary memorandum in back, same as Bany and Borinay?;
Booth, Miss Rose  1/6/69 went to singing school Del & a Miss Booth came up from [New?] Hartford;  1/7/69 A big sleigh 
ride from New Boston to Winsted Del & Miss Booth Lucius & the girls went;  1/11/69 Del went to Westfield carried Rose 
Boot[h] in;  

Borinay  5/28/65 went to Borinay just at night;  5/31/65 Borinay & I had a few words in regards to work;  6/12/65 Borinay 
went to Lime Rock;  6/19/65 Borinay went to Lime Rock;  6/26/65 Borinay went to Lime Rock;  6/27/65 received some 
money of Borinay;  7/1/65 got through with Borinay;  7/26/65 drew wood Borinay & I had some words went down to 
Mikes he came up drew 13 cords;  8/4/65 Martin came in the bush Bornay [sic] run him out;  
Bosworth  4/30/68 Father went over to Bosworth's;  
Bosworth, Lyman  2/14/65 Truman brought me to Montville came up to L Bosworth stayed there with cousin Truman;  
10/20/68 Lyman Bosworth died [space left but no age];  
Bosworth, R  12/23/63 shod a pair of cattle for R Bosworth [?];  2/16/64 shod...a horse for R Bosworth;  
Bradley  4/27/69 went [from Bristol, selling sugar] to Plymouth Waterbury Naugatuck to Ansonia stayed with Joe 
[Hakes] team at Bradley sugar dull;  
Bradley, Bennett  2/23/71 George and Bennett Bradley came over [to L Smith's?] stayed all night;  4/9/71 carried Lib 
over to Granville went up to L Smith's stayed all night B Bradley & wife was there;  
Bradley, Channing  Bills receivable June 20th [1863] C Bradley & S Ives $8.50;  Memoranda 11/24/62 Keeping cow 17 
weeks at $0.50/week=$8.50  June 29 received $5.00;  12/29/63 Channing Bradley buried;  
Bradley, George  6/10/70 peeled bark George Bradley cut his foot Father called Lawrence;  6/11/70 came home in the 
afternoon with George Bradley went down to Hall's & got Lib;  9/15/70 sawed logs Lawrence went to East Granville 
George Bradley came over;  2/3/71 George Bradley came over in the evening;  2/5/71 George was here;  2/6/71 
George Bradley was here;  2/23/71 George and Bennett Bradley came over stayed all night;  
Bradley, M  2/8/70 L Norton S Spear M Bradly [sic] went up [on the stage];  
Bravo [a horse?]  5/15/68 Father went up to Sheff's with Bravo;  8/29/71 went down to Sheff's with Bravo up by 
Howard's took tea Mrs Hazard was there from Atcheson Kansas, Joel D Thorpe was buried at Colebrook River;  

Brazee,  2/12/63  went over to Brazees went to Mr Lockwoods;  2/27/65 went up to County [?] Brazee [?] to a dance 
with Sam Loomis;  9/30/69 attended the [Barrington] fair a large crowd on the ground stayed to the union house, 

Brazee proprietor;  [Cash Account 1869 Sep] 30th Expenses to Cattle Show $14.50;  12/4/69 Frank Brazee rode [the 
stage] up to Cold Spring;  9/28/70 came [from L Smith's?] over to Tolland with J Brazee stayed to S Hale's;  

Breckenridge, Albert  11/20/72 Albert Breckinridge came down [to the mill?] Em & Lawrence went to Otis;  11/21/72 run 
the mill Albert Breckinridge helped me Barnes came over drew out lumber & in logs;  11/24/72 went down to J Hodge's 
in the evening got a cheese, Albert went with me;  12/3/72 Albert Breckinridge helped me build a hen house;  12/4/72 
Albert & I went down to the mill in the forenoon;  12/6/72 Albert went into the woods with me cut logs for Lawrence;  

12/7/72 Albert went home;  [Cash Account 1872] Dec 7th  Albert Breckinridge for work $3.00;  
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Breckinridge, Mrs  11/2/71 worked for Lawrence cutting bass logs Mrs Breckinridge came down stayed all night;  
Breckenridge, Wm  2/11/71 took Del's horse carried Emma [L Smith's wife?] to Otis called to Landon's stayed to Wm 
Breckenridge;  5/8/72 went down to Hodge's towards night & up to West Granville & to Lawrence's stayed there all 
night Wm Breckenridge was there;  10/25/72 Lawrence was sick done his chores & went up to Otis and got Dr King, 
called to Wm Breckenridge;  
Bristol  11/14/67 cut wood [at Abiram's?] True went to Auction at Bristol's;  
Bromley, W  1/6/70 a passenger up W Bromley's wife;  
Bronson  3/23/67 went with Father up to the Higgin's farm down to Bronson's cut some sap quills;  11/23/69 Bronson & 
wife came down in stage;  11/25/69 Bronson & wife & children Nellie & Burt went up in the stage;  1/1/70 Jane Deming 
was here at Dowd's made some candy she went in the stage & Bronson & Hunt..Wm. [sic]  Driving stage to Otis for 
Dowd;  
Bronson, William  11/25/71 Wm Bronson called [at Father's] in the evening;  
Brooks, Boswell  2/5/70 Boswell Brooks & Eugene [meant Eugenia?] Griffin were married;  
Brooks, G  1/20/70 Mrs Northway Josephine Mills came down & back Jane went back G Brooks & wife came down [on 
the stage];  
Brown  5/5/63 [from E R Holcomb's, Granby] to Bloomfield [with maple sugar] stayed with Brown & Griffin;  [1863 
Memoranda Brown & Griffin  1.50  1 Bladder snuff 1.75  1 Paper [?] clump nails  1 ball shoe thread .20  1/2 doz copper 
heads  .50];  
Brown  2/7/69 Erastus & Brown came up;
Brown  10/3/69 Brown a tin Peddler stayed here;  10/4/69 Rained hard until 2 o'clock water very high...Brown stayed 
here;  4/28/71 Del & L Cotton came up [to Father's] Brown the tin peddler called;  
Brown  7/4/70 went to Riverton rode down with Anson Hale called to Sheff's he rode down with us stayed to a ball to 
Brown's;  
Brown  11/5/72 went to Election Voted for Greeley & Brown for Pres & Vice Pres, Bird for Gov, C Mo[?]pson for 
Representative, of Montgomery;  
Brown, Agnes  3/11/66 came to Salisbury stayed to Del's Agnes & Mrs Brown were there Laura was sick;  3/15/66 went 
down & see Lib Woodin with Agnes;  
Brown, Ellen  3/5/65 went to Hillsdale in the afternoon with C Thorpe Ellen & Mary Jane Brown & Saira [?] stayed all 
night to Agustus Holtsapple;  3/9/65 went over to Chapinville [from Del's?] in the morning up to Ellen Browns in the 
afternoon;  3/24/65 Ellen & Mary Jane Brown down here [Del's?] a visiting;  3/26/65 went up to Ellen Brown's in the 
evening;  3/29/65 Ellen Brown came down here [Del's?];  4/14/65 had a dance here to Del's went up to Ellen Brown's;  
4/16/65 went up to Ellen Brown's in the evening;  4/28/65 went down to the center with Del & Father up to Chapinville 
Ellen Brown came down a visiting Jane stayed all night;  4/30/65 went up to Ellen's with Libbie & Laura in the evening;  
5/3/65 Rosa & her husband came here [Del's, Salisbury?] stayed all night Ellen & Mary Jane Brown came down & 
quilted;  5/7/65 went up on the mountain with Ellen & Jane Brown Laura & Sam Loomis;  5/12/65 Ellen & Jane Brown 
came down;  5/13/65 Ellen Brown came down & made a carpet went there in the evening;  5/21/65 went down to M 
Hibbert's up to Ellen Browns in the evening gone to Hillsdale;
Brown, Ellen [contd]  5/24/65 went up to Ellen Brown's in the evening;  6/1/65 sick did not work went over to Chapinville 
got some Brandy lay abed Ellen Brown & Mary Jane came down in the afternoon a visiting;  6/10/65 went up to Ellen 
Brown's in the afternoon with E Hale Truman Selenda & Laura went to Cooper's to a dance;  6/11/65 Ellen & Jane 
came down Charlie [Thorpe?] & Sohn [meant to write "John"; Woodin?] went up in the bush got some winter greens;  
7/9/65 went up to Ellen Browns;  7/24/65 sick did not work went up to the store Ellen & Mary Jane came down Laura 
was sick;  7/26/65 went up & got Ellen to come down Irene Dusewhery [?] came down;  8/12/65 did not work sick went 
up to the store bought a pair of boots went up to Ellen Brown's;  8/29/65 went up to Ellen Brown's had her sit for me;  
8/30/65 Ellen & Mary Jane came down;  9/1/65 went up to Ellen Brown's over to Chapinville with C Thorpe went up to G
Bunce's Sheffield to a dance;  9/7/65 came down on the train to Sheffield came to Hillsdale with Ellen & Mary Jane 
Brown stayed to A Holshapple's;
Brown, Ellen [contd]  9/24/65 Laura was sick went & got Ellen;  9/28/65 went to cattle show to Barrington Wilb [?] Vales 
Ellen & Mary Jane Brown;  10/1/65 Ellen was sick went up there in the evening Lib Woodin to work here;  10/3/65 went 
up to Ellen's Mary Jane was sick; 10/6/65 Lib & Laura went up to Ellen's in the afternoon;  10/8/65 Ellen & Mary Jane 
came down took tea;  10/14/65 went up to the store up to Ellen's;  10/17/65 went up to Ellen's to Chapinville packed my 
trunk Andrew Winter was here went up to Hop's in the evening;  10/29/65 went [from Sam Loomis's] down to Del's 
down to Mike's stayed to Ellen Brown's;  11/19/65 went [from Del's] up on the mountain down to Ellen's took supper;  
11/21/65 went up to the store & up to Ellen Brown's stayed all night;  11/29/65 helped Del thresh went to mill stayed to 
Ellen's over night;  12/7/65 went up to Sam's he & Will S Winter C Thorpe Mary Jane & Ellen Brown took supper to 
Del's we all went up to Bunce's to Thanksgiving Ball;  12/10/65 went on the mountain got a mink stayed to Ellen's over 
night;  
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Brown, Ellen  6/10/66 went over to East Canaan with Ellen Brown stayed to H Dunham;  9/27/66 went to the fair [from 
Del's] came down & stayed to Ellen Brown's;  11/9/66 came around the mountain [from Copake, Holshopps?] to Ellen 
Brown's took supper, down to P [?] Doyle with Augusta & Mary Jane;  5/12/68 stayed with Jennie went down to Mary 
Ann over to Chapinville saw Ellen;  12/23/68 went over to Chapinville with Ellen & Jennie to a lecture;  12/24/68 went 
down to Andrew Winter's with Jennie Sam & Ellen came down towards night spent the night there;  10/3/69 wrote to 
Ellen Brown & Rosa;  9/29/71 went over to Chapinville in the morning carried Ellen over went up to Barrington to the 
Show came back stayed with Charlie all night;  
Brown, H [Hedgewick?] C  2/26/62 Father & I went down to H C Browns A Osborn & traded the stags for a cow traded 
cow & steers with Abiram for a pair of steers;  Memoranda Hedgewick Brown in back of 1862 diary:  Dr  April 7 to 

[illegible; "him"?] $3.87  Received Oct 25th $3.00  Received $1.00;  
Brown, J Nelson [same as Nel]  11/9/62 received a letter from Nel Brown wrote one to him;  12/21/62 wrote a letter to J 
Brown;  2/2/63 wrote a letter to N Brown;  3/29/63 received a letter from J Brown;  4/5/63 wrote a letter to Brown;  
6/1/63 wrote to J Brown;  [1863 Memoranda Nelson Brown H [?] M Dept Harris Light Cavalry Byards Cavy Brigade 

Washington DC];  1864 diary [back] J Nelson Brown Harris Light Cavalry 1st Brig 3rd Div Wash DC;  2/5/65 wrote a 
letter to J N Brown;  10/15/68 Nel Brown & Mozart stayed here all night;  2/7/69 Erastus & Brown came up;  9/11/69 Nel 
Brown came up brought Len up;  4/5/70 Nel Brown called took tea;  4/6/70 Nel Brown called he went home;  3/30/71 
Nel Brown & F Case called;  6/29/71 Nel Brown & Frank Case call[ed?] took tea;  2/2/72 N Brown & Ruric[or "a"?]k 
called in the mor'g [sic];  

Brown, John  1/22/64 went down to Bys to a dance saw John Brown & Jerry Manchester Cavalry boys;  12/8/67 John 
Brown called in the morning with Marshall went to Church;  12/9/67 J P [?] Brown & wife came here & stayed all night;  
Brown, L [G?]  4/7/62 went down to Mr Bells traded a watch with L [S?] Brown for a fiddle & a locket;  4/10/62 Went to 
New Hartford with L [S?] Brown stayed G [T?] Wilcox overnight;  10/16/62 went to New Hartford stayed with L [?] Brown
to C Goodwins;  
Brown[?], Laura  4/30/65 went up to Ellen Brown's with Libbie & Laura in the evening;  5/7/65 went up on the mountain 
with Ellen & Jane Brown Laura & Sam Loomis;  6/10/65 to Ellen Browns with E Hale Truman Selenda & Laura to a 
dance at Coopers;  7/24/65 sick did not work went up to the store Ellen & Mary Jane came down Laura was sick;  
9/24/65 Laura was sick went & got Ellen;  9/26/65 Mary Jane came down sit up with Laura till 12 o'clock;  10/6/65 Lib & 
Laura went up to Ellen's in the afternoon;  3/11/66 came to Salisbury stayed to Del's Agnes & Mrs Brown were there 
Laura was sick;  
Brown, Mary Jane  2/23/65 Mrs Brown & daughter here [Del's?] a visiting Jane stayed all night;  2/26/65 Mrs Brown 
came down & got Jane went up there in the evening;  3/5/65 went to Hillsdale in the afternoon with C Thorpe Ellen & 
Mary Jane Brown & Saira [?] stayed all night to Agustus Holtsapple;  3/12/65 Mary Jane Brown came down here 
[Del's?] went home with her spent the evening;  3/14/65 Mary Jane Brown called here [Del's?];  3/24/65 Ellen & Mary 
Jane Brown down here [Del's?] a visiting;  4/1/65 Jane Brown came down here [Del's?] went home with her in the 
evening;  4/22/65 Mrs Brown & Jane came down [to Del's?] went up there in the evening;  4/27/65 went up to Sane 
[Lane?] Egremont with Lib & Jane Brown got some pictures taken came back through Sheffield eat supper at Mrs 
Brown's;  4/28/65 went down to the center with Del & Father up to Chapinville Ellen Brown came down a visiting Jane 
stayed all night;  5/3/65 Rosa & her husband came here [Del's, Salisbury?] stayed all night Ellen & Mary Jane Brown 
came down & quilted;  
Brown, Mary Jane  5/7/65 went up on the mountain with Ellen & Jane Brown Laura & Sam Loomis;  5/10/65 Mary Jane 
Brown came down [to Del's, Salisbury?];  5/12/65 Ellen & Jane Brown came down;  5/25/65 Mary Jane Brown & her 
cousin came here a visiting went up in the evening;  6/1/65 sick did not work went over to Chapinville got some Brandy 
lay abed Ellen Brown & Mary Jane came down in the afternoon a visiting;  6/11/65 Ellen & Jane came down Charlie 
[Thorpe?] & Sohn [meant to write "John"; Woodin?] went up in the bush got some winter greens;  6/16/65 Jane Brown 
came down went home with her;  7/2/65 came home [to Tolland] brought Mary Jane Brown over Erastus & Frank were 
over in the evening;  7/4/65 went down to Grandfather's Uncle Sheff [&] Aunt Maria went to Hitchcockville with us to a 
Ball;  7/5/65 started from Uncle Sheff's & came back to Salisbury;  7/8/65 hoed for Sam Scoville...Mary Jane was down 
here in the afternoon;  7/23/65 Mary Jane Brown was down here [Del's?];  7/24/65 sick did not work went up to the 
store Ellen & Mary Jane came down Laura was sick;
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Brown, Mary Jane [contd]  7/28/65 went up home with Jane [to hers or Del's?];  7/29/65 went over to Chapinville in the 
evening with Irene & Mary Jane;  8/20/65 Mary Jane was taken sick;  8/30/65 Ellen & Mary Jane came down;  9/7/65 
came down on the train to Sheffield came to Hillsdale with Ellen & Mary Jane Brown stayed to A Holshapple's;  9/20/65 
Mary Jane came down stayed all night;  9/26/65 Mary Jane came down sit up with Laura till 12 o'clock;  9/28/65 went to 
cattle show to Barrington Wilb [?] Vales Ellen & Mary Jane Brown;  10/3/65 went up to Ellen's Mary Jane was sick;  
10/8/65 Ellen & Mary Jane came down took tea;  10/16/65 Mary Jane came down stayed all night Lant stayed here & 
Lib Woodin;  10/20/65 came [from Pixley's] to Salisbury went down to Mike's got some money Mary Jane came down 
stayed all night;  12/7/65 went up to Sam's he & Will S Winter C Thorpe Mary Jane & Ellen Brown took supper to Del's 
we all went to Bunce's to Thanksgiving Ball;  12/14/65 Mary Jane came down to Del's went up there in the evening;
Brown, Mary Jane [contd]  12/19/65 Mary Jane C Thorpe & I came to Canaan with Coons Charlie & I came to Winsted;  
12/26/65 wrote to...Mary Jane;  1/14/66 wrote to Mary Jane;  1/19/66 received letters from Janey & Del;  1/30/66 
received a letter from Mary Jane;  2/11/66 wrote to Mary Jane;  3/17/66 Mary Jane came down [to Del's?] stayed;  
4/1/66 boiled sap Mary Jane came down stayed over night;  4/22/66 wrote to Mary Jane;  7/15/66 wrote to Mary Jane 
Georgia Cauldwell & Whitney M [?] J [?] came down to Miles Hawley's stayed all night;  8/19/66 wrote to Del Joe 
Georgia & Mary Jane;  9/28/66 went to the fair [from Ellen Brown's] came down & stayed to Del's Mary Jane Brown & 
Josephine Doyle stayed there;  10/14/66 wrote to Mary Jane;  11/9/66 came [from Holshopp's?] to Ellen Brown's took 
supper came down to J Doyle with Augusta & Mary Jane;  11/26/66 went up to McArthur over around by Hadsdell's 

Sarah Wilcox [Adelbert's 2nd wife?] came over Mary Jane came down stayed all night;  12/9/66 wrote to Mary Jane;  
2/10/67 wrote to Mary Jane;  3/31/67 wrote to Josephine Doyle & Mary Jane Brown;
Brown, Mary Jane [also "Jennie", contd]  4/6/67 received a letter from Mary Jane;  8/29/67 wrote to Rosa & Mary Jane;  
9/15/67 wrote to Mary Jane;  12/15/67 wrote to Joe & Mary Jane;  1/6/68 came to Chapinville stayed on Cambrie [?] 
Street;  1/7/68 went over to Chapinville bought some oats went over to Sarah's [Wilcox?] down to the Centre in eve with
M J [Mary Jane?] stayed there all night;  1/8/68 started [from Chapinville?] at 3 oclock in the morning [nearly full moon 
set at 5:45 AM] came home;  2/24/68 wrote to M J [?];  3/15/68 wrote to M J;  5/11/68 Del & I went to Salisbury went 
over to Sarah got Mary Jane stayed to Sam's;  5/12/68 stayed with Jennie [Janie = Mary Jane?] went down to Mary Ann
over to Chapinville saw Ellen;  5/17/68 wrote to Jennie [Mary Jane?] & Georgia;  7/26/68 wrote to Jennie H Dowd & M J 
[In 1862 Milo Holcomb = M J] [Jennie not Mary Jane?];  11/8/68 wrote to Jennie B;  12/19/68 wrote to Jennie B;  
12/23/68 went [from James Hakes, Huntsville?] over through the Falls Chapinville up to S Loomis stayed there all night 
went over to Chapinville with Ellen & Jennie to a lecture;
Brown, Mary Jane [also "Jennie", contd]  12/24/68 went [from Sam Loomis] down to Andrew Winter's with Jennie Sam 

& Ellen came down towards night spent the night there;  1/1/69 wrote to Jennie;  [Cash Account January] 1st Present to 
Jennie $2.00;  1/15/69 received letters from E Pixley & Jennie;  1/31/69 Wrote to Belden & Jennie;  2/28/69 yoked the 
oxen drove to the Wright place wrote to Jennie;  3/28/69 wrote to Jennie;  6/27/69 wrote to Joe & Jennie;  [Cash 

Account 1869] June 28th Present to Jennie $1.00;  11/25/69 wrote to Jennie;  1/23/70 wrote to Jennie;  6/26/70 wrote to 
Joe & Jennie went down to the P O with Dim;  9/14/70 wrote to Jennie;  11/6/70 wrote to Jennie;  1/22/71 wrote a letter 
to Jennie;  3/14/71 wrote to Joe & to Jennie;  11/21/71 went [from S Loomis] over to East Canaan stayed to Warner's 
Hotel called in the evening at A Holsapple Jennie was there;  11/22/71 went up to the steam shovel with Jennie Brown, 
took dinner with Gus up to the shovel in afternoon.  Attended the wedding of Wm Hayward & Anna Holsapple a very 
nice time;  11/26/71 wrote to Georgie, Jennie & Emma;
Brown, Mary Jane [also "Jennie", contd]  1/3/72 carried Em home to No Colebrook went to Winsted left the horse went 
to Chapinville on Conn Western went to S Loomis found Jennie sick stayed all night;  1/4/72 stayed to Sam's Jennie 
was sick got an examination, had a circle in afternoon went to Chapinville to take train but too late went back stayed all 
night Halsaple & wife & son Frankie came there stayed all night;  1/14/72 wrote to Jennie;  2/9/72 received a letter from 
Jennie & answered it;  7/21/72 wrote to...Jennie;  
Brown, Mrs  1/25/65 Mrs Brown & her sister down a visiting [Salisbury?];  2/23/65 Mrs Brown & Daughter here a visiting 
Jane stayed all night;  2/26/65 Mrs Brown came down & got Jane went up there in the evening;   4/22/65 Mrs Brown & 
Jane came down [to Del's?] went up there in the evening;  4/27/65 went up to Sane [Lane?] Egremont with Lib & Jane 
Brown got some pictures taken came back through Sheffield eat supper to Mrs Brown's;  8/25/65 came up [from the 
lower job] to Del's sick did not work went up to Mrs Brown's in the afternoon;  8/26/65 sick did not work lay abed went to 
Mrs Brown's;  9/10/65 came home [to Salisbury from Holshapple's, Hillsdale?] took tea at Mrs Brown's;  3/11/66 came 
to Salisbury stayed to Del's Agnes & Mrs Brown were there Laura was sick;  1/4/72 got an examination from Mrs Brown 
had a circle in the afternoon went to Chapinville to take train home but missed it went back & stayed all night A 
Holsapple;  
Brown, S  9/9/64 went up to Otis with S Brown saw Mozart Perry stayed to Clark Hotchkiss over night;  
Brown, S N  1/22/66 wrote to S N Brown;  
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Brown, Sara  3/5/65 went to Hillsdale in the afternoon with C Thorpe Ellen & Mary Jane Brown & Saira [?] stayed all 
night to Agustus Holtsapple;  1/7/68 went over to Chapinville bought some oats went over to Sarah's [Wilcox?] down to 
the Centre in eve with M J [Mary Jane Brown?] stayed there all night;  5/11/68 Del & I went to Salisbury went over to 
Sarah [Wilcox, or Brown?] got Mary Jane stayed to Sam's;
Bruce, Mrs  2/5/70 Will Hunt & Mrs Bruce came up, Dr Champlin came up [on the stage];  
Bryant,  9/14/63 Mr Bryants daughter buried;  
Bunce, G  9/1/65 went up to Ellen Brown's over to Chapinville with C Thorpe went up to G Bunce's Sheffield to a dance;
12/7/65 went up to Sam's he & Will S Winter C Thorpe Mary Jane & Ellen Brown took supper to Del we all went to 
Bunce to Thanksgiving Ball;  
Bunnell  1/5/62 went over to Bunnel[l];  1/9/62 drawed...a load of slabs to Bunnell;  1/30/62 went to Bunnel[l]s got my 
boot fixed;  
Bunnell, Mrs [?] 2/5/62 Mrs Bunnell here and washed [Holcomb's, CT];  
Burdell, Dr  [1868 diary note] 31 Bond Street Mr S Cunningham & Dr Burdell;  
Burke  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  X  Burke X110X;  8/11/66 went berrying with the girls over to Burke's stopped to 
Captain's eat supper;  
Burt Hill  12/5/67 went over to Burt hill school house to a prayer meeting with Clara & Len;  6/25/68 worked on the road 
put in a sluice by Burt hill corner;  2/16/72 Wm Snow buried...on Burt Hill;  
Burt  4/16/64 went up to Burt's with Truman looked at a pair of cattle Father bought of G W Granger;  12/19/66 went 
[from Abiram's?] with two loads of bark to Burt 7800 lbs;  
Burt, Fannie  7/3/71 Frank & Fannie Burt Brother & Cousin of Florence came out;  7/4/71 went on the pond with 
Florence Frank & Fannie Cotton & wife Frank & Fannie Burt of Longmeadow Florence Burt & myself went to Otis to a 
Concert & Ball had a pleasant time;  7/5/71 Frank & Fannie Burt went home;  
Burt, Miss Florence  5/13/71 Mrs Cotton & Miss Burt visited here carried them home;  5/14/71 Miss Burt came down 
went to Church with the girls carried her home in the evening;  5/16/71 went down to New Boston to a show & dance 
carried the girls J Cotton & wife & Miss Burt;  5/18/71 Miss Burt the School teacher came up stayed all night went on 
the hill over to S Hale's with her;  5/28/71 went up to Cotton's towards night took a sail on the pond with Florence 
stayed to Cotton's all night;  6/1/71 finished the road [from Blandford line south] Florence & Lib came up after me;  
6/10/71 Cotton & wife & Miss Burt E Sears & Del were here in eve;  6/11/71 went to Church Miss B rode up with us 
went to New Boston in afternoon back to Cotton's with Miss Burt spent the evening;  6/16/71 Miss Burt came up stayed 
all night M Nelson & Brother came down in evening;  6/19/71 carried Em home went to New Boston Miss Burt came 
home with me;  6/20/71 Miss Burt came up stayed all night;  6/21/71 Miss Burt came here to board;  6/22/71 Miss Burt 
was here;
Burt, Miss Florence [contd]  7/2/71 went up to Cotton's went to Church Florence went up with us took tea to Cotton's 
went to 5 o'clock meeting with F B went a sailing with her;  7/3/71 Frank & Fannie Burt Brother & Cousin of Florence 
came out;  7/4/71 went on the pond with Florence Frank & Fannie Cotton & wife Frank & Fannie Burt of Longmeadow 
Florence Burt & myself went to Otis to a Concert & Ball had a pleasant time;  7/9/71 went up to Cotton's down to the 
pond Florence came down with me went to Church with us stayed all night went over to S Hale's in evening;  7/18/71 
mowed for Del got in 3 big loads cleaned up came home drove oxen home met Mrs Hall & Miss Burt east of M Hall's 
talked a few moments with them;  7/20/71 J Cotton & wife & Florence Burt called;  7/21/71 went to the pond with Lib & 
Florence Burt got some lillies she came home with us carried her back to Cotton's stayed all night;  7/22/71 carried 
Florence Burt to Westfield to the cars for home at Longmeadow had a pleasant ride a very estimable young lady;  
9/11/71 Florence Burt came out to teach school;

Burt, Miss Florence [contd]  9/14/71 went over to Del's got his buggy went to A Rood's to a party at Bakerville in 
company with M Johnson, Charlie & Charlie Snow, carried Florence Burt had a nice time;  9/17/71 Cotton & wife & Miss 
Burt came down in the evening;  10/7/71 Miss Florence Burt came down in the morning went to West Granville with me 
in the afternoon to L Smith, took tea carried her to Cotton's Johnson & wife Rood & wife Dewey & wife & Charlie came 
over with oxen & cart Florence's school stopped;  10/14/71 Mr Cotton & wife Florence Burt Selenda & I went over to L 
Smiths a chestnutting;  10/15/71 went up to Cotton's took supper Del came over Cotton & Miss Burt came down spent 
the evening;  10/16/71 Mr Cotton & wife Mr Johnson & wife Charles Johnson & Miss Burt went to Longmeadow;  
Burt, Frank  7/3/71 Frank & Fannie Burt Brother & Cousin of Florence came out;  7/4/71 went on the pond with 
Florence Frank & Fannie Cotton & wife Frank & Fannie Burt of Longmeadow Florence Burt & myself went to Otis to a 
Concert & Ball had a pleasant time;  7/5/71 Frank & Fannie Burt went home;  
Burt, O  12/19/66 went with two loads of bark [from Abiram's?] to Burt 7800 lbs;  2/21/71 went down [from Father's?] 
with our bark drew it up to O Burt;  4/25/71 went down with bark to Burts; 12/1/71 went with Cotton to W Johnson's 

down to New Boston up to O Burt came home;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] O Burt Dr  By Bark Mar 9th 1871 33 tons 1140 

lbs Amount $402.84 [Suggests $12 per ton] Cr Sept 1st $300 Cr Dec 1st $50;  
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Burt, Wm  1/23/72 Wm Burt called here;  1/24/72 Mr Burt of Longmeadow called here in afternoon stayed all night;  
1/25/72 Mr Burt, Hamilton Dr Ben--- & Cotton were all here in the forenoon related stories:  Abe's pants, Educated,  RR 
Station;  
Bushnell  12/21/69 Hubert & I went a bait fishing on Bushnell's cove Pat Hale was there Dowd went up to Otis with the 
stage;  
Bushnell, J A  [Torn fragment of bill in back of 1866 diary] West Winsted Conn, June 30 th 1866 bought of J A Bushnell, 
dealer in ...urs Cloths, Clothing, Furnishing Goods, &c For Hale & Ives 3.00 + 2.00 + .75 = 5.75 + 7.51 + 10.87 = 
$24.13;
Butler, J  7/12/69 mowed over towards Butler's [for John Northway];  8/31/71 went with Cotton over to Butler's to a 
dance in eve;  11/19/71 Mrs Clark & Butler came in [to Del's?] in the eve;  2/1/72 went over to J Butler's called to Del's;  
8/23/72 went over to Butler's and mowed awhile came back and went to work at Del's got in two loads finished him out 
came home with the oxen;  
Byron  3/5/68 went to New Boston up to Crane's cut wood went over to B F [T?] Hales in evening Byron & Del came up 
in evening;  5/10/68 Byron & Len & Ella Clarke came over in eve;  6/28/68 Byron came up;  

Cain [?]  11/11/66 went up to Sage brook [from Dels?] up to Cains [?];
Calander, T  11/18/63 went to New Boston to the trial of T Calander for the murder of Mrs Jones & children;  
Calender, Fred  9/8/65 David Winter & Fred Calender came to Holshapple's they went & got drunk;  

Camp, M  [Hall & Lot]  1/17/66 Truman came down [to Winsted] went to Father Kemp's show at Camp's Hall filled to 
overflowing;  2/15/66 went up to Colebrook River with Pixley around by Camp's chair shop stayed to Grandfather's over 
night Lee [?] came there;  4/23/66 Erastus & I went down to New Boston up on Camp's lot looked at some bark;  5/2/66 
went down to Belden's with Erastus & up on Camp's lot;  5/7/66 Erastus & I commenced peeling bark on Camp's;  
6/5/66 finished peeling bark on Camp's came up to Father's;  6/6/66 went up to Hewitt's saw Gilbert down to the red 

shop saw Camp;  Memoranda [1866 diary]  M Camp, Cr  June 9th on job of peeling bark  $10.00  June 7th By cash 

$50.00  June 7th Goods from store $7.51  June 30th By cash $10.00  June 30th Goods from store $6.62  Cr For peeling  

9 [?] 8 ton 1369 lbs bark $2.00 per ton  $52.43;  Memoranda [1866 diary] Bought for Camp's Job  May 4th 6 Galls Cider 

$2.20 May 9th 1 Gal Rum $3.75 May 17th 1 Gal Rum $4.50 May 17th 1 Gal Cider $1.80 Rum $.75 Rum $2.10;  Oct 27th  M
Camp, M  [Hall & Lot]  Memoranda [1866 diary] C W Ives Acct of Goods bought of Camp & Co 1 Pr Pants $2.00 1 Pr 

Suspenders $0.75 = $2.75;  [Cash Account 1869 Sep] 18th Acct at Camps $6.00;  

Candec, H  4/7/65 went up to Candec [?] [from Del's?];  4/10/65 went up to Candec's [Candee's?];  5/1/65 went up to 
Candec [Candee?] store in the evening;  5/9/65 went up to Candec's [Candee's?] store fixed a boot;  7/15/65 came up 
to Del's went up to H Candec's [Candee's?] store got some cloth for a shirt;  8/5/65 went up to Candec [Candee?] store 
in the evening;  12/15/65 went up to the store sold H Candec [Candee?] 3 mink for $21.50 walked to Canaan with 
Charlie Thorpe took the stage for Winsted stayed to Darling's over night;  3/13/70 H F [T?] Candee called in to Sam's;  
Canfield  3/13/64 received letter...from Canfield;  

Carlos Lot  8/31/62 went down to the Carlos lot got some apples;  8/24/63 commenced mowing on the Carlos 
lot...Lucius helped us; 8/27/63 mowed on the Carlos lot Lucius worked for us; 8/28/63 finished mowing on the Carlos 
lot;  8/31/63 1 load from the Carlos lot 2 by the old house Lu worked here;  9/27/63 walked down as far as the Carlos 
lot;  10/10/63 Father picked apples in the Carlos lot;  8/1/64 mowed on the Carlos lot;  8/2/64 finished the Carlos lot;
Carlos  7/7/68 Carlos came up;  7/23/68 mowed finished this side of the barn Carlos [?] & Charlie helped us;  7/29/69 
Carlos & F Simons came up;  
Carter, G  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XG Carter  X50;  
Carter, L  Beef 1864? 2nd page]  L Carter  X147;  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  XL Carter  X75;  11/20/68 carried 20 bush 
potatoes to L Carter;
Case, A  6/7/68 Case came down went up with him found his hog dead;  6/10/68 finished B Moore's job L Frost A Case 
Father & Charlie worked came home;  10/28/68 went to Case's over to Wm Howd's to a party;  5/15/69 finished at 
Northways went up to Cases with D Smith around home;  8/26/70 finished one roof of Curt's [Babb] barn Father came 
up and worked A Case worked;  2/21/72 Fred & I went up to A Case's got two loads there weighed 57,00 [sic];  [Cash 

Account 1872] April 5th A Case bark $20;  
Case, Miss  3/25/62 went down to Grandpa's Miss Case [&] Root;  4/5/62 Uncle Abiram & wife, True & Misses Case & 
Root came up to Dels we danced in the evening;
Case, Mrs  2/24/63  David Tiffany & wife [&?] Mrs Case came here in evening [S Murphy's?];  7/10/63 went over to 
Levi's up to Cases around to the Babcock farm;  
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Case, C  8/26/66 went up to Case's from there to the reservoir with True & Rat;  5/6/67 Del & I went up to North quarter 
took a job of bark of Bennet Moore went up to Case's New Boston;  6/10/67 went up to Case's took a job of peeling 
bark with E Hale;  6/17/67 comenced peeeling bark for Case & Clark;  6/26/67 peeled bark Father helped us went up to 
Case's;  9/9/67 [Cash Account Received of] C Case $25.00;  Memoranda [1867 diary] Case & Clark's job Bought 1 

sack flour $2.80;  [1867 diary Memoranda C Ives days worked?] Case & Clark's Job No Days June 22nd 41/2 days June 

29th 2 days;  [Memoranda 1867 diary] Case & Clark's Job No Days June 22nd 4 days June 29th 2 days Due Del $2.85  

["X"ed out whole entry];  [1867] Cash Account September...9th C Case $25.00 Received 9th E Hale $7.00 A Ives $5.00;  

Memoranda [1867 diary] Case & Clark Cr July 4th Cash by Clark $25.00 Sept 9th Cash by Case  $25.00;  3/16/69 went 
up to C Case's to N Babb down to Melman's home up to David Farnham with Del to a dance stayed to Howd's over 
night;  
Case, Frank  3/30/71 Nel Brown & F Case called;  6/29/71 Nel Brown & Frank Case called took tea;  
Catlin, H  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XH Catlin  X20;  
Caul, L  11/27/69 L Caul [?] H Tuttle came [on stage] from B [New Boston?] to CS [Cold Spring?];  1/18/70 went up to 
Tolland called to F Hale's & S Hale's went to Otis Sarah went up to Otis broke a wheel of the stage got a wagon of L 
Caul;  
Cauldwell  7/15/66 wrote to Mary Jane Georgia Cauldwell & Whitney;  
Cauldwell, A  6/4/72 A Cauldwell & wife came down [to Ira Smith's];  
Chamberlin, Dea  10/16/71 Dea Chamberlain buried;  
Champlain, Henry  10/22/63 went to New Boston carried the girls down got their pictures H Ca[?]mplain came & looked 
at the colt tried to buy;  10/23/63 went to Colebrook River Henry Champlain bought my colt $135;  10/24/63 Father took 
the colt over to Granville to Champlain carried Mrs Treat home;  

Champlin, Dr  11/22/69 went down with the stage Dr Champlin & L Hildreth went down no passengers up;  1/24/70 had 
a load of passengers down Dr Champlin came down;  2/5/70 Will Hunt & Mrs Bruce came up, Dr Champlin came up 
[on the stage];  2/19/70 Corin Smith went down Hildreth & wife Dr Champlin came up [on the stage];  2/21/70 8 inches 
snow on the ground in Otis went down in wagon Dr Champ went down [on the stage];  
Chapel  5/5/70 worked on the road [for Uncle Sheff?] finished on the hill towards Chapel's worked front of Martin's in 
the afternoon;  
Chapin  [1868 Cash Account] February 20th Chapins Sons for Plane woods $11.80 Received;  
Chapman, Chester  7/13/67 Chester Chapman died aged 69 yrs;  7/14/67 attended the funeral of Mr Chapman;  
Chapman, Etta  2/18/64 William Marshall & Etta Chapma[n?] married;  
Chapman, Mrs  4/17/64 Mrs Chapman buried;  
Chapman, Watson  11/11/64 came back to Salisbury Watson Chapman buried;  
Charlie  10/7/67 Mike & Charlie came up in evening;  
Chase, Hiram  4/27/72 went down to H Chase's in evening;  5/10/72 went up to E Slocum's to Bennett Moore's on the 
hill down to Hodge's Chase & G Atkins & back to Mrs Bentley stayed all night;  5/11/72 worked around the mill Chase & 
Johnson came up;  7/1/72 came down to the [mill] from home Mr Pebbles helped me board some on the ends went 
down to H Chase & G Atkins;  7/2/72 worked at boarding the mill went down to H Chase about noon to get him to work 
for me;  7/3/72 Chase came up worked putting down sleeve for the shaft he went home at noon;  7/4/72 Chase worked 
for me putting in the shaft;  7/5/72 Chase helped me finish putting in the shaft in forenoon worked extending the track;  
7/6/72 Chase came up & worked in afternoon on the track;  7/8/72 Chase came up worked on the track;  7/9/72 worked 
on track Chase put down rolls;  7/11/72 went up the race & fixed it got the mill ready for the belt went over to Granville 
with Chase in the afternoon;  7/12/72  worked on the mill in forenoon...went down to Chase;  7/13/72 Chase came up 
put on the belt started the mill & sawed two logs;  
Chase, Hiram [contd]  7/11/72 went up the race & fixed it got the mill ready for the belt went over to Granville with 
Chase in the afternoon;  7/12/72 went down to Chase;  7/13/72 Chase came up put on the belt started the mill & sawed 
two logs;  7/15/72 went to Chase up to L Smith stayed all night;  10/15/72 went down to Hiram Chase's to get him to go 
up and help me [at the mill];  10/16/72 tried to run the mill but the saw heat went down to H Chase's in the afternoon 
helped him pick up apples and he came up and fixed the saw;  
Chatfield, Frank  2/9/67  Frank Chatfield here [Abiram's] went to New Boston in the afternoon;  1/28/70 a dance to the 
new Hall [Otis?] called awhile there Frank Chatfield came up [on the stage];  
Chatfield, Sarah  2/24/70 Sarah Chatfield came down [on the stage] in the morning;  
Chatman  11/2/62 went a cooning at night & caught 2 up this way by Chatmans;  
Ches, E 6/27/72 went down to E Ches in the evening;  
Church, S  12/23/70 shod S Church's horse;  
Church, W  11/2/67 went down to Hodge's to the River New Boston shod a pair of oxen for W Church;  1/2/68 shod a 
pair of oxen for W Church;  
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Churchill  7/4/68 warmest day for 10 years went up to Churchill's got some ice cream with Georgia & Lu went up to Dea 
Hurlburt spent the rest of the day & evening to Hotchkiss started for home [from Winsted] at 10 o'clock;  
Claflin, Martha  1/26/70 L Granger Martha Claflin & Minnie Smith went [on Stage] up to Cold Spring & Strong, carried 
them to Claflin's;  
Clark Lot  8/19/70 mowed the Clark lot got in 3 load;  8/20/70 mowed an hour on the Clark lot finished it;
Clark,  5/15/62 bought a pair of oxen of Clark at the foot of Hartland mort [?] [$]125;  
Clark  4/19/72  Clark of Huntington came down stayed all night;  4/20/72 went down to the sawmill with Clark;  
Clark, Alfred  1/5/69 went over to T [G?] Hale's in the evening Alfred & Ella Clark went over;  
Clark, Charles  9/13/68 Sam[']l & wife C Clark came out in eve;  9/27/68 Charles Clark came over in the evening;  
11/7/68 C Clark came here went to [New] Boston in evening;  
Clark, Eli  5/18/69 took my steers up to Eli Clark to pasture;  7/18/69 [went] up to Clarke's Grant lot & see my steers 
with John Cotton;  10/5/69 went up to Eli Clark's drove my steers home John [Cotton?] went with me;  10/9/69 Father & 
Del came back from Harrington drove the steers home dug potatoes went up to Clark's with the steers;  10/25/69 Eli 

Clarke came down;  11/1/69 went up to Eli Clark's sold him my 2 year old steer $239 [?];  [Cash Account 1869 Nov] 1st 

Eli Clark Keeping steer $9.00  1 Pr steers $135.00 Received...Eli Clark Dr Balance on Steers $3.00 Received in full 

$3.00 [both in "Paid" column];  [Cash Account 1869 Dec] 3rd Balance acct with Eli Clark $3.00 Received;  8/25/70 went 
blackberrying went over to Eli Clark's with Dim;  

Clark, L  [Cash Account 1869 Sep] 17th L Clark meal $3.00;  6/16/72 went down to New Boston got L Clark stayed to 
Father's;  6/17/72 Father carried Clark down to Mrs Bentley's done his chores and then went down & worked on the mill 
at hanging the wheels Clark helped me;  6/26/72 worked around the mill laying the foundation got the sills on Peebles 
helped me & Johnson & Clark;  6/28/72 pined the bents together got ready to raise raised in the afternoon Clark went 

out to New Boston;  [Cash Account 1872] June 29th L Clark on mill $50.00 [or $30.00?];  
Clark, Marcia  1/7/70 Marcia Clark went up in the stage & Mrs J Bidwell, two passengers to Otis;  
Clark, Mrs  2/11/69 Hube & I went to Barrington saw Mrs Clark hube got an examination from Mrs Waters;  11/19/71 
Mrs Clark & Butler came in [to Del's?] in the eve;  
Clark, P [N?]  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XN Clark  X55;  1/2/68 shod a horse...for P [N?] Clark;  

Clark, Salmon  [Beef 1864? 2nd page] XS Clark  70;  7/10/67 came down to S [?] Clarks mowed;  7/14/67 came down 
to Clark's;  7/19/67 came back to Clark's;  7/21/67 went down to Clark's;  7/22/67 [Cash Account, Received of] Salmon 

Clark for work in haying $14.00;  [Memoranda 1867 diary] Salmon Clark D July 22nd for work in haying $14.00 Cr April 

10th 1868 By cash $10.00;  [1868 Cash Account April 11th S Clark work 1867 $10.00 Received;  10/6/67 went down to 
S [T?] Clark's over to Abiram's;  1/20/68 Father & Mother went over to Clark's to see Del;  3/24/70 Auction at S Clark's;  
7/26/70 went to North Granby came back to West Granville back to Granville Corners tried to find Miles Goddard 
stayed to S Clark's;  9/26/71 S Clark wife & Daughter called;  
Clark, Thomas  1/10/66 Thos Clark lost a child;  6/17/67 commenced peeling bark for Case & Clark;  7/4/67 [Cash 
Account] Received of Tom Clark $25.00;  7/8/67 went up to Clark's & got the rest of our things;  
Clarke  2/28/66 settled my board settled with Clarke looked for a job came down to Joe's stayed all night;  
Clarke  8/25/69 mowed the Clarke lot [at/for Wm Howd?];  

Clarke, Alonzo  1/23/67 Alonzo Clarke broke his leg;  12/9/67 [Cash Account Received of] A Clark 1 qtr beef $11.45;
Clarke, Ella  5/1/68 Anson, Lurinda & Ella Clarke came over in evening;  5/3/68 Del Len & Ella went to Church;  5/10/68 
Byron & Len & Ella Clark came over in eve;  5/17/68 went over to Wm Crane's with Lib & Ella;  7/14/68 Ella Joe Daniels 
& wife called;  1/5/69 over to F Hale's in eve Alfred & Ella Clark went over;  
Clarke, George  12/16/69 George Clarke came down [probably on the stage, and then Cyrus] went a fishing caught a 
few;  
Clarke, Harry  3/4/68 Harry Clarke died;  3/15/68 Mrs Harry Clarke died;  3/18/68 Anson Ethan Clark died the last of the 
family died in 3 weeks;  

Clarke, James  12/26/62 1 ton of hay, received 1/2?/63 $10.00;  Memoranda  James Clarke Dr  Dec 26th 1862  by 1 ton 

of hay  $10.00 Received Jan 2? 1863  $10.00;  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  XJ Clarke [?]  X66;  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  
XJames Clarke  X64;  12/3/67 shod a horse for James ["J" unlike questionable "S" & "T"] Clark;
Clarke, Mrs L  1/5/70 Mrs L Clarke & J Bidwell went down to Dowd's a visiting;  1/7/70 Marcia Clark went up in the 
stage & Mrs J Bidwell, two passengers to Otis;  
Clarke, M  11/20/62 went up to M Clarkes up to E Otis looked at some steers;  2/28/66 settled with Clarke;

Clarke, N  6/24/71 went over to N Clarke got some tobacco plants set them out;  7/1/71 Father shod horse for N Clark;  
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Clarke, S  7/8/66 came down to S Clarke to haying;  7/9/66 mowed for Clarke in the forenoon & for C Denslow in the 

afternoon went up to New Boston;  7/14/66 finished Clarke's haying came up to Father's;  July 14th  S Clarke for haying 
$10.50 Received;  12/24/66 came [from Father's] over to By's stopped to Clark's got 2 guns;  7/10/67 came down to  S 
[?] Clark's mowed;  7/14/67 attended the funeral of Mr Chapman came down to Clark's;  7/19/67 went up to By's came 
back to Clark's O Phelps wife buried;  7/21/67 went to meeting went down to Clark's;  11/19/67 shod a pair of oxen for 
S Clarke;  
Clarke, William  2/3/70 wood choppers came down & back Wm Clarke went to Winsted & back in the stage;  4/19/71 
shod Wm Clark oxen;  9/9/71 Charlie Johnson came down went to New Boston up to Wm Clark's Len came home;  
[back of 1871 diary]  Wm Clark  18.51  1580 [?] due on meal;  
Cleflin, Martha  12/29/69 Crittenden went to Otis Martha Cleflin went to Cold Spring [on the stage];  
Coe, H  4/21/71 sent Rat to Coe's after wagon came over to L Smith loaded up two loads of bark went down to [R?] 

Smith got meal;  [Cash Account 1872] January 15th H Coe use wagon $1.70;  
C[?]onnald,  5/31/62 put on the rafters to Connald barn [in CT?];  
Connalls [Lunolts or Cunolts?]  5/18/62 went over to Lunolts [Connalls?] & Datterson [?] got some beer;  
Cooley, Sam  8/5/66 went to meeting through the day & evening Sam Cooley came in the evening;  3/29/67 Sam 
Cooley called here;  1/10/68 S Cooley & wife called;  9/13/68 Sam[']l & wife C Clark came out in eve;  9/18/68 Sam 
came over;  10/5/71 Father & the girls went to Winsted to Horse Show Mother taken sick sent for S Cooley's wife to 
stay a while with her;  
Coons  5/29/65 Coons & J Landon [?] came in the bush [Salisbury, CT?];  9/20/65 Coons child born;  12/19/65 Mary 
Jane C Thorpe & I came to Canaan with Coons Charlie & I came to Winsted;  
Cooper, M  5/10/65 Cooper worked on the bush made bottoms;  6/10/65 went up to Ellen Brown's in the afternoon with 
E Hale Truman Selenda & Laura went to Cooper's to a dance;  9/17/65 M Cooper's child died;  
Corlena  2/6/67 Lib went home Corlena came over [to Uncle Abiram's];  12/6/69 snowed all day quite hard went up with 
a sleigh Miss Wheeler two Hall ladies Miss Harrington Corlena & others a load came down;  
Corlene  10/16/68 Osborn & Corlene came down stayed all night;  
Coroll, H  1/20/62 went down to J P Hall's in the forenoon in the afternoon went to H Coroll's;  

Cotton, A  8/14/70 A Cotton & wife came down to Curt's [Babb's] Dim & I went over to D Farnham's in the afternoon;  
Cotton, D  8/13/69 went up to D Cottons [from Wm Howds?];  
Cotton, Fred  6/17/71 worked on the road east of our house Fred Cotton helped us;  7/7/71 C Denslow J & F Cotton 
Father & I worked for L Twining at haying;  9/7/71 Ed Fowler & Hayden from Granville Corners came here took dinner, 
Cotton & Fred were here;  1/20/72 Cotton and Fred came down helped me strip tobacco;  1/21/72 Fred Cotton found 
on meeting house hill insensible by being drugged by Augustus Slocum brought to Miller's by M M and Dr Benjamin 
sent for;  1/22/72 Father helped get Fred home;  1/25/72 S C took care of Fred through the night;  1/27/72 Augustus 
Slocum arrested for poisoning Fred Cotton;  2/4/72 Fred Cotton came down in the evening;  2/14/72 drew 3 loads of 
logs for Cotton with Fred;  2/17/72 went with two teams with bark Fred drove one of them;  2/19/72 went with bark Fred 
Cotton drove one team finished Lawrence's, Fred & Father went over to S Hale's in evening got a yoke;  2/21/72 Fred & 
I went up to A Case's got two loads there weighed 57,00 [sic];  4/3/72 Fred & I went over got bark over to the road;  
10/28/72 Fred Cotton came down to the mill;
Cotton, Fred  [Cash Account 1872] Oct 30 Fred Cotton work $3.00;  
Cotton, John W  1/30/63 went over to New Boston West came back & stopped to the Cotton [?] party in Company with 
L Hotchkiss;  3/26/69 went to Colebrook River got some wheat ground bought a bbl of Henney Cotton rode up from 
New Boston with me;  4/21/69 shod J Cotton's stags;  5/9/69 went up to Cotton's in evening;  5/18/69 helped Cotton fix 
fence in the forenoon;  7/1/69 finished our hoeing and Cotton's;  7/18/69 [went] up to Clarke's Grant lot & see my steers 
with Cotton;  7/27/69 Cotton came down play cards pitched quoits;  8/26/69 came home from Howd's went up to J 
Cotton's worked at haying;  8/27/69 worked for Cotton got in 3 load;  8/28/69 mowed for Cotton got in 4 load of hay & 1 
of oats finished him out;  8/29/69 did not feel well stayed at [sic] Rat was here Del & Cotton went to Church;  8/30/69 
shod Cotton's stags;  8/31/69 worked on the road by F T Moore's Cotton helped us;  9/4/69 Cotton came down went 
over to B F Hale's lent Cotton $5.00;  9/12/69 Cotton came down & we went to Church;  9/15/69 went up to Cotton went 
a brring [sic; berrying?] with him;  
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Cotton, John W  [contd]  9/16/69 went up to James Hunt's with Del & John Cotton;  9/19/69 went up to Cotton's in the 
evening;  10/5/69 went up to Eli Clark's drove my steers home John went with me;  10/11/69 went up to Cotton's in the 
evening;  10/12/69 dug potatoes Cotton and his boys helped us;  10/13/69 dug potatoes for Cotton;  10/14/69 went with 
Cotton & wife to Wm Howd's to a dance;  10/17/69 went up to Cotton's in the evening;  10/20/69 Cotton came down in 
the evening;  10/24/69 went up to Cotton's;  11/4/69 went up to Cotton's in evening;  11/5/69 helped Cotton set window 
glass Alois repairing his house came down here in evening;  11/9/69 went into Springfield sold some butter J Cotton 

came in stayed to the Union house, several from Tolland up there;  [Cash Account 1869 Nov] 9th Rooster $0.63 
Sundries  Sundries [sic] $1.00 Pigs $4.00 Received;  11/14/69 went up to Cotton's he came down with me settled up in 

the evening;  [Cash Account 1869 Nov] 14th Cotton for haying $5.00 Received;  11/16/69 Cotton and Father went on 
the hill;  
Cotton, John W [contd]  11/18/69 Cotton helped us saw logs in the forenoon helped him in the afternoon Thanksgiving 
eat a supper to Cotton's went to New Boston in eve;  11/19/69 sawed logs for Cotton;  [Memoranda 1869 diary] John W 
Cotton Dr  For carding wool $4.15;  3/10/70 went down to the chair shop came home Salome & Cotton's folks were 
down here & spent the evening;  3/20/70 Cotton came down in the evening;  3/21/70 went over to Lower South West 
Sandisfield to Josiah Sage's with John Cotton;  3/23/70 Cotton down in the evening;  3/30/70 went up to Cotton's in the 
evening;  4/10/70 went up to Cotton's got some sugar to eat he came down we went over to S Hale played euchre;  
[Cash Account 1870] April 30 J Hodges 1 Pr boots $2.00;  5/8/70 went to Church Lurinda Hale came over in the 
evening Dim & John Cotton were here played euchre;  5/21/70 peeled bark came home with Cotton;  5/29/70 went up 
to Cotton's came home & went to bed went over to L Tiffany in evening with Dim;  7/3/70 Rained in the forenoon went 
up to Cotton's;  8/29/70 went up on the hill up to Curt's with John Cotton;  
Cotton, John W [contd]  9/5/70 shod Cotton's stags;  9/10/70 cut logs John Cotton came over went home with him 
around by Hodge's got a pair of boots;  9/23/70 Lib & John Cotton came over [to L Smith's?] in the eve;  10/3/70 Cotton 
came down;  10/23/70 went up to Cotton's in the afternoon;  11/27/70 went up to Cotton's in the morning went to 
Church in the afternoon came back to Smith's;  12/19/70 Cotton came down in the evening;  12/21/70 shod John 
Cotton's Stags;  12/22/70 cut a road over on the Foster lot John cut his foot went up there in evening C Denslow & Del 
came up;  12/25/70 went up to J Cotton's, across the pond over to L Smith's;  1/8/71 came [from L Smith's] over to 
Father's, across the pond called to Cotton's;  1/20/71 went up to Cotton's in the evening;  1/21/71 John Cotton and wife 
came down in the evening;  2/6/71 J Cotton & wife, Del & wife & Lib came over [to L Smith's] in the evening;  2/11/71 
went over to the road with a load of bark turned over below Cotton's;  2/20/71 went to New Boston in the evening went 
up to Cotton's played Euchre;  
Cotton, John W [contd]   2/25/71 came up to A Cowle's over to O Ripley's up to T Pebble's looking after oxen came 
back to W Hale's took supper came over to J Cotton stayed all night;  3/12/71 John came down got his papers;  3/14/71 
Cotton & wife came down in evening;  3/17/71 helped Cotton butcher a bull;  3/30/71 went over to A Fargo's with Cotton
in the eve;  4/15/71 went to Winsted Cotton went with me;  5/16/71 went down to New Boston to a show & dance 
carried the girls J Cotton & wife & Miss Burt;  5/21/71 went up to Cotton's up to H Soule's with him;  5/22/71 Cotton & I 
planted corn for W Hale;  5/24/71 went to Hall's, up to Cotton's in evening;  5/27/71 called to Cotton's went a fishing in 
eve;  5/28/71 went up to Cotton's towards night took a sail on the pond with Florence stayed to Cotton's all night;  
6/6/71 went to New Boston in evening with Cotton got a boat;  6/10/71 Cotton & wife & Miss Burt E Sears & Del were 
here in eve;  6/11/71 went to Church Miss B rode up with us went to New Boston in afternoon back to Cotton's with 
Miss Burt spent the evening;  
Cotton, John W [contd]  6/21/71 worked on the road by Capt, John Cotton helped us;  6/25/71 went up to Cotton's in 
the morning;  7/2/71 went up to Cotton's went to Church Florence went up with us took tea to Cotton's;  7/3/71 Lib & I 
went up to Cotton's in the evening Frank & Fannie Burt Brother & Cousin of Florence came out;  7/4/71 went on the 
pond with Florence Frank & Fannie Cotton & wife Frank & Fannie Burt of Longmeadow Florence Burt & myself went to 
Otis to a Concert & Ball had a pleasant time;  7/6/71 helped Cotton about shingling his barn C Denslow worked for him; 
7/7/71 C Denslow J & F Cotton Father & I worked for L Twining at haying;  7/9/71 went up to Cotton's down to the pond 
Florence came down with me;  7/10/71 carried Florence to Cotton's;  7/16/71 went up to Cotton's in the evening;  
7/20/71 J Cotton & wife & Florence Burt called shod his colt he went on the hill;  7/21/71 went to the pond with Lib & 
Florence Burt got some lillies she came home with us carried her back to Cotton's stayed all night;  7/24/71 Cotton 
came in evening;  7/27/71 went on the hill with Cotton;  
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Cotton, John W [contd]  8/6/71 went up to Cotton's down to the bathing;  8/14/71 Ed Sears Del Cotton & boys helped us
[haying at Father's];  8/15/71 J Cotton & wife came over here to Del's a visiting;  8/31/71 worked for John Cotton haying 
Homer & Giles worked for him got in 2 load went with Cotton over to Butler's to a dance in eve;  9/1/71 worked for 
Cotton helped him finish haying;  9/7/71 Ed Fowler & Hayden from Granville Corners came here took dinner, Cotton & 
Fred were here;  9/10/71 went up to Cotton's in the evening;  9/12/70 went with Cotton to H Soule's to work cutting 
tobacco;  9/13/71 Len & I went to Cotton's in the evening;  9/17/71 Cotton & wife & Miss Burt came down in the 
evening;  9/20/71 Cotton came down in evening;  9/21/71 went to Blandford to Cattle Show with Cotton, came back by 
West Granville called to L Smith's;  9/24/71 went up to Cotton's over to Johnson's down to New Boston to evening 
meeting with Charlie;  10/3/71 went to New Boston Cold Spring H Norton's, D Parker E Otis with Del took supper with 
Cotton went to School meeting;  
Cotton, John [contd] 10/7/71 Miss Florence Burt came down in the morning went to West Granville with me in the 
afternoon to L Smith, took tea carried her to Cotton's;  10/11/71 went up to Cotton's with George [Twining] went to 
Granville with a load of boards stayed to Smith's all night;  10/13/71 went up to Cotton's towards night;  10/15/71 went 
up to Cotton's took supper Del came over Cotton & Miss Burt came down spent the evening went on the [Hill?] with 
John;  10/16/71 went up to Cotton's stayed all night;  10/17/71 stayed to Cotton all night with the boys;  10/19/71 got 
Cotton to carry Len to L Smith's got out manure for him;  10/22/71 Dim was here went up to Cotton's came back to 
Smith;  10/24/71 Cotton & Len came over [to L Smith's] in the evening;  11/5/71 went up to Cotton's with Erastus over 
to F Hale's over to L Smith and home in evening;  11/18/71 went to New Boston in the eve with Cotton;  11/25/71 went 
up to Cotton's in the evening;  11/26/71 went up to Cotton's in the morning;  11/30/71 Very cold and windy coldest 
Thanksgiving for years went to J Cottons eat supper with them;  
Cotton, John W [contd]  12/1/71 went with Cotton to W Johnson's down to New Boston up to O Burt came home;  
12/9/71 shod J Cotton's horse;  12/14/71 Cotton & I went to Otis got two loads of meal with oxen & sled;  12/16/71 went 
to New Boston with Cotton in evening & down to Tolland PO;  12/17/71 carried the papers up to Cotton's;  12/19/71 
drew two loads of logs to Twining's mill for Cotton;  12/20/71 went over to John McDonald's after bark Cotton went with 
me with his team;  12/21/71 15 below zero at Tolland went to New Boston with bark in the morning back to McDonald's 
loaded up came back to Cotton's;  12/24/71 went up to Cotton's went over to Del's with him;  12/28/71 Cotton came 
down and we went to Otis up to Wm Twining's;  12/30/71 went up to Cotton's in the morning;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] 

A Hull Bark Dec 21st 2520 Cotton 2464 22nd 2400 Cotton 2700 23rd 2350 Cotton 2634 [sum=] 15068 McDonald bark 7 
tons 1068 Cotton 3 ton 1798;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] Bark drew by Cotton 2980 2890 2890 2290 3080 2300 [=] 
16,910 [my sum = 16,430] 8 [ton] 910;  
Cotton, John W [contd]  1/1/72 went from home to J Cotton's there to E Day's Otis to a ball waited upon Emma Smith;  
1/7/72 went up to Cotton's in evening;  1/8/72 went over to Granville got two loads of bark with Cotton;  1/9/72 went to 
Cotton's to a party in evening;  1/12/72 went up to Cotton's and to New Boston with him in evening;  1/17/72 went to 
Cotton's on an errand Hamilton & wife were there;  1/18/72 Cotton came down in the evening;  1/20/72 Cotton and Fred 
came down helped me strip tobacco;  1/24/72 went on the hill over to West Granville with Cotton to see Goodwin;  
1/25/72 Mr Burt, Hamilton Dr Ben--- & Cotton were all here in the forenoon related stories:  Abe's pants, Educated,  RR 
Station;  1/28/72 came [from L Smith's] up by A Cowles called over by Moore's across the pond called to Cotton's took 
supper John Lewis was there Cotton & wife & Miss Lewis came down in the evening;  1/31/72 shod Cotton's stags;  
2/5/72 Cotton & I went down across the pond got two loads of bark over to the road;  2/8/72 went up to Cotton's in the 
morning shod three horses;  
Cotton, John W [contd]  2/10/72 drew logs for Cotton he carried Julia Lewis home;  2/12/72 drew three loads of logs for 
Cotton to Twining's mill;  2/14/72 drew 3 loads of logs for Cotton with Fred;  2/15/72 went with Cotton to Granville got 
two loads of bark;  2/20/72 went over by Lawrence, and commenced drawing Barnes bark 4 teams C Northway & 
Cotton helped me;  2/28/72 Homer & Nelson Twining & Cotton here in evening;  3/2/72 got Cotton to help me skin the 
spotted cow [2/29/72 the spotted cow slipped the hip joint out of the socket];  3/9/72 Cotton & I went up to the Twining 

farm got two small loads of hay;  [Cash Account 1872] March 25th Forks & spider for Cotton $0.45;  3/31/72 stayed to 
Lawrence's until towards night came home across the pond called to Cottons;  4/15/72 came over to Father's with Em 
[married yesterday] stayed all night John Cotton & wife came down in evening;  4/28/72 went over to Father's up to 
Cotton's;  5/18/72 Father & Cotton came down to help me [at the mill] worked untill 11 o'clock hurt my eye by a piece of 
a knot flying into it;  

Cotton, John W [contd]  5/19/72 my eye comfortable went up to Cotton's towards night;  7/28/72 went up to Cotton's 
down to the pond went in bathing & over on the Foster lot to see my oxen;  8/14/72 came out home Cotton came down; 
9/1/72 went up to Cotton's in the evening;  9/8/72 went up to Cottons, Rood & wife C Denslow & wife there went a 
cranberrying;  9/13/72 went up to J Cotton in the afternoon with Em;  9/15/72 went out to Father's with the horse went 
up to Cotton's picked some cranberries came back to Lawrence's;  10/20/72  Erastus Hale & John Cotton came over 
went up on Chestnut Hill got some chestnuts helped Lawrence get the cattle off the hill;  10/24/72 went over to Father's 
up to Cotton got some things;  11/10/72  went over to Father's early in the morning went up to Cotton's, Father brought 
me back in the evening [to L Smith's];  12/1/72 J Cotton & P Minor came to Father's in the evening;  
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Cotton, John W [contd]  [Memoranda 1871 diary] John W Cotton Dr By Carding wool 1869 $4.15  By 1 Pr Pants July 4 

1871 $ 5.50 Cr By 1 Tobacco needle $0.60 Sep 14 By meal $18.80 [?] Nov [?] 24 By 1 Spider $0.45 & 1/2 doz forks 

$0.85 [sum=] $30.75 [to purple ink] Jan 25th [18]73 Settled and endorsed the same on note  [List below "Jhon W 
Cotton" Xed out in purple ink of 1873 note];  
Cotton, Katie  6/10/71 Katie & Minnie Cotton came down stayed all night;  6/11/71 carried Kate & Min home;
Cotton, L  4/28/71 Del & L Cotton came up [to Father's] Brown the tin peddler called;  11/15/71 L Cotton came up [to 
Del's?] to buy Turkeys;  
Cotton, Minnie  6/10/71 Katie & Minnie Cotton came down stayed all night;  6/11/71 carried Kate & Min home;  

Cotton, Miss  10/6/71 Mother very sick sent to Winsted for Father Miss Cotton came down and stayed part of the day;  

Cotton, Mr  10/14/71 Mr Cotton & wife Florence Burt Selenda & I went over to L Smith's a chestnutting;  10/16/71 Mr 
Cotton & wife Mr Johnson & wife Charles Johnson & Miss Burt went to Longmeadow;  11/16/71 Mr Cotton & [sic] came 
down to make arrangements for Silver wedding;  11/17/71 Father's Silver wedding about 60 persons present had a very
nice time;  12/22/71 Mr Cotton & wife & Miss Lewis came down in evening;  12/29/71 Mr & Mrs Cotton came down;  
Cotton, Mrs  5/13/71 Mrs Cotton & Miss Burt visited here carried them home;  5/16/71 went down to New Boston to a 
show & dance carried the girls J Cotton & wife & Miss Burt;  10/9/71 started to go to Cotton's Mrs Cotton came down;  
10/14/71 Mr Cotton & wife Florence Burt Selenda & I went over to L Smith's a chestnutting;  10/16/71 went up to 
Cotton's stayed all night Mr Cotton & wife Mr Johnson & wife Charles Johnson & Miss Burt went to Longmeadow;  
12/29/71 Mr & Mrs Cotton came down;  2/8/72 Mrs Cotton Lib & I went over to Del's, went to M Hawley's got some 
medicine for my ox went over to Uncle Abiram's to a party;  5/18/72 Father & Cotton came down to help me [at the mill] 
worked until 11 o'clock hurt my eye by a piece of a knot flying into it came home went over & see Dr Ben--- Mrs Cotton 
came down in evening;  
Cotton, Stedman  6/18/63 went to New Boston to Arbitration between S Moore & Stedman [?] adjourned;  9/21/63 went 
to New Boston to F T Moores & Stedmans horse low [lame?] quit rode back with Hiram Parsons;  6/29/71 went to New 
Boston west got a set of wagon wheels Sted Cotton went down with me;  10/17/71 laid wall Sted Cotton helped us 
stayed to Cotton all night with the boys;  
Couch  2/11/70 Couch [?] Meleh & Daughter Bec [?] D Lawz [?] & Mrs Forsythe came down on the stage;  
Cowdry, Wm  3/9/69 went down to the old place to auction (Wm Cowdry vs Giddings) up to New Boston home;  
Cowen  12/28/69 Jane Deming came down two passengers up to Boston Cowen went to Otis [on the stage];  
Cowles  1/14/71 helped Del cut wood for Dr Parsons on the Cowles farm;  
Cowles, Asahel "Ace"  2/23/62 went into A Cowles;  3/11/62 Asahel Cowles & myself cut wood for Del;  3/16/62 L 
Twining, A Cowles, H Hotchkiss called in Father very sick;  12/15/62 went to [New] Boston up to Hull's down to A 
Cowles;  10/15/63 went over with John Hodge's to Ace Cowles got some cattle;  11/4/63 Ace Cowles came up & got 

some things;  [beef 1864? 2nd page]  XA Cowles  X1.20;  2/27/64 went over to Ace Cowles;  4/29/64 worked in the shop 
Ace Cowles came in went up to [New] Boston;  5/4/64 Ace Cowles came into the shop;  8/6//64 went over to New 
Boston west over to Simons street in pursuit of a steer stayed to Ace Cowles;  5/24/67 peeled bark went up to Ace's in 
the evening;  5/27/67 Asahel went to Winsted done his chores;  5/28/67 done Ace's chores;  5/29/67 Ace, Harvey & 
Frank came down in evening played cards;  6/13/67 peeled bark stopped peeling for Moore Rat & Hen worked moved 
our things went up to Howd's stayed to Ace's all night Fred Holmes came to our house;  7/1/67 went up to B Moore's & 
Ace Cowles's;  5/29/68 went a trouting went up to Ace's in evening;  
Cowles, Asahel "Ace" [contd] 10/22/70 cut logs in the forenoon came over to Father's around by Cowles & Marshall's;  
12/21/70 shod Cowles horse;  1/6/71 went down to Harger's to L Tiffany's in the forenoon went up to Wm Howd's & to 
A Cowles's played Euchre;  2/25/71 came up to A Cowles over to O Ripley's up to T Pebble's looking after oxen came 
back to W Hale's took supper came over to J Cotton stayed all night;  1/28/72 came [from L Smith's] up by A Cowles 
called over by Moore's across the pond called to Cotton's;  
Cowles, Mersaline  7/11/69 Leonard Frost & Mersaline Cowles married;  

Cox, H  4/17/71 went over to Granville in stage up to O Barnes over to L Smith down to H Cox's to get an ox wagon;  
Crane  12/17/66 piled logs in the morning went down to Crane's [from Abiram's?] with hard wood logs;  1/2/67 drew a 
load of [Abiram's] logs to Crane built a bridge across the Smith brook;  3/17/67 Father & Del went over to Crane's for a 
coffin down to the River to make arrangements for the Funeral [Truman's];  8/15/67 loaded a load of logs Fox went to 
Crane's with them Del came over with the horses;  9/7/67 went to New Boston up to Crane's & to By's;  9/25/67 went 
over to Crane's mill helped By get in some logs;  11/9/67 came down to Crane's up home [from Abiram's];  3/5/68 went 
to New Boston up to Crane's cut wood went over to B F Hales in evening Byron & Del came up in evening;  4/18/71 

went over to Del's carried over his hog went to Crane's got two bed steads;  [1871 Cash Account May] 1st Saw of Crane 
$6.00 Paid;  
Crane, William [?]  5/17/68 went over to Wm [?] Crane's with Lib & Ella;  
Crittendon  12/29/69 Crittenden went to Otis Martha Cleflin went to Cold Spring [on the stage];  
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Cunningham, S  [1868 diary note] 31 Bond Street Mr S Cunningham & Dr Burdell;  
Curt  8/19/68 went down to the old house [Howd's?] got in 2 loads of hay in afternoon a shower in evening Curt & Alvira 
went to Winsted to Circus;  9/1/68 Curt & A[l]vira went to New Boston;  9/3/68 went over to the pond with Howd & Curt 
a fishing in forenoon;  
Curtis [Deming, or Babb?] 2/20/66 went down to the river rode up to Curtis Wassailed [??] with him went home with 
Gladdings [?];  9/3/68 over to the pond with Howd & Curt a fishing;  8/11/70 Curt & Del came down & got Dim & I; went 
over to the reservoir; the body of H Scoville found by Wm Stowe Aged 20 yrs;  

Dan  10/1/65 went over to Dan's got a chicken [Salisbury, CT?];  

Daniels, Joe  10/5/67 shod a horse for Daniels;  10/26/67 Joe Daniels came down went down to Hodge's got some 
boots repaired;  12/23/67 shod a horse for J Daniels;  12/31/67 made a door for the barn Daniels helped us;  5/4/68 
Daniels & wife called in evening;  7/14/68 Ella Joe Daniels & wife called;  8/1/68 J Daniels down just at night;  10/25/68 
went over to J Daniel's up to Fred's over to S Hale's with Del in evening;  11/3/68 went to Daniel's in eve;  11/10/68 set 
a shoe for Daniels;  1/6/69 shod Daniels oxen;  2/18/69 went over to J Daniel's Del drew a load of logs to Boston went 
down in eve to a show Fred came up;  3/15/69 went down to H & G's shop in forenoon up to J Daniels and home;  
3/25/69 the girls Del & I went to J Daniels in eve visited W Johnson's;  4/20/69 helped Joe Daniels log the kitchen floor;  
4/21/69 helped Joe...went up to J Daniels to a dance;  5/13/70 commenced peeling bark with Dim for Northway on 
Daniels's went over to Baileies [?] in the evening;  5/31/70 finished peeling on Daniels lot;  
Danvil [Daniels?] Mrs M  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  XMrs M Daniels  X60-34;  4/24/68 to Winsted with Del...Mrs M Danvil 
[Daniels?] rode up with us;  
Darling,  12/15/65 went up to the store sold H Candec [Candee?] 3 mink for $21.50 walked to Canaan with Charlie 
Thorpe took the stage for Winsted stayed to Darling's over night;  
Dath [?], Frank  9/23/67 [Cash Account] To Frank Dath [?] for fixing wagon $5.00;
Datterson [?]  5/18/62 went over to Cunolts [?] & Datterson [?] got some beer;  
Davis  11/3/67 wrote to Rosa Sam Loomis Davis & El[v?]esson;  9/12/69 wrote to Joe & Davis & Elv[i?]essor;  2/18/71 
wrote to Davis & Elverson & commenced a letter to Miranda;  
Day, E  1/16/70 went [from Dowd's, Otis?] over to Day's Hotel in the evening;  1/25/70 Ellie Beach came down S Welch 
went to Otis to call for a dance to Day's;  1/30/70 read the papers went over to Day's Hotel;  1/31/70 fair sleighing went 
up with a stag J J Whiting up to Otis Day came over to the barn;  2/27/70 read went over to Day's Hotel went to meeting
in the evening;  1/1/72 Emma Smith was here, went to J Cotton's from there to E Day's Otis to a ball waited on Emma 
Smith;  
Dean, Mr  4/21/67 went up to meeting in the afternoon Mr Dean from Sandisfield preached;  
Dearing, Miss L  8/21/70 Miss [?] L Dearring [sic] came down;  
Decker, Effie  12/8/69 Effie Decker went up to Lu Morse's [on the stage];  
Deming, A  [Beef 1864?] XA Deming  X1.10;  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  XA Deming  X56;  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  XA 
Deming  X70;  
Deming, B  8/30/63 went over to Sandisfield funeral sermon of Lieutenant B Deming & B Wolcott F & G Allen H 
Richardson preached;  
Deming, Coral  1/8/67 went up west street came home to Abiram's Georgie came up with me to Corral Deming's;  
1/13/67 came [from Father's] back to Abiram's called to Coral Deming;  1/14/67 went down to C Deming's got Georgia 
carried her to Dea Baggs;  

Deming, Curtis  12/22/63 Father shod a pair of cattle for C Deming;  12/15/66 Abiram killed a cow for C Deming;  
1/8/67 Georgie came up with me [from Winsted?] to Corral Demings;  1/13/67 back to Abirams called to Coral Deming;  
1/14/67 down to C Demings got Georgia carried her to Dea Baggs [?];  4/20/67 Father Del & I went over to Abiram's, up 
to Curtis Deming's to an Auction;  6/10/71 shod C Demming's horse;  9/12/72 C Demming's wife was buried;  
Deming, Jane  12/28/69 Jane Deming came down [on the stage] two passengers up to Boston Cowen went to Otis;  
12/29/69 Dowd's wife visited at Young's [?] Riverton Jane kept house for her;  1/1/70 Jane Deming was here at Dowd's 
made some candy she went in the stage & Bronson & Hunt..Wm [sic]  Driving stage to Otis for Dowd;  1/19/70 
Donation at Colebrook River went up with the Stage Jane Deming came down;  1/20/70 Mrs Northway Josephine Mills 
came down & back Jane went back G Brooks & wife came down [on the stage];  
Deming, S  7/28/71 Del came over [to Father's?] about noon C Denslow & S Deming called;  8/21/72 S Demming 
worked for Del got in one load;  
Deming, [?] T [?]  12/14/67 T [?] Deming [?] buried;  
Demming, Elizur  8/21/71 Elizur Demming buried at New Boston;  
Demont, J  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  J Demont [?]  149-18-59;  
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Denison Hotel [?]  1/7/66 wrote to Del & to Pixley down to Denison's in the evening;  1/22/66 went down East Street 
down to Denison & to the Alley in the evening;  2/4/66 went down to Rosa's had nap took supper came up & called at 
Denison's;  2/10/66 left Holmes [?] came to Denison Hotel & stayed went to Billings saloon in evening;  2/11/66 stayed 
to Denison's moved our trunks to Humphrey went down East street to Joe's [Hakes?];  
Denslow Lot  8/4/62 mowed on the Denslow lot;  8/6/62 got up 1 load from Denslow lot;  10/15/62 picked up apples on 
the Denslow lot got 16 bushel;  
Denslow  12/22/69 broke the axle [on the stage] by Denslow's got a sleigh had on passenger up to Otis;  
Denslow, Burrill  6/24/64 Burrill Denslow came up [to Phelps shop] on the stage we went up to [New] Boston;  7/10/69 
Burrill Denslow came up with Del stayed all night;  
Denslow, Burton  10/7/68 Burton & Julia Denslow came up & spent the afternoon;  
Denslow, C  1/2/64 shod a pair of cattle for C Denslow;  2/8/64 shod a pair of horses for C Denslow;  2/9/64 shod a pair 
of steers for C Denslow;  2/22/64 Denslow & E [Si?]mons came here looked at the steers;  3/12/64 bought a pair of 
yearling steers of C Denslow $70;  7/9/66 mowed for Clarke in the forenoon & for C Denslow in the afternoon went up 

to New Boston;  [Cash Account 1866] July 9th Denslow for haying $1.00 Received;  4/24/67 carried 2 pigs to C 
Denslow;  1/2/68 shod a horse for C Denslow;  9/24/68 shod a pair of oxen for C Denslow his nephew came up with 
him;  12/8/68 shod C Denslow's oxen;  1/30/69 got floor boards from H[otchkiss] G[ladding] a bull from C Denslow's & 
hay from Chestnut hill;  11/23/69 in stage W Hall's wife went up to Denslow's;  12/22/70 cut a road over on the Foster 
lot John cut his foot went up there in evening C Denslow & Del came up;  6/22/71 worked on meeting house hill & down 
south road C Denslow helped us;  6/23/71 worked on the road south of the center & east of the center C Denslow 
helped us;  6/30/71 worked for C Denslow haying;  
Denslow, C [contd]  7/6/71 helped Cotton about shingling his barn C Denslow worked for him;  7/7/71 C Denslow J & F 
Cotton Father & I worked for L Twining at haying;  7/28/71 Del came over [to Father's?] about noon C Denslow & S 
Deming called;  12/16/71 shod a pair of steers for C Denslow;  9/8/72 went up to Cotton's, Rood & wife C Denslow & 
wife there went a cranberrying;  
Denslow, E  5/14/64 worked in the shop bought a shad of E Denslow came home;  
Denslow, Julia  6/1/66  6/1/66 peeled bark Fanny [Hale?] & Julia came down to Snow's;  10/7/68 Burton & Julia 
Denslow came up & spent the afternoon;  2/4/70 Julia Denslow came down to the River & back Josephine Mills rode up 
to Boston;  

Denslow, O  11/4/63 went up to New Boston West Smith bought a cow of Northway bought some iron of O Denslow;  
Denslow, Uriah  10/27/62 bought a bull of Uriah Denslow paid $12.00;  2/27/67 went over to Father's [from Abiram's] 
carried Len over & Jenny Griffin to U Denslow's;  
Denslow, W  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XW XDenslow  X40;  

Dewey, C  9/15/71 came [from A Rood, Bakerville] to Hotchkiss stayed until 10 oclock came up to C Dewey's took 
dinner came home;  10/7/71 Johnson & wife Rood & wife Dewey & wife & Charlie came over with oxen & cart;  
De Wolf, B  6/30/66 went to Winsted with Dowd came back with Dewolf stayed to Aunt Maria's;  2/28/67 B & H Dewolf 
came here [Abiram's];  11/24/69 Hattie De Wolf & Sarah came down in the stage;  2/18/70 Hildreth & wife went B 
DeWolfe came up;  

Dickerman, Rev  12/13/68 funeral of Mrs John Murphy discourse preached by Rev Mr Dickeman [?];  9/4/70 went [from 
Uncle Silas's] to Dowd's in the morning went to Church in the afternoon Rev Dickerman preached came home;  
Dimock, Electa  9/11/72 went home Uncle Abiram & wife came over, went over to No Colebrook carried Martha [?] 
Smith & Electa Dimock over stayed all night;  
Dinney  10/10/62 Dinney took his cattle home;  
Dowd, Harrison  7/6/68 Harrison Dowd went down with a bridge near Robertsville;  5/20/69 came to Winsted [to peel 
bark for A M Perkins] in company with Harvey Johnson, by Dowd to Riverton;  [Cyrus drove stage 11/69 to 3/70 for 
Harrison Dowd];  12/3/69 E D Belden came down Harrison went up with stage;  1/10/70 Harrison & I went up to 
Howard's Hube went down with the stage & Mrs Pratt went up;  1/14/70 sawed half a cord of wood for Dowd, 1 
passenger up to Boston;  1/22/70 came up with the big stage four passengers up to Boston went a bait fishing with 

Harrison;  [Memoranda 1870 diary] Harrison Dowd Dr For Driving stage from Nov 22nd until Jan 1st 1870, 1 month 9 

days at $20 per month $26.93 Ending March 3rd 3 mos 9 days $66.84;  [Memoranda 1870 diary] Harrison Dowd Cr Dec 

1869 For ribbon $1.76 Dec 29th 1869 Cash $1.30 [?] Jan 5th For thread and needles $0.64 Feb 4th For cash $20.00 Due 
$42.94 April 14 Received $42.94;  9/4/70 went [from Uncle Silas's] to Dowd's in the morning went to Church in the 
afternoon Rev Dickerman preached came home;
Dowd, Harrison [contd]  11/26/70 came home [from Emma's?] through Colebrook River & New Boston took dinner with 
Uncle Silas called to Dowd;  
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Dowd, Hubert  [Beef 1864? X Dowd [?]  X60-20;  5/9/66 went to the River with Dowd bark with Father;  5/17/66 went to 
the River with Dowd;  6/30/66 went to Winsted with Dowd came back with Dewolf stayed to Aunt Maria's;  1/20/67 True 
& wife Dowd & Doans came in the evening;  2/15/67 went to H Dowd played cards True's horse got away went with him 
up town around home;  9/24/67 H Dowd & Rat stayed all night;  1/3/68 H Dowd stayed here all night;  2/6/68 went over 
to H Dowd's in evening to a candy party;  4/9/68 went over to H Dowd with Lene [meant to write Len?] carried her 
home;  7/12/68 H Dowd called;  7/26/68 wrote to H Dowd;  1/31/69 Hubert Dowd & Ella Downs came over in the 
evening;  2/4/69 went over to B E Moore's H Dowd came over we all went up to True's to a candy party;  2/9/69 went 
over to Abiram's to a quilting...stayed with H Dowd;  2/10/69 went to West Street school house with Hube:  took in True 
went to Monterey took dinner through Hartsville New Marlboro to New Boston stayed with Hube;  
Dowd, Hubert [contd]  2/11/69 True & Hube put their horses together drove to New Marlboro Hube & I went to 
Barrington saw Mrs Clark Hube got an examination from Mrs Waters;  2/14/69 H Dowd came up stayed all night;  
2/14/69 H Dowd came up stayed all night;  10/20/69 Dowd called took dinner;  11/20/69 came to Otis with H Dowd 

stayed over Sunday to M Landon got up at 11;  12/3/69 R Beales came down with Hube stayed all night [29th] Birthday;  
12/15/69 Bell Skinner came down to the River [on the stage];  12/18/69 went to Winsted with Father came back with 
Dowd bought a coat;  12/21/69 Hubert & I went a bait fishing on Bushnell's cove Rat Hale was there Dowd went up to 

Otis with the stage;  12/23/69 Dowd went up with the stage;  [Cash Account 1869 Dec] 23rd Lent Hubert Dowd $25.00;  
12/24/69 Dowd went to Otis with stage, Hubert & I went to Sandisfield Donation got back at 5 he went on to Springfield; 
12/25/69 went up home Dowd & wife went to New Boston with me [on the stage] Rosa went up home;  12/27/69 Dowd 
went up to Otis;  
Dowd, Hubert [contd]  12/30/69 Hubert went after a load of wood got a load of sawdust had a load of passengers [on 
the stage] up to New Boston;  12/31/69 got some wood for Dowd Georgia came up in the stage to Boston.  A Bazney 

[?] girl two passengers to Otis Dowd went up;  [1869 Cash Account Dec] 23rd  Lent Hubert Dowd  [$]25.00; 1/1/70 Jane 
Deming was here at Dowd's made some candy she went in the stage & Bronson & Hunt..Wm. [sic]  Driving stage to 
Otis for Dowd;  1/5/70 Mrs L Clarke & J Bidwell went down to Dowd's a visiting;  1/10/70 Harrison & I went up to 
Howard's Hube went down with the stage & Mrs Pratt went up;  1/27/70 Dowd came up to New Boston stayed all night 
W[?]olcout [Wolcott?] came up Lizzie Hall went up to Otis [on the stage];  2/12/70 went to Winsted with Dowd bought 
an overcoat;  2/23/70 Mrs Downs & Spring & Mrs Northway visited at Dowd's had a load up to Boston;  3/4/70 quit 
driving stage Hubert drove up a dance to Johnson's Nellie & Rood [?] came up;  3/8/70 went down to the River with Del 
rode up to Boston with Dowd stayed to A Snow;

Dowd, Hubert [contd]  3/18/70 Very blustering roads drifted very badly came up to Winsted with Lu rode to the River 
with Glading stayed to Dowd's;  3/19/70 Warm & pleasant went to Winsted with Dowd Del Lib & Salome was down 
came home with Lib;  4/16/70 went down to the River to Dowd's stayed to Sheff's;  4/17/70 Mr Bills was buried called to 

George's to Dowd's;  5/1/70 came over to Hale's down to Dowd's over to Uncle Sheff's;  [Cash Account 1870] May 1st 

Hubert Dowd note and interest $26.00 Received;  5/3/70 Hubert Dowd & wife started for the west;  
Dowd, Mily  1/2/70 Rained hard all day done chores read the papers played Dominoes with Mily;  

Dowd, Miss  1/4/70 Miss [Mrs?] Dowd went up to Boston [on stage] Rosa went back, a passenger up to New Boston;  
Dowd, Mrs  12/29/69 Dowd's wife visited at Young's [?] Riverton Jane kept house for her;  
Downs  12/13/69 two Downs fellows came down [on the stage] from New Boston John Mills & a lady to Mont[ville? or 
Monterey?] went up;  

Downs, A  1/20/67 True & wife Dowd and Downs came [to Abiram's] in the evening;  2/17/67 came [from Father's] back 
to Abiram's called to Down's played cards;  11/13/67 cut wood [at Abiram's?] went down to A Down's in evening;  
10/20/68 Selenda went over to Downs;  10/21/68 a quilting over to A Downs;  12/2/68 Philo Bell stayed all night went 
over to A Down's to party;  1/10/69 went over to A Downs with Lu Del & the girls made some molasses candy;  

Downs, Byron  2/4/68 D Smith B Downs & Del came up went to singing school down to J Hodge's;  2/11/68 went up to 
singing school B D [Byron Downs?] came over;  2/23/68 carried Del up to New Boston West went up to Abiram's called 
to Downs;  4/4/68 Del & By Downs came up;  4/5/68 By spent the day here;  4/14/68 By & Ellen [Downs?] came up 
stayed;  4/22/68 went to New Boston up to Down & to Hull's in evening;  5/10/68 Byron & Len & Ella Clarke came over 
in evening;  6/28/68 Byron came up;  10/20/68 Selenda went over to Downs;  
Downs, Ella  7/14/68 Ella Joe Daniels & wife called in evening;  1/9/69 Father & Mother went to Montville Ella Downs 
came over;  1/31/69 Hubert Dowd & Ella Downs came over in the evening;  11/7/69 Ella & Mary Ann Downs, Alvira 
Rufus & Charlie Fargo came over;  
Downs, Ellen  4/14/68 went to Boston By & Ellen [Downs?] came up stayed;  12/29/68 Rufus Charles & Alvira Fargo & 
Ellen Downs came over in evening;  11/15/70 went home [from L Smith's?] in the evening R Fargo & Ellen Downs were 
there;  
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Downs, Mary Ann  11/7/69 Ella & Mary Ann Downs, Alvira Rufus & Charlie Fargo came over;  
Downs, Mrs  10/27/68 Mrs Downs came over helped color some carpet rags;  2/23/70 Mrs Downs & Spring & Mrs 
Northway visited at Dowd's had a load up to Boston [on the stage];  
Doyle, Agusta  11/9/66 came [from Holshopp's?] around the mountain to Ellen Brown's took supper came down to J 
Doyle with Augusta & Mary Jane;  11/23/71 carried Augusta & Alida Doyle home took dinner with them saw Josephine 
had a very good pleasant visit Augusta came over to A Taft's with me enjoyed her company very much, came to Del's;  
12/10/71 wrote a letter to Augusta Doyle;  1/7/72 wrote to A A D [Augusta & Alida Doyle?];  2/19/72 wrote to A A D;  
3/7/72 received a letter from A A D;  
Doyle, Alida  11/23/71 carried Augusta & Alida Doyle home took dinner with them saw Josephine had a very pleasant 
visit Augusta came over to A Taft's with me enjoyed her company very much, came to Del's;  

Doyle, Josephine  9/28/66 went to the fair [from Ellen Brown's] came down & stayed to Dels Mary Jane Brown & 
Josephine Doyle stayed there;  11/9/66 came [from Holshopp's?] to Ellen Brown's took supper came down to J Doyle 
with Augusta & Mary Jane;  3/31/67 wrote to Josephine Doyle & Mary Jane Brown;  9/30/68 went to Barrington with Del 
to Cattle Show started at 3 o'clock went down to Scoville over to Chapinville called to Doyle's stayed with Will to Sam's; 
11/23/71 carried Augusta & Alida Doyle home took dinner with them saw Josephine had a very good pleasant visit 
Augusta came over to A Taft's with me enjoyed her company very much, came to Del's;  
Doyler [?], T [?] [F D Tyler?] 1/24/66 to the office of T [?] Doyler [?] got a writ for Mike Hibbes;
Drake  5/26/67 Drake a tin peddler stayed over Sunday;  10/27/67 Drake stayed all night;  3/5/69 Drake turned over his 
tin cart;  
Dudley, George  9/9/69 finished piling bark, measured by Geo Dudley & Perkins 142 crds went over to Hotchkiss 
stayed all night;  
Dunham, H  3/19/66 came to Winsted on the stage from Norfolk called at Dunham;  6/10/66 went over to East Canaan 
with Ellen Brown stayed to H Dunham;  
Dusewhery, Irene  7/26/65 went up & got Ellen to come down Irene Dusewhery [?] came down;  7/29/65 went over to 
Chapinville in the evening with Irene & Mary Jane;  8/13/65 did not feel well lay abed Irene went home went up street in 
the evening to get a horse to go to Tolland;  

Ed's court  10/23/67 went a Chestnutting with Rat up on the Hill to Ed's court;  
Eggleston, Mrs  6/26/68 worked on the road Lester Treat horse run down the mountain injuring a Mrs Eggleston fatally 
supposed at the time;  
Elesson [Elverson, Elvessor or Evesson?]  11/3/67 wrote to Rosa Sam Loomis Davis & El[v?]esson;  9/12/69 wrote to 
Joe & Davis & Elv[i?]essor;  2/18/71 wrote to Davis & Elverson & commenced a letter to Miranda;
Eli [Clark?]  10/13/68 came [from Abiram's] down to [New] Boston with Eli & Al;  
Ella  7/14/68 Ella Joe Daniels & wife called in evening;  

Elmore  9/10/69 went over to Elmors Del bought a bull of him $471/2 settled with Perkins came home called to Sheff's;  
9/18/69 started at 4 in the morning for Winsted drove a bull from Elmore's;  
Emon  2/6/65 went over to New Boston west look at Emons colt;  
English  4/2/66 State Election in Connecticut English & Sealey [?] candidates for Governor;  

Fallon, N  2/2/66 Lu Hotchkiss & N Fallon [?] called at the shop;  
Fargo, A  12/18/66 Fargo's boys came up [to Abirams?] in the evening;  12/30/66 broke roads & called into Fargo's;  
12/31/66 went down to A Fargo's in the evening;  1/9/67 went down to Fargo's in the evening played cards;  1/17/67 
went down to Fargo's;  1/28/67 went down to Fargo's in the evening played cards;  2/2/67 went down to Fargo's down 
to New Boston;  2/3/67 went over to True's called to Fargo's;  2/5/67 Rufus came up played cards Fargo's folks came 
up in the evening;  2/10/67 went [from Abiram's] down to Fargo's read the papers;  2/24/67 went over to True's Fargo's, 
J [?] Viet's;  4/27/67 Fargo got his pigs;  5/19/67 went over to Fargo's up to By's in the evening;  8/13/67 got in 2 loads 
for Fox went down to Fargo's in the afternoon;  8/17/67 came over to Abiram's went to New Boston came up to Fargo's 
stayed all night;  8/22/67 came [from Fox's?] down to Fargo's stayed all night;  8/23/67 went up to Abiram's he & Lib 
come & brought us home Fargo & Rufus came up;  9/5/67 came over home called to Fargo's went up to F Smith's;  

[October Cash Account Received of] A Fargo for cow $90.00 on 15th;
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Fargo, A [contd]  10/15/67 [Memoranda 1867 diary] A Fargo Dr Difference between a cow & a yearling heifer $18.00 Cr 
$10.00 [Next line darker ink; later?] Cr April 10, 1868 $8.00 sum = 00.00;  12/10/67 shod a pair of oxen for Fargo;  
12/21/67 Lib & Mother went over to Fargo's;  12/31/67 shod a horse for Fargo;  2/10/68 went over to Fargo's sawed a 
log into plane woods;  2/17/68 went over to Fargo's got some plane woods Rail road meeting in Sandisfield;  [1868 

Cash Account] April 11th A Fargo, acc 1867 $8.00 Received;  10/4/68 went to Church went over to Abiram's in evening 
& down to Fargo's to a dance;  11/10/68 shod Fargo's horses;  11/13/68 drew a load of hard wood boards to Hotchkiss 
& Gladding went over to Fargo's to a party in evening;  11/27/68 shod a pair of oxen for A Fargo;  [1869 Memoranda] C 
Ives bought A Fargo for sugar boxes $1.25 Planing boards $0.25 sugar pans $0.10;  3/3/69 went to New Boston up to 
Fargo's in evening;  10/8/69 shod Fargo's stags;  11/12/69 went over to Fargo's in evening to a party;  1/9/71 shod 
horses for Father...two for Fargo;
Fargo, A [contd]  3/30/71 went over to A Fargo's with Cotton in the eve;
Fargo, Alvira  3/4/67 Mrs Fargo, Alvira & Rufus came up took tea;  8/19/68 went down to the old house [Howd's?] got in 
2 loads of hay in afternoon a shower in evening Curt & Alvira went to Winsted to Circus;  9/1/68 Curt & A[l]vira went to 
New Boston;  11/19/68 Rufus Charlie & Alvira Fargo came over spent the evening;  11/29/68 Rufus Charles & Alvira 
Fargo & Ellen Downs came over in evening;  7/25/69 Fannie Hubbard & Ruf [Rufus Fargo?] & Alvira called in the 
evening;  11/7/69 Ella & Mary Ann Downs, Alvira Rufus & Charlie Fargo came over;  7/17/70 R C & A Fargo came up in 
the evening;  
Fargo, Aralia  3/7/67 Abiram & Lucy went over to True's Aralia [? True's daughter or Rufus's mother?] was sick Rufus 
came up;  
Fargo, Charlie  11/19/68 Rufus Charlie & Alvira Fargo came over spent the evening;  12/29/68 Rufus Charles & Alvira 
Fargo & Ellen Downs came over in evening;  11/7/69 Ella & Mary Ann Downs, Alvira Rufus & Charlie Fargo came over; 
7/17/70 R C & A Fargo came up in the evening;  
Fargo, Mrs  3/4/67 Mrs Fargo, Alvira & Rufus came up took tea;  [Cash Account 1869] July 24th Mrs Fargo making 
frock $0.75;  10/28/69 R Fargo & Mother came over shod his horses;  
Fargo, Rufus  2/3/67 went over to True's called to Fargo's read the paper Rufus came up played cards;  2/5/67 Rufus 
came up played cards Fargo's folks came up in the evening;  3/1/67 By moved hay Rufus came up [to Abiram's; Cyrus 
cut his foot yesterday];  3/3/67 True, Rufus & H Parsons came here [Abiram's] in the evening;  3/4/67 Mrs Fargo, Alvira 
& Rufus came up [to Abiram's] took tea;  3/7/67 Abiram & Lucy went over to True's Aralia [? True's daughter or Rufus's 
mother?] was sick Rufus came up;  3/8/67 R Fargo brought me home [from Abiram's; foot cut Feb 28];  4/12/67 Rufus 
& Lib came over [to Father's?] Smith from Sheffield stayed here all night;  7/4/67 lay on the lounge with a lame leg Rat 
was here Lib [but context suggests "Gib"] & Rufus went to Winsted;  8/23/67 went [from Fargo's] up to Abiram's he & 
Gib come & brought us home Fargo & Rufus came up;  3/12/68 Del & Rufus came up got his horses shod;  4/11/68 
came home [from Griffins] shod Rufus horses & Homers horse;  11/19/68 Rufus Charlie & Alvira Fargo came over 
spent the evening;  

Fargo, Rufus [contd]  12/29/68 Rufus Charles & Alvira Fargo & Ellen Downs came over in evening;  7/25/69 Fannie 
Hubbard & Ruf [Rufus Fargo?] & Alvira called in the evening;  10/28/69 R Fargo & Mother came over shod his horses;  
11/7/69 Ella & Mary Ann Downs, Alvira Rufus & Charlie Fargo came over;  7/17/70 R C & A Fargo came up in the 
evening;  11/15/70 went home [from L Smith's?] in the evening R Fargo & Ellen Downs were there;  6/27/71 worked on 
the road at the east end Rufus Fargo helped us Father was sick did not work;  10/8/71 Mother was worse Father went 
after Dr Ben____ about 4 oclock.  Gib & Rufus Fargo came over in the evening;  
Farnham, A  11/21/69 stayed to Landon's [in Otis?] went up to A Farnham's in the evening;  
Farnham, David  8/17/68 Farnham worked haying [at Howd's];  9/3/68 over to D Farnham's in afternoon;  3/16/69 
went...up to David Farnham with Del to a dance stayed to Howd's over night;  8/17/69 went over to David Farnham's 
took dinner came over to Howd played euchre;  8/22/69 went down to Howd's lower lot with him, went over to D 
Farnham's stayed all night;  10/30/69 Lib & I went to East Otis down to David Farnham stayed all night; 10/31/69 came 
home from Farnham's went to Church in the afternoon;  8/14/70  A Cotton & wife came down to Curt's [Babb's] Dim & I 
went over to D Farnham's in the afternoon;  8/21/70 went over to D Farnham's & over on Beech Hill Del went with me 
raked some hay for Curt;
Farning, L  3/23/64 went to New Boston called to L Farning took tea;  
Fay, Dr  5/5/72 went down to the River rode to North Colebrook with Dr Fay [Fey?] called to L Loveland stayed to Ira 
Smith's all night;  6/7/72 rained in the evening Em was sick sent after Dr Fay he came up stayed all night on account of 
darkness [New moon on the 5th];  6/8/72 Em was quite sick took care of her Dr came up just at night she was more 
comfortable;  6/9/72 took care of Em Dr came up just at night;  6/11/72 went [from Ira Smith's] down to the River with H 
Baldwin rode part way back with Dr Fay;  
Fay, T  11/23/68 shod...T Fay's horse;  
Feifield,  6/22/62 went to meeting in the aftenoon sermon by Mr Feifield [possibly Tespic?] [in CT?];  



Page 23 C W Ives Names 1862-72

Felton, Mr  5/26/66 went to the funeral of Grandfather Sermon preached by Mr Felton from Prov 3rd chapter 35th verse 
The wise shall inherit glory[.]  ["But shame shall be the promotion of fools"];  12/16/68 Attended the funeral of Levi.  
Discourse by Rev Mr Felton assisted by [blank space] from Hosea 5-15 In their affliction they will seek me early A large 
attendance;  
Fishe, Sawyer & Co  1/19/63 went down to Colebrook River settled up with Sawyer Fishe & Co for Father;  
Flint  12/11/69 Ellen Van Hice [?] died to Flint's;  
Flint, L  12/16/71 shod...a pair of oxen for L Flint;  

Flood, Luke  Memoranda [1865 Diary] S C Scoville  Dr  Feb 24th By 3/4 day cutting logs  July 6th By 1 day a hoeing  July 

8th By 3/4 day a hoeing  Cr  July 2nd By wagon to Tolland  June 24th Dr By 1 set of chairs to Luke Flood  $9.00  [+] 2.00 

[+] 1.50 [+] 1.00 [+] 8.80 [=] 22.30  Oct 17th Received in full;   $13.00;  9/30/68 went to Barrington with Del to Cattle 
Show started at 3 o'clock went down to Scoville over to Chapinville called to Doyle's stayed with Will to Sam's;  
Foley [?], Thomas  6/27/62 came home [from Holcomb's] with Truman, saw Thomas Foley [?] he had just returned 
from the south;  
Ford, Rev Mr  1/15/69 Mr Ford & wife took tea;  2/17/69 dismissal of Mr Ford;  4/18/69 Mr Ford preached his farewell 
sermon;  

Forsythe, Mrs  2/11/70 Couch [?] Meleh & Daughter Bec [?] D Lawz [?] & Mrs Forsythe came down on the stage;  
Fosdick, Anna  7/21/68 Abiram came over Father went over to Sandisfield Anna Fosdick came over with them went up 
to B Moores around to Orsoons;
Foster Lot  3/25/62 went to the Foster lot got a load of hay for L Twining;  12/22/70 cut a road over on the Foster lot 
John cut his foot went up there in evening C Denslow & Del came up;  6/29/72 got the steers up got a load of wood for 
Mrs Bentley came out to Fathers hoed corn set tobacco went up to Johnson turned my oxen on the Foster lot;  7/28/72 
went up to Cotton's down to the pond went in bathing & over on the Foster lot to see my oxen;  8/27/72 went up on the 
Foster lot and see my steers;  9/25/72 went up on the Foster lot with Uncle Abiram sold him my steers $145.  Received 
$55;  
Foster, Mr  5/8/64 went to meeting Mr Foster preached;  5/15/64 went to meeting in afternoon & evening Mr Foster 
preached;  1/29/65 went to meeting Mr Foster preached;  

Foster, C S  [1868 Memoranda] Bought of C S Foster & left for security an order on A Hull of $55.00 Apr 29th A Ives 

coat & vest $15.50 Apr 29th C Ives coat $17.50 $55.00 [minus sum of] $33.00 [=] $22.00;  [1868 Cash Account] June 

13th C S Foster $18.50;  [1868 Cash Account] September 10th C S Foster  $8.00;  12/18/69 1 Coat of Foster $8.50;  

[Cash Account 1870] April 14th C S Foster $15.00...29th C S Foster balance on overcoat $3.50;  [Cash Account 1870] 

May 11th C S Foster for clothing $7.00;  [Cash Account 1872] March 15th C S Foster Pants & vest $10.75 Shirt $2.00 
Drawers $1.15 Tie & Collars $1.00 Morphine $0.90 Coal $0.50 Oysters $0.25 Hat $2.25;  

Fowler, Amos  9/6/62 mowed for Amos Fowler got in 8 loads came home;  9/7/62 went over to Mr Fowler's;  9/11/62 
finished out haying for Mr Fowler came home;  6/5/63 shod horse...for A Fowler;  12/26/63 Amos Fowler died;  12/29/63 
went to the funeral of A Fowler;  2/16/64 shod...a pair of oxen for the widow Fowler;  2/21/68 went to A Fowler's to the 
young folk's prayer meeting with Len & Clara;  9/3/69 went on the hill worked [on the road] toward home oxen got 
scared at Fowler's sheep ran hitched to the plow;  3/13/71 went on the hill to see Fowler about Sugar got Willie Snowe 

to help us;  [Cash Account April 1871] 10th A Fowler sugar $68.70 Received;  

Fowler, E  9/7/71 Ed Fowler & Hayden from Granville Corners came here took dinner, Cotton & Fred were here;  [Cash 

Account 1872] January 12th Drew from Savings Bank to pay Fowler for timber bought in 1871  $80;  4/8/72 carried 

some sugar to E Fowler;  [Cash Account 1872] April 5th E Fowler sugar $20.00 Received;  [Cash Account 1872] May 9th 

B L Kittridge on E Fowler's account  $52.70;  11/20/72 Ed Fowler called at the mill in the afternoon;  [Memoranda 1872 
diary] Lbs Sugar Wright place  E Fowler  137 [+] R Smith  234 [+] 20 [sum =] 391;  
Fowler, Eddy  3/1/68 went to Church W[est] G[ranville] Fanny & Theresa Hale, Eddy Fowler & Selenda united with the 
Church;  
Fowler, P M,  2/14/63 weighed out a load of hay for P M Fowler [Memoranda  P M Fowler Dr Feb 14th By 2150 lbs of 

hay $8.50  Received March 2nd $8.50], 3/2/63 received $8.50;  7/7/63 mowed for P M Fowler on the Babcock farm;  

Memoranda  P M Fowler, Dr July 7th by 1 days work $1.62  Oct 26th Received in full;  
Fowler, T  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  XT [?] Fowler  X75;  
Fowler, Mrs  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  Mrs Fowler  X30-15;  
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Fox, William  1/11/67 Fox drew [ Abiram's logs] with me he turned over;  2/21/67 drew out logs for Fox;  2/22/67 drew 
logs to the mill for Fox;  8/9/67 carried Del over to Fox's stayed to Abiram's;  8/11/67 came [from Abiram's?] over to 
Fox's in the evening;  8/13/67 went & mowed for Eugene L[G?]iggins got in 2 loads for Fox went down to Fargo's in the 
afternoon;  8/14/67 went to mowing Del went to Winsted Dea [?] Rugg & wife came to Fox;  8/15/67 loaded a load of 
logs Fox went to Crane's with them Del came over with the horses;  8/19/67 went over to Fox's mowed went up town 
with Fox in the evening;  8/24/67 came over to Fox's opened & got in 2 loads of hay;  8/28/67 went up town down to 
Montville with Fox;  8/29/67 Del & Rat went home went down to R Parson's over to By's up to Montville with Fox;  
8/30/67 mowed helped kill a hog for Fox weighed 381;  9/2/67 went up town with Fox in eve;  9/3/67 mowed a while 
went to Montville with Fox;  9/4/67 finished Fox's haying Father came over;  11/15/67 went [from Abiram's?] up to Fox's 
out to New Marlboro with him Del & True went over to Father's;

Fox, William  Memoranda [1867 diary] William Fox Dr Aug 17th By 12/3 days work Aug 29th By 5 [3?] days work Aug 31st 

By 4 days work & 21/4 days work Settled Due $21.50  Paid in full C W Ives;  1/5/68 went to Church Uncle Abiram & 
Grandmother came over went over to Fox's stayed all night;  6/28/68 went to Church in afternoon went up to Fox's he 

paid me for haying Byron came up;  [1868 Cash Account] June 29th Wm Fox haying $21.50 Received;  
Fred [near Uncle Abiram's]  1/3/67 drew bark off from Fred's meadow 9500 lbs snow very deep;  
Fred  [possibly Calendar, Cotton, Holmes, or Snow?]  4/8/68 went on the Hill down to Griffins Eugenia came up with us 
Fred came out;  4/13/68 Del & Fred went to New Boston in eve;  4/16/68 Del carried Fred to Winsted;  4/20/68 went up 
to A Snowe over to Fred's down to Homer's Lib & Albert came over;  8/11/68 went to Fred's to New Boston;  9/12/68 
called to Levi's & to Hunt's Andrew went on the hill & got Fred very dark;  9/15/68 Fred & the girls went to the River a 
visiting;  9/16/68 went a fishing with Fred;  9/17/68 Fred started for home;  10/25/68 went over to J Daniel's up to Fred's 
over to S Hale's with Del in evening;
Frenchman  1/29/70 A Frenchman went down to Boston & back [from Otis? on the stage];  2/3/70 wood choppers 
came down & back Wm Clarke went to Winsted & back in the stage;  
Frisby [Steve?]  11/27/66 Del, Steve & I started from his house at 3 o'clock came home shod Frisby's horse;  5/28/67 
settled up with Steve;
Frost, L [S?]  6/7/68 went up to Howds called to S [L?] Frosts got some honey;  6/8/68 peeled bark L Frost & A 
Bodurtha helped us Charlie came back in evening Father came up & worked;  6/9/68 peeled bark Frost & Bodurtha 
worked in forenoon Father came up all quit at 3 o'clock;  6/10/68 finished B Moore's job L Frost A Case Father & 
Charlie worked came home;  7/11/69 Leonard Frost & Mersaline Cowles married;  6/22/72 got J Johnson L Frost & 
Pebles [sic] to help me take down the shop and clear away the frame;  
Fuller, N [M?] 11/3/65 went up to N Fuller's with Lu came to New Boston with him went down to Sheff's & home;  
8/14/66 Father...shod a pair of horses for Fuller;  3/26/67 shod a pair of horses for M Fuller;  11/21/67 shod a pair of 
horses for M Fuller;  2/24/68 shod a pair of horses for N Fuller;  5/9/68 shod N Fuller horses;  10/5/68 N Fuller came 
over got his horses shod;  11/28/71 shod a pair of horses for M Fuller;  

G, J M  [Cash Account 1872] Feb 3rd J M G $5.00;  
Gabriel  3/14/67 Rat & I went to Hartland to Del's Auction stayed to Gabriel's [Riverton?] all night;  5/7/69 worked 
making fence [for Northway?] on the Belden hill finished.  Farewell ball at Gabriel's Riverton;  
G[?]age, E   1/22/66 came back to Winsted with E G[?]age;  3/20/66 came up to the River with G[?]age;
Gardner, Mr  8/24/62 went to West Granville to meeting W H Atkins funeral sermon preached by Mr Gardner;  1/11/63 
went to meeting Mr. Gardner preached;  12/27/63 went to meeting Mr Gardner preached;  
Garil, [Taril?] S  10/23/62 went up to S G[T?]aril played cards & dominoes;  
Gates, Mary  6/8/62 Diton Moses & Mary Gates called in the evening [in CT?];  
Gaylord, N  10/19/70 went down to N Gaylord's Dim bought a pair of oxen of him $225;  12/29/70 went down to the PO 
in the evening rode up to the corner with N Gaylord a very cold night;  
George, [Knockerbocker?]  4/22/64 George & Sam went up on the mountain with the girls;  4/26/64 worked in the shop 
in the forenoon went a fishing in the afternoon with George;  5/23/64 came down to Phelps's worked in the shop 
George Knockerbocker got his trunk;  
Georgie [Hotchkiss? same person as Georgia?]  12/18/62 R [?] Smith Georgie & Lucius called here [12/17 bad cut on 
foot]; 7/15/66 wrote to Mary Jane Georgia Cauldwell & Whitney; 7/25/66 received a letter from Georgia; 8/6/66 went to 
Winsted Georgia came up with me; 8/10/66 went over to Hales & to Miller with Georgia Len [or Lu?] came up stayed all 
night; 8/12/66 Lu & Georgia went to Town Hill; 8/19/66 wrote to Del Joe Georgia & Mary Jane; 1/5/67 went to Winsted 
called to Hotchkiss Georgie went down town with me came back & stayed all night; 1/7/67 stayed to Hotchkiss 
[yesterday too?]; 1/8/67 came home to Abirams Georgie came up with me to Corrals Demings; 1/10/67 to Hunts to a 
ball carried Georgie Hotchkiss; [see "Hotchkiss, Georgia" hence]
Gibb, Bradford  12/31/68 went up to Bradford Gibb's with a sow;  
Gibbs, Mrs  1/2/73 Mrs Gibbs came over a visiting Lawrence's wife went home with her;  
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Gibson  8/13/71 Gibson & sister came up from Winsted;  
Giddings  3/9/69 went down to the old place to auction (Wm Cowdry vs Giddings) up to New Boston home;  
Gilbert  4/2/71 Gilbert's clock shop burned Winsted;  
Gilbert, William  6/6/66 went up to Hewitt's saw Gilbert down to the red shop saw Camp;  6/12/66 came [from Aunt 
Maria's] up to Father's went & looked at bark on Gilbert's;  6/13/66 commenced peeling on Gilbert's;  10/31/66 cut logs 

for Gilbert;  Memoranda [1866 diary] Wm Gilbert Dr  Nov 3rd By cutting 230 cuts of logs;  Wm Gilbert Cr  For peeling 

bark Aug 6th $75.00;  Bought for Gilberts job:  Rum $3.80 Rum $3.80 Rum $3.80 Rum $1.62  Paid by E. Hale $3.80 

Paid by Hale & Ives $6.00 [?];  Aug 6th Wm Gilbert  $37.50 Received 8th For peeling bark $1.53;  Memoranda [1866 
diary] Cr By cash on Gilbert job $4.62 [?]  Settled July at Due $6.86 Cr $2.00 Due $4.86  Paid;  [1867] Cash Account 

March 16th Gilbert for cutting logs $9.00 Received;  
Giles  6/1/71 came home Dim Mike & Giles were here in evening;  8/31/71 worked for John Cotton haying Homer & 
Giles worked for him got in 2 load;  
Giles, Amanda  7/5/66 Amanda Giles came down in the evening Mrs Hale & Fannie came over;  3/28/67 Amanda Giles 
came here stayed all night;  10/22/68 shod a horse for Silas Amanda & Marilda came up with it;  

Giles, William  7/23/62 William Giles died with diptheria;  8/12/62 William Giles child died with the diptheria;  8/14/62 
helped mow the widow Giles grass about 30 hands got in 23 loads;  8/31/62 another of Mrs Giles children died;  
5/29/71 went over to W Hale's helped him on the road plowed and scraped the hill where Wm Giles house was burned; 
5/31/71 finished the cross road [by Jones place?] in the forenoon worked by Giles in afternoon;  
Giles, Mrs William  8/14/62 helped mowed the widow Giles's grass about 30 hands got in 23 loads;  8/31/62 another of 
Mrs Giles children died;  5/29/71 went over to W Hale's helped him on the road plowed and scraped the hill by where 
Wm Giles house was burned;
Gilmore, A  6/3/71 Father went up to A Gilmore's drew some poles to fix fence around the ox lot;  12/27/71 shod a 
horse for A Gilmore;  
Gladding  11/13/68 drew a load of hard wood boards to Hotchkiss & Gladding went over to Fargo's to a party in 
evening;  1/30/69 got floor boards from H G;  3/6/69 went down to Hotchkiss & Gladding's shop got some boards 
planed for sugar molds;  3/15/69 went down to H & G's shop in forenoon up to J Daniel's and home;  3/20/69 went 
down to Gladding's shop set a pan down to the sap house found it leaked;  3/24/69 went down to Gladding's Shop 
bored sugar molds;  
Gladding  2/20/66 went down to the River [from Grandfather's?] rode up to Curtis Marshalls with him went home & went 
to Gladding's in eve;  
Gladding, Lewis  4/8/66 came [from H Hotchkiss, Sandisfield] to Father's Lewis Gladding came over in the evening;  
2/23/72 helped [Del] get two elm logs down to Gladding off from Northway's 4 feet through;  
Gladding, R  [Cash Account 1870] May 2nd R Gladding $5.00 Received;  3/6/72 Henry Belden died from injuries 
received from being thrown from a wagon near R Gladding's New Boston Aged 71 yrs;  3/9/72 Henry Belden buried, 
killed from being thrown from a wagon near Gladding's;  
Glading  3/18/70 Very blustering roads drifted very badly came up to Winsted with Lu rode to the River with Glading 
stayed to Dowd's;  
Glassheen [?]  12/2/71 went to Glassheen [?] to H Belden's up through free quarter over to North Colebrook to Ira 
Smith's stayed all night;  
Goddard, Miles  7/26/70 went to North Granby came back to West Granville back to Granville Corners tried to find 
Miles Goddard stayed to S Clark's;  7/27/70 went to North Granby took breakfast with Goddard went down to the Street 
with him came home;  
Goddard, Rev Mr  7/10/64 Mr Goddard preached;  5/19/67 went up to meeting Mr Goddard preached went over to 
Fargo's up to By's in the evening;  10/16/70 went to Church in the afternoon Rev Mr Goddard preached;  
Good  11/11/67 came over to Trues cut wood went up to Goods to evening meeting;

Goodnow, Rupel  12/19/65 Mary Jane C Thorpe & I came to Canaan with Coons Charlie & I came to Winsted boarded 

at Goodnow's;  [In back pocket of 1866 diary] Cyrus Ives Bill $25.71 West Winsted Feb 10th 1866 Cyrus Ives to Rupel 
Goodnow Dr for 6 Weeks three days Board at $4 per Week - - - 25.71 Recd pay [signed] Rupel Goodnow;  
Goodwin  9/28/70 helped Lawrence make cider in Goodwin's hand mill;  1/24/72 went on the hill over to West Granville 
with Cotton to see Goodwin;  
Goodwin, C  10/16/62 went to New Hartford stayed with L [?] Brown to C Goodwins;  
Gorham, L  [Beef 1864?] L Gorman  X161;  10/8/72 Mr Gorham came over [to the mill?] in the afternoon;  12/7/72 Mrs 
J Marks & Mrs Gorham came up [to L Smith's] a visiting;  
Goules [?], H  12/12/67 shod a horse for H Goules [?];  
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Granger, G W [same person as W Granger?]  2/28/63 shod...2 horses for W Granger;  6/5/63 shod horse for G W 
Granger;  9/12/63 shod a horse for G W Granger;  9/26/63 Granger come & got his horse shod;  12/9/63 shod 2 horses 

for W Granger;  [Beef 1864?] XG W Granger  X85-78;  [Beef 1864? 4 th page]  XG W Granger  X175...XG W Granger  
X145-78;  1/29/64 shod a horse for G W Granger;  2/6/64 went down to G W Grangers down to Abirams;  3/28/64 shod 
a horse for G W Granger;  4/16/64 went up to Burts with Truman looked [at] a pair of cattle Father bought of G W 
Granger;  8/4/64 shod a horse for Granger Daniel Mills came here with Granger;  8/22/64 went down to Grangers & 
Osborns stayed to Abiram's over night;  9/5/64 went down to G W Granger's got a calf butchered it;  9/12/64 went over 

to Grangers bought a heifer butchered it;  9/15/64 went down to G W Grangers got 3/4 of a beef;  10/3/64 down to 
Grangers got 2 beef cattle butchered them;  10/14/64 peddled beef settled with G W Granger;
Granger, G W [contd]  Memoranda  Beef bought of...G Granger [Sep 5, 12 & 15 in diary entries?]  [$]38.57  [$]16.70...G
W Granger  [$]64.40  [$]29.68;  
Granger, L F  11/7/63 went up to L Grangers got a load of iron;  [Memoranda Cast Iron C Moore L Granger 263 lbs 876 
lbs C Moore 1299 216 C Moore 1560];  12/25/67 shod a horse for L Granger;  1/26/70 L Granger Martha Claflin & 
Minnie Smith went [on Stage] up to Cold Spring & Strong; carried them to Claflin's;  3/7/70 went over to Pratt's rode up 
to Town meeting L Granger J Hall & G Marshall selectmen;  11/8/70 went to New Boston attended State Election L F 

[T?] Granger candidate for Representative;  [Cash Account 1870] November  8th 1 Shave $0.75;  3/6/71 town meeting 
in the afternoon L F Granger J P Hall G L Marshall Selectmen;  5/30/71 worked on the cross road by Jones place L 
Granger came up to Mel's;  
Grant  7/18/69 [went] up to Clarke's Grant lot & see my steers with John Cotton;  
Grant, Ulysses S  4/3/65 Richmond captured by Gen Wetzel [?] under Gen Grant it being abandoned;  4/9/65 
Surrender of Gen Lee & his army to Gen Grant Commander of the Union forces;  
Greeley, Horace  11/5/72 went to Election Voted for Greeley & Brown for Pres & Vice Pres, Bird for Gov, C Mo[?]pson 
[possibly Nelson] for Representative, of Montgomery;  
Griffen, E  [Cash Account April 1871] 15th E Griffen one yoke $1.50 Paid;  
Griffin  5/5/63 through hop meadow [from E R Holcomb's, Granby] to Bloomfield stayed with Brown & Griffin;  
Griffin  1/11/70 went to Griffin's Otis to a dance;  

Griffin, E T  2/19/63  done chores for E T Griffin;  12/6/63 went up to E Griffin up to Bys;  1/11/64 went down to the 
River carried hides got 9 cts carried a yoke stick up to Griffin's for a yoke;  2/7/64 [from Abiram's] went down to 
Grandfather's up to Abiram's in the evening & to Griffin's stayed all night to Sheff's;  4/28/67 went [from Sheff's] up to 
Griffin's came up to meeting;  4/8/68 went on the Hill down to Griffins Eugenia came up with us Fred came out;  4/9/68 
went over to H Dowd with Lene [meant to write Len?] carried her home;  4/10/68 Snowed hard all day stayed to Griffin's 
set some hoops on some sap tubs played cards;  4/11/68 Mild very good sleighing came home;  5/18/68 went down to 
E Griffin's to get him to make a yoke;  5/23/68 E Griffin came up stayed all night;  5/24/68 carried E Griffin home;  
7/24/68 went down to Levi to Griffin's to the River New Boston & home;  3/6/70 went up to Howard's called to Uncle 
Gilbert's Griffin's folks came over spent the evening;  
Griffin, Eugenia  3/4/62 carried Eugenia Griffin to New Boston & Francis Bidwell to Mr Veits's stayed to tea;  2/16/66 
Very cold sit in the house at Grandfathers Eugenia & Thorit came down in the evening;  4/8/68 went on the Hill down to 
Griffin's Eugenia came up with us Fred came out;  2/5/70 Boswell Brooks & Eugene [meant Eugenia?] Griffin were 
married;  
Griffin, Jenny  9/2/64 True, Henry & Seth Maltby, Jennie Griffin & Fanny Bidwell came up here went to Noyes pond 
sailing;  2/27/67 went over to Fathers [from Abiram's] carried Len over & Jenny Griffin to U Denslows;  
Griffin, John  9/20/69 John Griffin stayed here all night;  9/21/69 sold the horse to Griffin he backed out;  3/6/70 went up 
to Howard's called to Uncle Gilberts Griffins folks came over spent the evening;
Griffin, Marilda  10/18/67 shod 2 horses for Levi Marilda [?] & Mrs Griffin came up;  12/12/67 Marilda [?] came up shod 
her horse;  10/22/68 shod a horse for Silas Amanda & Marilda came up with it;

Griffin, Mrs  2/17/66 went up to Mrs Griffin's in the afternoon;  2/18/66 went up to Griffin's;  2/19/66 went up to Griffin's;  
4/28/67 went up to Griffin's [from Sheff's?] came up to meeting;  10/18/67 Marilda & Mrs Griffin came up;  
Griswold, H  12/17/67 went down to H Griswold with the old sow;  
Guern  3/29/72 went over and got Guern [Len?];
Gurns, Alfred  8/24/71 helped Alfred Gurns get some sticks for sills to the house where Del lives;  
Gus [& Sarah; Wilcox?]  11/21/66 went [from Del's] up to Sam's Gus & Sarah & the children were there;  11/22/71 went 
up to the steam shovel with Jennie Brown:  took dinner with Gus up to the shovel in afternoon[.]  Attended the wedding 
of Wm Hayward & Anna Holsapple a very nice time;
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Hadsdell [?]  11/26/66 went up to McArthur over around by Hadsdell's Sarah Wilcox [Adelbert's 2nd wife] came over 
Mary Jane came down stayed all night;  
Haden  8/24/64 went over to the Haden farm looked at beef bought 2 heifers of E Slocum $72;  

Hakes, James  12/21/68 came to Winsted with Joe over through Winchester to Huntsville stayed to James Hakes;  
Hakes, Joe  5/2/65 Rosa was married at Winsted;  5/3/65 Rosa & her husband came here stayed all night [Del's, 
Salisbury?];  1/11/66 Joe & Rosa came back to Winsted he called at the shop went down there in the evening;  1/18/66 
went down to Joe's [Winsted?] in the evening stopped at the alley;  2/11/66 stayed to Denison's moved our trunks to 
Humphrey went down East street to Joe's;  2/28/66 settled my board settled with Clarke looked for a job came down to 
Joe's stayed all night;  3/1/66 stayed to Joe's;  3/6/66 cut a little wood for Joe;  8/19/66 wrote to Del Joe Georgia & Mary
Jane;  12/15/67 wrote to Joe & Mary Jane;  2/14/68 called to Dea Twining's went to Winsted with Lib stayed to Joe's all 
night;  5/31/68 Joe & Rosa came stayed all night;  6/14/68 down to Joes over West Street with him & Lu to Church in 
afternoon;  6/21/68 carried Georgia home early in the morning spent the day there & to Joe's stayed all night;  9/10/68 
went to Winsted with Del went through Riverton stayed to Joe's;  12/6/68 Joe came up;  12/10/68 went to Winsted 
carried Joe down;  12/17/68 Joe was here;

Hakes, Joe  12/18/68 Del & Joe went over to Sandisfield;  12/21/68 came to Winsted with Joe over through Winchester 
to Huntsville stayed to James Hakes;  1/16/69 Joe came up stayed all night;  1/17/69 Father Mother Del Len & Joe 
went to Church;  1/21/69 Father & Mother went to Winsted Salome came over stayed all night Mike [?] & Allen came up 
Joe brought around;  1/22/69 played cards in the evening Salome was here & Joe;  2/2/69 went to writing school Joe 
came up with me;  4/27/69 went [from Bristol, with sugar to sell] to Plymouth Waterbury Naugatuck to Ansonia stayed 
with Joe team at Bradley sugar dull;  4/28/69 went up to Seymour down to Derby Birmingham stayed in Ansonia with 
Joe saw Harlow a few moments;  4/29/69 started from Ansonia through Seymour Beacon Falls Naugatuck Union City 
Waterbury took dinner in Plymouth hollow stayed in Winsted to Hotchkiss;  5/23/69 wrote to Del and Joe;  6/27/69 
wrote to Joe & Jennie;  9/12/69 wrote to Joe & Davis & Elv[i?]essor;  11/28/69 wrote to Joe;
Hakes, Joe  3/15/70 went [from A Ostrander's] over to Ashley Falls took the train for Bridgeport & Ansonia stopped to 
Joe's stayed all night went to Phil Sheridan's Concert;  3/16/70 went over to clock shop with Joe;  [Cash Account 1870] 

April 14th Lent Joe Hakes $2.00;  6/12/70 wrote to Joe;  6/22/70 received a letter from Joe;  6/26/70 wrote to Joe & 
Jennie went down to the P O with Dim;  3/14/71 wrote to Joe & to Jennie;  9/10/71 wrote to Joe;  11/12/71 wrote to Joe 
& Em;  11/19/71 went over to Del's with Joe Hakes stayed all night;  11/20/71 carried Joe to the River came back to 
Del's;  1/7/72 wrote to Joe and A A D [Doyle?];  2/11/72 wrote to Joe;  2/23/72 received a letter from Joe;  5/29/72 took 
the stage to Winsted & cars to Ansonia with Em stayed to Joe Hakes;  6/1/72 wrote to Joe;  7/21/72 wrote to Joe & 
Jennie;  11/15/72 received a letter from Joe;  
Hale, Mr  9/29/62 went over to Hale's blasted rocks;  11/1/62 went over to Mr Hale's stayed all night;  8/6/63 Mr Hale 
went to Winsted;  8/20/64 went up to the pond a fishing with the Hales in the evening;  8/10/66 went over to Hale's & to 
Miller with Georgia;  5/1/70 came over to Hale's down to Dowd's over to Uncle Sheff's;  
Hale, Anson  4/29/66 Mel & Anson Hale came over in the evening;  4/27/67 shod a horse for A [?] Hale;  5/1/68 Anson 
Lurinda & Ella Clarke came over in evening;  11/21/68 went on the hill over to F Hale's to see Anson he was very sick;  
11/22/68 H Whitney came over Father went over helped take care of Anson through the night;  11/27/68 Father 
watched with Anson;  11/30/68 went over & see Anson in eve;  12/6/68 went over to L Hale's on the hill Joe came up 
Anson was worse;  7/18/69 Anson Hale called in the evening;  11/27/69 Will Rugg Del & Anson & Seymour Hale were 
down Moze came up [to Otis?];  4/24/70 went to church Friend Manning Dim Smith Anson Hale came over in the 
evening stayed all night;  7/4/70 went to Riverton rode down with Anson Hale called to Sheff's he rode down with us 
stayed to a ball to Brown's;  7/5/70 came up to Francis Hale's with Anson called to F [T?] B Hale's took dinner;  9/18/70 
went over to L Twining's went down to Dea to meeting with Anson;  1/16/71 Anson came over in the morning;  8/6/71 F 
A Theresa Jane & Lurinda Hale called in the evening;  
Hale, B F  1/17/63 went over to B F Hales went down on the Hill got the papers;  2/7/63 shod horse for B F Hale;  

9/12/63 shod a horse for B F Hale;  Memoranda B F Hale Dr  July 25th by 3 days work  Aug 1st by 2 days work  [Aug] 8th 

by 5 days work  [Aug] 15th by 6 days work  [Aug] 22nd by 4 days work  Amount  $32.50 Cr.  $1.37  1 Bottle hair Restorer 

[=] $31.13 Oct 22nd Received $10.00  Dec 20th Received $10.13  May 14th 1[missing 8?]64 [Received]  [$]11.00;  
12/15/64 cut wood snowed in the evening B F Hale came over [to Salisbury] after Erastus [cut his foot on 12/10];  
9/17/65 wrote to B F Hale;  10/23/65 came over to B F Hale's stayed over night;  10/7/66 went over to B F Hale's in the 

evening;  3/5/68 went over to B F Hale's in eve;  [1868] Cash Account March 30th B T [F?] Hale for Sugar $10.00 

Received;  4/19/68 syruped off went over to B F Hale's in eve stayed all night;  [1868 Cash Account May 11th B F Hale 
$10.50 Received;  10/23/68 went over to B Hale's up on the hill;  1/16/69 went over to B F Hale's in evening;  9/4/69 
Cotton came down went over to B F Hale's lent Cotton $5.00;
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Hale, B F  11/19/69 went over to B F Hale's in evening Ruth Whipple was there;  4/14/70 went over to B F Hale's in the 
eve;  10/23/70 went...over to B F Hale's in the evening to a prayer meeting;  12/18/70 went over to B F Hale's with Lib in
the evening;  4/16/71 Dim came up towards night went over to B F Hale & over to S Hale's;  5/27/71 worked on the 
road B F Hale & came up to Mel's;  1/29/72 went over to B F Hale's in the evening;  2/6/72 went over to B F Hale's in 
evening;  12/3/72 B F Hale died of consumption;  
Hale, Erastus "Rat"  9/22/62 shod a horse for F Hale & colt for E Hale;  10/11/62 put on 2 shoes for E Hale;  1/26/63 set 
2 shoes on E Hale colt;  8/2/63 Duran Stowe funeral sermon preached Erastus Hale was out;  6/30/64 Erastus Hale & I 
mowed for J P Hall got in 2 loads;  7/4/64 went up to picnic up to Otis over to H Norton's across beech plain home with 
Erastus Hale;  7/5/64 commenced [mowing] on J Hall's old barn lot with Hale;  7/8/64 Erastus & I mowed;  7/11/64 
Erastus & I mowed in the afternoon;  10/1/64 came home a foot with Erastus Hale [from Pixleys, Montville?];  10/15/64 
went to Chapinsville with E Hale went to a dance stayed in a log house;  10/22/64 W & E Hale came over [to 
Salisbury?] to chop Frank Hale brought them over;  10/24/64 commence chopping Del & I & the Hales;  12/6/64 M 
Hibbart E Hale Del & I hired Thomson to take us to Barrington;  12/10/64 piled a little wood went over to Chapinville 
down to Harpers to a dance Erastus Hale cut his foot;  12/15/64 B F Hale came over after Erastus;  5/18/65 wrote a 
letter to Erastus Hale;
Hale, Erastus "Rat" [contd]  6/9/65 Erastus Hale Truman & Selenda came out [to Del's, Salisbury];  6/10/65 went up to 
Ellen Brown's in the afternoon with E Hale Truman Selenda & Laura went to Cooper's to a dance;  7/2/65 came home 
[from Salisbury] brought Mary Jane Brown over Erastus & Frank were over in the evening;  9/29/65 went to cattle show 
Truman & Erastus Selenda & Miss Wheeler came down Erastus & Selenda stayed all night;  10/23/65 had the 
headache sit in the house [Tolland] Erastus was there;  10/24/65 went down to Winsted with E Hale stayed Sheff's over 
night;  11/5/65 came home with Father Rat Hale James Williams & wife Corinth & J Tarnter came in the evening;  
12/24/65 came [with C Thorpe, from Sheff's] to the River came up home Erastus came with us;  2/24/66 Erastus called; 
3/6/66 Rat & Francis Hale came down to Winsted went up west with them went to Adams Hall in the eve;  3/7/66 went 
up west in the morning came up to Tolland with Rat & Francis;  3/26/66 Erastus Hale came over played cards he 
stayed all night;  
Hale, Erastus "Rat" [contd]  4/9/66 went over to Hodge's down to Sheff's over to E Hale's up to Frank's got his wagon 
stayed with Erastus over night;  4/13/66 went down to Babbitt's helped Erastus sugar off;  4/14/66 helped Erastus Mel 
Francis & Truman came down;  4/15/66 loaded up a load of sugar & started for Hartford with E Hale;  4/18/66 came to 
Father's [from Holcomb's, West Granby] Erastus stayed all night;  4/19/66 went down to Sheff's got a jug of cider 
helped Erastus gather his tubs stayed to Babbit's;  4/21/66 went to Winsted with Erastus & Truman stopped to the 
River to a show;  4/23/66 Erastus & I went down to New Boston up on Camp's lot looked at some bark;  4/24/66 
Erastus & I went down to Phelps down to Belden's up to Horrigon's over to Frank's & to Seymour in the evening;  
4/25/66 Erastus & I cut wood for Father;  4/27/66 went to New Boston with Erastus & to the River around home;  
4/28/66 went to Winsted Len & Erastus went down with me;  5/2/66 went down to Belden's with Erastus & up on 
Camp's lot;  5/5/66 went to the River with Erastus;  
Hale, Erastus "Rat" [contd]  5/6/66 Truman brought Erastus & I down to S Snowe's;  5/7/66 Erastus & I commenced 
peeling bark on Camp's;  5/18/66 peeled bark Erastus & Snowe went to Montville;  5/20/66 Mozart & Erastus came 
back;  6/7/66 went to Winsted with [Erastus?] Hale & [Mozart?] Perry got some money stayed to F Hale's all night;  
Memoranda [1866 diary] Expenses Dinner $0.75 Dr to E Hale Cider $1.60 Rum $1.25 Cider $0.90 Dinner $0.50 Rum 

$0.37 Rum $1.00 $1.05 Cider $0.90 sum = $7.57 June 7th 1 Hat $2.55  June 12th Settled [Next line] Due Hale $5.52 
minus $2.55 = $2.97 + $1.90 + $1.30 = $6.17 Due Hale;  6/2/66 peeled bark came up to Father's Ed Horrigon stayed all 
night & Rat & Mozart;  6/17/66 Erastus stayed all night;  6/21/66 peeled & piled bark Rat & I worked alone;  Memoranda 

[1866 diary] Erastus Hale Acct of Goods received of M & C J Camp & Co. June 30th 1 Pr Suspenders $0.87 June 30th 1 
Summer Shirt $3.00 [Pencil, summed to 3.87, minus 2.75 = 1.12 + 1.43 = 2.55];  7/23/66 went to Winsted with Erastus 
had Belden's horse stayed there all night;  
Hale, Erastus "Rat" [contd]  7/26/66 went to New Boston in the evening got Erastus;  7/27/66 mowed Erastus & I helped
Father;  7/30/66 mowed for Erastus;  Memoranda [1866 diary] E Hale Cr to M E Perry By Cash on Camp's Job $2.50 

on Gilbert's job $2.60 C W Ives Cr to M E Perry on Gilbert job $6.00 Aug 8[th] Settled with Hale for Perry's work;  
8/10/66 went over to Hale's & to Miller with Georgia;  8/13/66 went to New Boston up to A Snow's with Erastus;  8/22/66
went to Winsted with Erastus had Frank's horse;  8/27/66 went over to Captain with Hale up to to Hewitt's peeled bark 
in the forenoon down to Snowe's a blackberrying;  9/5/66 came with Hale to Stockbridge with 2 yoke of oxen to work on 
a road;  10/5/66 went to Winsted with the girls & True & Erastus to a circus & menagerie;  8/26/66 went up to Case's 
from there to the reservoir with True & Rat;  10/27/66 went to Winsted with Erastus came up to Uncle Silas's stayed 

over night;  10/30/66 helped Rat make a rack;  Memoranda  [1866 diary] Oct 30th Settled with Erastus Hale Due me 
$0.83 +  Board $5.70 = $12.53 Cr $10.00;  



Page 29 C W Ives Names 1862-72

Hale, Erastus "Rat" [contd]  11/3/66 went down to Hales & down to John Hodges;  1/12/67 came to New Boston with By 
up to Fathers with True & Rat;  2/16/67 went [from Abiram's?] to New Boston came up home with Rat;  3/13/67 sit up 
with True Rat stayed here & helped take care of him;  3/14/67 Rat & I went down to Hartland to Dels Auction stayed to 
Gabriels all night;  4/7/67 Fanny Hale & Rat came over in the evening;  6/10/67 went up to Case's took a job of peeling 
bark with E Hale;  6/11/67 peeled bark Father & Rat helped us;  6/12/67 peeled bark Hen[ry?] & Rat worked;  6/13/67 
peeled bark...Rat [?] & Hen worked;   6/18/67 Rat & Hen went to New Boston went up to Hen Nortons [?] visited 
Fannie['s] school in afternoon;  7/4/67 lay on the lounge with a lame leg Rat was here Lib [context suggests "Gib"] & 
Rufus went to Winsted;  7/6/67 went to Winsted with Rat;  7/20/67 Del Len & Rat went to the River;  7/25/67 Rat & 
Lyman helped us;  7/28/67 Rat & I opened some hay;  8/3/67 went over to S Hale's with Fannie the girls & Rat went up 
to the center by Marshall's home in the evening;
Hale, Erastus "Rat" [contd]  8/26/67 Rat came over [to hay at Fox's];  8/29/67 Del & Rat went home [from haying at 
Fox's];  9/4/67 finished Fox's haying Father came over Rat & Harrison Whitney had a time;  9/20/67 went to Riverton 
over to Winsted with Rat;  9/24/67 cut corn for Captain Miller H Dowd & Rat stayed all night;  9/25/67 Del & Rat went to 
Barrington to Cattle show;  Memoranda [1867 diary] Ives & Hale Dr By 20 lbs ham By 181/2 lbs pork By1 lbs butter By 
11/2 bush potatoes By 1 lb Coffee 5 lbs Sugar Amount $12.42;  [Memoranda 1867 diary] E Hale bought for Case & 
Clark's Job 1 Gal molasses $0.80 5 lbs sugar $0.75 To Henry Maltbie $5.50 Strawberries $0.18 [or .28?] Shortcake 
$0.75 Due Hale $5.27 $2.52  Settled Oct 5th;  Cash Account.  October 4th Hale  $2.25 $1.90 $1.90 Received;  
10/23/67 went a Chestnutting with Rat up on the Hill to Ed's court;  [Memoranda Very faint pencil, 1868 diary] For dear 
you will part I now will scribble here and I'll now regard you as a friend sincere.  E F H [Erastus Hale?];  2/16/68 Rat 
came out stayed all night;  3/16/68 hooped & scalded sap tubs Rat came over;  
Hale, Erastus "Rat" [contd]  3/20/68 Rat helped [sugaring] in the forenoon;  4/16/68 gathered & boiled sap Rat came 
over stayed all night;  7/5/68 went over to Frank with Rat a meeting here in evening;  8/9/68 Rat came over in evening a
meeting here;  9/13/68 Sam[']l [?] & wife C Clark came out in evening Rat stayed here all night;  11/14/68 went down to 
Riverton & stayed with Rat all night;  2/7/69 Erastus & Brown came up;  4/1/69 Erastus came over stayed all night;  
4/24/69 went to the River with E Hale;  7/4/69 Erastus came up we all went over to Seymour Hale's in the evening;  
8/29/69 did not feel well stayed at [sic] Rat was here;  12/21/69 Hubert & I went a bait fishing on Bushnell's cove Rat 
Hale was there Dowd went up to Otis with the stage;  4/18/70 came home [from F Hale's] Rat came over;  5/7/70 Rat 
stayed here;  9/18/70 went to Church went over to L Twining's went down to Dea to meeting with Anson Rat came over;
9/30/70 went down to the River to Riverton took dinner with Erastus went to H Hotchkiss stayed all night;  1/15/71 
Erastus Hale came over played euchre;  
Hale, Erastus "Rat" [contd]  3/2/71 Rat Hale came over Dim was here;  4/20/71 went over to Frank Hale's got Erastus 
went down to Bentley mill stuck up boards;  4/21/71 sent Rat to Coe's after wagon came over to L Smith loaded up two 
loads of bark went down to Smith got meal;  4/22/71 went to New Boston with bark E Hale drove Dim's oxen;  5/3/71 
went down with bark came back to Lawrence's went trouting with Erastus;  5/5/71 Lawrence & Erastus went down 
town;  5/7/71 went over to S Hale's & to F Hale's with Erastus;  5/9/71 went over on Burt Hill with Erastus got his trunk;  
5/10/71 carried Erastus Hale to Sheffield took dinner at M Merrifield, went down to S Loomis stayed all night;  5/11/71 
came home from Sheffield Erastus came back with me;  5/25/71 went up to W Hale's to help him on road with Erastus;  
6/6/71 Rat came stayed all night;  6/8/71 worked on the road at the west end Rat helped us;  7/16/71 went up to the 
pond went in bathing Erastus came down across the pond;  7/26/71 went over to Del's Rat came over went up to the 
pond in evening a fishing;
Hale, Erastus "Rat" [contd]    10/18/71 went over to L Smith's to chopping wood...came home in evening Erastus was 
here stayed all night;  11/5/71 went up to Cotton's with Erastus over to F Hale's over to L Smith and home in evening;  
11/6/71 Father and I helped Erastus Hale cut sap wood on L Twining's;  11/16/71 Erastus & I went up to E Smith's to 
Turkey raffle got 2 apiece;  12/8/71 Erastus came over with me [to Father's] cut wood in the afternoon;  2/7/72 stripped 
tobacco Erastus Hale helped me;  2/14/72 Rat came over in the morning, drew 3 loads of logs for Cotton with Fred;  
2/25/72 Erastus came over just at night;  2/26/72 Erastus came over stripped Tobacco;  2/27/72 Erastus was here;  
2/28/72 went to Colebrook River with Erastus called to S Hale's when we went down;  2/29/72 drew sap wood for 
Erastus Hale on Lyman Twining's;  3/1/72 finished drawing wood for Erastus in forenoon hitched up both horses and 
[went] to West Granville with Erastus got a bbl of flour;  3/18/72 went to Granville with Erastus carried Em home got the 
horses broke the pole out of the wagon near A Nelson's;

Hale, Erastus "Rat" [contd]  3/27/72 helped Erastus Hale get a sled shoe log;  4/2/72 went over to Granville got 3 loads 
of bark Erastus went over with Dim's oxen;  4/9/72 Erastus sugared off;  5/7/72 worked around the sawmill went out to 
Father's got Erastus came back to Mrs Bentley's stayed all night;  5/8/72 Erastus worked for me around the mill;  
6/13/72 they were to work on the road [by Father's] Erastus was helping;  6/15/72 helped Father on the road Rat & Del 
helped;  9/21/72 Em and I went out to Father's stayed all night Erastus was there stayed all night;  10/20/72  Erastus 
Hale & John Cotton came over went up on Chestnut Hill got some chestnuts helped Lawrence get the cattle off the hill;  

[Cash Account 1872] Oct 19th E Hale $10.00 Received;  
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Hale, F [same as Frank or B F Hale?]  9/22/62 shod a horse for F Hale & colt for E Hale;  6/23/63 hired out to F Hale in 
haying;  7/4/63 went over to F [?] Hale's in evening;  7/20/63 commenced work for F Hale mowed;  7/21/63 went over to 
Hale's;  7/25/63 shingled for F Hale;  7/26/63 went over to Hale's;  8/25/63 went over to Hale's stayed all night;  
10/29/63 went over to Hale's went down to Hotchkiss in evening;  10/30/63 sold 5 pigs to the Hales;  2/26/64 went over 
to Hale's;  5/1/64 went over to F Hale's;  7/24/64 went over to F Hale's up to town house in evening with Francis & Nel 
[Mel?];  8/20/64 went up to the pond a fishing with the Hales in evening;  [1864 Memoranda, beef bills?] F Hale 167X;  
2/6/65 went over to New Boston west look at Emons colt down to Phelps shop with F Hale;  2/10/65 went over to Hale's 
to trade steers;  3/21/65 Father shod a horse for F Hale;  1/2/66 came back [from Sam Loomis, Salisbury?] to Winsted 
went down to the clock shop saw F Hale;  2/23/66 went over to F Hale's with the girls in the eve had a dance;
Hale, F [same as Frank or B F Hale?]  3/21/66 came up [from Grandfather's] to Father's in the afternoon stopped to F 
Hale's got some sugar;  6/7/66 to Winsted with [Erastus?] Hale & [Mozart?] Perry got some money stayed to F Hale's 
all night;  11/4/66 went over to F Hale's in the evening;  11/29/66 Del & I went over to F Hale's;  12/2/66 went over to F 
Hale's in the evening;  3/24/67 went over to F [?] Hales got Lib;  11/1/67 Henry Maltbie came here went over to F Hale's 
to meeting; 1/17/68 went over to F Hale's in eve;  2/6/68 went over to F Hale's got his saw cut logs;  3/19/68 went over 
to F Hale's in evening;  3/26/68 went over to F Hale with sugar;  4/25/68 went over with F Hale's wagon in morning;  
9/28/68 went over with Del to F Hale's;  11/21/68 went on the hill over to F Hale's to see Anson he was very sick;  
12/6/68 went over to F [G?] Hales on the hill Joe came up Anson was worse;  1/5/69 went over to F [T?] Hale's in the 
evening Alfred & Ella Clark went over;  3/6/69 went over to F [?] Hale's in evening;  4/17/69 went over to F Hale's in 
afternoon;  [1868 Cash Accounts refer to W F, & B F Hale & sugar]  

Hale, F [same as Frank, F B or B F Hale?]  [Cash Account 1869] May 18th F S Hale beef $10.10 Received;  10/19/69 A 

son born to F [?] S Hale 111/2 lbs;  1/18/70 went [from Dowd's, Otis?] up to Tolland called to F [?] Hales & S Hale's;  
4/17/70 Mr Bills was buried called to George's to Dowd's came up to F Hale's, over to S Hale's in even[in]g stayed to G 
[F?] Hale's;  7/3/70 went over to F & to S Hale's in the evening stayed S Hale's all night;  7/19/70 Fannie E wife of R 
Marshall died early in the morning at her Father's F Hale's of Fever Aged 19;  7/20/70 went over to F B Hale's, Fannie 
was buried a great number out;  9/11/70 Del & I went down to Howard's down to Sheff's came up to F Hale's called 
Lurinda was there;  5/7/71 went over to S Hale's & to F Hale's with Erastus;  2/25/72 Erastus came over just at night 
went to Colebrook River and back in evening called to F [G?] Hale's & to S Hale's;  
Hale, Fanny  6/1/66 peeled bark Fanny & Julia came down to Snow's;  7/5/66 Amanda Giles came down in the evening 
Mrs Hale & Fannie came over;  10/14/66 Fanny Hale came from meeting & stayed over night;  4/7/67 Fanny Hale & Rat 
came over in the evening;  6/18/67 went up to Hen Norton's visited Fannie's school in afternoon;  6/22/67 peeled bark 
came up home Fannie Hale was here;  10/20/67 Frank Hale & Fannie called here in evening;  1/31/68 Frank Hale 
called & Fanny;  2/25/68 went over to Seymour Hale cut some hoop poles Fannie Hale came over spent the evening;  
3/1/68 went to Church W G Fannie & Theresa Hale, Eddy Fowler & Selenda united with the Church;  12/19/68 Fannie 
Hale called took tea Del carried her home;  5/26/70 peeled bark [at Northway's] went down to A Snow's Fannie Hale 
was there;  7/19/70 Fannie E wife of R Marshall died early in the morning at her Father's F Hale's of Fever Aged 19;  
7/20/70 went over to F B Hale's, Fannie was buried a great number out;  7/24/70 went to Church in the afternoon 
Fannie Marshall's funeral sermon preached;  
Hale, Francis  7/24/64 went to meeting over to F Hale's up to the town house in evening with Francis & N[M?]el;  3/6/66 
Rat & Francis Hale came down to Winsted went up west with them went to Adams Hall in the eve;  3/7/66 went up west 
in the morning came up to Tolland with Rat & Francis;  4/14/66 helped Erastus Mel Francis & Truman came down;  
5/30/66 peeled bark Francis Hale came down went down to New Boston to the ball;  11/28/67 Fransis Hale & Theresa 
White were married;  12/15/68 went over to S Hale's in evening with Del he & Jane & Salome went down to Francis;  
4/6/70 went over to S Hale's down to Fran;  7/5/70 came up to Francis Hale's with Anson called to F [T?] B Hale's took 
dinner came over to Granville in evening;  7/28/70 Francis Hale's child died aged 9 months name Dwight F;  7/29/70 
went down to the River over to Sheff's up to the Silk mill Stayed to Francis Hale all night watched with the corpse;  
7/30/70 went after Sarah Horrigon She sketched a picture of the Babe;  Attende[d] the funeral services by Mr Smith, 
Suffer little children to come unto me JC;

Hale, Francis [contd]  9/29/70 went [from S Hale's] down to Francis took dinner;  2/10/71 A party at Francis Hale's;  



Page 31 C W Ives Names 1862-72

Hale, Frank  12/20/63 went over to Frank Hale's in the evening;  7/6/64 Frank & Mel & his boy Father & Truman come 
down [to Hall's] & worked got in 9 loads;  10/22/64 W & E Hale came over [to Salisbury?] to chop Frank Hale brought 
them over;  2/6/65 down to Phelps shop with F Hale;  3/19/65 came to Father's from [H Hotchkiss] went over to Frank 
Hale's in the evening;  3/22/65 went up on the hill over to Frank's got some sugar;  7/2/65 came home [from Salisbury] 
brought Mary Jane Brown over Erastus & Frank were over in the evening;  7/3/65 went over to Frank Hale's in the 
morning;  8/30/65 Frank Hale came over [to Salisbury, CT] went down to Mike's with him;  4/9/66 went over to Hodge's 
down to Sheff's over to E Hale's up to Frank's got his wagon stayed with Erastus over night;  4/24/66 down to Phelps 
down to Belden's up to Horrigon's [sic] over to Frank's & to Seymour;  7/4/66 went over to Frank's down to New Boston 
in the evening;  8/22/66 went to Winsted with Erastus had Frank's horse;  10/19/66 Frank & Mel came down & chopped 
[at J P Hall's?];  4/17/67 went over to Frank Hale's in the evening;

Hale, Frank  5/10/67 went up to the [Post] Office over to Frank Hale's;  5/29/67 Ace, Harvey & Frank came down in 
evening played cards;  10/17/67 went over to Frank Hale's;  10/20/67 Frank Hale & Fannie called here in evening;  
1/31/68 Frank Hale called & Fanny;  3/27/68 went over to Frank's got a bbl;  3/29/68 went over to Frank's with sugar in 
eve;  4/1/68 gathered sap sugared off went over to Hale's in morning & evening with sugar;  4/5/68 D Smith came over 
from Hale's stayed to tea;  4/6/68 went over to Hale's with sugar;  7/5/68 went over to Frank with Rat;  12/31/68 Father 
& Del went a fishing with the Hales, the woment went Lurinda Jane Salome & Alfred Belden called & took tea;  10/26/69
Del went over to Frank Hale's, took care of Mrs Hale;  4/6/70 went over to S Hale's down to Fran [?];  4/20/71 went over 
to Frank Hale's got Erastus went down to Bentley mill stuck up boards;
Hale, F S  3/4/72 N B Twining G L Marshall & F S Hale Selectmen;  
Hale, George  2/7/62 Battle Roanoke Island 7 & 8, George Hale killed the 8th. [Last sentence added later?];  3/23/62 G 
Hale's funeral preacher Rev Mr Pickett;  

Hale, Jane  12/15/68 went over to S Hales in evening with Del he & Jane & Salome went down to Francis H;  12/30/68 
went a fishing to Otis Theresa Salome Lurinda & Jane went;  12/31/68  Father & Del went a fishing with the Hales, the 
women went Lurinda Jane Salome & Alfred Belden called & took tea;  9/24/69 Lurenda & Janie Hale [Hall?] came over 
spent the eve;  5/15/70 came home from Northway's went to Church in the afternoon went over to S Hale's in the 
evening.  Jane's birthday she was 18;  9/17/70 went up to Nel Hale's carried his saw home went over to L Twining's 
took supper Jane Hale was there;  8/6/71 F A Theresa Jane & Lurinda Hale called in the evening;  
Hale, Larinda  3/21/67 Clare Webber & Larinda Hale called;  3/27/67 Larinda & Theresa [White?] called;  5/1/68 Anson 
Lurinda & Ella Clarke came over in evening;  12/30/68 went a fishing to Otis Theresa Salome Lurinda & Jane went;  
12/31/68  Father & Del went a fishing with the Hales, the women went Lurinda Jane Salome & Alfred Belden called & 
took tea;  9/24/69 Lurenda & Janie Hale [Hall?] came over spent the eve;  5/8/70 went to Church Lurinda Hale came 
over in the evening Dim & John Cotton were here played euchre;  9/11/70 Del & I went down to Howard's down to 
Sheff's came up to F Hale's called Lurinda was there;  7/20/71 Mrs F Hale & Lurinda came over took tea;  8/6/71 F A 
Theresa Jane & Lurinda Hale called in the evening;  

Hale, Mel or Nel  8/8/63 went to New Boston with Mel [?] Hale;  7/6/64 Frank & Mel & his boy Father & Truman come 
down [to Halls] & worked got in 9 loads;  7/24/64 went to meeting over to F Hale's up to the town house in evening with 
Francis & N[M?]el;  1/4/65 Mel Hale cut wood in our strip;  1/16/65 Truman & Mell [sic] went back;  7/30/65 wrote to Mel 
Hale;  4/14/66 helped Erastus [sugaring at Babbitt's?] Mel Francis [Hale] & Truman came down;  4/29/66 Mel & Anson 
Hale came over in the evening;  10/10/66 dug potatoes for Mel Hale;  10/19/66 Frank & Nel came down [to J P Hall's?] 

& chopped;  Oct 31st Received of Hale $10.00;  8/11/68 saw Nel [Hale?] run a mowing machine down on the Wright 
place;  9/17/70 went up to Nel Hale's carried his saw home went over to L Twining's took supper Jane Hale was there;  
12/5/70 Nell Hale came in the woods [at L Smith's?];  5/27/71 worked on the road B F Hale & came up to Mel's;  
5/30/71 worked on the cross road by Jones place L Granger came up to Mel's;  
Hale, Mrs  7/5/66 Amanda Giles came down in the evening Mrs Hale & Fannie came over;  10/26/69 Del went over to 
Frank Hale's, took care of Mrs Hale;  7/20/71 Mrs F Hale & Lurinda came over took tea;  

Hale [?], Salome  12/15/68 went over to S Hale's in evening with Del he & Jane & Salome went down to Francis;  
12/30/68 went a fishing to OtisTheresa Salome Lurinda & Jane went;  12/31/68 Father & Del went a fishing with the 
Hales, the women went Lurinda Jane Salome & Alfred Belden called & took tea;  1/21/69 Father & Mother went to 
Winsted Salome came over stayed all night Mike [?] & Allen came up Joe brought around;  1/22/69 played cards in the 
evening Salome was here & Joe;  1/26/69 went down on Salome's mountain to writing school;  1/28/69 Salome came 
over in eve;  2/6/69 Del carried Salome home;  3/10/70 went down to the chair shop came home Salome & Cotton's 
folks were down here & spent the evening;  3/19/70 Warm & pleasant went to Winsted with Dowd Del Lib & Salome 
was down came home with Lib;  7/2/70 peeled bark Lawrence helped Dim & I went home Salome came out with Del;  
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Hale, Seymour  10/9/62 shod a horse for S [?] Hale;  1/12/63 shod a pair of cattle [& a?] horse for S [?] Hale;  5/1/63 
shod horse for S [F?] Hale;  5/2/63 sold 1 [?] sugar to Hale;  7/28/63 went over to Seymours in the evening [from F 
Hale's];  8/6/63 Mr Hale went to Winsted;  8/14/63 mowed in the big mowing Seymour & his 2 boys helped got in 5 
loads;  8/15/63 Seymour & his boys helped [haying];  8/18/63 went over to Hale's in the evening;  8/19/63 mowed for S 
Hale's on Richardson lot;  8/22/63 mowed on the Richardson lot finished it...got through with Hale;  8/23/63 came home 
from Hale's;  9/12/63 shod a horse for S Hale;  9/13/64 went over to Seymour Hale's in the evening;  [1864 
Memoranda, beef bill?] S Hale 196X;  1/29/65 went over to Seymour Hale's in the evening;  3/9/66 went over to S 
Hale's;  4/12/66 came out of Hartford with S [?] Hale & Osborne;  4/24/66 Erastus & I went down to Phelp's down to 
Belden's up to Horrigon's over to Frank's & to Seymour in the evening;  9/23/66 went over to S Hale's to Horrigon down 
to Belden's with E Hale;  4/21/67 Del, the girls & I went over to S [F?] Hales in eve;
Hale, Seymour [contd]  6/15/67 went over to S [?] & F [?] Hale's;  8/3/67 went over to S Hale's with Fannie the girls & 
Rat went up to the center by Marshall's home in the evening;  9/8/67 went to Church in afternoon Orlow Loveland & his 
sister came over went to S [?] Hale's in the evening;  10/2/67 went over to S Hale's to prayer meeting;  11/21/67 Mrs 
Treat went over to S [L?] Hale's;  2/25/68 went over to Seymour Hale cut some hoop poles Fannie Hale came over 
spent the evening;  3/17/68 shod a horse for S Hale;  10/25/68 went over to J Daniel's up to Fred's over to S Hale's with 
Del in evening;  11/5/68 done some black smithing for S Hale;  12/13/68 went over to S Hale's in evening;  12/15/68 
went over  to S Hale's in eve with Del;  1/20/69 went over to S Hale's in evening;  3/19/69 went over to S Hale's down to
Dea Twining's in evening;  7/4/69 Erastus came up we all went over to Seymour Hale's in the evening;  11/27/69 Will 
Rugg Del & Anson & Seymour Hale were down [to Otis?];  1/18/70 went [from Dowd's, Otis?] up to Tolland called to F 
[?] Hale's & S Hale's;  3/25/70 Del went over to Seymour's in the evening;  
Hale, Seymour [contd]  4/6/70 went over to S Hale's down to Fran;  4/10/70 went up to Cotton's got some sugar to eat 
he came down we went over to S Hale played euchre;  4/17/70 Mr Bills was buried called to George's to Dowd's came 
up to F Hale's, over to S Hale's in evening stayed to G [F?] Hale's;  5/15/70 came home from Northway's went to 
Church in the afternoon went over to S Hale's in the evening.  Jane's birthday she was 18;  6/5/70 went to Church went 
over to S Hale's in the evening with Dim played Euchre;  7/3/70 went over to F & to S Hale's in the evening stayed S 
Hale's all night;  8/28/70 went over to S Hale's in evening;  9/2/70 Del worked for Seymour Hale;  9/3/70 went over to S 
Hale's down to the River stayed to Uncle Silas all night;  9/28/70 came over to Tolland with J Brazee stayed to S Hale's; 
2/16/71 party at S Hale's;  4/16/71 Dim came up towards night went over to B F Hale & over to S Hale's;  5/7/71 went 
over to S Hale's & to F Hale's with Erastus;   5/18/71 Miss Burt the School teacher came up stayed all night went on the 
hill over to S Hale's with her;

Hale, Seymour [contd]  7/9/71 went up to Cotton's down to the pond Florence came down with me went to Church with 
us stayed all night went over to S Hale's in evening;  7/25/71 Del came over his wife went over to S Hale's;  10/9/71 got 
the oxen out of S Hale's lot;  2/19/72 Fred & Father went over to S Hale's in evening got a yoke;  2/25/72 Erastus came 
over just at night went to Colebrook River and back in evening called to F [G?] Hale's & to S Hale's;  2/28/72 went to 
Colebrook River with Erastus called to S Hale's when we went down;  3/11/72 went over to S Hale's got his big wagon, 
to carry off tobacco;  3/14/72 went over to S Hale's with his wagon;  
Hale, Theresa White  11/28/67 Fransis Hale & Theresa White were married;  3/1/68 went to Church W G Fannie & 
Theresa Hale, Eddy Fowler & Selenda united with the Church;  12/30/68 went a fishing to Otis Theresa Salome Lurinda 
& Jane went;  1/29/69 Theresa came over in the afternoon;  8/6/71 F A Theresa Jane & Lurinda Hale called in the 
evening;  
Hale, W  10/22/64 W & E Hale came over [to Salisbury?] to chop Frank Hale brought them over;  10/24/64 commence 
chopping Del & I & the Hales;  2/25/71 came up to A Cowle's over to O Ripley's up to T Pebble's looking after oxen 
came back to W Hale's took supper came over to J Cotton stayed all night;  5/22/71 Cotton & I planted corn for W Hale; 

[Cash Acct May 1871] 22nd W Hale for planting $1.50 Received;  5/25/71 went up to W Hale's to help him on road with 
Erastus;  5/26/71 worked on road for W Hale;  5/29/71 went over to W Hale's helped him on the road plowed and 
scraped the hill where Wm Giles house was burned;  5/30/71 worked on the cross road by Jones place L Granger 
came up to Mel's;  5/31/71 finished the cross road in the forenoon worked by Giles in afternoon;  6/1/71 went to 
Blandford line worked South finished the road;  
Hale, W F  [1868 Memoranda] W F Hale Dr March 26th By 57 lbs sugar March 29th By 1083/4 lbs sugar Cr By cash 

$10.00 Apr 1st By 2313/4 lbs sugar 1611/4 Apr 6th By cash $49.63 Apr 13th By cash $12.00 sum = 5573/4  [calc = 5583/4] 

$82.20 [~$0.147 per lb] Settled due me $10.57 Cr May 11th  $10.98 [?];  5/13/69 W F Hale & Georgia Marshall married;  

[1871 Cash Account June] 1st W F Hale work on road 6 days $9.00 Received;  
Hall  12/6/69 snowed all day quite hard went up with a sleigh Miss Wheeler two Hall ladies Miss Harrington Corlena & 
others a load came down;  
Hall, A  6/16/63  went over to A Hall's up to Blanford stayed with J [I?] Richards [?];  11/30/72 went [from Del's] with Em 
to Colebrook called at A Hall's stayed to Father Smith's all night;  
Hall, Amos  8/25/70 a severe shower in the evening with lightning struck Amos Hall's barn & burned it;  
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Hall, C  1/2/71 C Hall & Ella Moore married;  
Hall, Fannie  9/11/69 Fannie Hall came over to tea;  [Not mentioned again:  possibly Fanny Hale?]
Hall, Frank  5/6/62 Frank Hall stayed here all night [at EB Holcomb's in CT?];  5/7/62 Frank Hall went away;  10/19/66 
Frank & Mel came down [to Halls?] & chopped;  

Hall, J H  11/12/63 went up to C Northway's down to New Boston bought some iron of J Hall;  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XJ 
Hall  X50;  3/25/71 went to New Boston in afternoon called to J H [?] Hall's took tea spent the evening;  
Hall, J P  1/20/62 went down to J P Hall's in the forenoon in the afternoon went to H Coroll's;  4/24/62 went down to J P 
Hall's;  7/1/62 commenced work for J P Hall hoed potatoes;  7/31/62 time out with Mr Hall;  10/18/62 went down to Mr 
Hall's in the evening;  11/5/62 went down to Hall's chopped a little wood;  11/6/62 chopped wood for Hall went cooning 
with Hall boys;  12/4/62 went down to J P Hall's in the evening;  12/19/62 Father & Del finished cutting & piling wood 
down to J P Hall's;  1/15/63 went down to J P Hall's in the evening;  1/20/63 went down to J P Hall's in the evening;  
5/18/63 went to J P Hall's;  6/3/63 went down to J P Hall's in Company with Georgie Hotchkiss;  9/30/63 J Hall got his 
bull;  11/12/63 went up to C Northway's down to New Boston bought some iron of J Hall;  1/5/64 shod a pair of stags for 
J P Hall & a horse;  6/30/64 Erastus Hale & I mowed for J P Hall got in 2 loads;  7/1/64 came home went to Montville up 
to Hotchkiss;  7/5/64 commenced on J Hall's old barn lot with Hale;  7/6/64 Frank & Mel & his boy Father & Truman 
come down [to J Hall's?] & worked got in 9 loads;  

Hall, J P  7/8/64 Erastus & I mowed [at J Hall's?];  7/9/64 7 of us worked on Hall's lot;  7/11/64 Erastus & I mowed in the 
afternoon;  7/12/64 finished the old barn lot of Hall's;  7/13/64 mowed for Hall;  7/14/64 mowed for Hall;  7/15/64 
Warren & I mowed west of Hall's house;  7/26/64 worked in the shop for Snow Hotchkiss Hall & Grandfather Lu was 
over;  1/30/65 went down to Hall's got my steers;  2/8/65 got some hay down to Hall's went down there in the evening 
with F Simons;  7/31/66 mowed for Hall went down to New Boston in the evening;  8/1/66 mowed got in a lot came up 
to Father's;  8/30/66 commenced chopping for Nelson [Twining] boarded to Hall's;  9/1/66 Baird came to Hall's;  10/1/66 
went down to Hall's & went to chopping;  10/16/66 Len came down to keep house while Hall's folks were gone to 
Blandford;  10/17/66 cut wood Hall's folks went to Blandford;  10/18/66 Dedication of a church at Blandford;

Hall, J P  Memoranda [1866 diary] Hale & Ives  Board to J P Hall's.  Sept 23rd [?] By 88 [?] days  Oct 9th  By 8 days  Oct 

15th By 10 days;  Oct 26th N B Twining cutting wood $43.371/2 Received 26th J P Hall for board $13.65;  5/3/67 went to 
Hall's to a raising;  5/15/67 had Hall's oxen drew manure planted potatoes broke up;  10/25/67 went down to Hall's got 
a bbl of cider;  10/29/67 shod the steers & horse for J [S?] Hall;  12/7/67 went on the hill shod Hall's horse;  4/4/68 
shod...Hall's horse;  5/11/68 shod Hall horse;  7/7/68 fixed a bridge down by Hall's;  9/29/68 went to New Boston in 
evening got Hall's wagon;  11/6/68 went down to Hall's with apples ground them out;  3/6/71 town meeting in the 
afternoon L F Granger J P Hall G L Marshall Selectmen;  
Hall, Mrs J P  8/26/62 Mrs Hall came here [to Mr L Jones?];  5/16/67 Mrs Hall came up made a visit;  
Hall, John [J P?]  12/16/62 helped J Hall kill a pig;  6/24/67 hoed corn John Hall helped us;  2/13/68 shod a horse for J 
[?] Hall;  4/5/68 shod Hall's horse;  5/11/68 shod Hall horse;  12/29/68 Father butchered for Hall went up to Snow's in 
eve;  1/27/69 shod J Hall's horse;  3/7/69 went down to Hall's got some butternut bark for a sick cow;  7/29/69 shod the 
Halls horse;  10/18/69 Father killed a bull for Hall;  11/1/69 butchered a cow for Hall;  11/8/69 started with Hall for 
Springfield stayed to L Bacon's;  11/10/69 came home from Springfield by Bacon's took dinner with him brought a load 
of windows & doors for Hall;  12/31/69 Georgia came up in the stage to Boston.  A Bazney [?] girl two passengers to 

Otis Dowd went up.  I stopped at Cold Spring to a dance at J Hall's;  [Cash Account 1869 Dec] 31st Dance at Hall's 
Cold Spring $0.50;  3/7/70 went over to Pratt's rode up to Town meeting L Granger J Hall & G Marshall selectmen;  
5/9/70 worked on the road by Hall's;  6/4/70 peeled bark [for Hull] in the forenoon came home in the afternoon called to 
Hall's & to Homer's;  
Hall, John [J P?]   6/11/70 came home in the afternoon with George Bradley went down to Hall's & got Lib;  4/30/71 J 
Hall & Smith went to Granville in the evening;  5/24/71 went to Hall's, up to Cotton's in evening;  6/14/71 Hall brought 
me some plants [tobacco] from Southwick;  10/30/71 came over to Father's with Del with oxen & cart brought some 
apples to Hall's;  11/11/71 went over to Hall's with Del after cider;  1/16/72 went over to Johnson's down to Hall's;  
6/9/72 went up to Mr Hall's to get Mina [?] to do some baking [Em sick];  7/31/72 went down to J Hall's towards night;  
8/1/72 got Mr Hall's horse went to No Colebrook got Em & attended the funeral of Grandmother at Colebrook River;  

[Cash Account 1872] Sept 25th J Hall for Mrs Bentley $2.00;  
Hall, Lizzie  1/27/70 Dowd came up to New Boston stayed all night W[?]olcout [Wolcott?] came up Lizzie Hall went up 
to Otis [on the stage];  

Hall, Lucius N  Memoranda in back of 1862 diary:  Memoranda Lucius [?] N [?] Hall Dr  Dec 3 by cutting 161/2 crds 
wood $8.25  Year haying $15.00  Received cash $6.00;  7/26/64 worked in the shop for Snow Hotchkiss Hall & 
Grandfather Lu was over;  
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Hall, Marvin  5/29/62 Marvin Hall & his mother came here stayed here all night [Holcombs in CT?];  2/26/68 Marvin Hall 
came & looked at my calves;  7/18/71 mowed for Del got in 3 big loads cleaned up came home drove oxen home met 
Mrs Hall & Miss Burt east of M Hall's talked a few moments with them;  
Hall, Mina  6/9/72 took care of Em Dr came up just at night read a little chored about the house went up to Mr Hall's to 
get Mina [?] to do some baking;  6/10/72 Mina came down done some baking;  
Hall, Mrs  7/15/64 Mrs Hall taken sick;  5/16/67 Mrs Hall came up made a visit;  7/18/71 mowed for Del got in 3 big 
loads cleaned up came home drove oxen home met Mrs Hall & Miss Burt east of M Hall's talked a few moments with 
them;  
Hall, Wilbur  12/24/67 shod Wilber [sic] Hall's colt;  11/23/69 in stage W Hall's wife went up to Denslow's;  
Hamilton, E W  11/29/71 went to New Boston in the afternoon E W Hamilton came up with me stayed to supper [at 
Father's];  12/13/71 came home [from L Smith's] went to singing school in evening carried Hamilton [the instructor] up;  
12/26/71 E Hamilton called stayed all night;  1/2/72 E Hamilton called took tea;  1/10/72 Hamilton the singing teacher 
went from here to New Boston opened a school there;  1/17/72 went to Cotton's on an errand Hamilton & wife were 
there;  1/24/72 Hamilton & Miss Lewis stayed here all night;  1/25/72 Mr Burt, Hamilton Dr Ben--- & Cotton were all here 
in the forenoon related stories:  Abe's pants, Educated,  RR Station;  2/21/72 Father & Lib went to New Boston west 
Hamilton came home with them;  2/1/72 went over to J Butler's called to Del's went up to singing school New Boston 
West in evening;  
Hamilton, Sam  3/13/62 drew up a load of oats for Sam Hamilton;  12/26/63 went to Otis with beef & turkeys for S 
Hamilton;  1/1/64 a ball at S Hamilton's;  1/7/64 went with Hotchkiss up to Otis to Auction in pursuit of cattle stayed at 
Sam Hamilton's hotel over night;  
Harbburt, Mrs  1/26/71 Lawrence went to Winsted carried Mrs Harbburt [?] down;  
Hardin, W [Harding?] 5/11/67 bought a cow & a yearling heifer of W Hardin;  
Harding, Mel  2/24/71 went down town down to Mel Harding's took dinner there;  
Harding, O  2/28/71 went up to O Harding's & to Boardman's looking for a pair of oxen went down across from H 
Soule's, to New Boston bought a pair of oxen of A Hull, 5 yrs old weight 2800 paid $200;  12/10/71 went [from Father's] 
over to O Harding's in the evening;  12/15/71 went up to O Harding's O Snow's & H Soule's;  

Harding, W  1/9/64 shod a horse for W Harding;  1/21/64 Harding came down pulled the shoes of his oxen;  2/15/64 
went over to Cold Spring up to Otis with W Harding;  3/2/64 went up to the Harding farm got a load of hay;  3/3/64 went 
over to the Harding farm got 2 loads of hay;  8/14/66 Father...sold his white faced oxen to W Harding for $320;  

Harger  8/16/68 went over to Harger's came over to Howd's;  1/6/71 went down to Harger's to L Tiffany's in the 
forenoon went up to Wm Howd's & to A Cowles's played Euchre;  10/26/71 went over to E Barnes in forenoon came 
back with Harger;  10/31/71 cut wood [at L Smith] H [?] M[?]althin came down by with lumber Harger up to Smith's in 
evening;  11/1/71 worked for Harger patching house and building shed;  12/6/71 went [from L Smith's] down to Harger's 
& Eliza Smith's in evening Adelia Smith was there;  11/8/72 helped Lawrence butcher his cow at Harger's barn in the 
afternoon;  11/17/72 called to Mr Harger's in the evening;  12/6/72 went into the woods east of Harger's to see James 
Johnson;  12/18/72 Lawrence helped Harger butcher a heifer;  12/26/72 Mr Harger came up [to L Smith's];  12/27/72 
went down to Mr Harger's;  12/30/72 helped Mr Harger break out the road from his house to Lawrence's;  
Harger, David,  3/15/63  went over to David Harger's in evening with L Hotchkiss;  6/16/72 went over to W Johnson's 
David Harger went down to New Boston got L Clark stayed to Father's;  10/23/72 Jerushai [or "Jerusha:"?] wife of 
David Harger died;  10/24/72 David Harger's wife was buried;  12/13/72 David Harger fell dead in the road by Joel 
Howd's Aged 75 yrs;  
Harger, L  [Cash Account 1872] Oct 26th L Harger Pork $1.02;  11/4/72 came back to Lawrence [from Father's] hooped 
some bbls went to the mill in the afternoon went to the store in the evening Em went down to L Harger's;  12/10/72 Mr L 
Harger came up [to L Smith's];  
Harger, Nelson  7/12/63 N Harger & L Munn got home from the South;  12/16/72 drew five loads of wood for Aunt Eliza 
Smith from Chestnut Hill lot Nelson Harger & Si Howd chopped it;  
Harger, Sam  5/25/62 Sam Harger came down [to Holcombs in CT?];  
Harlo [Hotchkiss?]  12/18/63 Harlo & Lu Hotchkiss spent evening here;  
Harlow  12/18/63 Harlo & Lu Hotchkiss spent evening here;4/28/69 stayed in Ansonia with Joe saw Harlow a few 
moments;  
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Harper, Ed  10/23/64 went down to Salisbury in the evening Harper & his wife were up here [Chapinsville?];  10/25/64 
went down to Harper in the evening;  10/31/64 Harper & his wife came up in evening;  11/4/64 Harper & wife here in 
evening;  11/16/64 went down to Harper's raffled for chickens;  11/20/64 went down to Harper's in the evening;  12/3/64 
cut wood went down to Harper's in the evening;  12/4/64 had a sore finger sit in the house Harper & his wife up in the 
evening;  12/6/64 Harper & his wife up in evening;  12/9/64 cut wood & piled went down to Harper's over to Mac's;  
12/10/64 piled a little wood went over to Chapinville down to Harper's to a dance;  12/11/64 stormed a little sit in house 
went over to Mac went down to Harper's;  1/12/65 Harper & wife here in the evening;  1/15/65 Harper and wife up in the 
evening;  1/20/65 went down to Harper's in eve;  1/23/65 went down to Harper's in the evening;  10/27/65 rained in the 
afternoon stayed to Pixley's went & stayed with Ed Harper over night;  
Harrington, Mary T  2/24/68 wrote to Mary T Harrington;  
Harrington, Miss  12/6/69 snowed all day quite hard went up with a sleigh Miss Wheeler two Hall ladies Miss Harrington 
Corlena & others a load came down;  
Harrington, Thomas  8/23/64 went up to Harrington's looking for beef;  10/17/67 went up to Thos Harrington's looked at 
a pair of steers picked up apples went over to Frank Hale's;  10/8/69 Father & Del went up to T Harrington's to trade 
oxen;  10/9/69 Father & Del came back from Harrington drove the steers home;  11/13/69 Del sold Jim to T Harrington;  
8/29/70 set a tire shod a horse for T Harrington;  9/6/70 went with Del up to Boardman's met T Harrington & Spelman in 
the Belden woods Del traded his oxen for a horse with Spelman;  3/22/72 T Harrington came down bought the old ox of 
Father $60;  
Harris, M  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  XM Harriss [?]  X100;  
Harrison, Wm W  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  XW W Harrison  X32;  4/28/72 Wm W [?] Harrison died aged 48 yrs;  
Harvey, F  3/6/63  went to the River went to a dance to F Harvey;  

Haskell, H  12/10/69 H Haskell came down & back L Norton came up & Laura Smith came up to Boston [on the stage];  
Hawley, A  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  XA Hawley  X64;  
Hawley, Miles  1/2/64 shod a pair of cattle...for M Hawley;  1/9/64 down to Hotchkiss in evening played cards with M 
[Mr?] Hawley visiting there;  2/5/64 shod...a horse for Miles Hawley;  9/2/64 bought 2 heifers of Hawley;  9/17/64 went 

up to Otis with Miles Hawley went to auction at the estate of S Perry bought a saw;  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XM Hawley  
X65;  Memoranda  [Beef bought of] M Hawley $60;  2/22/66 went down to New Boston up to Hull's down to Miles 
Hawley's horse slipped down going down the mount lamed her;  7/15/66 M [?] J [?] came down to Miles Hawley's 
stayed all night;  7/16/66 mowed for Hawley got in 2 loads cocked up 3 loads;  7/21/66 came up home [from 
Hawley's?];  7/22/66 went down to Miles Hawley's stayed all night;  7/25/66 mowed got in 4 load finished Mr Hawley;  

July 25th Received of Hawley for Haying $15.00;  7/30/66 Miles Hawley came up got his horse shod;  1/25/67 carried 
Georgia down to Miles Hawley's spent the evening;  8/2/67 shod a horse for Miles;  12/5/67 shod a pair of oxen for M 
Hawley;  12/26/67 shod a horse for Miles Hawley;  
Hawley, Miles  1/4/68 went to New Boston in the evening got Miles Hawley sleigh;  2/27/68 shod M Hawley's horse;  
3/11/68 went to New Boston down to Miles Hawley's;  4/21/68 shod a pair of oxen for M Hawley;  12/9/71 shod Miles 
Hawley's oxen;  2/8/72 Mrs Cotton Lib & I went over to Del's, went to M Hawley's got some medicine for my ox went 
over to Uncle Abiram's to a party;  
Hawley, Mrs  2/25/70 Sammy Beech went down in the morning Mrs Hawley went down [on the stage];  
Hayden  9/7/71 Ed Fowler & Hayden from Granville Corners came here [Father's] took dinner, Cotton & Fred were 
here;  

Hayward, William  11/22/71 went [from E Canaan CT] up to the steam shovel with Jennie Brown, took dinner with Gus 
up to the shovel in afternoon.  Attended the wedding of Wm Hayward & Anna Holsapple a very nice time;  
Hazard, Mrs  5/4/69 Howard [Ives?] & wife and Mrs Hazard came up spent the afternoon;  8/29/71 went down to Sheff's 
with Bravo up by Howard's took tea Mrs Hazard was there from Atcheson Kansas, Joel D Thorpe was buried at 
Colebrook River;  
Helen  5/14/68 went down & got Grandmother Milo & Helen;
Hennan  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  X Hennan [?]  X60-25-45-25;  
Henney  3/26/69 went to Colebrook River got some wheat ground bought a bbl of Henney;  
Henry, Wm G  1869 [back of diary] Cash Account.  April.  24[th]  Wm G. Henry acct 1866  [$]2.00;

Herrick, W  5/16/72 went over to V Barnes borrowed $130 of him & sent it to W [?] Herrick [?] towards paying for mill;  

Hewitt  10/30/63 went over to Hewitts;  11/14/63 ground apples at Hewitts mill with Northway sold 2 pigs to Hewitt for 

$6;  1/19/64 fixed a sled for Hewitt;  3/1/64 set 2 horse shoes for Hewitt;  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  XJ Hewitt  X82X;  
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Hewitt, John  6/6/66 went up to Hewitt's saw Gilbert down to the red shop saw Camp;  6/24/66 went to meeting Seth 
Maltby came up came over to Hewitt's;  7/1/66 went to meeting went up to Hewitt's;  8/4/66 went to Hewitt's;  8/13/66 
went up to Hewitt's to work in haying;  8/16/66 got the Captain carriage started for Winsted came back & went to 

mowing for Hewitt worked 1/2 day;  8/17/66 mowed for Hewitt got in 3 load he lost a calf;  8/18/66 worked for Hewitt got 
in 3 load Orlow Wolcott came there bought some cattle went to New Boston with him;  8/22/66 came home from John's 
went to Winsted with Erastus had Frank's horse;  8/23/66 Rained quite hard went over to John's peeled one tree went 
to New Boston;  8/25/66 mowed for Hewitt came home;  8/27/66 went over to Captain with Hale up to to Hewitt's peeled

bark in the forenoon down to Snowe's a blackberrying;  Memoranda [1866 diary] Board to Hewitt's  June 16th 12 days 

June 23rd 13 days June 30th 18 days July 3rd 9 days sum =  52 days Aug 13 Cr By cash $20.00  Nov 1st Settled;

Hewitt, John  Memoranda [1866 diary] John Hewitt Dr Aug 25th By 61/2 days work at haying $1.75 per day = $11.375  
Settled;  
Hibard, Duane  12/5/64 cut wood Duane Hibard got run over;  
Hibbard, Maguire  Memoranda [1865 Diary]  Maguire Hibbard Cr  July 22nd By 10 days board  Sept 16th By 8 days 

board  Settled with Maguire Hillard [sic] Oct 19th  due me $24.94  Received Oct 20th  $30;  
Hibbard, Francis  6/4/63 Francis Hibbard stayed here all night;  3/27/65 drew wood with Fransis [sic] Hibbert [sic];  
4/4/65 drew wood with F Hibbard Loring & the Collier were up on the bush;  7/14/65 drew wood Francis helped Mike cut
rye for Scoville drew 9 cords;  

Hibbard, Mike  11/28/64 cut wood went over to Mikes in evening; 12/6/64 M Hibbart E Hale Del & I hired Thomson to 
take us to Barrington; 12/17/64 to Chapinville to M Hibart to a dance;  Memoranda [1863 Diary] Wood cut on Hibbards 

bush 1864 & 65 = 15241/4;  1/1/65 went over to M Hibber[t] in the evening [from Adelbert's, Chapinville]; 1/10/65 went 
over to M Hibert over to Chapinville in afternoon;  2/17/65 cut wood went up to M Hobberts [meant Hibbert?] in the 
even[in]g;  4/10/65 took up wood with Loring & an agent from Norfolk & Mike 1524 cords;  4/17/65 worked on the cabin 
[since 4/11] for Mike dissolved with him;  5/21/65 down to M Hibberts;  6/27/65 went down to Mikes & he came up with 
me & took the job of drawing the wood;  7/10/65 went to Lime Rock with Mike got some money of Barnum [?];  7/11/65 
came down to Mike's drew wood in the afternoon commenced work for him;  7/14/65 drew wood Francis helped Mike 
cut rye for Scoville drew 9 cords;  7/17/65 went up street with Del came back went down to the lower job with Mike went 
to work wood in the afternoon;  7/18/65 drew wood with Mike drew 20 cord;

Hibbard, Mike [contd]  7/26/65 drew wood Borinay & I had some words went down to Mike's he came up drew 13 cords;
8/2/65 Mike came up worked a while in the forenoon went home drew 11 cords;  8/8/65 drew wood Mike came up & 

worked drew 15 cords;  8/9/65 drew wood Mike worked drew 161/2 cords;  8/10/65 drew wood 161/2 crds Mike worked;  
8/17/65 drew wood Mike came up counted up wood;  8/18/65 went down to Mike's with an old sled drew wood;  8/20/65 
went down to Mike's with Del;  8/21/65 went down on the lower job to drawing wood Mike went to Lime Rock;  8/24/65 
drew wood Mike worked in the forenoon William Parsons came up here;  8/28/65 went down to Mike's with Truman;  
8/30/65 Frank Hale came over went down to Mike's with him;  8/31/65 went down to Mike's with F Hale;  9/5/65 went 
over to Chapinville & to Hammer town down to Mike's with Del over to the Liem's [?] place Sarah Hibberd came down;  
9/14/65 drew wood out of the brook M Ostrander John & Jack Soules M Hibbard;  9/17/65 went down to Mike's got the 
oxen Lant went with me;  9/24/65 went down to Mike's just at night;  
Hibbard, Mike [contd]  9/26/65 drew wood Mike took the stage to Lime Rock;  10/3/65 drew wood Mike came up in the 
afternoon;  10/4/65 drew wood Mike worked;  10/5/65 drew wood Mike worked;  10/7/65 drew wood Mike worked in the 
forenoon;  10/14/65 looked over with Mike ["finished the bush" yesterday];  10/18/65 went down to Mike's came to 
Housatonic rode up with Sage of Lakeville stayed to E S Pixley's;  10/20/65 came [from Pixley's] to Salisbury went 
down to Mike's got some money;  10/28/65 came [from Ed Harper's] down to Sam Loomis stayed all night went down 
to Mike's;  10/29/65 went down to Del's down to Mike's stayed to Ellen Brown's;  11/8/65 went down to Mike's down the 
brook a fishing went up to the store stayed to Sam's;  11/14/65 went up to Willis Bartholomew & up to Jackeets's bush 
went down to Mike's over to Chapinville;  11/20/65 went to Lime Rock & up to Mike's tried to get my pay;  11/22/65 went
to Chapinville husked corn went down to Mike's tried to get my pay;  11/25/65 went down to Mike's with McCarter;  
12/12/65 went down to Mike's;
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Hibbard, Mike [contd]  Memoranda [1865 Diary] M Hibbert Dr  March 25th By 2 days work  April 1st By 6 days work  April 

8th By 3 days work  April 15th By 6 days work  April 17th By 1 days work  Amount 18 days work $36.00  Received May 

21st  $15.00  Due  $21.00;  [Cont'd]  July 11th By 41/2 days work  July 22nd By 51/2 days work  July 29th by 43/4 days work 

Aug 5th By 6 days work  Aug 12th By 41/2 days work  Aug 19th By 4 days work  Aug 26th By 4 days work  Sept 16th By 6 

days work  23rd By 6 days work  Sept 30[th] By 4 days work  Oct 7th by 6 days work Oct 15th By 5 days work  Amount 60 
days work;  12/19/65 went down to Mike's up to Sam's [moved to Winsted];  12/30/65 went up to Sam's down to Del's 
up on the bush started to go to Mike's stayed to S Loomis;  12/31/65 went up to Sam's down to Del's up on the bush 
started to go to Mike's stayed to S Loomis;  1/1/66 went from Sam Loomis to Mike Hibbard's eat a New Years supper 
there;  1/24/66 went down to the office of F D Tyler got a writ for Mike Hibbard;  3/13/66 Mike Hibbard came up to settle 
[at Sam Loomis's?] wrote to Tyler;  
Hibbard, Stephen  Memoranda [1867 diary] Moore's Job A J [S?] Ives 1 pail & plates $0.65 Stephen Hibbard $3.50 T 
[?] G [?] Ives for Flour $0.50;  
Hibberd, Sarah  9/5/65 went over to Chapinville & to Hammer town down to Mike's with Del over to the Liem's [?] place 
Sarah Hibberd came down;  
Hibbert, Francis  3/27/65 drew wood with Fransis [sic] Hibbert;  Memoranda [1865 Diary]  May 8th By cash to F Hibbert 
$3.00;  
Higgins  3/23/67 went with Father up to the Higgin's farm down to Bronson's cut some sap quills;  
Higley, M  1/6/62 drawed M. Higley a load of wood;  
Higley, P  1/31/65 Uncle Abiram & Mr Higley stayed over night;  3/8/66 P Higley came here [Father's] stayed over night; 
3/20/67 went with Del to Riverton up to Higley's farm got some things;  
Higley, Warren  4/21/62 went to Canton broke L [M, or N?] Twining's Sulky axle got Uncle Silas's buggy stayed to 
Warren Higley's;  
Hilborn, E  10/20/68 wrote to E Hilborn;  
Hildreth, L  11/22/69 went down with the stage Dr Champlin & L Hildreth went down no passengers up;  2/18/70 
Hildreth & wife went B DeWolfe came up [on the stage];  2/19/70 Corin Smith went down Hildreth & wife Dr Champlin 
came up [on the stage];  
Hitchcock, S  1/27/65 went to Elan Maltby down to Winsted with H & S Maltby up to Colebrook Center to a spelling 
school up to M C [?] to J Ps hotel would not keep us over night stayed to S Hitchcock over night;  
Hodge, John A [or S, or C?]  1/21/62 went down J S Hodge;  6/30/62 went down to J S [or C?] Hodges;  8/23/62 went 
to J Hodges;  9/1/62 went down to Hodges to Colebrook River [&] New Boston;  9/17/62 went to Hodges;  11/17/62 
went down to Hodges in the evening;  3/27/63 went down to Hodges in evening;  6/13/63 went down to Hodges;  
6/24/63 went to F Moore went fishing went to J Hodges;  7/4/63 set a tire for J Hodges;  8/1/63 went over to J S [C?] 
Hodges got boots fixed;  8/26/63 went to Granville & to J C Hodges;  9/14/63 Father shod J Hodges horse;  10/5/63 
went over to Hodges down to H Parsons;  10/8/63 went over to J Hodges got pair boots fixed;  10/15/63 went over with 
John Hodges to Ace Cowles got some cattle;  10/16/63 went with John to Suffield with cattle;  10/17/63 came home got 
home 8 o'clock stayed to J Hodges all night;  10/27/63 went to the River carried potatoes to Parsons came back by 
Hodges;  11/8/63 went down to J Hodges in the evening;  11/10/63 went over to J Hodges got a pair of boots for father; 
11/20/63 went down to John Hodges got a pair of boots;
Hodge, John  [contd]  12/1/63 carried the girls to J Hodges; 12/14/63 went down to J Hodges stayed all day & all night 
muddy hard going;  12/15/63 came home from Hodges;  12/17/63 went to J Hodges & E Johnsons got a pair of boots;  

[Beef 1864? 4th page]  J C Hodges  167;  1/23/64 carried the wagon wheels down to Oatmans went up to Abirams over 
to J Hodges;  2/20/64 went down to J Hodges stayed all night;  2/21/64 came home from Hodges;  2/23/64 went to New 
Boston to Colebrook over to J Hodges stayed all night [warm & thawey];  2/24/64 stayed to Hodges done his chores he 
was gone to Agawam;  3/7/64 John Hodges came out looked at the steers;  3/21/64 went over to Hodges got a pair of 
boots;  7/11/64 went down to Hodges with cattle;  7/21/64 went over to Hodges & to D Slocums;  8/8/64 went down to 
Hodges got a heifer killed her;  8/15/64 Henry & I worked for Hodges got in 2 loads;  8/16/64 worked for Hodges;  
8/17/64 Rained stayed to Hodges till noon came home;  8/18/64 went down to Hodges worked till noon;  9/11/64 down 
to Hodges stayed all night;
Hodge, John [contd]  9/24/64 went down to New Boston Colebrook River over to Hodges & home;  10/6/64 went down 
to Hodges got a steer butchered him;  11/6/64 Thomson carried us [from Salisbury] to New Marlboro went to Hodges 
stayed to Sheff over night;  11/8/64 Town Meeting voted for McClellan...stayed to Hodges over night;  11/9/64 went 
over to the River with Hodges up to [New] Boston [&] home;  11/22/64 went down to Hodges down to New Boston to a 
Dedication Ball;  2/3/65 went down to Hodges in the evening, down to Sheffs stayed over night;  11/4/65 went over to 
Capt Miller's down to John Hodge's stayed all night;  3/23/66 went to New Boston the River up to Grandfathers over to 
Hodges & home;  4/9/66 went over to Hodge's down to Sheff's over to E Hale's up to Frank's got his wagon stayed with 
Erastus over night;  10/21/66 went down to O E Slocum's called to John Hodge's;  10/28/66 came [from Uncle Silas's?] 
around by John Hodge's home;  11/2/66 went down to D Slocum's & to John Hodge's;  11/3/66 went down to Hale's & 
down to John Hodge's got a pair of pants;  
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Hodge, John [contd]  3/13/67 went down to J Hodges;  5/18/67 carried some things up to the Job went down by 
Hodge's;  10/26/67 Joe Daniels came down went down to Hodge's got some boots repaired;  11/2/67 went down to 
Hodge's to the River New Boston shod a pair of oxen for W Church;  11/5/67 went to Town meeting down to Hodge's 
came over to True's;  11/10/67 went down to Hodge's;  1/8/68 came home [from Chapinville?] Rowley & Hodges was 
here;  2/4/68 D Smith B Downs & Del came up went to singing school down to J Hodge's;  7/1/68 went down to John 
Hodges;  7/24/68 Hodges & wife called shod his horse;  7/25/68 went a trouting went up to North quarter got some 
things around by Hodge's;  10/3/68 went down to Hodges fixed the road;  11/9/68 went down to Hodge's in evening 
stopped to a temperance lecture at the town house;  3/2/69 went down to John Hodge's got boots repaired stayed all 
night;  3/13/69 went to Hodges in afternoon;  11/12/69 Hodges came home from the west badly hurt;  11/13/69 went 
down to Shaw's over to Hodge's stayed all night;  
Hodge, John [contd]  11/17/69 went to Hodge's with two pigs;  4/1/70 went down to John Hodge's in the forenoon;  
7/10/70 went down to Hodge's in the morning;  9/10/70 cut logs John Cotton came over went home with him around by 
Hodge's got a pair of boots;  11/28/70 went [from L Smith's?] over to Hodge's;  12/4/70 went [from L Smith's?] down to 
Hodge's in the evening;  9/16/71 went over to Del's came back went down to Hodge's to J Johnson's down to R Smith's 
back to L Smith's stayed all night;  1/2/72 Shod a horse for Hodges in the evening;  1/15/72 went...over to Hodges [from 
L Smith's] took dinner came home;  3/16/72 started to carry Em back to Granville roads were not broke out Hodges 
rode out with us;  5/8/72 went down to Hodge's towards night & up to West Granville & to Lawrence's stayed there all 
night;  5/10/72 went up to E Slocum's to Bennett Moore's on the hill down to Hodge's Chase & G Atkins & back to Mrs 
Bentley stayed all night;  6/14/72 went down to Hodge's J Johnson's & to L Smith took dinner went over to V Barnes 
borrowed $200 of him came home;
Hodge, John [contd]  8/30/72 went down to the mill & sawed went down to G Atkins J Johnson's & to Hodge's stayed 
there all night;  11/24/72 went down to J Hodge's in the evening got a cheese, Albert went with me;  
Hodges, Mrs  7/25/62 Mrs Hodges come over here got some cherries;
Holcomb, C  11/9/72 C Holcomb & wife of Cornwall came over [to L Smith's] stayed all night;  
Holcomb, Dr  9/16/63 Dr Holcomb died;  
Holcomb, Edward R  1/18/62 came to West Granville with E R Holcomb came to Tolland;  2/10/62 on the gain E B 
Holcomb [sic] wife visited here in the afternoon;  2/15/62 settled with E R Holcomb, due me $1.00 Father came down 
[to CT] and I came home;  3/22/62 E R Holcomb & wife called here;  4/22/62 went to West Granby stayed to E R 
Holcomb's all night;  4/23/62 went back to Canton found some cattle to pasture came home hired out to E R Holcomb;  
4/27/62 went to West Granby met at Hartland by E R Holcomb;  4/28/62 commenced work for E Holcomb;  5/1/62 
sawed wood picked up stone weighed out some hay for E B [R?] Holcomb;  5/14/62 Ed & I went to Tolland;  6/26/62 
time out with E R Holcomb went down to the distillery;  10/20/62 Commenced work one year ago for E R Holcomb 
West Granby [CT];  3/24/63 received letter from Mr Holcomb;  5/4/63 started with sugar stayed with E R Holcomb;  
6/17/64 received a letter from E R Holcomb;  4/9/65 wrote to Ed Holcomb & to Henry Maltby;  6/3/65 received a letter 
from Ed Holcomb;  8/15/65 wrote to E R Holcomb;
Holcomb, Edward R  4/17/66 sold out the sugar [in Hartford?] went to Wethersfield came out to West Granby stayed to 
E R Holcomb''s over night;  10/19/66 Ed Holcomb & wife came & stayed all night [to J P Hall's?];  9/13/68 wrote to 
Holcomb;  2/12/69 E R Holcomb & wife called took dinner;  
Holcomb, M J [or just "J", Milo?]  1/11/62 played cards at M J Holcomb got home half-past 12;  1/15/62 evening played 
cards at J Holcombs;  1/16/62 drawed wood for J Holcomb;  1/22/62 came back to Granby & sold a whip to Milo for 
$1.17;  1/24/62 drawed wood for J Holcomb;  1/29/62 traded mittens with Milo;  2/12/62 went up to J Holcombs played 
cards with Joel Warner;  5/4/62 went up to Milo J Holcombs;  1/4/63 received a letter from M Holcomb answered it;  
3/1/63 wrote a letter...to M Holcomb;  4/18/63 received a letter from M Holcomb Granby;  3/13/64 received letter from 
Milo Holcomb;  3/26/64 received a letter from Milo;  4/10/64 wrote a letter to Milo Holcomb;  5/15/64 wrote a letter to 
Milo;  5/25/64 received a letter from Milo;  5/27/64 received a letter from Milo Holcomb;  6/5/64 wrote a letter to Milo;  
6/29/64 wrote a letter to Milo Holcomb;  9/11/64 wrote a letter to Milo;  10/30/64 wrote a letter to Milo;  5/14/68 went 
down & got Grandmother Milo & Helen;
Holcomb, Sylvester  5/11/62 went over to Sylvester Holcombs [in CT?];  
Holcomb, T F [?]  6/12/62 took a cow over to T F [?] Holcomb's [in CT?];  
Holcomb, W [M?] [later Wm]  2/2/62 very sick the sickest day I ever knew W [M?] Holcomb J Warner called in Dr 
Wilcox came in A M Holcomb watch;  6/1/62 went up to Wm [possibly "M"?] Holcombs [in CT?];  
Holibaird, Will  10/23/66 Will Holibaird accidentally shot himself;  
Holmes from Chester Conn  4/13/67 Del came home Holmes from Chester Conn stayed here;  4/15/67 Holmes stayed 
here;  
Holmes  2/10/66 left Holmes [?] came to Denison Hotel [?] & stayed went to Billings saloon in evening;  
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Holmes, Fred  6/13/67 Fred Holmes came to our house;  6/14/67 a party to our house Fred Holmes was there;  9/28/67 
Fred came out;  10/4/67 went & carried Fred to Westfield to take the train;  11/28/67 Fred & me went down to the 
village Thanksgiving day took supper with him;  11/30/67 expected to start for home but missed the boat went down 
town;  12/2/67 went to Westbrook took the [RR] cars to New Haven & then to Winsted up on the stage home;  6/16/68 
Fred Holmes came up;  6/23/68 Fred went home;  11/26/68 Fred came out about noon with a livery team;  2/18/69 Del 
drew a load of logs to Boston went down in eve to a show Fred came up;  2/20/69 went to New Boston in the evening 
with Del & Fred;  2/25/69 Fred was here;  6/28/69 went a trouting with Fred;  
Holnes, George B  [Cash Account 1870] May 14 Geo B Holnes $4.50 Received;  

Holsapple, A [Gus; Augustus?]  3/5/65 went to Hillsdale in the afternoon with C Thorpe Ellen & Mary Jane Brown & 
Saira [?] stayed all night to Agustus Holtsapple;  9/7/65 came down on the train to Sheffield came to Hillsdale with Ellen 
& Mary Jane Brown stayed to A Holshapple's;  9/8/65 David Winters & Fred Calender came to Holshapple's they went 
& got drunk;  11/21/71 split out some pin [?] timber [at S Loomis] went over to East Canaan stayed to Warner's Hotel 
called in the evening at A Holsapple Jennie was there;  11/22/71 went up to the steam shovel with Jennie Brown, took 
dinner with Gus up to the shovel in afternoon.  Attended the wedding of Wm Hayward & Anna Holsapple a very nice 
time;  1/4/72 stayed to Sam's...went to Chapinville to take train home but missed it went back & stayed all night A 
Holsaple [sic] & wife & [son?] Frankie came there stayed all night;  
Holsapple, Anna  11/22/71  Attended the wedding of Wm Hayward & Anna Holsapple a very nice time;  
Holsapple, Frankie  1/4/72 stayed to Sam's...went to Chapinville to take train home but missed it went back & stayed all 
night A Holsaple [sic] & wife & [son?] Frankie came there stayed all night;
Holshopps [?]  11/8/66 went up on the mountain [from Dels?] over to Copake [?] stayed to Holshopps [?];  
Holub  2/1/68 went to New Boston up to Hull's & to New Boston west Del & Holub [?] came up in evening a meeting 
here;  
Hop  8/28/65  went up to Hops store;  10/17/65 went up to Ellen's to Chapinville packed my trunk Andrew Winter was 
here went up to Hops in the evening;  
Horrigon,  9/12/62 went over to Horigons;  6/6/63 shod horse for Horigon;  6/28/63 went to Horrigons Sarah Horrigon 
died aged 12;  11/13/63 went down to Hotchkiss over to Horigons;  4/24/66 Erastus & I went down to Phelps down to 
Belden's up to Horrigon's over to Frank's & to Seymour in the evening;  9/23/66 went over to S [F, or G?] Hale's to 
Horrigon down to Belden's with E Hale;  12/27/69 called to Horrigon's & Humphrey;  4/2/70 went over on Horrigon's hill 
got some old sap pan iron;  
Horrigon, Ed  6/2/66 peeled bark came up to Father's Ed Horrigon stayed all night & Rat & Mozart;  9/7/67 Ed Horrigon 
stayed all night;  10/11/67 husked corn Ed Horrigon was here;  10/23/67 went a Chestnutting with Pat up on the Hill to 
Ed's court;  
Horrigon, Ellen  4/20/66 finished putting up tubs [with Erastus Hale, at Babbitt's] came home [to Father's] went a fishing 
Ellen & Julia Horigon came over in the evening;  
Horrigon, Julia  4/20/66 finished putting up tubs [with Erastus Hale, at Babbitt's] came home [to Father's] went a fishing 
Ellen & Julia Horigon came over in the evening;  
Horrigon, Sarah  7/30/70 went after Sarah Horrigon She sketched a picture of the Babe [Francis Hale's]; Attende[d] the 
funeral servises [sic] by Mr Smith, Suffer little children to come unto me JC;  
Hoskins,  5/26/62 ploughed over on the meadow with Hoskins turf plow [in CT, at Holcomb's];  
Hotchkiss,  9/14/62 went over to Hotchkiss;  11/10/62 Simons & Hotchkiss came down in the evening;  11/22/62 killed a 
cow sold one half to Hotchkiss;  12/24/62 killed the brindle cow weighed 500 sold it to Hotchkiss 6 per hundred carried 
it up to him;  2/8/63 went up to Hotchkiss went down to S Murphy;  2/28/63 sold some hay to Hotch[kiss?];  3/2/63 
traded pair of yearling bulls for 2 yearling heifers bought a calf of Hotchkiss;  3/22/63 went to meeting with Hotchkiss 
horse & my colt;  4/23/63 very sick did not get up any Hotchkiss came in & see me;  4/29/63 Hotchkiss & Father spliced 
a cart nip;  5/3/63 went down to Hotchkiss;  5/16/63 planted corn Hotchkiss helped;  6/12/63 went down to Hotchkiss;  
6/21/63 went down to Sheffs went down to Hotchkiss in evening;  6/27/63 went to Hotchkiss went to New Boston with 
Lucius;  6/28/63 went to meeting carried Georgie, Father & Mr Hotchkiss;  7/14/63 went down to Hotchkiss & down to 
Sheffs & to New Boston;  7/24/63 mowed for Hotchkiss;  7/25/63 went to New Boston in the eve with Hotchkiss;  8/9/63 
helped Hotchkiss get in 2 loads of hay;    
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Hotchkiss [contd]  9/8/63 weak with considerable pain in the chest went down to Hotchkiss a little while;  9/10/63 felt 
bad not gaining very much went down to Hotchkiss in afternoon lay abed;  9/20/63 went over to the sheep pasture 
down to Hotchkiss's;  10/29/63 went over to Hales went down to Hotchkiss in the evening;  11/13/63 went down to 
Hotchkiss over to Horigons;  11/25/63 went down to Hotchkiss in evening got some iron & hides;  [Memoranda  Iron H 
Hotchkiss  438 lbs];  12/2/63 went bait fishing to the River with Hotchkiss;  12/9/63 got some beef of Hotchkiss;  1/6/64 
went down to Hotchkiss in the evening;  1/7/64 went with Hotchkiss up to Otis to Auction in pursuit of cattle stayed at 
Sam Hamiltons hotel over night;  1/8/64 Hotch bought [a pair of steers?] of Phelps paid $130;  1/9/64 went down to 
Hotchkiss in the evening played cards with M Hawley visting there;  1/12/64 helped Hotchkiss turn some ox shoes;  
1/13/64 Hotchkiss & I shod our steers;  1/30/64 set a tire on Hotch wagon;  2/18/64 went down to Hotchkiss went down 
to singing school;  
Hotchkiss [contd]  3/1/64 went down on the Hill in the evening called at Hotchkiss;  3/3/64 Hotchkiss folks came up 
here in the evening;  3/4/64 Hotchkiss moved from the Wright farm to Sandisfield carried a load of goods for him Lu 
stayed here all night;  7/1/64 came home [from J P Hall] went to Montville up to Hotchkiss;  7/26/64 worked in the shop 
for Snow Hotchkiss Hall & Grandfather Lu was over;  9/4/64 Selenda & I went over to Montville to meeting stayed to Mr 
Hotchkiss all night went up to Mr Startton's in evening;  9/14/64 Hotchkiss came over;  2/1/65 went over to Hotchkiss in 
the evening stopped to the dance;  7/3/65 went...over to Hotchkiss with Len in the afternoon;  10/26/65 bought a tub of 
butter of Hotchkiss came to Housatonic stayed to Pixley's;  10/31/65 came from Housatonic to Hotchkiss stayed all 
night;  11/1/65 stayed to Hotchkiss went with Lu to a concert to Monterey;  11/2/65 stayed to Mr Hotchkiss played 
cards;  1/5/67 got Uncle's team went [from Abiram's] to Winsted called to Hotchkiss Georgie went down town with me 
came back & stayed all night;
Hotchkiss [contd]  1/7/67 stayed to Hotchkiss went into Northrop's parts played cards in the evening;
Hotchkiss & Gladding  11/13/68 drew a load of hard wood boards to Hotchkiss & Gladding went over to Fargo's to a 
party in evening;  1/30/69 got floor boards from H G;  3/6/69 went down to Hotchkiss & Gladding's shop got some 
boards planed for sugar molds;  3/15/69 went down to H & G's shop in forenoon up to J Daniels and home;  3/20/69 
down to Gladdings shop;  3/24/69 down to Gladdings shop bored sugar molds;
Hotchkiss, Clark  12/28/63 shod a pair of cattle for Clark Hotchkiss;  9/9/64 went up to Otis with S Brown saw Mozart 

Perry stayed to Clark Hotchkiss over night;  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  Clark Hotchkiss  327;  
Hotchkiss, Georgia [Georgia]  12/18/62 R Smith Georgie & Lucius called here [12/17 cut foot badly];  2/13/63  went to G
E Moore's to a Cotillion party carried Georgie Hotchkiss;  6/3/63 went down to J P Hall's in Company with Georgie 
Hotchkiss;  6/7/63 went to Montville & to Sandisfield to meeting carried Lucius & Georgie Hotchkiss;  6/10/63 Georgie & 
Lu spent the evening here Miranda Jones stayed here all night;  6/14/63 went to Sandisfield to meeting funeral Sermon 
of F Seymour & J J [?] Smith soldiers carried over Georgie & Lu & Selenda;  6/23/63 went strawberrying with Lu & 
Georgie;  6/28/63 went to meeting carried Georgie, Father & Mr Hotchkiss;  7/8/63 went to Montville with Lu, Georgie & 
her Mother & Mrs Wright;  9/1/63 Lu & Georgie & Miranda Jones came up here evening;  1/21/64 went over to L 
Twining's to a meeting went home with Georgie;  2/27/64 Lu & Georgie came up in the evening;  2/19/65 wrote a letter 
to Georgia;  6/4/65 wrote a letter to Georgia;  7/9/65 wrote a letter to Georgia;  7/28/65 letter from Georgia;  8/6/65 
wrote to Georgia;  9/10/65 letter from Georgia;  9/17/65 wrote to Georgie;  

Hotchkiss, Georgia [contd]  11/26/65 wrote to Georgia;  12/9/65 received letters from Georgie & Truman;  7/15/66 wrote 
to Mary Jane Georgia Cauldwell & Whitney;  7/25/66 received a letter from Georgia;  8/6/66 went to Winsted Georgia 
came up with me;  8/10/66 went over to Hale's & to Miller with Georgia Lu came up stayed all night;  8/12/66 Lu & 
Georgia went to Town Hill;  8/19/66 wrote to Del Joe Georgia & Mary Jane;  1/5/67 got Uncle's team went to Winsted 
[from Abiram's] called to Hotchkiss Georgie went down town with me came back & stayed all night;  1/7/67 stayed to 
Hotchkiss [yesterday too?];  1/8/67 came home to Abiram's Georgie came up with me to Corrals Deming's;  1/10/67 
went to Hunt's to a ball carried Georgie Hotchkiss;  1/14/67 went down to C Deming's got Georgia carried her to Dea 
Baggs;  1/24/67 saw Georgia [at Abiram's?] as she came from Town Hill;  1/25/67 carried Georgia down to Miles 
Hawley's spent the evening;  3/5/67 wrote to Georgia;  5/17/68 wrote to Georgia;  5/24/68 wrote to Georgia;
Hotchkiss, Georgia [contd]  6/14/68 went down to Joe's went over West Street with him & Lu to Church in afternoon 
Georgia came home with me called to Uncles;  6/15/68 went down to O E Slocum's with Len & Georgia in eve;  6/16/68 
Georgia & I wrote to Miranda;  6/19/68 went down on the hill with Len & Georgia called to Miller's;  6/20/68 carried 
Georgia over to Tow[n?] Hill stayed all night to J Huntly's;  6/21/68 carried Georgia home early in the morning spent the 
day there & to Joe's stayed all night;  7/4/68 went up to Churchill's for ice cream with Georgia & Lu;  7/12/68 wrote to 
Georgia;  11/15/68 went over from Riverton to Winsted stopped to Hotchkiss went over to Robertsville with Georgia 
called on P Osborn in evening;  12/26/68 received a letter from Georgia stating that they had sold their farm;  4/30/69 
started for home about noon Georgia came up to New Boston with me [from Winsted];  12/12/69 wrote to Georgia 
[from Landon's?];  12/31/69 Georgia came up in the stage to Boston.  A Bazney [?] girl two passengers to Otis Dowd 
went up.  I stopped at Cold Spring to a dance at J Hall's;
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Hotchkiss, Georgia [contd]  8/27/70 received a letter from Georgia;  8/28/70 wrote a letter to Georgia;  10/27/70 Lib & 
Georgia came over & stayed all night;  2/19/71 finished a letter to Miranda wrote to Georgie;  7/30/71 wrote to Georgie;  
11/26/71 wrote to Georgie, Jennie & Emma;  

Hotchkiss, Henry  3/11/62  went up to H Hotchkiss played cards;  3/16/62 L Twining, A Cowles, H Hotchkiss called in 
Father very sick;  11/26/62 went up to H Hotchkiss played cards;  1/14/63 went up to H Hotchkiss played cards;  
1/18/63 went up to H Hotchkiss went down to the school house to meeting;  1/29/63 went to H Hotchkiss evening;  
2/6/63 went over to H Hotchkiss made some molasses candy;  2/22/63 went up to H Hotchkiss carried up his paper;  
3/3/63 spent the evening at H Hotchkiss went back to S Murphy got there about 2 o'clock [moon nearly full];  6/4/64 
went over to Henry Hotchkiss stayed all night;  3/18/65 went up to H Hotchkiss [from Wrights, New Marlboro?] spent 
the day & stayed over night;  10/25/65 came home [from Sheff's] went to New Boston over to H Hotchkiss stayed all 
night;  10/26/65 bought a tub of butter of Hotchkiss came to Housatonic stayed to Pixley's;  11/6/65 came from Father's 
to H Hotchkiss stayed all night;  11/7/65 came [from H Hotchkiss] over to Salisbury stayed to S Loomis;

Hotchkiss, Henry [contd]  4/7/66 came [from Knapp's, North Norfolk] to Lower South Mnt over to Sandisfield to Henry 
Hotchkiss, stayed over night;  2/15/68 went to New Hartford with Hotchkiss he bought a cow;  6/13/68 went to Winsted 
in afternoon stayed to H Hotchkiss over night;  7/3/68 went to Winsted stayed to H Hotchkiss;  7/4/68 went up to 
Churchill's got some ice cream with Georgia & Lu went up to Dea Hurlburt spent the rest of the day & evening to 
Hotchkiss started for home at 10 o'clock [full moon];  8/4/68  went to Winsted with Lib got a tooth pulled stayed to 
Hotchkiss;  9/11/68 stayed to Hotchkiss all night;  11/15/68 from Riverton to Winsted stopped to Hotchkiss;  11/28/68 
butchered a 2 yr old heifer carried her to Winsted Hotchkiss bought 3 quarters of her weight 280;  3/11/69 went to 

Winsted called on Fannie P stayed to H Hotchkiss all night Lucian Hotchkiss died at two o'clock AM the 12th of heart 
disease, a respected man beloved of all who knew him and kind to poor;
Hotchkiss, Henry [contd]  4/29/69 started [with sugar to sell] from Ansonia [Joe Hakes] through Seymour Beacon Falls 
Naugatuck Union City Waterbury took dinner in Plymouth hollow stayed in Winsted to Hotchkiss;  5/23/69 went over to 
H Hotchkiss with Dimock came back to Tiffany;  6/20/69 a hard shower in the evening started to go to Hotchkiss came 
back read;  6/22/69 went over to Hotchkiss helped him on the barn, settled with him went over to Winsted with Luc 

stayed with him over night;  [Cash Account 1869] June 23rd H Hotchkiss $0.75 Received;  9/9/69 finished piling bark 
went over to Hotchkiss stayed all night;  11/6/69 went to Winsted with Lib carried Hotchkiss two pigs;  3/17/70 came 
from Ansonia [Joe's?] on the 11 o'clock train to Winsted went up to Hotchkiss stayed all night;  9/30/70 went down to 

the River to Riverton took dinner with Erastus went to H Hotchkiss stayed all night;  [Cash Account 1870 October 1st H 
Hotchkiss on note $40.00 Received;  9/15/71 came [from A Rood's, Bakerville] to Hotchkiss stayed until 10 oclock 
came up to C Dewey's took dinner came home;
Hotchkiss, Henry [contd]  3/24/72 went to Winsted in the evening stayed all night to H Hotchkiss;  

Hotchkiss, Lucian  3/11/69 went to Winsted called on Fannie P stayed to H Hotchkiss all night Lucian Hotchkiss died 2 

AM on 12th of heart disease a respected man beloved of all who knew him and kind to the poor;  3/14/69 attended the 
funeral of Lucian Hotchkiss at Northways hall; services by Maine of Montville from Psalms, 17 X 15 ["As for me, I will 
behold thy face in righteousness:  I shall be satisfied, when I awake, with thy likeness."], a very large attendance;  

Hotchkiss, Lucius  7/6/62 went in swiming with L Hotchkiss;  9/14/62 went over to Hotchkiss went down to the pond;  
12/2/62 L Hotchkiss down here in the eve;  12/4/62 went a bait fishing with L Hotchkiss;  12/18/62 R Smith & Georgie & 
Lucius called here [cut foot badly 12/17];  1/16/63 went to New Boston with L Hotchkiss;  1/30/63 went over to New 
Boston West came back & stopped to the Cotton [?] party in Company with L Hotchkiss;  2/3/63 L Hotchkiss came 
down here in the evening;  2/5/63 L Hotchkiss came down in the evening;  3/15/63 went over to David Hargers in the 
evening with L Hotchkiss;  4/16/63 went to New Boston with L Hotchkiss;  5/27/63 went to New Boston in the day time 
& to a ball at night & to West Granville with L Hotchkiss;  5/28/63 went over to Richards's Beach plain with L Hotchkiss;  
6/7/63 went to Montville & to Sandisfield to meeting carried over Lucius & Georgie Hotchkiss;  6/10/63 Georgie & Lu 
spent the evening here Miranda Jones stayed here all night;  
Hotchkiss, Lucius  6/14/63 went to Sandisfield to meeting funeral Sermon of F Seymour & J J [?] Smith soldiers carried 
over Georgie & Lu & Selenda;  6/15/63 finished peeling bark for Sam Beach Lucius helped me stack;  6/22/63 went 
fishing on the pond with Lucius;  6/23/63 went strawberrying with Lu & Georgie;  6/27/63 went to Hotchkiss went to New 
Boston with Lucius;  6/29/63 went to Winsted with Lucius drove both horses;  7/8/63 went to Montville with Lu, Georgie 
& her Mother & Mrs Wright;  8/24/63 commenced mowing on the Carlos lot...Lucius helped us;  8/25/63 went to New 
Boston went over to Hales stayed all night;  8/27/63 mowed on the Carlos lot...Lucius worked for us;  8/31/63 1 load 
from the Carlos lot 2 by the old house Lu worked here;  9/1/63 Lu & Georgie & Miranda Jones came up here evening;  
9/16/63 Hotchkiss & I went down to Colebrook River;  9/24/63 Lu & I went to cattle show at Hitchcocksville;  9/26/63 Lu 
up here in afternoon;  12/18/63 Harlo & Lu Hotchkiss spent evening here;  2/1/64 Lu came up played cards;  2/3/64 
shod a pair of stags for L Hotchkiss;
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Hotchkiss, Lucius  2/27/64 Lu & Georgie came up in the evening;  3/4/64 Hotchkiss moved from the Wright farm to 
Sandisfield carried a load of goods for him Lu stayed here all night;  4/16/65 wrote to Lu Hotchkiss;  5/10/65 received a 
letter from Lucius Hotchkiss;  11/1/65 stayed to Hotchkiss went with Lu to a concert to Monterey;  11/3/65 went up to N 
Fuller's with Lu came to New Boston with him went down to Sheff's & home;  2/2/66 Lu Hotchkiss & N Fallon [?] called 
at the shop;  8/10/66 went over to Hale's & to Miller with Georgia Lu came up stayed all night;  8/12/66 went up to the 
pond with Lu to meeting Lu & Georgia went to Town Hill;  12/22/66 went [from Abiram's?] to Montville & New Boston Lu 
Hotchkiss went & staid all night;  12/23/66 went over to Father's with Lu;  6/14/68 went down to Joe's went over West 
Street with him & Lu to Church in afternoon Georgia came home with me called to Uncle's;  7/4/68 warmest day for 10 
years went up to Churchill's got some ice cream with Georgia & Lu;  

Hotchkiss, Lucius  9/11/68 went up west [from Joe Hake's] with Del in morning went up with L A H [Lu Hotchkiss?] to 

the reunion of the old 19th C P A in afternoon stayed to Hotchkiss all night;  1/2/69 went to New Boston in afternoon 
Saw Lucius Hotchkiss;  1/4/69 went down to the River with hides Lucius came home with me;  1/7/69 A big sleigh ride 
from New Boston to Winsted Del & Miss Booth Lucius & the girls went Lu & I went to New Boston in the evening to a 
dance;  1/10/69 went over to A Downs with Lu Del & the girls made some molasses candy;  1/12/69 Del went to New 

Boston Lu went with him;  [Cash Account 1869 February] 8th L Hotchkiss lunb [?] $0.50 Received;  2/25/69 received a 
letter from Lu;  3/7/69 wrote to Luc;  3/12/69 went to the Tyler place with Luc Mrs H rode down town & back with me; 
came home by the old place;  3/20/69 wrote to Luc;  6/22/69 went over to Hotchkiss helped him on the barn, settled 
with him went over to Winsted with Luc stayed with him over night;
Hotchkiss, Lucius  3/18/70 Very blustering roads drifted very badly came up to Winsted with Lu rode to the River with 
Glading stayed to Dowd's;  
Hotchkiss, Mrs  7/8/63 went to Montville with Lu, Georgie & her Mother & Mrs Wright;  3/12/69 went to the Tyler place 
with Luc Mrs H rode down town & back with me; came home by the old place;  
Howd [?] Alvira  8/19/68 Curt & Alvira went to Winsted to Circus;  9/1/68 Curt & Alvira went to New Boston;
Howd [?] Curt  8/19/68 Curt & Alvira went to Winsted to Circus;  9/1/68 Curt & Alvira went to New Boston;
Howd, Joel  12/13/72 David Harger fell dead in the road by Joel Howd's Aged 75 yrs;  
Howd, Sally  8/18/68 Sally Howd's birthday 66 years;  
Howd, Si  12/16/72 drew five loads of wood for Aunt Eliza Smith from Chestnut Hill lot Nelson Harger & Si Howd 
chopped it;  
Howd, William  5/14/67 went up to Wm Howd's up to A Snow's;  5/21/67 came up to our job, got organized in Howd's 
old house;  6/13/67 stopped peeling for Moore...went up to Howd's;  5/23/68 took some things up to Howd's old house 
went up to Wm Howd's;  6/2/68 came over to the job peeled bark Charles worked;  6/7/68 went up to Howd's called to L 
[S?] Frost's got some honey;  8/8/68 went up to Wm Howd's in evening;  8/12/68 came over to Wm Howd's;  8/13/68 
worked for Howd got in 3 load;  8/14/68 mowed got in 4 load for Howd;  8/15/68 mowed on east hill for Howd got in 2 
big loads came home;  8/16/68 went over to Harger's came over to Howd's;  8/17/68 a good hay day finished east hill 
got in 3 load F[?]arnham worked;  8/19/68 went down to the old house got in 2 loads of hay;  8/23/68 went to Winsted 
got Len came up to Howd's;  8/26/68 went to Harger's came to Howd's;  8/23/68 to Winsted got Len came up to 
Howd's;  8/30/68 came over to Howd's;  9/3/68 went over to the pond with Howd & Curt a fishing;  9/4/68 Rained quite 
hard all day rode down to the corner with Howd came home;
Howd, William [contd] 9/6/68 went to Church came up to Wm Howd's;  9/7/68 went a cooning with Let [?] & Howd;  

9/9/68 came home from Howd's quit haying;  [1868 Memoranda] Wm Howd Dr Aug 15th by 3 days work 22nd 3 days 

work 24th 1 day 25th 1 day 26th 1/4 day 27th 3/4 day 28th 1 day 29th 3/4 day 31st 1 day Sept 1st 1 day 2nd 1 day 8th 1 day;  

[1868 Cash Account] September 9th Howd for haying $29.50;  10/28/68 to Case's over to Wm Howd's to a party;  
3/16/69 up to David Farnham with Del to a dance stayed to Howd's over night;  3/18/69 Wm Howd & girl called took 
tea;  3/19/69 Del & the girls went to Wm Howd's a visiting;  5/1/69 went to New Boston in the morning Wm Howd came 
down;  8/8/69 went to Wm Howd to work at haying;  8/16/69 went up to East Otis over to the Grant with Howd see the 
steers pitched quoits;  8/17/69 went over to David Farnham's took dinner came over to Howd played euchre;  8/18/69 
went over to Lester Lloyd's with Howd went to mowing in the afternoon on the west lot;  8/22/69 went down to Howd's 
lower lot with him, went over to D Farnhams stayed all night;
Howd, William [contd]  [Cash Account 1869] August 25th  Wm Howd work at haying $22.50 Received;  8/26/69 came 
home from Howd's went up to J Cotton's worked at haying;  10/14/69 went with Cotton & wife to Wm Howd's to a 
dance;  8/1/70 came over to Smith's went up to Wm Howd's peeled bark in the afternoon;  8/7/70 went [from peeling 
bark for L Smith] down to Bentley's pond went in swimming went up to Howd's just at night;  1/6/71 went down to 
Harger's to L Tiffany's in the forenoon went up to Wm Howd's & to A Cowles's played Euchre;  4/23/71 went to Wm 
Howd's picked some greens;  3/31/72 Wm Howd's wife died aged 69 yrs;  12/11/72 went over to Father's took the 
horse carried Lib down to Scra[e?]nton's went up to Del's got the oxen came back to Father's stayed all night went over 
to Wm Howd's in the evening; 
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Hoyle [or Hagler?], Mrs S  9/25/62 went to Winsted carried down Rosa & Mrs S Hoyle [or Hagler?];

Hubbard [the Sheriff]  3/12/66 went to Lakeville saw Hubbard the Sheriff went up to Sam Loomis's stayed over night;  
Hubbard, Fannie  7/25/69 Fannie Hubbard & Ruf & Alvira called in eve;  8/1/69 Fannie Hubbard came over in the 
evening;  
Huggins  3/5/66 sit in the house [Winsted, Joe Hake's?] went down to the PO down to Huggin's;  
Hull  12/15/62 went to [New] Boston up to Hulls down to A Cowles;  2/22/66 went down to New Boston up to Hull's 
down to Miles Hawley's horse slipped down going down the mount lamed her;  

Hull, A  Memoranda Bennet Moore job for peeling bark Received order on A Hull for balance $55.00;  1/10/68 drew 2 
loads of wood up to A Hull;  1/13/68 drew 2 loads of wood to Hull's good sledding;  2/1/68 went to New Boston up to 
Hull's & to New Boston west Del & Holub [?] came up in evening a meeting here;  4/22/68 went to New Boston up to 
Down & to Hull's in evening;  6/22/68 came home [from Winsted] went up to Hull's;  [Memoranda 1868] Bought of C S 

Foster & left for security an order on A Hull of $55.00 Apr 29th A Ives coat & vest $15.50 Apr 29th C Ives coat $17.50 

$55.00 [minus sum of] $33.00 [=] $22.00;  [1868 Cash Account] June 27th Check on A Hull $35.50;  9/11/69 went up to 
Marshall's to A Hull's;  12/4/69 an Irish girl [on the stage] up to Hull's;  6/2/70 peeled bark for A Hull on the bank of the 

river up on the side hill;  6/3/70 peeled bark for Hull next to Johnson's;  [Cash Account 1870] August 30th A Hull peeling 
bark $5.00 Received;  12/24/70 helped Johnson cut a road west of the north road to go to A Hull's;  

Hull, A [contd]  2/28/71 went up to O Harding's & to Boardman's looking for a pair of oxen went down across from H 
Soule's, to New Boston bought a pair of oxen of A Hull, 5 yrs old weight 2800 paid $200;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] 

Amount of bark sold to A Hull  55 - 434 tons  $662.60 [plus?] Present .50 Cts per ton $27.60 = $690.20 Cr Feb 10th by 

cash $20 & Feb 28th 1 Pr oxen $200;  4/8/71 went to New Boston in the afternoon settled with Hull for bark took bank 
note;  5/12/71 went to New Boston up to A Hull's;  12/26/71 A Hull's tannery above Montville was burned;  [Memoranda 

1871 diary] A Hull Bark  Dec 21st 2520 Cotton 2464 22nd 2400 Cotton 2700 23rd 2350 Cotton 2634 [sum=] 15068 

McDonald bark 7 tons 1068 Cotton 3 ton 1798;  1/9/72 went down to Hull's with bark;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] Jan 9th 

[18]72...$246.43 Due from Hull;  1/10/72 took what bark Father & L Twining had to Hull;  [Cash Account 1872] Feb 23rd 

A Hull $10.00 Received;  3/29/72 went down and looked over the mill went up to A Hull;  

Hull, A [contd]  [Cash Account 1872] March 29th Received check of A Hull for $110  $110.00 Received  Note to Lewis 

Twining  $109.50;  [Cash Account 1872] April 15th A Hull Check $250.00 Received;  5/15/72 went down to J Johnson G 

Atkins traded the Hull oxen with George for a pair of steers $50 to boot;  [Cash Account 1872] May 15th A Hull $71.96;  
Hull, C  2/29/64 shod a pair of cattle for C Hull;
Hull, Governor  1/10/71 went over to L Twining in evening saw a fire in the west [to gray ink] House + barn known as 
the Governor Hull property burned Sandisfield;  
Humphrey  12/27/69 called to Horrigon's & Humphrey;  
Humphrey, J [?] [Winsted?]  2/11/66 stayed to Denisons moved our trunks to Humphrey went down East street to Joes; 
2/12/66 commenced boarding to Humphrey's;  2/28/66 settled my board settled with Clarke looked for a job came down 

to Joe's stayed all night;  [Feb cash Acct] 28th  Board to Humphrey's $4.00;  12/27/69 called to Horrigons & Humphrey;  

[Memoranda 1866 diary] Board to J Humphrey's  Commenced boarding Feb 12th went away 15th after breakfast came 

back 25th after supper went away 28th settled & paid in full;  

Humphrey, Charles  [Beef 1864?] XC Humphrey  X60;  8/15/65 went up to [Candecs?] store saw Charles Humphrey;  
Humphrey, Loyal  1/5/63 Loyal Humphrey died over 70 years old;  

Humphrey, Mrs  5/12/69 got out manure [for Northway?] on Mrs Humphrey corn ground planted in the afternoon;  
Hunt  8/15/64 went up to Granville in evening with Hunt;  
Hunt  [Memoranda 1866 diary] Sept 22nd Paid Hunt $3.00 [just home to Tolland from working on the road in 
Stockbridge];  
Hunt  1/10/67 went [from Abiram's] to Hunt's to a ball carried Georgie Hotchkiss;  7/22/67 [Memoranda] Dinner to 
Hunt's $0.50 Beer & nuts $0.50;  2/14/70 a ball to Hunt's;  
Hunt, Andrew  6/12/68 went and fixed a sluice towards A Hunt's;  6/27/68 worked on the road down by Hunt's;  9/12/68 
called to Levi's & to Hunt's Andrew went on the Hill in eve got Fred very dark;  9/2/69 worked on the road by A Hunt's;  
12/25/72 went down to Aunt Eliza in the evening Andrew Hunt was drawing wood for her;  
Hunt, James  9/16/69 went up to James Hunt's with Del & John Cotton;  
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Hunt, William  1/1/70 Jane Deming was here at Dowd's made some candy she went in the stage & Bronson & 
Hunt..Wm;  2/5/70 Will Hunt & Mrs Bruce came up, Dr Champlin came up [on the stage];  2/7/70 Will Hunt came down 
[on the stage];  2/28/70 Will Hunt came down [on the stage];  
Hunter  11/1/68 wrote to Hunter & Co;  
Huntly, Grove  went on Belden hill making fence [for Northway?] Grove Huntly helped;  
Huntly, J  6/20/68 carried Georgia over to Tow Hill stayed all night to J [G?] Huntly's;  
Hurlburt (Wethersfield) 5/6/63 in Hartford sold my sugar stayed at M Hurlburt;  5/7/63 Wet cold & rainy stayed with M 
Hurlburt Wethersfield;  5/8/63 started from Wethersfield with fish stayed with E Smith;  5/12/63 went to Wethersfield 
stayed with Hurlburt;  
Hurlburt, Dea  7/4/68 went up to Churchill's got some ice cream with Georgia & Lu went up to Dea Hurlburt spent the 
rest of the day & evening to Hotchkiss started for home [from Winsted] at 10 oclock;  
Hyde  7/19/66 went a fishing with Hyde [?];  

Irvin  5/22/68 Osborn & Irvin came down;  
Ives, Abiram A [Uncle]  2/26/62 Father & I went down to H C Browns A Osborn & traded the stags for a cow traded cow 
& steers with Abiram for a pair of steers;  2/27/62 went down to Grandfather took his old mare down Uncle Ram 
[Abiram] used steers stayed to Grandfathers all night;  2/28/62 stayed to Grandfathers all day went up to uncle Abirams 
in the evening stayed here all night.  Introduced to Miss Bidwell [Possibly later entry; sharper pencil];  3/1/62 helped 
break roads done chores went up to uncles stayed there all night;  3/2/62 went to uncle Abiram spent the evening there 
stayed to Grandfathers night;  3/3/62 went to Collinsville with uncle Sheffield got an axe spent the evening at uncle 
Abiram;  3/12/62 Uncle Abiram came up cut some dish blocks sit up with Father all night;  3/17/62 Uncle Abiram came 
up;  4/5/62 Uncle Abiram & wife, True & Misses Case & Root came up to Dels we danced in the evening;  4/6/62 went 
down to Uncle Abiram in the evening got my hair cut got 2 hens for Del;  9/19/62 laid wall uncle Abiram helped;  10/1/62
Rained stayed to Colebrook at uncle Abiram;
Ives, Abiram A [Uncle]  10/5/62 went down to Colebrook to Abiram's;  10/29/62 went to Winsted went up to Uncle 
Abiram's played dominoes;  10/30/62 went to a dance at Abiram's;  11/24/62 went down to uncle Abiram's;  1/3/63 shod 
a pair of oxen for...Abiram Ives;  2/11/63 went up to Abiram [from S Murphy's?] found a barrel of flour in the road;  
2/25/63 went up to Abirams in the evening [from S Murphy's?];  5/3/63 Abiram & True came up here;  9/17/63 uncle 
Abiram came up cut up a little corn shod his horse;  9/26/63 Abiram & True came & got the heifers;  10/4/63 went down 
to Abirams carried a sheep down;  10/15/63 went & traded cows with Abiram;  12/6/63 went up to E Griffin up to bys 
[sic] come home in the evening;  12/21/63 shod...a horse...for Abiram;  12/24/63 shod a pair of cattle for 

Abiram...Abiram butchered the cow;  Memoranda  Sept 26th  Abiram Ives, Dr by two 2 year old heifers  $48.00  

Received Oct 23rd  $25.00  Received Nov 7th in full $23.00  Fixing bon[n]et [?]  $1.82  Specs  $0.62;  1/13/64 went down

to Bys to a dance;  [Beef 1864?] A Ives  X172;  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  X A Ives  X67X;
Ives, Abiram A [Uncle] contd [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XA Ives  X45;  1/17/64 went down to Bys in the evening rode out 
with Fanny Bidwell good sleighing;  1/22/64 went down to Bys to a dance saw John Brown & Jerry Manchester Cavalry 
boys;  1/23/64 carried the wagon wheels down to Oatmans went up to Abirams over to J Hodges;  1/25/64 uncle 
Abiram came up fixed his stag;  2/6/64 went down to G W Grangers down to Abirams stayed all night;  2/7/64 went 
down to Grandfather's up to Abiram's in the evening & to Griffin's stayed all night to Sheff's;  2/8/64 came home with By 
& True;  2/22/64 By came up;  3/6/64 muddy stayed to Shefs went up to Bys in the evening;  3/24/64 uncle Abiram here 
in the evening;  8/22/64 went down to Grangers & Osborns stayed to Abirams over night Fanny Bidwell was there;  
8/28/64 went down to Uncle Abirams in the evening;  9/1/64 went down to Abiram's in the evening with Selenda;  
10/10/64 Uncle Thaddeus & his wife & Uncle Abiram & his wife here a visiting;  1/31/65 Uncle Abiram & Mr Higley 
stayed over night;  2/10/65 went down to Sheff to a dance stayed to By's;  
Ives, Abiram A [Uncle] contd  1/20/66 came in the stage to New Boston came up to Uncle Abiram's stayed all night;  
2/18/66 Thorit & Osborne went up to Uncle Abiram;  3/9/66 went over to Uncle Abiram's in the eve with True & the girls 
Fannie & Maggie Bidwell were there;  12/1/66 went to New Boston up to Uncle Abiram's stayed all night;  12/2/66 went 
out in the woods with By came home;  12/3/66 went over to Uncle Abiram's stayed all night;  12/4/66 commenced work 
for Abiram sawed logs went over to True's in the afternoon;  12/8/66 drew out bark came home in the afternoon;  
12/9/66 came over to Abiram's with [cousin] True;  12/13/66 cut logs in the forenoon Abiram went over to Viet's to 
Thanksgiving Uncle Silas, Julia & Grandmother came up [to Abiram's] stayed all night;  12/14/66 cut sap wood [for 
Abiram?] True & his wife came over Silas went back;  12/15/66 cut sap wood Abiram killed a cow for C Deming;  
12/19/66 Abiram & Lucy went to meeting in the evening;  12/24/66 came over to By's stopped to Clark's got two guns;  
12/26/66 cut logs & drafted wood to the house By & Lucy went to Hartford to Donation; 
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Ives, Abiram A [Uncle] contd  Memoranda [1866 diary] Abiram Ives Dr  Dec 8th  By 9 days work  Dec 15th By 6 days 

work  Dec 22nd By 51/2 days work  Dec 22nd Cr By Cash $3.00  Dec 29th By 2 days work $3.00;  Dec 22nd  A Ives for 
work $3.00 Received;  1/1/67 In the employment of A Ives went to New Boston over to True's up to Chiron Smith's with 
Uncle got a yoke;  1/5/67 got Uncle's team went to Winsted called to Hotchkiss Georgie went down town with me came 
back & stayed all night;  1/8/67 went up west street came home to Abiram's Georgie came up with me to Corral 
Deming's;  1/12/67 came to New Boston with By up to Father's with True & Rat;  1/13/67 came back to Abiram's called 
to Coral Deming;  1/27/67 True came over trade a buggy for a cow with By;  2/2/67 Abiram & Lucy went to the River;  
2/7/67 drew sap wood By went to New Boston in the morning;  2/11/67 went over with By to North Norfolk to hire a 
Wilcox girl took supper to Viet's;  2/12/67 drew sap wood By went to Montville;  2/14/67 drew sap wood By went to New 
Boston just at night; 
Ives, Abiram A [Uncle] contd  2/17/67 came [from Father's] back to Abiram's called to Doan's played cards;  2/25/67 cut 
sap wood Abiram went to auction;  3/1/67 By moved hay Rufus came up;  3/2/67 By went to New Boston;  3/6/67 By 
went to New Boston G Stratton here;  3/7/67 Abiram & Lucy went over to True's;  3/12/67 went to New Boston up to 
By's;  3/21/67 carried Del over to Abiram's cut wood in the afternoon;  3/30/67 went over to Abiram in the afternoon;  
4/9/67 went over to By's stayed all night;  4/20/67 Father Del & I went over to Abiram's, up to Curtis Deming's to an 
Auction;  4/24/67 carried 2 pigs to C Denslow went over to By's;  4/29/67 Del got By's oxen;  5/3/67 went to Hall's to a 
raising took Abiram's oxen home;  5/9/67 went up to Del's [?] to Abiram's up across beech plain to Cold Spring around 
home;  5/19/67 went over to Fargo's up to By's in the evening;  6/23/67 went over to By's in the evening;  7/19/67 went 
up to By's came back to Clark's O Phelps wife buried;  7/27/67 went to New Boston up to By's in the afternoon;  8/9/67 
carried Del over to Foxes stayed to Abiram's; 
Ives, Abiram A [Uncle] contd  8/17/67 came over to Abiram's went to New Boston came up to Fargo's stayed all night;  
8/18/67 went up to Abiram's helped get in some hay [on the Sabbath!?];  8/23/67 went [from Fargo's] up to Abiram's he 
& Lib come & brought us home Fargo & Rufus came up;  8/29/67 went down to R Parson's over to By's up to Montville 
with Fox;  9/7/67 went to New Boston up to Crane's & to By's traded cows with him;  9/23/67 went over to Abiram went 
down on the hill a cattle show meeting;  9/25/67 went over to Cranes mill helped By get in some logs;  10/6/67 went 
down to S Clark's over to Abiram's;  10/16/67 went over to Abiram's picked up apples Harvey Parsons & Fannie Bidwell 
were married;  11/7/67 went over to Abiram's in the afternoon;  11/8/67 cut wood went up to Viet's in the evening;  
11/12/67 went over to Uncle Abiram's made a beeth [meant to write "bath"?];  11/16/67 chopped a little [at Abiram's 5 
days] came home went to New Boston in evening;  12/7/67 went over to Abiram's;  12/29/67 went over to Abiram's in 
evening;  
Ives, Abiram A [Uncle] contd  Memoranda  [1867 diary] Abiram Ives Dr By work done in 1866, 171/2 days Cr by cash 

$5.00 Jan 9th By 3 days work Jan 12th by 3 days work Cr 17th By cash $1.00 Jan 19th By 3 days work Jan 26th By 41/2 

days work Feb 2nd By 3 days work Feb 9th By 4 days work Cr 12th By cash $3.00 16th by 4 days work 23rd by 5 days 

work 28th by 21/2 days work sum = 491/2 days;  Memoranda [1867 diary] Moore's Job  A J [S?] Ives 1 pail & plates $0.65 
Stephen Hibbard $3.50 T [G?] G [?] Ives for Flour $0.50;  1/5/68 went to Church Uncle Abiram & Grandmother came 

over went over to Fox's stayed all night;  [1868 Cash Account Jan] 6th Abiram Ives work done in 1867 $20.00 Received; 

[Memoranda 1868] Bought of C S Foster & left for security an order on A Hull of $55.00 Apr 29th A Ives coat & vest 

$15.50 Apr 29th C Ives coat $17.50  $55.00 [minus sum of] $33.00 [=] $22.00;  1/30/68 went over to Abiram's with the 
girls to a candy party stayed all night;  2/12/68 went over to Abiram's got a load of sap tubs shod R[?]ollin Baldwins 
horse went up to singing school Clara came up;  
Ives, Abiram A [Uncle] contd   2/13/68 went over to N [M?] Abbey around to Abiram's got a load of tubs shod a horse 
for J [?] Hall;  2/23/68 carried Del up to New Boston West went up to Abiram's called to Down's;  5/31/68 carried 
Grandmother over to Abiram's in eve;  6/14/68 went down to Joe's went over West Street with him & Lu to Church in 
afternoon Georgia came home with me called to Uncles;  6/30/68 Abiram & Lib [not Cyrus's sister?] called;  [1868 Cash 

Account] June 29th  Abiram Ives for sap tubs & balance book acct $29.00;  7/21/68 Abiram came over Father went over 

to Sandisfield Anna Fosdick came over with them;  [1868 Cash Account] September 6th A Ives $10.00;  10/4/68 went to 
Church went over to Abiram's in evening & down to Fargo's to a dance;  10/12/68 went over to Abiram's picked up 
apples stayed over night burned brush in the evening;  10/14/68 went over to Abiram's carried Stignel [?] 10 cabbage;  
10/18/68 went over across to Abiram's rode over to True's with True H Leonard came along drunk came home D Smith 
was here;  10/22/68 shod a horse for Silas Amanda & Marilda came up with it;
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Ives, Abiram A [Uncle] contd  11/16/68 Grandmother came up Del came home we went over to Abiram's to a party;  
1/6/69 shod Daniels oxen Abiram's horse;  1/27/69 shod...A Ives...oxen;  2/9/69 went over to Abiram's to a quilting had 

a good time stayed with H Dowd;  [Cash Account 1869 February] 10th A Ives $5.00 Received;  5/8/69 went [from 
Northway's?] up to Uncle Abiram's came home in evening;  7/14/69 went [from Northway's] over to Uncle's with Dim 
came back at noon & went to [New] Boston;  9/17/69 went over to True's & to Uncle Abiram's;  9/20/69 Uncle Abiram & 
Gib came over shod his oxen he alterred Del's bulls;  9/21/69 went over to Abiram's picked cranberries;  [1869 diary 
memoranda] A Ives bought Two sugar pans $1.85 Bit stock $0.50 Sap bits $0.80 Skimmers  $0.50  C Ives bought A 
Fargo for sugar boxes $1.25 Planing boards $0.25 sugar pans $0.10;  1/4/70 went up to Uncle Abiram's Miss [Mrs?] 
Dowd went up to Boston [on stage] Rosa went back, a passenger up to New Boston;  10/24/70 went to New Boston up 
to Abiram's Aunt Lucy was sick; 
Ives, Abiram A [Uncle] contd   [Memoranda 1871 diary] A Ives Dr Jan 31st By cash $2.00 Received Feb 7th By 1 

hundred meal $2.05 Received Feb 13th By 1 hundred meal $2.05 Received;  10/1/71 went over to Uncle Abiram's in the 
morning came back to Del's read came home towards night;  11/9/71 sawed sap wood [for Del] went over to Uncle 
Abiram's in evening;  2/8/72 Mrs Cotton Lib & I went over to Del's, went to M Hawley's got some medicine for my ox 
went over to Uncle Abiram's to a party;  9/11/72 went home Uncle Abiram & wife came over;  [Cash Account 1872] 

Sept 25th Abiram Ives $55.00 Received;  9/22/72 went [from Father's] over to Del's with Em went over to Uncle 
Abiram's, called to Northway's to Father's came back to Lawrence;  9/25/72 went over with Lawrence to New Boston to 
Dr Parson's auction went up on the Foster lot with Uncle Abiram sold him my steers $145.  Received $55;  12/2/72 
went over to Uncle Abiram's with a sheep went to Del's got some turkey called to Northway's got some chairs & other 
things, Father brought us back [to L Smith's] in afternoon;  
Ives, Adelbert Jason  3/5/62 drawed wood for Adelbert;  3/6/62 chopped wood for Adelbert;  3/7/62 chopped wood for 
Adelbert;  3/8/62 chopped wood for Del;  3/9/62 to Grandfathers Father was taken sick called the doctor Adelbert came 
up & got me & we came home watched with Father all night;  3/11/62  Asahel Cowles & myself cut wood for Del;  
3/13/62 Del went to Winsted;  3/15/62 Father's fever turned watched with Del;  3/17/62 cut wood for Del;  3/19/62 Del 
carried cheese to Colebrook;  3/21/62 Del went to Granville got some rum for Father;  3/22/62 went to Norfolk got Del's 
things;  3/30/62 Del drove up a cow [to Grandfather's?];  4/5/62 Uncle Abiram & wife, True & Misses Case & Root came 
up to Dels we danced in the evening;  4/6/62 went down to Uncle Abiram...got 2 hens for Del;  4/9/62 drawed wood for 
Del;  4/19/62 cut wood for Del;  4/27/62 went to West Granby met at Hartland by E B [R?] Holcomb Adelbert brought 
[me] down there;  8/10/62 Del's cows went to Tolland he found them;  10/9/62 Del got a pig;  11/8/62 sold a pair of bulls 
at [to?] Del for [$]32.50;  11/9/62 Del missed his money;  
Ives, Adelbert Jason [contd]  11/10/62 chopped for Del;  11/11/62 chopped Del helped;  11/12/62 helped Del bank up 
his house he put in sleepers up garret;  11/13/62 chopped wood Del helped me;  11/14/62 Del borrowed some money 
of S Murphy;  11/27/62 drew little wood for Del;  12/10/62 Dels [hog] weighed 237;  12/19/62 Father & Del finished 
cutting & piling wood down to J P Hall's;  12/28/62 went down to Del's read the papers Dels wife left him;  1/5/63 
Adelbert sold some cattle to R Bell;  1/9/63 Father & Adelbert went to Winsted;  1/20/63  Father carried Adelbert to 
Chester Factories en route for the west;  3/1/63 wrote a letter to Del;  4/14/63 received a letter from Adelbert;  7/9/63 
went a fishing with Dr Newton & Del Marshall pond very rough no luck;  10/25/63 sit in the house sick with the mumps 
wrote a letter to Del;  11/6/63 Adelbert & S Loomis came here stayed all night settled with him;  Memoranda  Due A J 

Ives  1st 1[missing 8?]63  On book account Oct $55.00  Settled Nov 6th;  6/12/64 wrote a letter to Del;  6/20/64 Adelbert 
came down [to Phelps shop] went up home went down to Grandfather;

Ives, Adelbert [contd]  8/21/64 wrote to Del;  9/18/64 wrote a letter to Adelbert;  10/16/64 stayed to Dels [Chapinsville?] 
looked about eat chestnuts;  10/19/64 piled wood [for charcoal?] in the forenoon went with Del & looked [at] some beef 
cattle;  10/24/64 commence chopping Del & I & the Hales;  10/25/64 butchered for Del;  12/6/64 M Hibbart E Hale Del & 
I hired Thomson to take us to Barrington;  12/16/64 cut wood Del hooped barrels for Scoville;  12/30/64 Del was sick 
cut wood H Woodin started for home;  1/1/65 in Salisbury to work chopping boarded at Adelbert's;  1/12/65 Del helped 
Scoville;  1/18/65 Del helped Scoville fill his icehouse;  1/26/65 came to E Sheffield & N Norfolk with S Loomis & Del to 
Norfolk Center & to H & S Maltby's stayed over night;  2/15/65 came to Mill River to Ashley Falls & to Chapinville to 
Del's stayed all night;  2/19/65 helped Del do chores;  3/8/65 helped Del get wood in the afternoon;  3/28/65 killed a calf 
for Del;  4/9/65 helped Del do chores;  4/14/65 had a dance here to Del's went up to Ellen Brown's;  
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Ives, Adelbert [contd]  4/28/65 went down to the center with Del & Father up to Chapinville Ellen Brown came down a 
visiting Jane stayed all night;  6/22/65 Del went to Hillsdale;  7/7/65 went down to the Falls with Del up to Canaan did 
not feel well went to bed when I got home;  7/15/65 came up to Del's went up to H Candec's [Candees?] store got 
some cloth for a shirt;  7/17/65 went up street with Del came back went down to the lower job with Mike went to work 
wood in the afternoon;  7/22/65 came up to Del's went up to the store;  7/23/65 went up on Bear Mt with Del & P Philan 
Surdan [?] a huckleberrying;  8/7/65 drew Del a load of wood;  8/20/65 went down to Mike's with Del;  8/22/65 drew 
wood Father & Mother came out came up to Del's [from the lower job];  8/23/65 drew wood Father came down went up 
to Del's went up to Joiceville;  8/25/65 came up [from the lower job] to Del's sick did not work went up to Mrs Browns in 
the afternoon;  9/5/65 went over to Chapinville & to Hammertown down to Mike's with Del;  9/16/65 came up home 
[from the lower bush] to Del's;  9/23/65 Del went to Barrington with wool; 
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  9/30/65 drew wood went up to the store in the evening with Del;  10/9/65 went to John Oharrys 
[sic] with Del got a chicken;  10/16/65 helped Del cut some wood down to Al Ostrander's;  10/29/65 went [from Sam 
Loomis's] down to Del's down to Mike's stayed to Ellen Brown's;  11/9/65 Del went to Tolland;  11/11/65 husked corn 
Del came back Truman with him;  11/23/65 Del went to Millerton;  11/24/65 drew dirt fixed the cellar to Del's;  11/29/65 
helped Del thresh went to mill stayed to Ellen Brown's over night;  12/2/65 Will & I helped Del get wood;  12/6/65 
butchered Del's hog Will helped us he weighed 425 lbs;  12/7/65 went up to Sam's he & Will S Winter C Thorpe Mary 
Jane & Ellen Brown took supper to Del's we all went to Bunce's to Thanksgiving Ball;  12/8/65 came down to the store 
down to Del's Will & Charlie came down threshed a little;  12/9/65 went over to Chapinville got Mackeleroy tools chest 
helped Sam move the well house down to Dels;  12/11/65 cut wood for Del;  12/14/65 Mary Jane came down to Del's 
went up there in eve;  
Ives, Adelbert  [contd]  12/31/65 went up to Sam's down to Del's up on the bush started to go to Mike's stayed to S 

Loomis;  Memoranda [1865 Diary]  A Ives  Dr  April 4th  By 2 stone jars & sundries  $2.00  Cr. By board April 1st  $6.50  

April 22nd By flour  $5.50 [April 27th By fish  $1.38  May 13th  By cash  $0.55  [in pencil =] $38.95  [Ink]  Settled Oct 7 
paid in full.  [pencil]  Parlor Folding per doz  $22.00  Picnic [folding per doz]  $18.00  Hat tree [per doz]  $18.00;  1/7/66 
wrote to Del;  1/19/66 received letters from Janey & Del;  1/26/66 hired a team of Tuttle Charlie & I came to Salisbury 
through the Falls stayed to Del's;  2/26/66 wrote to Del;  3/11/66 to Salisbury stayed to Dels;  3/16/66 fixed Del's boots 
Dr came went up to Joiceville over to Hammertown;  3/17/66 went to the center with Del & Nume [?] Woodin;  3/18/66 
helped Del do chores;  3/28/66 came over to Chapinville through North Norfolk stayed to Del's;  3/31/66 went over to 
Lord's cut wood for Del & gathered sap;  4/25/66 Father went to Salisbury;  4/27/66 Father came home from Salisbury;  
5/6/66 wrote to Del;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  6/9/66 went down [from Sam Loomis?] to Del's down to Lakeville with Sam stayed with him all 
night;  8/19/66 wrote to Del Joe Georgia & Mary Jane;  8/28/66 Father, Mother & Grandmother started for Salisbury;  
9/26/66 went to Barrington to Cattle Show went down to Del's stayed all night;  9/28/66 went to the fair [from Ellen 
Brown's] came down & stayed to Del's Mary Jane Brown & Josephine Doyle stayed there;  9/29/66 went up to Sam's 
over to Chapinville with Will & Lan & down to Del's dug potatoes went up to H Morriso[ns?];11/5/66 came out to 
Salisbury [from F Hales?] stayed to Del's;  11/6/66 went down beaver brook over to Chapinville over towards Ashley 
Falls [set traps there tomorrow] around to Del's;  11/10/66 went [from J Doyle's] up towards Ashley Falls around to 
Del's;  11/11/66 went up Sage brook up to Sam's came back down to Del's Sam came down;  11/17/66 cut wood for 
Del chored about;  11/19/66 killed a hog for Del weighed 426 lbs chored about;  11/20/66 cut some wood for Del;  
11/21/66 salted the hog went up to Sam's;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  11/22/66 went on Mnt Washington cut some wood for Del;  11/27/66 Del, Steve & I started from 
his house at 3 o'clock came home...Father met us at lower south west;  11/29/66 Del & I went over to F Hale's eat 
chicken pie to Father's played cards in the evening;  11/30/66 Father & Lib went to Salisbury with Del;  3/10/67 went 
with Father to the River Dr Newton came went to Del's took tea to Silas's;  3/14/67 Rat & I went down to Hartland to 
Del's Auction stayed to Gabriel's all night;  3/17/67 Father & Del went over to Crane's for a coffin down to the River to 
make arrangemants for [Truman's] Funeral;  3/20/67 went with Del to Riverton up to Higley's farm got some things;  
3/21/67 carried Del over to Abiram's cut wood in the afternoon;  4/10/67 came home [from Abiram's] cut wood went to 
New Boston in the evening Del came up;  4/11/67 went to Winsted with Del & Albert;  4/13/67 Del came home Holmes 
from Chester Conn stayed here;  4/14/67 carried Del over;  4/18/67 Del came over & Lib Father & mother went down to 
the River;  4/19/67 Del & I went a fishing;  
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Ives, Adelbert contd  4/20/67 Father Del & I went over to Abiram's, up to Curtis Deming's to an Auction;  4/21/67 Del, 
the girls & I went over to S [F?] Hales in eve;  4/26/67 Del & Len went to Winsted;  4/29/67 Del got By's oxen;  5/6/67 
Del & I went up to North quarter took a job of bark of Bennet Moore went up to Case's New Boston;  5/9/67 went up to 
Del's [?] to Abiram's up across beech plain to Cold Spring around home;  6/4/67 peeled bark Hank worked Del hurt his 
leg coming home;  6/5/67 peeled bark Del did not work;  6/6/67 peeled bark Del & John Lyman came in the woods;  
6/23/67 went to Church with the girls & Del;  7/8/67 carried Del down to [RR] Cars went up to Clark's & got the rest of 
our things;  7/20/67 Del Len & Rat went to the River;  8/9/67 finished haying carried Del over to Foxes stayed to 
Abiram's;  8/14/67 went to mowing Del went to Winsted Dea [?] Rugg & wife came to Fox;  8/15/67 loaded a load of 
logs Fox went to Crane's with them Del came over with the horses;  8/20/67 the girls brought Del over [to Fox's?];  
8/29/67 Del & Rat went home [from haying at Fox's];  9/6/67 Del went to Norfolk;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  9/11/67 mowed rowen Del went up home;  9/25/67 Del & Rat went to Barrington to Cattle show;  
10/13/67 Del went over to Sandisfield;  10/23/67 Father & Del went over to Leonard's got a pair of steers;  Cash 

Account October 28th Lent Del $3.00;  11/15/67 went [from Abiram's?] up to Fox's out to New Marlboro with him Del & 

True went over to Father's;  11/20/67 Father went to Winsted Del came home;  Cash Account November 21st Settled 
with Adelbert due me $4.22 Received;  11/22/67 Del & Len went to Winsted;  11/24/67 Del went over to Sandisfield;  
12/6/67 Del went to Monterey;  12/10/67 shod a horse for Del;  12/21/67 Del came home;  12/22/67 carried Del to New 
Boston;  1/11/68 Del came up home;  1/20/68 Father & Mother went over to Clark's to see Del;  1/22/68 Del came 
home with Father;  2/1/68 went to New Boston up to Hull's & to New Boston west Del & Holub [?] came up in evening a 
meeting here;  2/4/68 D Smith B Downs & Del came up went to singing school down to J Hodge's;  2/8/68 Del came 
home;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  2/22/68 went to Lower Southwest [Section of Colebrook] got some sugar molds Del came up 
home;  2/23/68 carried Del up to New Boston West;  3/5/68 Byron & Del came up in evening;  3/12/68 Del & Rufus 
came up got his horses shod;  4/4/68 Del & By Downs came up;  4/6/68 Del & I sawed some sap wood;  4/13/68 Del & 
Fred went to New Boston in eve;  4/17/68 Del carried Fred to Winsted;  4/24/68 went to Winsted with Del carried down 
two calves weighed 165, 178, 9 cts per lb Mrs M [?] Danvil [Daniels?] rode up with us;  5/3/68 Del Len & Ella went to 
Church;  5/11/68 Del & I went to Salisbury went over to Sarah got Mary Jane stayed to Sam's;  [1868 Cash Account] 

September 5th Lent Del $2.00;  9/9/68 Levi came up Del got home from Barrington;  9/10/68 went to Winsted with Del 

went through Riverton stayed to Joe's;  [1868 Cash Account] September 10th Del cash  $1.00;  9/11/68 went up west 

with Del in morning went up with L A H [possibly Lu Hotchkiss] to the reunion of the old 19th C P A in afternoon stayed 
to Hotchkiss all night;  9/21/68 Del went to Winsted;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  9/26/68 Del went to the River;  9/30/68 went to Barrington with Del to Cattle Show started at 3 
o'clock [full moon tomorrow] went down to Scoville over to Chapinville called to Doyle's stayed with Will to Sam's;  
10/20/68 wrote to Del;  10/23/68 Del came home;  10/24/68 went to New Boston with Del carried down some cabbage;  
10/25/68 went over to J Daniel's up to Fred's over to S Hale's with Del in evening;  11/16/68 Grandmother came up Del 
came home we went over to Abiram's to a party;  11/19/68 Del & I went to Winsted bought a stove;  11/25/68 Del went 
to Westfield;  12/15/68 went over to S Hale's in evening with Del he & Jane & Salome went down to Francis;  12/18/68 
Del & Joe went over to Sandisfield;  12/19/68 Fannie Hale called took tea Del carried her home;  12/27/68 went to 
Church with Del & Lib;  12/28/68 went to New Boston in evening with Del & Lib to singing school;  12/31/68  Father & 
Del went a fishing with the Hales, the women went Lurinda Jane Salome & Alfred Belden called & took tea;  1/3/69 
went to Church with the girls & Del;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  1/6/69 went to singing school Del & a Miss Booth came up from [New?] Hartford;  1/7/69 A big 
sleigh ride from New Boston to Winsted Del & Miss Booth Lucius & the girls went Lu & I went to New Boston in the 
evening to a dance;  1/10/69 went over to A Downs with Lu Del & the girls made some molasses candy;  1/11/69 Del 
went to Westfield carried Rose Boot in;  1/12/69 Del went to New Boston Lu went with him;  [Cash Account 1869 

January] 14th Del $1.00 Received;  1/17/69 Father Mother Del Len & Joe went to Church;  2/1/69 Father & Del went to 
Sandisfield;  2/6/69 Del carried Salome home;  2/16/69 Del went to Winsted;  2/18/69 Del drew a load of logs to Boston 
went down in eve to a show Fred came up;  2/20/69 went to New Boston in the evening with Del & Fred;  2/26/69 Del 
carried Treat to Winsted;  3/8/69 Del & Len went to New Boston in the evening;  3/16/69 went up to C Case's to N Babb 
down to Melman's home up to David Farnham with Del to a dance stayed to Howd's over night;  3/19/69 Del & the girls 
went to Wm Howd's a visiting;  
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Ives, Adelbert [contd]  3/24/69 Father and Del scalded tubs;  3/25/69 girls Del & I went to J Daniels in eve visited M [or 
"N"?] Johnson's;  3/29/69  Father & Del gathered some sap;  5/3/69 Del & Mozart went to the River;  5/23/69 wrote to 
Del and Joe;  7/10/69 Bu[?]rril Denslow came up with Del stayed all night;  7/26/69 Del went to [New] Boston;  7/27/69 

Del went to [New] Boston;  [Cash Account 1869] August 12th Tobacco for Del $0.20;  8/29/69 did not feel well stayed at 
[sic] Pat [?] was here Del & Cotton went to Church;  8/30/69 Emery Andrews came over bought a bull of Del for 50 

dollars;  9/10/69 went over to Elmor's Del bought a bull of him $471/2 settled with Perkins came home called to Sheff's;  

[Cash Account 1869 Sep] 10th Del lent $0.50;  9/16/69 went up to James Hunt's with Del & John Cotton;  9/20/69 Uncle 
Abiram & Gib came over shod his oxen he alterred Del's bulls;  10/8/69 Father & Del went up to T Harrington's to trade 
oxen;  10/9/69  Father & Del came back from Harrington drove the steers home;  10/12/69 Del & the girls started for 
Riverton Cattle show;  10/24/69 Del & the girls went to Church;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  10/26/69  Del went over to Frank Hales, took care of Mrs Hale;  11/13/69 Del sold Jim to T 
Harrington;  11/27/69 Will Rugg Del & Anson & Seymour Hale were down Moze came up L Caul [?] H Tuttle came [on 
stage] from B [New Boston?] to CS [Cold Spring?];  3/8/70 went down to the River with Del rode up to Boston with 
Dowd stayed to A Snow;  3/11/70 went over South with Del got a load of wood went to New Boston up to Otis stayed to 
Landon's;  3/19/70 went to Winsted with Dowd Del Lib & Salome was down came home with Lib;  3/25/70 Del went 
over to Seymour's in the evening;  4/3/70 Del went to Church;  6/21/70 peeled bark [for L Smith] Del came up and 
helped us;  6/22/70 peeled bark some big trees west of the brook Del helped us & Father & Lawrence in the afternoon;  
7/2/70 peeled bark Lawrence helped Dim & I went home Salome came out with Del;  8/11/70 Curt & Del came down & 
got Dim & I, went over to the reservoir, the body of H Scoville found by Wm Stowe Aged 20 yrs;  8/13/70 mowed for C 
Babb around the old barn place on the east lot Del went home at night;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  8/21/70 went over to D Farnham's & over on Beech Hill Del went with me raked some hay for 

Curt;  8/29/70 Del went to Otis with Dim;  [Cash Account 1870] August 29th Del $0.25;  9/2/70 Del worked for Seymour 
Hale;  9/6/70 went with Del up to Boardman's met T Harrington & Spelman in the Belden woods Del traded his oxen for 
a horse with Spelman;  9/11/70 Del & I went down to Howard's down to Sheff's came up to F Hale's called Lurinda was 
there;  11/24/70 went over to Father's eat Thanksgiving supper S Wilcox & Lib were there came back [to L Smith's?] 
brought Len over had Del's horse;  12/22/70 cut a road over on the Foster lot John cut his foot went up there in evening 
C Denslow & Del came up;  1/7/71 Del came over [to L Smith's];  1/12/71 Del + I cut wood on the north swamp Father 
drawed it off;  1/13/71 cut wood on the swamp Father & Del went on the Hill in the evening;  1/14/71 helped Del cut 
wood for Dr Parsons on the Cowles farm Del went to New Boston;  1/16/71 helped Del cut wood in the afternoon;  
1/17/71 helped Del cut wood for Dr Parsons finished the job 8 cords;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  1/18/71Del went away;  1/23/71 Del and his wife came home;  1/30/71 Del came over early in the

morning loaded a load of bark broke his sled;  1/31/71 went with bark Del drew a load;  [Cash Account January]  31st 

Del for meal $2.00 [Paid];  2/6/71 J Cotton & wife, Del & wife & Lib came over [to L Smith's] in the evening;  2/9/71 went 
with bark Del broke his sled roll;  2/11/71 took Del's horse carried Emma [L Smith's wife?] to Otis called to Landon's 
stayed to Wm Breckenridge;  2/27/71 went with Del to New Boston up to John Northway's looked at the farm;  3/1/71 
went with Del to lower South Sandisfield across to East Indias [?] left him came over to True's and home;  3/7/71 
Father & Del set sap trees on the Wright place;  3/8/71 Del & I set trees in the forenoon he gathered sap in the 
afternoon;  3/11/71 finished gathering at Father's works...Del helped sugar off;  3/19/71 Del syruped off on the Wright 
place;  3/22/71 Del went to New Hartford;  3/24/71 helped Del repair a cart cut a little wood;  4/3/71 Del went to Winsted 
with Marshall;  4/6/71 Del went to Otis;  

Ives, Adelbert [contd]  4/11/71 went over to J Northway with Del with some things;  4/12/71 went with a load of things 
for Del with cattle & cart;  4/18/71 went over to Del's carried over his hog went to Crane's got two bed steads;  4/28/71 
Del & L Cotton came up [to Father's];  5/9/71 went over to De's in the evening;  5/15/71 Del came over home;  5/16/71 
Father & I went over to Del's helped plant corn;  5/19/71 Del came over planted our corn;  5/25/71 Del & wife came 
over;  6/5/71 Father went over to Del's got the oxen;  6/6/71 Del came over brought a calf;  6/10/71 Katie & Minnie 
Cotton came down stayed all night...Cotton & wife & Miss Burt E Sears & Del were here in eve;  6/12/71 Del was over;  
6/26/71 went to New Boston in the morning went to Winsted with Del took supper to Sheff's;  6/28/71hoed corn for Del 
Charles Smith son of Fred Smith of Sandisfield was drowned in Manning's pond aged [blank];  7/11/71 went over to 
Del's to haying;  7/17/71 mowed for Del windy we did not get in any J Northway came up in the forenoon;  
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Ives, Adelbert [contd]  7/18/71 mowed for Del got in 3 big loads cleaned up came home drove oxen home met Mrs Hall 
& Miss Burt east of M Hall's;  7/25/71 Del came over his wife went over to S Hale's;  7/26/71 went over to Del's Rat 
came over went up to the pond in evening a fishing;  7/28/71 Del came over about noon...Del & I went a fishing in the 
evening;  8/7/71 went over to Del's with oxen mowed got in 1 load 4 caught out Father went to Winsted came back by 
Del's;  8/9/71 mowed for Del Ed Sears worked for him got in 3 load & 3 load for Sears;  8/11/71 worked for Del got in 5 
load finished out haying for him came home;  8/12/71 mowed the old barn lot had 1 load Ed Sears helped us...Ed Del & 
I went a fishing to the pond in evening;  8/14/71 Ed Sears Del Cotton & boys helped us [haying at Father's] went over to 
Del's stayed all night;  8/15/71 J Cotton & wife came over here to Del's a visiting;  8/24/71 helped Alfred Gurns get 
some sticks for sills to the house where Del lives;  8/25/71 Del & I went to Cannaan to Camp meeting stayed to H 
Wheeler all night had a dance there;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  8/26/71 came back to Del's early in the morning came home [to Father's] in the afternoon with 
oxen & cart;  9/13/71 Del came over worked on the road;  9/14/71 went over to Del's got his buggy went to A Rood's to 
a party at Bakerville in company with M Johnson, Charlie & Charlie Snow, carried Florence Burt had a nice time;  
9/16/71 went over to Del's came back went down to Hodge's to J Johnson's down to R Smith's back to L Smith's stayed 
all night;  9/26/71 Del & Ed Sears came over;  9/27/71 went up to Johnson's got Charles went over to Del's stayed all 
night;  9/30/71 went over to Del's stayed all night;  10/1/71 went over to Uncle Abiram's in the morning came back to 
Del's read came home towards night;  10/3/71 went to New Boston Cold Spring H Norton's, D Parker E Otis with Del 
took supper with Cotton went to School meeting;  10/9/71 Del came over;  10/15/71 went up to Cotton's took supper 
Del came over;  10/29/71 went [from Father's] over to Del's took supper went over across to N [?] Smith's across to 
Thompson's out to Colebrook to I Smith spent the eve with Emma;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  10/30/71 came over to Father's with Del with oxen & cart brought some apples to Hall's came 
over to Smith's cut wood in afternoon;  11/7/71 came over to Del's in evening;  11/8/71 worked for Del sawing sap wood 
went over to A Sears in evening;  11/11/71 got the cattle off the mountain went over to Hall's with Del after cider 
Auction of goods at New Boston;  11/13/71 sawed sap wood went over to Tolland with Del in the evening;  11/19/71 
went over to Del's with Joe Hakes stayed all night sick in the evening Mrs Clark & Butler came in in the eve;  11/20/71 
carried Joe to the River came back to Del's went to Southfield Ashley Falls & to Chapinville to S Loomis, stayed all 
night very muddy;  11/23/71 carried Augusta & Alida Doyle home took dinner with them saw Josephine had a very 
pleasant visit Augusta came over to A Taft's with me enjoyed her company very much, came to Del's;  11/24/71 helped 
Del saw a maple into [sic] came home;  11/26/71 went over to Del's in the evining [sic];  12/3/71 stayed to Smith's all 
day came home called to Del's;  12/17/71 Father went over to Del's;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  12/24/71 went up to Cotton's went over to Del's with him;  12/27/71 shod Del's horse;  12/30/71 
went over to Del's got his horse and went to Ira Smith's;  12/31/71 brought Emma over, called to Del's took supper 
stayed to Father's all night;  1/2/72 went from Otis to West Granville to L Smith's left Em, came home Del was here, 
helped Father butcher a cow;  1/5/72 took 6:30 train from Chapinville to Winsted came to [Ira Smith's?] North 
Colebrook called awhile came to Del's stayed all night went over to E Sears' in evening;  1/6/72 helped Del cut some 
logs in forenoon cut wood in afternoon Del brought me home in evening;  1/13/72 Del came over;  1/22/72 went to New 
Boston in the morning Del came over;  1/28/72 Del came over;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] Del drew 10 [ton] 640;  

1/30/72 went over to Del's...A Daughter to Adelbert Ives weight 81/2 lbs;  2/1/72 went over to J Butler's called to Del's 
went up to singing school New Boston West in evening;  2/4/72 Father went to New Boston Del came over;  2/7/72 Del 
& Len came over in evening went to singing school;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  2/8/72 Mrs Cotton Lib & I went over to Del's, went to M Hawley's got some medicine for my ox 
went over to Uncle Abiram's to a party;  2/9/72 went over to Del's got his oxen shod them;  2/18/72 carried Lib over to 
Del's went down to the River to Sheffs came back by Del's;  2/23/72 went up to Del's helped him get out some hemlock 
logs, helped him get two elm logs down to Gladding off from Northway's 4 feet through;  3/1/72 Del came and brought 
Len over home;  3/8/72 Del came over went to New Boston in the evening;  3/14/72 Del came over;  3/18/72 Del came 
over went to the River stayed to Del's all night;  3/20/72 cut sap wood on the Wright place Del helped me;  3/23/72 went 

over to Del's got his horse went to West Granville;  [Cash Account 1872] March 25th Gin for Del $0.90;  3/26/72 went 
over with Del's horse towards night;  4/1/72 Del & Allen Snow came over in the evening good sleighing;  4/13/72 went 
over to Del's got his horse;  4/16/72 went over to Del's with his horse;  5/12/72 stayed to Mr Smith until 6 o'clock came 
over by Del's to Father's;  5/19/72 Del came over;  
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Ives, Adelbert [contd]  5/20/72 Del and wife came over took his horse, & Len & I came over to Ira Smith's stayed all 
night;  5/26/72 stayed to Northway's until noon visited with Phelps & wife came up to Del's took supper & came over to 
Mr Smith's stayed all night;  5/28/72 went up to Del's took dinner came [back] over to Mr Smith's stayed all night;  
6/15/72 helped Father on the road Rat & Del helped him went to New Boston with Del;  6/30/72 went over to Del's took 
breakfast went over to North Colebrook to Mr Smith's came back to Father's;  7/8/72 Father & Del came down [to the 
mill] in the afternoon & shingled;  7/13/72 started the mill & sawed two logs Father came down went out home with him 
went over to Del's stayed all night;  7/14/72 went over to No Colebrook Em came back with me took tea to Del's, called 
to O Northway's, went up to Father's stayed all night;  7/23/72 went [from Father's] over to Del's to haying got in two 
loads;  7/24/72 mowed [at Del's] got in two loads came over to Father's drove the oxen over;  7/31/72 Del came over 
mowed a little;  

Ives, Adelbert [contd]  8/3/72 went a huckleberrying with the girls Em & I came over to Del's stayed over night canned 
some berries;  8/4/72 carried Em home & brought her mother over to Northway's stayed to Del's over night;  8/5/72 
came over to Father's with Del mowed the back side of the lot got in two loads;  8/6/72 took the oxen and cart rake & 
tools over to Del's;  8/7/72 mowed for Del in the orchard;  8/15/72 went over to Del's mowed grass awhile & then 
mowed oats, went home;  8/18/72 came over to Del's raked and got in two loads of hay;  8/21/72 S Demming worked 
for Del got in one load;  8/23/72 went over to Butler's and mowed awhile came back and went to work at Del's got in 
two loads finished him out came home with the oxen;  8/25/72 stayed with Em [N Colebrook] until four o'clock came 
back to Del's stayed all night helped look for a cow;  9/3/72 commenced mowing on Mrs Bentley Father & Del helped 
me;  9/8/72 went up to Cottons...went over to Del's called to Northway's Lib came home;  
Ives, Adelbert [contd]  9/12/72 came to Father's with Em Del & wife Rosa & her children took supper had chicken roast 
beef and watermelon went up to H Johnson's to a dance;  9/14/72 Father carried Rosa & the children over to Del's;  

[Cash Account 1872] Sept 21st Del for haying $10.50 Received;  9/22/72 went over to Del's with Em went over to Uncle 
Abiram's, called to Northway's to Father's came back to Lawrence;  9/29/72 came back [from N Colebrook] called at 
Del's took supper at Father's called to E Slocum's;  10/10/72 went with Lawrence over to Del's and picked up apples 
came home at night;  10/11/72 went over to Del's picked apples came home at night brought some apples;  11/28/72 
Father came over & carried Em and me over to take Thanksgiving supper with him Del & wife Lib & Len were there 
stayed all night;  11/29/72 Took Father's horse & sleigh & went over to Del's stayed all night.  Ed Sears came over in 
the evening;  12/1/72 came [from Ira Smith's] back to Father's called to Del's took supper, J Cotton & P Minor came to 
Father's in the evening;  

Ives, Adelbert [contd]  12/2/72 went over to Uncle Abiram's with a sheep went to Del's got some turkey called to 
Northway's got some chairs & other things, Father brought us back [to L Smith's] in afternoon;  12/11/72 went over to 
Father's took the horse carried Lib down to Scra[e?]nton's went up to Del's got the oxen came back to Father's;  
Ives, Albert [Uncle Abiram's son?]  12/11/66 Albert & Gib went over & got the oxen shod cut logs True worked a piling;  
4/11/67 went to Winsted with Del & Albert;  4/20/68 went up to A Snowe over to Fred's down to Homer's Gib & Albert 
came over;  10/13/68 picked apples [at Abiram's] came down to [New] Boston with Eli & Al came home;  10/5/70 dug 
potatoes for Father Al stayed here all night;  2/28/72 went to Colebrook River with Erastus called to S Hale's when we 
went down took Dinner to Uncle Silas Albert Ives came up with me stayed all night;  
Ives, Elizabeth [sister, "Lib"]  10/22/63 went to New Boston carried the girls down got their pictures;  12/1/63 carried the 
girls to J Hodges;  4/26/65 Father & Mother & Lib came over [to Del's, Salisbury?];  4/27/65 went up to Sane [?] 
Egremont with Lib & Jane Brown got some pictures taken came back through Sheffield eat supper to Mrs Brown's;  
4/30/65 went up to Ellen Brown's with Libbie & Laura in the evening;  5/1/65 Father Mother & Lib started for home;  
5/27/65 received letters from sisters [Rosa & Lib?] & Malynthe;  2/23/66 went over to F Hale's with the girls in the eve 
had a dance;  3/9/66 went over to Uncle Abiram's in the eve with True & the girls Fannie & Maggie Bidwell were there;  
8/11/66 went berrying with the girls over to Burke's stopped to Captain's eat supper;  10/5/66 went to Winsted with the 
girls & True & Erastus to a circus & menagerie;  11/30/66 Father & Lib went to Salisbury with Del;  1/31/67 went [from 
Abiram's] over to Father's Lib came over;  2/6/67 Lib went home [from Abiram's] Corlena came over;  2/13/67 Lib went 
to the River to Donation;  3/24/67 went over to F [?] Hale's got Lib;

Ives, Elizabeth [contd]  Gib [almost certainly "Lib"] Father & mother went down to the River;  4/21/67 Del, the girls & I 
went over to S [F?] Hales in eve;  5/9/67 went over to the Captain with the girls;  5/31/67 peeled bark came home the 
girls came up & got us went over to the Captain's to a party;  6/23/67 went to Church with the girls & Del;  7/4/67 Lib 
[context suggests "Gib"] & Rufus went to Winsted;  8/3/67 went over to S Hale's with Fannie the girls & Rat went up to 
the center by Marshall's home in the evening;  8/20/67 the girls brought Del over [to Fox's?];  12/21/67 Lib & Mother 
went over to Fargo's;  1/15/68 went to the River to Donation with the girls;  1/30/68 went over to Abiram's with the girls 
to a candy party stayed all night;  2/14/68 called to Dea Twining's went to Winsted with Lib stayed to Joe's all night;  
5/17/68 went over to Wm Crane's with Lib & Ella;  6/20/68 went a berrying with the girls;  6/30/68 Abiram & Gib 
[possibly "Lib"?] called;  8/4/68 went to Winsted with Lib got a tooth pulled stayed to Hotchkiss;
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Ives, Elizabeth [contd]    [1868 Cash Account] December 21st Mr Volkman wig $12.00 Cap $1.50  1 Pair shoes for Lib 
$2.00;  12/27/68 went to Church with Del & Lib;  12/28/68 went to New Boston in evening with Del & Lib to singing 
school;  1/3/69 went to Church with the girls & Del;  1/7/69 A big sleigh ride from New Boston to Winsted Del & Miss 
Booth Lucius & the girls went Lu & I went to New Boston in the evening to a dance;  1/10/69 went over to A Downs with 
Lu Del & the girls made some molasses candy;  1/17/69 Father Mother Del Len & Joe went to Church;  2/25/69 went to 
the River with the girls;  3/19/69 Del & the girls went to Wm Howd's a visiting;  3/25/69 the girls Del & I went to J 
Daniels in eve visited M [or "N"?] Johnson's;  5/20/69 the girls brought Dim and the tools down came to Tiffany's to 
board [to peel bark for A M Perkins];  6/27/69 got Lib home sent for the Dr very sick and distress for breath;  6/28/69 Dr 
came over Lib was better;  9/19/69 went to Church with the girls;  9/23/69 Lib came home from Homer's;  9/24/69 Dim 
and the girls went to Granville;  10/10/69 Father and the girls went to Church;
Ives, Elizabeth [contd]  10/12/69 Del & the girls started for Riverton Cattle show;  10/24/69 Del & the girls went to 

Church;  [Cash Account 1869 Oct] 24th Lib singing book $1.50 24th Saturday night $1.00;  10/30/69 Lib & I went to East 
Otis down to David Farnham stayed all night;  11/6/69 went to Winsted with Lib carried Hotchkiss two pigs;  3/19/70 
went to Winsted with Dowd Del Lib & Salome was down came home with Lib;  6/11/70 came home in the afternoon 
with George Bradley went down to Hall's & got Lib;  8/23/70 mowed got in 4 loads Father came up & worked [at Curt 
Babb's?] Lib came up;  9/1/70 Father and the girls went to New Hartford;  9/23/70 Lib & John Cotton came over [to L 
Smith's?] in the eve;  9/27/70 Lib came over [to L Smith's?] Dim & Len went home with her;  10/27/70 Lib & Georgia 
came over [to L Smith's?] & Stayed all night;  11/24/70 went over to Father's eat Thanksgiving supper S Wilcox & Lib 
were there;  12/3/70 Father & Lib came over [to L Smith's?] in the evening;  12/18/70 went over to B F Hale's with Lib in 
the evening;  1/10/71 repaired Lib's shoes; 

Ives, Elizabeth [contd]   2/6/71 J Cotton & wife, Del & wife & Lib came over [to L Smith's] in the evening;  3/19/71 
carried Lib over to G Treat's;  4/9/71 carried Lib over to Granville;  5/14/71 Miss Burt came down went to Church with 
the girls;  5/16/71 went down to New Boston to a show & dance carried the girls J Cotton & wife & Miss Burt;  5/23/71 
the girls went to West Granville in afternoon;  6/1/71 finished the road Florence & Lib came up after me;  6/3/71 the 
girls went to Granville stayed all night;  7/3/71 Lib & I went up to Cotton's in the evening Frank & Fannie Burt Brother & 
Cousin of Florence came out;  7/21/71 went to the pond with Lib & Florence Burt;  9/2/71 Lib & I went to L Smith's 
stayed all night;  10/5/71 Father & the girls went to Winsted to Horse Show Mother taken sick sent for S Cooley's wife 
to stay a while with her;  1/12/72 Father & the girls went to Winsted;  1/16/72 Father & the girls went over to West 
Granville to attend the funeral of Wm Treat;  1/17/72 Donation at Tolland Father and the girls went;
Ives, Elizabeth [contd]  2/8/72 Mrs Cotton Lib & I went over to Del's, went to M Hawley's got some medicine for my ox 
went over to Uncle Abiram's to a party;  2/18/72 carried Lib over to Del's went down to the River to Sheff's came back 
by Del's;  2/21/72 Father & Lib went to New Boston west Hamilton came home with them;  3/8/72 went to West 
Granville carried Lib over to L Smith;  3/18/72 went to Granville with Erastus carried Em home got Lib;  8/3/72 went a 
huckleberrying with the girls;  9/8/72 went over to Del's called to Northway's Lib came home;  11/28/72 Father came 
over & carried Em and me over to take Thanksgiving supper with him Del & wife Lib & Len were there stayed all night;  
12/11/72 went over to Father's took the horse carried Lib down to Scra[e?]nton's went up to Del's got the oxen came 
back to Father's;  
Ives, Elizabeth Priest [mother]  4/12/62 father & mother went down to Grandfathers in a sleigh;  2/1/63  Dwight [Baxter] 
was buried our folks went to the funeral;  8/9/63 went after Dr Newton for mother;  9/19/63 went after Dr Newton for 
Mother Grandfather came up & got his horse shod Rosa came home;  11/2/63 went to New Boston with mother got a 
trunk;  11/11/63 Father & Mother started a visiting;  11/16/63 Father & Mother came home;  1/24/64 Father & mother 
went up to Levis in the evening;  4/4/64 went down to the River after the Doctor for Mother;  10/8/64 Father & Mother 
went down to Grandfather's in the afternoon;  4/26/65 Father & Mother & Lib came over [to Del's, Salisbury?];  5/1/65 
Father Mother & Lib started for home;  8/2/65 received a letter from Mother;  8/22/65 drew wood Father & Mother came 
out came up to Del's;  8/24/65 Father went home Mother stayed;  8/28/65 went down to Mike's with Truman he & 
Mother went home;  9/10/65 received letters from Georgia & from home;  11/3/65 Father & Mother came home from 
York State;  3/22/66 Father & Mother went to Grandfather's;
Ives, Elizabeth Priest [contd]  4/29/66 Father & Mother went down to Grandfather's;  8/28/66 Father, Mother & 
Grandmother started for Salisbury [Del's];  3/18/67 Lyman Twining & wife Nelson & wife came up in the afternoon went 
to the River Dr came up see Mother Theresa rode up to Homer's;  4/3/67 went down to the Dr got some medicine for 
Mother;  4/18/67 Lib Father & mother went down to the River;  10/24/67 Father & Mother went to Winsted;  12/21/67 Lib 
& Mother went over to Fargo's Del came home Clare came up & stayed all night;  1/20/68 Father & Mother went over to 
Clark's to see Del;  1/21/68 Smith & Welden called made application for an accidental insurance policy Father & Mother 
gone;  2/2/68 went to Church with Mother & Len wrote to Aunt Lurene;  2/11/68 Father & Mother went to the River;  
5/1/68 Father Mother & Aunt Polly went to Winsted;  5/4/68 Father & Mother came back from Winsted;  6/17/68 Father 
Mother & Len went to Winsted;  9/16/68 Father & Mother went to Blandford to Cattle Show;  10/16/68 Father Mother & 
Len went to Winsted gone all night;    
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Ives, Elizabeth Priest [contd]  11/20/68 Grandmother & Mother visit Mrs L Twining;  1/9/69 Father & Mother went to 
Montville Ella Downs came over;  1/21/69 Father & Mother went to Winsted Salome came over stayed all night Mike [?] 
& Allen came up Joe brought around;  10/17/69 Father Mother & Len went to Church;  10/21/69 Father Mother & Len 
went to Winsted;  10/26/69  Father & Mother went to the River;  8/30/71 Father & Mother went to the River stayed all 
night;  9/1/71Father & Mother came home;  10/5/71 Father & the girls went to Winsted to Horse Show Mother taken 
sick sent for S Cooley's wife to stay a while with her;  10/6/71 Mother very sick sent to Winsted for Father Miss Cotton 
came down and stayed part of the day;  10/8/71 Mother was worse Father went after Dr. Ben____ about 4 oclock.  Gib 
& Rufus Fargo came over in the evening;  1/18/72 Father and Mother went to the River a visiting;  1/20/72 Father & 
Mother came home in the evening;  1/25/72 saw Dr Ben--- had him come over and see Mother;  11/22/72 Father & 
Mother came down to the mill;  
Ives, Esther Osborn (?) [Grandmother]  3/10/62 Grandfather & Grandmother come up;  3/18/62 Grandfather & 
Grandmother came up Father very sick;  3/19/62 old folks went home;  1/13/63 Grandfather & Grandmother stayed all 
night;  8/28/66 Father, Mother & Grandmother started for Salisbury [Del's];  12/13/66 Abiram went over to Viet's to 
Thanksgiving Uncle Silas, Julia & Grandmother came up [to Abiram's?] stayed all night;  5/11/67 Grandmother came 
up;  1/5/68 went to Church Uncle Abiram & Grandmother came over went over to Fox's stayed all night;  5/14/68 went 
down & got Grandmother Milo & Helen;  5/31/68 Joe & Rosa came stayed all night went to Church in afternoon carried 
Grandmother over to Abiram's in eve;  11/16/68 Grandmother came up Del came home we went over to Abiram's to a 
party;  11/20/68 Grandmother & Mother visit Mrs L Twining;  12/12/68 went down to O Slocum's carried Grandmother 
to the River;  8/30/70 Uncle Silas Aunt Julia & Grandmother came up, stayed all night;  5/24/72 called to Uncle Sheff's 
took tea Grandmother fell & hurt her side & hip;
Ives, Esther Osborn (?) [Grandmother]  7/30/72 Grandmother died about 9 o'clock aged 90 yrs;  8/1/72 got Mr Hall's 
horse went to No Colebrook got Em & attended the funeral of Grandmother at Colebrook River;  

Ives, George S [Uncle Silas's son]  11/5/65 went Grandfather's he was sick George & his wife & Uncle Silas were there 
came home with Father Rat Hale James Williams & wife Corinthe & J [?] Tarnter [?] came in the evening;  4/17/70 Mr 
Bills was buried called to George's to Dowd's came up to F Hale's, over to S Hale's in evening stayed to G [F?] Hale's;  
10/1/70 came home [from H Hotchkiss, Riverton?] took tea with George Ives;  11/18/71 Uncle Silas Sheff & cousin 
George & their wives went away about noon [Father's Silver Wedding Anniversary yesterday];  
Ives, Gilbert [Uncle Abiram's son, "Gib"]  12/11/66 Albert & Gib went over & got the oxen shod cut logs True worked a 
piling;  4/12/67 Rufus & Gib came over Smith from Sheffield stayed here [Abiram's] all night;  4/25/67 Gib & Fannie 
Bidwell came over;  7/4/67 Lib [context suggests "Gib"] & Rufus went to Winsted;  8/23/67 went up to Abirams he & Gib 
come & brought us home;  4/20/68 went up to A Snowe over to Fred's down to Homer's Gib & Albert came over;  
6/30/68 Abiram & Gib  called;  9/20/69 Uncle Abiram & Gib came over shod his oxen he altered Dels bull's;  11/1/69 A 
daughter to G G Ives;  3/6/70 went up to Howard's called to Uncle Gilbert's Griffin's folks came over spent the evening;  
10/8/71 Mother was worse Father went after Dr. Ben____ about 4 oclock.  Gib & Rufus Fargo came over in the 
evening;  

Ives, Grover S [Adelbert's son? or a store?]  [Cash Account 1872] Oct 5th G S Ives sundr[ies?] $5.00;  [1872 diary 
Memoranda]  Dr  G Ives & Murphy Crockery $5.62 Three Oysters pint $0.45  1 Pr rubbers $0.70 sum = $6.77;  
Ives, Howard [Uncle Silas's son]  7/1/63 Silas & Howard came up [to Sheff's] & mowed;  6/26/64 Henry Maltby & 
Howard came up went up to the pond went in swimming;  5/12/66 went up to Father's...Howard was there;  10/15/67  
Howard & his wife came down went to a dance in the evening;  12/13/67 shod Howard's horse;  5/4/69 Howard & wife 
and Mrs Hazard came up spent the afternoon;  7/21/69 shod Howard's horse;  1/10/70 Harrison & I went up to 
Howard's Hube went down with the stage & Mrs Pratt went up;  3/6/70 went up to Howard's called to Uncle Gilbert's 
Griffin's folks came over spent the evening;  9/11/70 Del & I went down to Howard's down to Sheff's came up to F 
Hale's;  1/9/71 shod horses for Father...[one for] H Ives...Howard & wife came up;  4/4/71 Howard & wife came up;  
8/29/71 went down to Sheff's with Bravo up by Howard's took tea Mrs Hazard was there from Atcheson Kansas, Joel D 
Thorpe was buried at Colebrook River;  
Ives, Aunt Julia  4/24/63 was not any better Silas & Julia came up sent after the Dr again;  9/30/63 Aunt Julia come up 
& got a horse shod;  9/3/64 Uncle Silas & Aunt Julia came up shod his horse;  10/10/64 Uncle Thaddeus & his wife & 
Uncle Abiram & his wife here a visiting;  12/13/66 Abiram went over to Viet's to Thanksgiving Uncle Silas, Julia & 
Grandmother came up [to Abiram's?] stayed all night;  7/3/67 went over to Captain's to a raising Aunt Julia & Mrs 
Taylor came up;  7/9/67 Aunt Julia came got some work done;  8/30/70 Uncle Silas Aunt Julia & Grandmother came 
up, stayed all night;  



Page 54 C W Ives Names 1862-72

Ives, Julia Selinda ["Len"]  6/14/63 went to Sandisfield to meeting funeral Sermon of F Seymour & J J [?] Smith soldiers 
carried over Georgie & Lu & Selenda;  10/22/63 went to New Boston carried the girls down got their pictures;  12/1/63 
carried the girls to J Hodges;  8/26/64 went down to Colebrook River with Selenda to get our picture taken stayed to 
Grandfather's all night;  9/1/64 went down to Abiram's in the evening with Selenda;  9/4/64 Selenda & I went over to 
Montville to meeting stayed to Mr Hotchkiss all night went up to Mr Stratton's in evening;  1/12/65 Truman & Selenda 
came over stayed all night [at Del's in Salisbury];  6/9/65 Erastus Hale Truman & Selenda came out [to Del's, 
Salisbury];  6/10/65 went up to Ellen Brown's in the afternoon with E Hale Truman Selenda & Laura went to Cooper's to 
a dance;  7/3/65 went...over to Hotchkiss with Len in the afternoon;  9/17/65 wrote to Selenda;  9/29/65 went to cattle 
show Truman & Erastus Selenda & Miss Wheeler came down Erastus & Selenda stayed all night;  2/23/66 went over to 
F Hale's with the girls in the eve had a dance;

Ives, Julia Selinda  3/9/66 went over to Uncle Abiram's in the eve with True & the girls Fannie & Maggie Bidwell were 
there;  4/28/66 went to Winsted Len & Erastus went down with me;  8/11/66 went berrying with the girls over to Burke's 
stopped to Captain's eat supper;  10/5/66 went to Winsted with the girls & True & Erastus to a circus & menagerie;  
10/16/66 Len came down to keep house while Hall's folks were gone to Blandford;  2/22/67 Selenda came over [to 
Abiram's];  2/25/67 cut sap wood Abiram went to auction Fannie & Selenda went over to True's;  2/27/67 went over to 
Father's carried Len over & Jenny Griffin to U [?] Denslow's;  4/21/67 Del, the girls & I went over to S [F?] Hale's in eve; 
4/26/67 Del & Len went to Winsted;  5/9/67 went over to the Captain with the girls;  5/31/67 peeled bark came home the
girls came up & got us went over to the Captain's to a party;  6/23/67 went to Church with the girls & Del;  7/6/67 went 
to Winsted with Rat Len went down to Silas's sent some money to H Maltbie;  7/20/67 Del Len & Rat went to the River;
Ives, Julia Selinda  8/3/67 went over to S Hale's with Fannie the girls & Rat went up to the center by Marshall's home in 
the evening;  8/20/67 the girls brought Del over [to Fox's?];  11/22/67 Del & Len went to Winsted;  11/27/67 Father 
brought Len & me to Westfield took the [RR] cars to Middletown the boat to Chester;  12/5/67 went over to Burt hill 
school house to a prayer meeting with Clara & Len;  1/15/68 went to the River to Donation with the girls;  1/30/68 went 
over to Abiram's with the girls to a candy party stayed all night;  2/2/68 went to Church with Mother & Len wrote to Aunt 
Lurene;  2/21/68 went to A Fowler's to the young folk's prayer meeting with Len & Clara;  2/26/68 went to prayer 
meeting with Len & Clara;  3/1/68 went to Church W G [West Granville] Fannie & Theresa Hale, Eddy Fowler & 
Selenda united with the Church;  3/24/68 went out to Len's in evening;  4/9/68 went over to H Dowd with Lene [meant to
write Len?] carried her home;  4/18/68 went up to Len's [Lon's?] in eve;  5/3/68 Del Len & Ella went to Church;  5/10/68 
Byron & Len & Ella Clarke came over in evening;  6/15/68 went down to O E Slocum's with Len & Georgia in eve;  6/17/
Ives, Julia Selinda  6/19/68 went down on the hill with Len & Georgia called to Miller's;  6/20/68 went a berrying with the 
girls;  7/2/68 carried Len down to O E Slocum's;  8/23/68 went to Winsted got Len came up to Howd's;  10/16/68 Father 
Mother & Len went to Winsted gone all night;  10/20/68 Selenda went over to Downs;  1/3/69 went to Church with the 
girls & Del;  1/7/69 A big sleigh ride from New Boston to Winsted Del & Miss Booth Lucius & the girls went Lu & I went 
to New Boston in the evening to a dance;  1/10/69 went over to A Downs with Lu Del & the girls made some molasses 
candy;  1/17/69 Father Mother Del Len & Joe went to Church;  2/25/69 went to the River with the girls;  3/8/69 Del & 
Len went to New Boston in the evening;  3/19/69 Del & the girls went to Wm Howd's a visiting;  3/25/69 the girls Del & I 
went to J Daniels in eve visited M [or "N"?] Johnson's;  5/20/69 the girls brought Dim and the tools down came to 

Tiffanys to board [to peel bark for A M Perkins];  [Cash Account 1869 July] 3rd Soap for Len $0.65;  9/11/69 Nel Brown 
came up brought Len up;  9/19/69 went to Church with the girls;  
Ives, Julia Selinda  9/24/69 Dim and the girls went to Granville;  10/10/69 Father and the girls went to Church;  10/12/69 
Del & the girls started for Riverton Cattle show;  10/17/69 Father Mother & Len went to Church;  10/21/69 Father 

Mother & Len went to Winsted;  10/24/69 Del & the girls went to Church;  [Cash Account 1869 Nov] 15th Len $0.75;  

3/25/70 Father & Len went on the hill Del went over to Seymour's in the evening;  [Cash Account 1870 July] 24th Len on 
trunk $1.50 Received;  8/20/70 Len came up Dim went down with her;  9/1/70 Father and the girls went to New 
Hartford;  9/27/70 Lib came over [to L Smith's?] Dim & Len went home with her;  11/24/70 came back [to L Smith's?] 
brought Len over had Del's horse;  1/5/71 Father came over brought Len over [to L Smith's];  1/14/71 Father [went] to 
West Granville got Len;  1/26/71 Father brought Len over [to L Smith's?];  5/14/71 Miss Burt came down went to 
Church with the girls;  5/23/71 the girls went to West Granville in afternoon;  6/3/71 the girls went to Granville stayed all 
night;  8/5/71 Father & Len went to Winsted;
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Ives, Julia Selinda  8/6/71 Selenda bled at the mouth badly [dentist in Winsted yesterday?];  9/9/71 went to New Boston 
up to Wm Clark's Len came home;  9/13/71 Len & I went to Cotton's in the evening;  9/18/71 went over to L Smith's 
stayed all night with Len;  9/19/71 went to Otis to Cattle Show carried Len & Em Smith stayed to L Smith's all night;  
9/22/71 Father & Len went to Winsted carried down a calf & sheep;  10/5/71 Father & the girls went to Winsted to 
Horse Show Mother taken sick sent for S Cooley's wife to stay a while with her;  10/14/71 Mr Cotton & wife Florence 
Burt Selenda & I went over to L Smith's a chestnutting;  10/19/71 got Cotton to carry Len to L Smith's got out manure 
for him;  10/24/71 Cotton & Len came over [to L Smith's] in the evening;  1/12/72 Father & the girls went to Winsted;  
1/16/72 Father & the girls went over to West Granville to attend the funeral of Wm Treat;  1/17/72 Donation at Tolland 
Father and the girls went;  2/7/72 Del & Len came over in evening went to singing school;  3/1/72 Del came and 
brought Len over home;  3/29/72 went over and got Guern [possibly meant to write Len?];
Ives, Julia Selinda [contd]  5/20/72 Len & I came over to Ira Smith's stayed all night;  5/21/72 went down to Winsted 
with Em & Len left Len down there came back to Mr Smith stayed all night;  5/27/72 went over to Winsted got Len 
brought her up to Mr Smith went down to the River stayed all night to Uncle Silas;  6/1/72 Len took the stage for 
Winsted;  6/23/72 went to Church at No Colebrook with Em & Len Tommy & Dim came over came home brought Len 
over;  7/15/72 carried Em & Len up to C Moores to get some pictures framed called to Mrs Bentleys they went up to 
Lawrence;  8/3/72 went a huckleberrying with the girls;  10/29/72 run the mill Father & Len came over in the afternoon;  
11/28/72 Father came over & carried Em and me over to to take Thanksgiving supper with him Del & wife Lib & Len 
were there stayed all night;  

Ives, Levi [Silas's son]  9/6/62 Levi traded horses with Joe Miller;  9/11/62 went to New Boston with Levi;  4/22/63 Levi 
Ives came down got some work done;  7/10/63 went over to Levi's up to Cases around to Babcock farm;  12/10/63 
shod a horse for Levi Ives;  1/24/64 Father & Mother went up to Levis in the evening;  1/31/64 went over to Levis found 
him comfortable;  5/4/67 Levi came up shod his horses;  7/28/66 Silas & Levi came up went to the pond fishing;  
10/18/67 shod 2 horses for Levi M[N?]arrida & Mrs Griffin came up;  11/19/67 shod a pair of oxen...for Levi & a horse;  
2/21/68 shod Levi's horse;  6/12/68 Father went down to Levi got a bbl cider;  7/24/68 went down to Levi to Griffin's to 
the River New Boston & home;  9/5/68 went down to Levi's up to New Boston home;  9/9/68 Levi came up Del got 
home from Barrington;  9/12/68 came home [from Hotchkiss] called to Levi's & to Hunt's Andrew went on the Hill in the 
evening got Fred very dark;  12/14/68 Levi Ives died at 6 oclock aged 25 years;
Ives, Levi [Silas's son]  12/16/68 Attended the funeral of Levi.  Discourse by Rev Mr Felton assisted by [blank space] 
from Hosea 5-15 In their affliction they will seek me early A large attendance;  

Ives, Lucy Root [Uncle Abiram's wife]  4/5/62 Uncle Abiram & wife, True & Misses Case & Root came up to Dels we 
danced in the evening;  12/19/66 Abiram & Lucy went to meeting in the evening;  12/26/66 cut logs & drafted wood to 
the house By & Lucy went to Hartford to Donation;  2/2/67 Abiram & Lucy went to the River;  3/7/67 Abiram & Lucy went
over to True's Aralia [? True's daughter or Rufus's mother?] was sick Rufus came up;  10/24/70 went to New Boston up 
to Abiram's Aunt Lucy was sick;  9/11/72 went home Uncle Abiram & wife came over;  
Ives Hakes, Mary Roseltha [sister]  6/8/62 wrote a letter to Truman & one to Roseltha;  9/25/62 went to Winsted carried 
down Rosa & Mrs S Hoyle [or "Hagler"?];  9/19/63 Rosa came home;  9/23/63 carried Roseltha to Winsted came back 
through Hitchcocksville to cattle show;  11/22/63 wrote a letter to Rosa;  11/26/63 Rosa came home [Thanksgiving];  
11/30/63 went down to the River carried down some corn got it ground carried Rosa to Grandfathers;  8/21/64 wrote 
to...Rosa;  2/7/65 went to Winsted carried Rosa down;  4/20/65 wrote a letter to Rosa;  5/2/65 Rosa was married at 
Winsted;  5/3/65 Rosa & her husband came here stayed all night [Del's, Salisbury?];  5/27/65 received letters from 
sisters [Rosa & Lib?] & Malynthe;  7/30/65 wrote to Mel Hale & to Rosa;  8/14/65 had a letter from Rosa;  12/26/65 
wrote to Rosa;  12/29/65 received a letter from Rosa;  1/11/66 Joe & Rosa came back to Winsted he called at the shop 
went down there in the evening;  2/4/66 went down to Rosa's had nap took supper came up & called at Denison's;  
8/29/67 wrote to Rosa & Mary Jane;  11/3/67 wrote to Rosa;

Ives Hakes, Mary Roseltha [sister]  5/31/68 Joe & Rosa came stayed all night went to Church in afternoon carried 
Grandmother over to Abiram's in eve;  10/3/69 wrote to Ellen Brown & Rosa;  12/25/69 went up home Dowd & wife 
went to New Boston [on stage] with me Rosa went up home;  1/4/70 went up to Uncle Abiram's Miss [Mrs?] Dowd went 
up to Boston [on stage] Rosa went back, a passenger up to New Boston;  9/5/72 Rosa and the children were up a 
visiting [at Father's?];  9/12/72 came to Father's with Em Del & wife Rosa & her children took supper had chicken roast 
beef and watermelon went up to H Johnson's to a dance;  9/14/72 Father carried Rosa & the children over to Del's;  
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Ives, Uncle Silas  4/21/62 went to Canton broke L [M, or N?] Twinings Sulky axle got Uncle Silas's buggy stayed to 
Warren Higley's;  4/24/63 was not any better Silas & Julia came up sent after the Dr again;  7/1/63 Silas & Howard 
come & mowed [at S Murphy's];  10/2/63 shod a pair of Stags for uncle Silas;  11/25/63 shod oxen & horse for Silas 
Ives;  12/25/63 shod a horse for Silas Ives;  6/27/64 shod a horse for Silas Ives;  7/27/64 Grandfather & uncle Silas 
were up;  7/30/64 shod a pair of cattle for Silas Ives;  9/3/64 Uncle Silas & Aunt Julia came up shod his horse;  
10/10/64 Uncle Thaddeus & his wife & Uncle Abiram & his wife here a visiting;  10/12/64 Silas came up got some work 
done;  11/5/65 went Grandfather's he was sick George & his wife & Uncle Silas were there came home with Father Rat 
Hale James Williams & wife Corinthe & J [?] Tarnter [?] came in the evening;  7/7/66 went to Riverton with Father got a 
Scythe stopped to Uncle Silas's;  7/28/66 Silas & Levi came up went to the pond fishing;  10/27/66 went to Winsted with 
Erastus came up to Uncle Silas's stayed over night;
Ives, Uncle Silas  12/13/66 Abiram went over to Viet's to Thanksgiving Uncle Silas, Julia & Grandmother came up [to 
Abiram's?] stayed all night;  12/14/66 cut sap wood [for Abiram?] True & his wife came over Silas went back;  3/10/67 
went with Father to the River Dr Newton came went to Del's took tea to Silas's;  4/19/67 Uncle Silas came up got some 
work done;  5/13/67 went to Winsted took my money out of the Bank $77.63 helped raise Silas's shop;  7/6/67 went to 
Winsted with Rat Len went down to Silas's sent some money to H Maltbie;  12/16/67 shod a pair of stags for Silas Ives; 
6/14/68 went down to Joe's went over West Street with him & Lu to Church in afternoon Georgia came home with me 
called to Uncles;  8/5/68 came home [from Hotchkiss's, Winsted] took breakfast at Silas's went to mowing on Chestnut 
hill;  10/22/68 shod a horse for Silas Amanda & Marilda came up with it;  5/29/69 went up to Winsted and up to Sheff's 
stayed to Uncle Silas saw Uncle Thad;  5/30/69 went up to home with Uncle Silas & Thadd came back to Winsted with 
Frank Manchester;  
Ives, Uncle Silas  3/5/70 went up to the silk mill stayed to Uncle Silas all night;  8/30/70 went to New Boston in evening 
Uncle Silas Aunt Julia & Grandmother came up, stayed all night;  9/3/70 went over to S Hale's down to the River stayed 
to Uncle Silas all night;  11/26/70 came home [from Emma's?] through C R & N B took dinner with Uncle Silas called to 
Dowd;  11/18/71 Uncle Silas Sheff & cousin George & their wives went away about noon [Father's Silver Anniversary 
yesterday];  2/2/72 went to Colebrook River & home again took tea to Uncle Silas Sarah was at home;  2/28/72 went to 
Colebrook River with Erastus called to S Hale's when we went down took Dinner to Uncle Silas Albert Ives came up 
with me stayed all night;  3/15/72 went to Winsted Em went down with me called and took supper at Uncle Silas;  
5/27/72 went over to Winsted got Len brought her up to Mr Smith went down to the River stayed all night to Uncle Silas; 
10/31/72 Uncle Silas Ives killed almost instantly in his mill at Colebrook River by being caught in a rope belt and drawn 
around a shaft Aged 63 years;  
Ives, Uncle Silas  11/3/72  went to Colebrook River by Fathers attended the Funeral of Uncle Silas Sermon by Dr 
Babcock text ["]Work while tis day for the night cometh when no man can work["] stayed to Father's over night wrote to 
Aunt Lurene;
Ives, Uncle Thaddeus [Osborn?]  9/24/64 Uncle Thad & his wife came down from Ohio;  10/10/64 Uncle Thaddeus & 
his wife & Uncle Abiram & his wife here a visiting;  10/13/64 Uncle Thad[d]eus started for home;  7/7/67 wrote a letter to 
Uncle Thaddeus;  10/20/67 wrote to Uncle Thad;  5/26/69 Uncle Thaddeus came down from Ohio;  5/29/69 went up to 
Winsted and up to Sheff's stayed to Uncle Silas saw Uncle Thad;  5/30/69 went up to home with Uncle Silas & Thadd 
came back to Winsted with Frank Manchester;  
Ives, Truman W (Uncle Abiram's son)  4/5/62 Uncle Abiram & wife, True & Misses Case & Root came up to Dels we 
danced in the evening;  10/2/62 went to the river came home True brought us up stayed all night;  12/13/62 Truman 

stayed all night;  Memoranda  Truman W Ives Dr  April 11, 1862 May By One Watch  $7.00  Received Jan 10th 1863 

$1.00;  1/11/63 cousin True stayed here all night shod horse for him;  2/19/63 tried to settle accounts with True;  5/3/63 

Abiram & True came up here;  9/26/63 Abiram & True came & got the heifers;  10/9/63 True come along with beef;  

Memoranda  Truman Ives Dr  Oct 15th by old iron $0.60  31st  $1.43  Nov 4th  $1.10  7th  $4.03;  2/8/64 came home with 

By & True;  8/8/64 True & Henry Maltby came here;  9/2/64 True, Henry & Seth Maltby, Jennie Griffin & Fanny Bidwell 

came up here went to Noyes pond sailing;  11/25/64 came back to Salisbury Truman brought us to New Marlboro 

Thomson home;  2/14/65 Truman brought me to Montville came up to L Bosworth stayed there with Cousin Truman;
Ives, Truman W (Uncle Abiram's son)  1/21/66 spent the day with True Fanny Bidwell was there a visiting Harvey 
Parsons came there [Uncle Abiram's?] in the evening;  3/9/66 went over to Uncle Abiram's in the eve with True & the 
girls Fannie & Maggie Bidwell were there;  12/4/66 commenced work for Abiram sawed logs went over to True's in the 
afternoon;  12/9/66 came over to Abiram's with True [cousin?, or possibly brother?];  12/11/66 Albert & Gib went over & 
got the oxen shod cut logs True worked a piling;  12/14/66 cut sap wood [for Abiram?] True & his wife came over Silas 
went back;  1/1/67 went to New Boston over to True's up to Chiron Smith's with Uncle got a yoke;  1/4/67 went [from 
Abiram's] to New Boston with True in the evening;  1/12/67 came to New Boston with By up to Father's with True & Rat; 
1/16/67 True came over in the evening played cards;  1/20/67 True & wife Dowd & Doans came in the evening;  
1/27/67 True came over trade a buggy for a cow with By;  2/2/67 True here in the evening;  2/3/67 went over to True's 
called to Fargo's;
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Ives, Truman W (Uncle Abiram's son)  2/15/67 went to H Dowd played cards True's horse got away went with him up 
town around home;  2/18/67 a Daughter born to True;  2/20/67 went over to True's in the evening;  2/24/67 went over to 
True's Fargo's, J [S?] Viet's True Harvey Parsons here in the evening played cards made candy;  2/25/67 Fannie & 
Selenda went over to True's;  3/2/67 By went to New Boston Harvey & Fannie came from Viet's True got some tubs;  
3/3/67 True, Rufus & H Parsons came here [Abiram's] in the evening;  3/4/67 Fannie went over to True's;  3/7/67 
Abiram & Lucy went over to Trues Aralia was sick Rufus came up;  5/20/67 went over to True's traded a heifer for a 
bull;  11/5/67 went to Town meeting down to Hodge's came over to True's;  11/9/67 put two new beams in True's sled;  
11/11/67 came over to True's cut wood went up to Good's to evening meeting;  11/14/67 cut wood [at Abiram's?] True 
went to Auction at Bristol's;  11/15/67 Del & True went over to Father's;  11/18/67 shod a pair of oxen for True;  
12/27/67 went over to True's woods split & piled wood;  
Ives, Truman W (Uncle Abiram's son)  12/30/67 took up wood over to Trues came home [from Abiram's];  Memoranda 

[1867 diary] Cr May 22nd To Truman Ives $7.00 Sept 7th Boot between cows $7.50 Dr $9.50 $7.50 Cr Jan 9th 1868 By 

cash $20.00 Between pistol & book $0.50 Settled June 30th 1868 Paid in full;  10/18/68 went over across to Abiram's 
rode over to True's with True H Leonard came along drunk;  2/4/69 went over to B E Moore's H Dowd came over we all 
went up to True's to a candy party;  2/10/69 went to West Street school house with Hube:  took in True went to 
Monterey took dinner through Hartsville New Marlboro to New Boston stayed with Hube;  2/11/69 True & Hube put their 
horses together drove to New Marlboro Hube & I went to Barrington saw Mrs Clark Hube got an examination from Mrs 
Waters;  9/17/69 went over to True's & to Uncle Abiram's;  [Memoranda 1869 diary] Truman Ives Dr For carding wool 
$1.38;  9/2/70 True came over;  3/1/71 went with Del to lower South Sandisfield across to East Indias [?] left him came 
over to True's and home;  
Ives, Truman Priest [brother]  5/8/62 Father & Truman stopped when they [went] by [E R Holcomb's?] with cattle;  
6/8/62 wrote a letter to Truman & one to Roseltha;  6/27/62 came home with Truman;  9/5/63 Father & Truman mowed 
across the road;  4/16/64 went up to Burts with Truman looked [at] a pair of cattle Father bought of G W Granger;  
6/2/64 worked in the shop Truman brought some potatoes down to Phelps;  7/6/64 Frank & Mel & his boy Father & 
Truman come down [to Hall's] & worked got in 9 loads;  1/1/65 wrote a letter...to Truman;  1/12/65 Truman & Selenda 
came over stayed all night [at Del's in Salisbury];  1/16/65 Truman & Mell went back;  3/23/65 Truman brought me to 
New Marlboro came through Mill River to Salisbury very muddy going;  6/9/65 Erastus Hale Truman & Selenda came 
out [to Del's,Salisbury?];  6/10/65 went up to Ellen Brown's in the afternoon with E Hale Truman Selenda & Laura went 
to Cooper's to a dance;  6/12/65 Truman went home;  6/26/65 received a letter from Truman answered it;  7/28/65 
received letters from Truman & Georgia;  8/6/65 wrote to Georgia & to Truman;
Ives, Truman Priest [brother]  8/26/65 sick did not work lay abed went to Mrs Brown's Truman came out;  8/27/65 
Truman & Del went to Barrington to Camp meeting;  8/28/65 went down to Mike's with Truman he & Mother went 
home;  9/29/65 went to cattle show Truman & Erastus Selenda & Miss Wheeler came down Erastus & Selenda stayed 
all night;  11/11/65 Del came back [to Salisbury from Tolland] Truman with him;  11/26/65 wrote to...Truman;  12/9/65 
received letters from Georgie & Truman;  12/22/65 commenced plating [hoes in Winsted?] Truman came down;  
1/14/66 wrote...to Truman;  1/17/66 Truman came down went to Father Kemp's show at Camp's Hall filled to 
overflowing;  2/7/66 Truman came down went to New Boston with him to a Ball Charles [Thorpe] went;  2/13/66 
Truman came down [Winsted];  3/9/66 went over to Uncle Abiram's in the eve with True & the girls Fannie & Maggie 
Bidwell were there;  3/22/66 cut a road Truman drew logs to mill;  3/24/66 Truman went to the mill with logs;  4/14/66 
helped Erastus [sugaring at Babbitt's?] Mel Francis & Truman came down;
Ives, Truman Priest [brother]  4/21/66 went to Winsted with Erastus & Truman stopped to the River to a show;  5/6/66 
Truman brought Erastus & I down to S Snowe's;  5/14/66 Truman brought us down peeled bark;  6/22/66 peeled bark 
True helped us;  6/25/66 peeled bark Father & True helped us;  6/26/66 peeled bark Father & True helped us;  6/29/66 
peeled bark True helped us;  7/2/66 peeled bark Father & True helped us;  7/3/66 peeled bark True & Father helped 
us;  8/26/66 went up to Case's from there to the reservoir with True & Rat;  10/5/66 went to Winsted with the girls & 
True & Erastus to a circus & menagerie;  12/9/66 came over to Abiram's with True [cousin, or possibly brother?];  
3/8/67 True was sick Father went to the River got some medicine for him; 3/9/67 True was comfortable sick;  3/11/67 
Father done some work for Lawrence sit up with True;  3/12/67 went to New Boston up to By's helped take care of 
True;  3/13/67 sit up with True Rat stayed here & helped take care of him;  3/16/67 Truman taken worse at half past 3 

died at 71/2 o'clock with Hemorrhage of the bowels;
Ives, Truman Priest [brother]  3/19/67 we buried our brother Funeral services attended by Mr Maine from Deut 32nd 

chapter 29th verse ["O that they were wise, that they understood this, that they would consider their latter end"] a sad 
day to all his friends & acquaintances;  Memoranda [1867 diary] Moore's Job  A S [J?] Ives 1 pail & plates $0.65 
Stephen Hibbard $3.50 G [T?] G [?] Ives for Flour $0.50;  
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Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father] 1/18/62 came to West Granville with E R Holcomb came to Tolland;  1/21/62 helped 
father saw logs;  1/22/62 helped father cut wood at the wood pile;  2/10/62 on the gain [measles]...wrote a letter to 
Father;  2/15/62 settled with E R Holcomb, due me $1.00 Father came down [to CT] and I came home;  2/26/62 Father 
& I went down to H C Browns A Osborn & traded the stags for a cow traded cow & steers with Abiram for a pair of 
steers;  3/2/62 went home about noon took the horse went back to Grandfather's;  3/9/62 Father was taken sick called 
the doctor Adelbert came up & got me & we came home watched with Father all night;  3/12/62 Uncle Abiram came up 
cut some dish blocks sit up with Father all night;  3/14/62 Father very sick Doctor came up, watched with him all night;  
3/15/62 his fever turned watched with Del;  3/16/62 L Twining, A Cowles, H Hotchkiss called in Father very sick;  
3/18/62 Grandfather & Grandmother came up Father very sick Dr called;  3/21/62 Del went to Granville got some rum 
for Father;  4/9/62 Father went over to L Twining for the first time;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  4/12/62 father & mother went down to Grandfathers in a sleigh;  5/8/62 Father & 
Truman stopped when they [went] by [E R Holcomb's?] with cattle;  5/15/62 bought some potatoes of Father;  6/28/62 
hoed potatoes for father we all went a fishing down the Richardson brook caught 130;  7/21/62 drove up 4 yearlings up 
to Fathers [from J P Hall's?];  9/8/62 Father & I mowed for Mrs Soule [Cowles?] & he went with cheese;  9/13/62 Father 
& I went down to Grandfathers went to Tolland Dr Lucas came down to examine to get off militia roll;  9/17/62 Father 
went to Colebrook;  10/4/62 Father went to New Hartford with cheese;  12/8/62 Father went to Beech plain got the 
School teacher;  12/19/62 Father & Del finished cutting & piling wood down to J P Hall's;  1/9/63 Father & Adelbert went 
to Winsted;  1/19/63 went down to Colebrook River settled up with Sawyer Fishe & Co for Father;  1/20/63 Father 
carried Adelbert to Chester Factories en route for the West;  2/1/63 Dwight [Baxter] was buried our folks went to the 
funeral;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  4/21/63 Father broke up on the knoll joining Captains weak & sick lay abed sent 
after Doctor could not come;  4/28/63 father went to the River;  4/29/63 Hotchkiss & Father spliced a cart nip;  5/1/63 
Father went to New Boston;  6/28/63 went to meeting carried Georgie, Father & Mr Hotchkiss;  7/29/63 came home 
[from F Hale's] went to West Granville with Father;  8/17/63 Sheff came up mowed wheat for Father;  8/18/63 mowed 
for father;  9/5/63 Father & Truman mowed;  9/6/63 father went down & took care A Stillman;  9/7/63 Father taking care 
of Stillman [died 9/9/63];  9/29/63 Father commenced hauling out [char]coal;  10/1/63 Father & I went to Barrington to 
cattle show got out there at 7 o'clock;  10/10/63 Father picked apples in the Carlos lot;  10/11/63 Father worked in the 
shop in evening;  10/24/63 Father took the colt over to Granville to Champlain carried Mrs Treat home;  11/10/63 went 
over to J Hodges got a pair of boots for Father;  11/11/63 Father & Mother started a visiting;  11/16/63 Father & Mother 
came home;  12/22/63 Father shod a pair of cattle for C Deming;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  1/24/64  Father & mother went up to Levis in the evening;  4/15/64 Father sold his 
oxen for $190;  4/16/64 went up to Burts with Truman looked [at] a pair of cattle Father bought of G W Granger;  5/9/64 
Father shod a horse for N Twining;  5/30/64 worked in the shop went up to New Boston Father went to Winsted;  
6/29/64 mowed a little for Father;  7/6/64 Frank & Mel & his boy Father & Truman come down [to Hall's] & worked got in 
9 loads;  7/16/64 mowed for Father across the road [& 18-23 July];  10/8/64 Father & Mother went down to 
Grandfather's in the afternoon;  1/31/65 cut wood for Father 3 loads;  2/2/65 cut wood for Father got up 2 loads;  
3/19/65 came to Father's [from H Hotchkiss] went over to Frank Hales in the evening;  3/20/65 helped Father set his 
sap place;  3/21/65 Father shod a horse for F Hale;  4/26/65 Father & Mother & Lib came over [to Del's, Salisbury?];  
4/28/65 went down to the center with Del & Father up to Chapinville Ellen Brown came down a visiting Jane stayed all 
night;  5/1/65 Father Mother & Lib started for home;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  8/22/65 drew wood Father & Mother came out came up to Del's;  8/23/65 drew 
wood Father came down went up to Del's went up to Joiceville;  8/24/65 Father went home Mother stayed;  11/3/65 
went up to N Fullers with Lu came to New Boston with him went down to Sheff's & home Father & Mother came home 
from York State;  11/5/65 went Grandfather's he was sick George & his wife & Uncle Silas were there came home with 
Father Rat Hale James Williams & wife Corinthe & J [?] Tarnter [?] came in the evening;  11/6/65 came from Father's 
to H Hotchkiss stayed all night;  3/10/66 came down to Winsted with Father saw F D Tyler done some business with 
him stayed to Seth Maltbie over night;  3/21/66 came up [from Grandfather's] to Father's in the afternoon;  3/22/66 
Father & Mother went to Grandfather's;  4/8/66 came [from H Hotchkiss, Sandisfield] to Father's Lewis Gladding came 
over in the evening;  4/15/66 came up to Father's [from Babbitt's?] took Father's Horse loaded up a load of sugar & 
started for Hartford with E Hale;
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Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  4/18/66 came to Father's [from E R Holcomb's, West Granby] Erastus stayed all 
night;  4/25/66 Father went to Salisbury Erastus & I cut wood for Father;  4/27/66 Father came home from Salisbury;  
4/29/66 Father & Mother went down to Grandfather's;  5/3/66 drew stone & helped Father lay wall;  5/9/66 went to the 
River with Dowd bark with Father;  5/12/66 went up to Father's fished up Howard was there;  5/20/66 went up to 
Father's with Snowe;  5/24/66 Grandfather died aged 82 yrs 4 mos & 16 days Father came up just at night;  5/25/66 
peeled bark came up with Father;  6/2/66 peeled bark came up to Father's Ed Horrigon stayed all night & Rat & Mozart; 
6/5/66 finished peeling bark on Camp's came up to Father's;  6/12/66 came [from Aunt Maria's] up to Father's went & 
looked at bark on Gilbert's;  6/16/66 came [from Gilbert's] down to Father's stayed all night;  6/20/66 peeled bark Father 
helped us Mozart [cut leg yesterday] did not work;  6/22/66 peeled bark True helped us went over to Father stayed all 
night;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  6/23/66 hoed for Father in the forenoon played ball in the afternoon;  6/25/66 
peeled bark Father & True helped us;  6/26/66 peeled bark Father & True helped us;  6/29/66 peeled bark True helped 
us came down to Father's he went to Collinsville;  7/2/66 peeled bark Father & True helped us;  7/3/66 peeled bark 
True & Father helped us;  7/5/66 hoed potatoes for Father;  7/6/66 finished hoeing for Father;  7/7/66 went to Riverton 
with Father got a Scythe stopped to Uncle Silas's;  7/14/66 mowed finished Clarke's haying came up to Father's;  
7/26/66 mowed for Father got in two load went to New Boston in the evening got Erastus;  7/27/66 mowed Erastus & I 
helped Father got 1 load;  8/1/66 mowed got in a lot came [from J P Hall's?] up to Father's;  8/8/66 Father finished 
haying;  8/10/66 went with Father up to Snow took some cattle up;  8/14/66 Father shod a pair of cattle for Vanwert a 
pair of horses for Fuller he sold his white faced oxen to W Harding for $320;  8/28/66 Father, Mother & Grandmother 
started for Salisbury [Del's];
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  9/1/66 came up to Father's Baird came to [J P?] Hall's;  9/4/66 came [from 
splitting wood at Nelson's?] up home went to New Boston took the Stage to Otis stage to R Smith;  9/24/66 chopped & 
piled wood [at Belden's?] came up home;  9/30/66 came home [from Salisbury?];  10/6/66 dug potatoes for Father;  
10/29/66 threshed for Father;  11/27/66 Del Steve & I started from his house at 3 o'clock came home...Father met us at 
lower south west;  11/29/66 Del & I...eat chicken pie to Father's played cards in the evening;  11/30/66 Father & Lib 
went to Salisbury with Del;  12/23/66 went over to Fathers with Lu [Hotchkiss];  1/12/67 came to New Boston with By up 
to Father's with True & Rat;  2/27/67 went over to Father's carried Len over & Jenny Griffin to U Denslow's;  3/8/67 R 
Fargo brought me home True was sick Father went to the River got some medicine for him;  3/9/67 Father went with a 
load of bark True was comfortable sick;  3/10/67 went with Father to the River Dr Newton came went to Del's took tea 
to Silas's;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  3/11/67 Father done some work for Lawrence sit up with True;  3/17/67 Dr came 
up Father & Del went over to Crane's for a Coffin down to the River to make arrangements for the Funeral;  3/23/67 
went with Father up to the Higgin's farm down to Bronson's cut some sap quills;  3/26/67 Father went to Sheff's;  
4/18/67 Del came over & Lib Father & mother went down to the River;  4/20/67 Father Del & I went over to Abiram's, up 
to Curtis Deming's to an Auction;  5/2/67 Father went to the River;  5/30/67 peeled bark Father & Henry Maltbie came 
up;  5/31/67 peeled bark came home the girls came up & got us;  6/8/67 peeled bark Father helped us came home 
went to New Boston in evening;  6/11/67 peeled bark Father & Rat helped us;  6/19/67 peeled bark Father came over & 
worked part of the day;  6/21/67 peeled bark Father came over & worked;  6/26/67 went up to the job peeled bark 
Father helped us went up to Case's;  7/23/67 a good hay day commenced on Father's;  9/4/67 finished Fox's haying 
Father came over;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  9/19/67 went up home [from Northway's] Mrs Treat was there a sewing;  10/12/67 
Father went to New Boston;  10/23/67 Father & Del went over to Leonard's got a pair of steers;  10/24/67 Father & 
Mother went to Winsted;  10/25/67 Father went down to C [?] Marshall's to evening meeting;  11/15/67 went [from 
Abiram's?] up to Fox's out to New Marlboro with him Del & True went over to Father's;  11/20/67 Father went to 

Winsted Del came home;  Cash Account November 21st From Father $2.20 Received $1.10 [2.20 in pencil, rest in ink; 

from here on in pencil]  22nd  Paid Father $5.00;  11/27/67 Father brought Len & me to Westfield took the [RR] cars to 

Middletown the boat to Chester;  Cash Account December 9th From Father $5.00 Received;  1/9/68 Father went to 
Winsted;  1/18/68 drew 2 loads of wood Father drew 2 loads;  1/20/68 Father & Mother went over to Clark's to see Del;  
1/21/68 Smith & Welden called made application for an accidental insurance policy Father & Mother gone;  1/22/68 Del 
came home with Father;
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Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  [1868 Cash Account Jan 25th] Borrowed of Father $5.00 Received;  2/11/68 
Father & Mother went to the River;  3/13/68 Father went to New Boston;  3/28/68 Father gathered & boiled syruped off 
down to the Wright place;  4/30/68 Father went over to Bosworth's;  5/1/68 Father Mother & Aunt Polly went to Winsted; 
5/4/68 Father & Mother came back from Winsted;  5/10/68 Father & I went to Church;  5/15/68 Father went up to 
Sheff's with Bravo;  6/8/68 peeled bark L Frost & A Bodurtha helped us Charlie came back in evening Father came up 
& worked;  6/9/68 peeled bark Frost & Bodurtha worked in forenoon Father came up all quit at 3 o'clock;  6/10/68 
finished B Moore's job L Frost A Case Father & Charlie worked came home;  6/12/68 Father went down to Levi got a 
bbl cider;  6/17/68 Father Mother & Len went to Winsted;  7/11/68 mowed in the lower lot for Twining got in 4 loads 
Father worked for him;  7/21/68 Abiram came over Father went over to Sandisfield Anna Fosdick came over with them;  

[1868 Cash Account] August 4th Father for potatoes $5.00;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  9/16/68 Father & Mother went to Blandford to Cattle Show;  9/18/68 Father came 
home from Blandford Beecher came along;  9/21/68 dug potatoes Father broke up;  [1868 Cash Account] September 

22nd Charles Snow for work in haying for Father $5.00;  10/6/68 dug potatoes Father & I dug 25 bushel;  10/16/68 
Father Mother & Len went to Winsted gone all night;  10/20/68 Father & I dug potatoes for A Snow;  11/22/68 H 
Whitney came over Father went over helped take care of Anson through the night;  11/27/68 Father watched with 
Anson;  12/1/68 Father & Lyman went to auction to Treat's;  12/19/68 mended a pair of boots for Father;  12/29/68 
Father butchered for Hall;  12/31/68  Father & Del went a fishing with the Hales, the women went Lurinda Jane Salome 

& Alfred Belden called & took tea;  [Cash Account 1869 January] 2nd  1/2 lb Tobacco for Father $0.45;  1/9/69 Father & 
Mother went to Montville Ella Downs came over;  1/17/69 Father Mother Del Len & Joe [Hakes] went to Church;  
1/21/69 Father & Mother went to Winsted;  2/1/69 Father & Del went to Sandisfield;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father; contd]  [Cash Account March] 13th  1/2 lb tea for Father $0.48;  3/24/69 Father and Del 

scalded tubs;  3/29/69 Father & Del gathered some sap;  [Cash Account 1869] April 3rd Sundries for Father $1.35;  
5/19/69 helped Father plant;  10/8/69 Father & Del went up to T Harrington's to trade oxen;  10/9/69 Father & Del came 
back from Harrington drove the steers home;  10/10/69 Father and the girls went to Church;  10/17/69 Father Mother & 
Len went to Church;  10/18/69 Father killed a bull for Hall;  10/21/69 Father Mother & Len went to Winsted;  10/26/69  
Father & Mother went to the River;  10/29/69  Father went to Blandford to Convention Dexter Parks nominated for 

Representative;  [Cash Account 1869 Nov] 15th Father $1.00;  11/16/69 Cotton and Father went on the hill;  12/18/69 
went to Winsted with Father came back with Dowd bought a coat [to keep warm while driving the stage?];  3/25/70 
Father & Len went on the hill Del went over to Seymour's in the evening;  4/8/70 set sap trees on Father's set a pan on 
the Wright place;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  4/11/70 gathered sap on the Wright place 6 bbls syrup down on Father's;  

[Memoranda 1870 diary] Maple Sugar  Father 221/4+ 213/4 + 23 = 67  233/4 + 231/4 + 23 + 231/4 + 311/2 = 1243/4 + 67 = 

1913/4;  5/17/70 planted corn for Father Dim helped;  6/6/70 Father brought Dim & me over to L Smith's peeled bark in 
the afternoon;  6/10/70 peeled bark George Bradley cut his foot Father called Lawrence went to New Boston;  6/21/70 
peeled bark Del came up and helped us Father helped Lawrence hoe potatoes;  6/22/70 peeled bark some big trees 
west of the brook Del helped us & Father & Lawrence in the afternoon;  7/2/70 E Roberts stayed to Father's;  7/18/70 
mowed for Father down by the brook;  7/31/70 went to Church all day had a prayer meeting to Father's;  8/23/70 
mowed got in 4 loads Father came up & worked [at Curt Babb's?] Lib came up;  8/26/70 finished one roof of Curt's barn 
Father came up and worked A Case worked;  9/1/70 Father and the girls went to New Hartford;  9/19/70 came back to 
Smith's sawed logs Father came and brought us over;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  9/25/70 went to Church had a meeting at Father's in the evening;  [Cash Account 

1870] October 1st Iron for Father $2.00;  10/2/70 Father & Dim went to Colebrook in the evening;  10/5/70 dug potatoes 
for Father Al stayed here all night;  10/7/70 dug potatoes for Father in the forenoon;  10/18/70 Father brought a pig over 
[to L Smith?];  10/22/70 came [from L Smith's?] over to Father's around by Cowles & Marshall's;  10/29/70 helped 
Lawrence pile logs Father came over helped him saw some shingle stuff came home with him went over to L Twining's 
in the evening;  11/16/70 came back [to L Smith's] with Father's oxen drew out bark Emma's two Nephews from 
Goshen came over;  11/20/70 went over to Father's with his oxen in the evening;  11/24/70 went over to Father's eat 
Thanksgiving supper S Wilcox & Lib were there came back brought Len over had Del's horse;  12/3/70 Father & Lib 
came over [to L Smith's?] in the evening;  12/9/70 had a candy party here [L Smith's?] a very nice time Father came 
over;  1/5/71 Father came over [to L Smith's] brought Len over;
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Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  1/8/71 came [from L Smith's] over to Father's, across the pond called to Cotton's;  
1/9/71 shod horses for Father, L Twining W Johnson H Ives and two for Fargo;  1/11/71 Father carried me to L Smith's 
Wrst Granville came back drove the oxen over;  1/12/71 Del + I cut wood on the north swamp Father drawed it off;  
1/13/71 cut wood on the swamp Father & Del went on the Hill in the evening;  1/14/71 Father [went] to West Granville 
got Len;  1/18/71 Father worked for Captain on the sap house;  1/23/71 helped Father get out his bark;  1/26/71 Father 
brought Len over [to L Smith's];  1/30/71 went to New Boston with bark came back by Father's;  2/4/71 went with two 
loads of bark came back by Father's got a Shoe put on the ox;  2/12/71 came back [from Otis] to Father's called to O 
Northway's to warm;  2/13/71 Father brought us over to Lawrence's;  2/14/71 went over as far as the main road took 
our teams off went to Father's put out stayed all night;  2/16/71 started with bark went as far as Father's stayed all 
night;  2/20/71 started with bark went to Father's got our oxen shod;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  2/23/71 went with bark left the steers to Father's;  2/26/71 went [from Cotton's] 
over in the swamp got some gum came down to Father's;  3/7/71 Father & Del set sap trees on the Wright place;  
3/8/71 Father helped me finish setting his place in the afternoon;  3/10/71 Father & I gathered Sap in his works syruped 
off on the Wright place;  3/11/71 finished gathering at Father's works syruped off emptied [rain from] Sap tubs Father 
went to Granville.  Del helped sugar off;  3/13/71 went on the hill to see Fowler about Sugar got Willie Snowe to help us 
emptied sap tubs drew some wood syruped off on Father's;  3/15/71 gathered and boiled on Father's 17 bbs;  3/16/71 
syruped off on Father's sugared off;  3/17/71 Emma came over with Father stayed all night;  3/18/71 boiled all night on 
Father's;  3/19/71 syruped off on Father's;  3/25/71 helped Father fix a sluice;  3/29/71 helped Father bore over his 

trees;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] March Received by Father $25.00 31st [" "] $50.00 Balance due on Company $40.94 
paid;  4/5/71 helped Father gather sap;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  4/7/71 syruped off for Father sugared off;  4/12/71 helped Father gather his sap 
things in the afternoon;  4/24/71 loaded up bark came [from L Smith's?] over to Father's stayed all night;  4/26/71 came 
over [from L Smith's?] with bark stayed to Father's Sammy Beech stayed here all night;  4/27/71 went over [to L 
Smith's?] loaded up came back to Father's stayed all night;  5/1/71 went with bark through north quarter stayed to 
Father's all night;  5/2/71 came over [to L Smith's] loaded up came over to Father's stayed all night;  5/6/71 went to New
Boston with bark stayed to Father's;  5/8/71 went up through the north part of the town got bark came back to Fathers 
stayed all night;  5/16/71 Father & I went over to Del's helped plant corn;  5/24/71 Father went to Granville corners with 
calves;  6/2/71 helped Father over to Lyman Twining's raise an addition on the back of his house;  6/3/71 Father went 
up to A Gilmore's drew some poles to fix fence around the ox lot;  6/5/71 Father went over to Del's got the oxen;  6/7/71 
Father went to Granville with calves brought them home again;  
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  6/14/71 Father went to Granville Corners with calves;  6/27/71 worked on the road 
at the east end Rufus Fargo helped us Father was sick did not work;  6/28/71 Father went off with calves;  7/1/71 
Father shod horse for N Clark;  7/7/71 C Denslow J & F Cotton Father & I worked for L Twining at haying;  7/19/71 
commenced haying at Father's mowed the knoll above the new barn;  8/5/71 Father & Len went to Winsted;  8/7/71 
went over to Del's with oxen mowed...Father went to Winsted came back by Del's;  8/17/71 went over to Tolland [from 
Del's] drove Father's young cattle over;  8/30/71 Father & Mother went to the River stayed all night;  9/1/71 Father & 
Mother came home;  9/4/71 mowed on Father's swamp got two loads;  9/8/71 Father went to Winsted with a calf;  
9/22/71 Father & Len went to Winsted carried down a calf & sheep;  10/5/71 Father & the girls went to Winsted to 
Horse Show Mother taken sick sent for S Cooley's wife to stay a while with her;  10/6/71 Mother very sick sent to 
Winsted for Father Miss Cotton came down and stayed part of the day;  
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  10/8/71 Mother was worse Father went after Dr Ben____ about 4 oclock.  Gib & 
Rufus Fargo came over in the evening;  10/30/71 came over to Father's with Del with oxen & cart brought some apples 
to Hall's came over to Smith's cut wood in afternoon;  11/6/71 Father and I helped Erastus Hale cut sap wood on L 
Twining's;  11/17/71 Father's Silver wedding about 60 persons present had a very nice time;  11/25/71 Father went to 
Winsted;  12/17/71 Father went over to Del's;  12/25/71 Father & I went up to Orson Snow's bought some hay;  
12/31/71 brought Emma over, called to Del's took supper stayed to Father's all night;  1/2/72 helped Father butcher a 
cow;  1/10/72 took what bark Father & L Twining had to Hull;  1/11/72 cut and got '9' four loads of wood for Father with 
him;  1/12/72 Father & the girls went to Winsted;  1/16/72 Father & the girls went over to West Granville to attend the 
funeral of Wm Treat;  1/17/72 Donation at Tolland Father and the girls went;  1/18/72 Father and Mother went to the 
River a visiting;  1/20/72 Father & Mother came home in the evening;
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Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  1/22/72 Father helped get Fred home;  1/23/72 Father went to Colebrook River;  
2/1/72 cut wood and Father drew to the door;  2/4/72 Father went to New Boston Del came over;  2/19/72 Fred & 
Father went over to S Hale's in evening got a yoke;  2/21/72 Father & Lib went to New Boston west Hamilton came 
home with them;  2/24/72 shod sled chored about sled fell on Father's foot & hurt it;  3/2/72 drew sap wood on Father's 
in the forenoon;  3/12/72 Father carried the gathering tub down to Swenzen;  3/13/72 Father went off with Tobacco;  
3/22/72 T Harrington came down bought the old ox of Father $60;  3/27/72 Father went to the River;  3/30/72 scalded 
sap tubs on Fathers in the forenoon;  4/5/72 set trees and scattered tubs on Fathers;  4/6/72 scattered sap tubs and set 
sap trees on Father's;  4/8/72 gathered sap on Father's sugared off;  4/13/72 gathered sap on Father's;  4/15/72 came 
over to Father's with Em stayed all night John Cotton & wife came down in evening;  4/25/72 gathered Fathers sap tubs 
got a load of hay of Ly Twining;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  4/28/72 went over to Father's up to Cotton's, Father brought me back [to L 
Smith's] went down to R Smith store with him;  5/3/72 went over to Father's with Lawrence;  5/4/72 Em & Ira went to 
Colebrook [I] went over to Father's;  5/6/72 went from Colebrook to Winsted done some trading came through Riverton 
Colebrook River New Boston took supper to Father stayed to Lawrence all night;  5/7/72 went out to Father's got 
Erastus came back to Mrs Bentley's stayed all night;  5/11/72 went out to Father's took supper had a RR meeting, went 
down to the River up to No Colebrook to Ira Smith's stayed all night;  5/12/72 stayed to Mr Smith until 6 o'clock came 
over by Del's to Father's;  5/18/72 Father & Cotton came down to help me [at the mill];  5/25/72 went [from L Smith's] 
down to G Atkins came over to Father's with Em took supper went down to Northway's stayed all night;  6/13/72 came 
[from Ira Smith's] down to the River up to New Boston and to Father's they were to work on the road Erastus was 
helping them;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  6/15/72 helped Father on the road Rat & Del helped him went to New Boston with 
Del;  6/16/72 went over to W Johnson's David Harger went down to New Boston got L Clark stayed to Father's;  
6/17/72 Father carried Clark down to Mrs Bentley's done his chores and then went down & worked on the mill at 
hanging the wheels Clark helped me;  6/22/72 got J Johnson L Frost & Pebles [sic] to help me take down the shop and 
clear away the frame went out to Father's & from there to No Colebrook to Ira Smith's;  6/29/72 got a load of wood for 
Mrs Bentley came out to Father's hoed corn set tobacco went up to Johnson turned my oxen on the Foster lot;  6/30/72 
went over to Del's took breakfast went over to North Colebrook to Mr Smith's came back to Father's;  7/8/72 Father & 
Del came down [to the mill] in the afternoon & shingled;  7/9/72 Father came down & worked went on the mill in 
evening;  7/13/72 started the mill & sawed two logs Father came down went out home with him went over to Del's 
stayed all night;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  7/14/72 went over to No Colebrook Em came back with me took tea to Del's, 
called to O Northway's, went up to Father's stayed all night;  7/22/72 mowed in the afternoon for Lawrence came out to 
Father's in stage;  7/24/72 mowed [at Del's] got in two loads came over to Father's drove the oxen over;  7/25/72 
mowed on Father's across the road;  7/26/72 Father carried me down to the saw mill sawed some boards for Barnes;  
7/27/72 run the mill E Barnes came down came out to Father's he met me on the hill;  7/31/72 Father went to Winsted 
with calves;  8/3/72 G Treat & wife called at Father's;  8/5/72 came over to Father's with Del mowed the back side of 
the lot got in two loads;  8/14/72 sawed logs Father & Bentley came down came out home Cotton came down;  8/16/72 
Father carried me down to the mill sawed some;  8/24/72 mowed on Father's by the old house...went over to Colebrook 
to see Em;  9/3/72 commenced mowing on Mrs Bentley Father & Del helped me;  9/6/72 cut and hung tobacco for 
Father;

Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  9/12/72 came to Father's with Em Del & wife Rosa & her children took supper had 
chicken roast beef and watermelon went up to H Johnson's to a dance;  9/14/72 Father carried Rosa & the children 
over to Del's;  9/15/72 went out to Father's with the horse went up to Cotton's picked some cranberries came back to 
Lawrence's;  9/21/72 run the mill...Em and I went out to Father's stayed all night Erastus was there stayed all night;  
9/22/72 went over to Del's with Em went over to Uncle Abiram's, called to Northway's to Father's came back to 
Lawrence;  9/29/72 came back [from N Colebrook] called at Del's took supper at Father's called to E Slocum's;  10/4/72 
got Robinson's wagon went down to G Atkins he paid me the balance on note went out to Father's stayed all night;  
10/24/72 went over to Father's up to Cotton got some things;  10/29/72 run the mill Father & Len came over in the 
afternoon;  11/1/72 run the mill Father came over to the mill [Uncle Silas killed in his mill in Colebrook River yesterday];
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Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  11/3/72 went to Colebrook River by Father's attended the Funeral of Uncle Silas 
Sermon by Dr Babcock text ["]Work while tis day for the night cometh when no man can work["] stayed to Father's over 
night;  11/10/72 went over to Father's early in the morning went up to Cotton's, Father brought me back [to L Smith's] in 
the evening;  11/13/72 went to Winsted with Father C Sawyer went down with us, stayed to Father's all night;  11/19/72 
run the mill Father came over;  11/22/72 Father & Mother came down to the mill;  11/27/72 Father came over;  11/28/72 
Father came over & carried Em and me over to take Thanksgiving supper with him Del & wife Lib & Len were there 
stayed all night;  11/29/72 Took Father's horse & sleigh & went over to Del's stayed all night;  12/1/72 came [from Ira 
Smith's] back to Father's called to Del's took supper, J Cotton & P Minor came to Father's in the evening;  12/2/72 went 
over to Uncle Abiram's with a sheep went to Del's got some turkey called to Northway's got some chairs & other things, 
Father brought us back [to L Smith's] in afternoon;

Ives, Truman [Cyrus's father, contd]  12/11/72 went over to Father's took the horse carried Lib down to Scra[e?]nton's 
went up to Del's got the oxen came back to Father's stayed all night went over to Wm Howd's in the evening;  12/12/72 
drew four logs over to the mill for Father;  12/23/72 took the oxen over to Father's he brought me back home;  
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's grandfather]  1/19/62 went down to Grandfather's in the afternoon [from Tolland];  2/17/62 went 
to New Boston Colebrook River up to Grandfather's back home;  2/22/62 went to New Boston & Colebrook River, up to 
Grandfather's Tolland center around home;  2/27/62 went down to Grandfather took his old mare down uncle Ram 
[Abiram] used steers stayed to Grandfather's all night;  2/28/62 stayed to Grandfathers all day went up to uncle Abirams
in the evening stayed here all night;  3/2/62 went home about noon took the horse went back to Grandfather went to 
uncle Abiram spent the evening there stayed to Grandfathers night;  3/9/62 to Grandfathers father was taken 
sick...came home watched with Father all night;  3/10/62 Grandfather & Grandmother come up;  3/18/62 Grandfather & 
Grandmother came up Father very sick;  3/19/62 old folks went home;  3/23/62 took Grandfather's horse home;  
3/25/62 went down to Grandpas Miss Case Root;  3/26/62 Dr & Grandfather came up;  3/30/62 went to Grandfathers;  
4/1/62 Grandfather come;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's grandfather]  4/12/62 father & mother went down to Grandfathers in a sleigh;  4/26/62 went to 
Colebrook River up to Grandfather's & home;  8/22/62 went to Grandpa's;  9/13/62 Father & I went down to 
Grandfathers went to Tolland Dr Lucas came down to examine to get off militia roll;  10/16/62 shod Grandfather's 
horse;  11/14/62 went down to Grandfather's;  12/25/62 went to Grandfathers in a wagon;  1/13/63 Grandfather & 
Grandmother stayed all night;  5/28/63 Grandfather came here;  9/19/63 Grandfather came up & got his horse shod;  
11/30/63 went down to the River carried down some corn got it ground carried Rosa to Grandfathers;  12/21/63 shod a 
horse for Grandfather;  2/7/64 [from Abiram's] went down to Grandfather's up to Abiram's in the evening & to Griffin's 
stayed all night to Sheff's;  6/20/64 worked in the shop a while Adelbert came down went up home went down to 
Grandfather's;  7/27/64 Grandfather & Uncle Silas were up;  8/4/64 went down to the river stay [at] Grandfather's;  
8/17/64 Grandfather was here stayed all night;

Ives, Truman [Cyrus's grandfather]  8/26/64 went down to Colebrook River with Selenda to get our picture taken stayed 
to Grandfathers all night;  9/26/64 peddled beef down to Colebrook went up to Grandfather's;  10/8/64 Father & Mother 
went down to Grandfather's in the afternoon;  10/11/64 had a gathering of the friends at Grandfather's 29 [27?] in 
number 13 not present;  7/4/65 went down to Grandfather's Uncle Sheff [&] Aunt Maria went to Hitchcockville with us to 
a Ball;  11/5/65 went Grandfather's he was sick George & his wife & Uncle Silas were there came home with Father Rat 
Hale James Williams & wife Corinth & J [?] Tarnter [?] came in the evening;  2/15/66 went up to Colebrook River with 
Pixley around by Camp's chair shop stayed to Grandfather's over night Lee [might have meant to write Len?] came 
there;  2/16/66 Very cold sit in the house at Grandfather's Eugenia & Thorit came down in the evening;  2/20/66 went 
down [from Grandfather's] to the River rode up to Curtis Marshalls with him went home & went to Gladding's in eve;
Ives, Truman [Cyrus's grandfather] 2/25/66 came down to Grandfather's got Osborne to bring me part way to Winsted;  
3/20/66 came up to the River with Sage stayed to Grandfather's Sheff came home;  3/22/66 Father & Mother went to 
Grandfather's;  3/23/66 went to New Boston the River up to Grandfather's over to Hodge's & home;  4/29/66 Father & 
Mother went down to Grandfather's;  5/24/66 Grandfather died aged 82 yrs 4 mos & 16 days Father came up just at 

night;  5/26/66 went to the funeral of Grandfather Sermon preached by Mr Felton from Prov 3rd  chap 35th verse The 
wise shall inherit glory[.]  ["But shame shall be the promotion of fools"];  

Ivory, John  4/15/65 John Ivory's [?] team drew up the boards worked on the cabin got 2 loads of hay to R [?] Sage's;  

J, S  2/3/69 S J was here;

J P's Hotel [M C?]  1/27/65 up to M C to J Ps hotel would not keep us over night stayed to S Hitchcock over night;
Jack [Soules?]  8/29/65 went up on the bush showed Jack where to work;  9/19/65 Jack down in the evening;

Jackeets,  11/14/65 went up to Willis Bartholomew & up to Jackeets's bush went down to Mike's over to Chapinville;  
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Jackson, Deacon  8/26/62 Deacon Jackson came here [Mr L Jones?] borrowed $50.00 of Mr. Jones;  
Jennie  12/15/68 shod Jennie chored about;  
Jewet  6/7/71 got out manure on tobacco piece Jewet helped me;  
Jewitt, Helen  [1868 diary note] 41 Thomas Street R R Robinson & Helen Jewitt;  
Jim  11/21/68 shod Jim [Cyrus's horse?] & N Twinings horse;  
Job  12/20/67 old Job died aged 95 yrs;  12/22/67 Job was buried;  11/15/69 sawed logs on N Twining's west of the Job 
house;  
Johnson, Andrew  6/8/64  Republican Convention held at Baltimore Lincoln & Johnson nominated;  
Johnson  6/22/71 Johnson a tin peddler stayed all night;  
Johnson  11/7/69 went up to Johnson's with M Nelson he bought two pigs;  4/2/70 Johnson shot himself at D Perry;  
6/3/70 peeled bark for Hull next to Johnson's;  

Johnson, Charlie  10/25/69 A Rood Charlie Theresa Nellie & Mrs Johnson came down made a visit;  3/4/70 quit driving 
stage Hubert drove up a dance to Johnson's Nellie & Rood came up;  9/9/71 Charlie Johnson came down;  9/14/71 
went over to Del's got his buggy went to A Rood's to a party at Bakerville in company with M Johnson, Charlie & Charlie
Snow, carried Florence Burt had a nice time;  9/24/71 went up to Cotton's over to Johnson's down to New Boston to 
evening meeting with Charlie;  9/27/71 went up to Johnson's got Charles went over to Del's stayed all night;  9/28/71 
went to Cattle Show to Barrington Charles Johnson went with me went down to S Loomis stayed all night;  9/29/71 went
over to Chapinville in the morning carried Ellen over went up to Barrington to the Show came back stayed with Charlie 
all night;  10/7/71 Johnson & wife Rood & wife Dewey & wife & Charlie came over with oxen & cart;  10/16/71 Mr Cotton 
& wife Mr Johnson & wife Charles Johnson & Miss Burt went to Longmeadow;  
Johnson, E  12/17/63 went to J Hodges & E Johnsons got a pair of boots;  
Johnson, H  9/12/72 came to Father's with Em Del & wife Rosa & her children took supper had chicken roast beef and 
watermelon went up to H Johnson's to a dance;  
Johnson, Harvey  5/20/69 came to Winsted in company with Harvey Johnson, by Dowd to Riverton the girls brought 
Dim & the tools down came to Tiffany's to board [to peel bark for A M Perkins];  

Johnson, James  8/31/70 went over to James Johnson's with Dim;  10/17/70 James Johnson came up in the evening to 
buy our logs;  10/18/70 J Johnson came up looked at our logs; bought them $357.50;  10/27/70 drew some logs to 
Johnson's mill;  11/1/70 went to Johnson's saw mill with a load of logs for boards brought back two loads Dim sawed 
them;  11/29/70 piled logs for Johnson on the west side of the brook piled 112;  12/5/70 piled logs piled in 6 days 710 
logs for J Johnson $6.50 per hundred;  12/8/70 J Johnson & wife called here [L Smith's?];  12/13/70 Dim run Johnson 
saw mill;  12/24/70 helped Johnson cut a road west of the north road to go to A Hull's;  4/10/71 went down to R Smith's 
& James Johnson's & to Tolland attended town meeting;  9/16/71 went over to Del's came back went down to Hodges 
to J Johnson's down to R Smith's back to L Smith's stayed all night;  9/26/71 went up to Johnson's in the evening;  
1/16/72 went over to Johnson's down to Hall's;  5/11/72 worked around the mill Chase & Johnson came up;  

Johnson, James [contd]  5/15/72 went down to J Johnson G Atkins traded the Hull oxen with George for a pair of steers 
$50 to boot;  6/14/72 went down to Hodge's J Johnson's & to L Smith took dinner went over to V Barnes borrowed $200 
of him came home [to Father's];  6/21/72 went to raise the shop and it fell down stripped the covering off and one roof 
went down to J Johnson up to Peebles;  6/22/72 got J Johnson L Frost & Peebles to help me take down the shop and 
clear away the frame;  8/30/72 went down to the mill & sawed went down to G Atkins J Johnson's & to Hodges;  
12/6/72 went into the woods east of Hargers to see James Johnson;  [Memoranda 1872 diary] J M Johnson Dr to Smith 

& Bus [?]  Oct 1870  By Hemlock log $337.50 [$37.50?] Piling logs $46.00 Cr Sept 5th 1872 By cash $20.00 Cr June 1st 

1873 By cash  $15.00 Aug 27th By 1 bag meal $1.50 Sep 12 cash $10.00 Nov 29 by three plank $4.50;  
Johnson, Mr  10/16/71 Mr Cotton & wife Mr Johnson & wife Charles Johnson & Miss Burt went to Longmeadow;  

Johnson, Mrs  10/25/69 A Rood Charlie Theresa [??, looks like "Herer'l"] Nellie & Mrs Johnson came down made a 
visit;  4/23/70 went to New Boston got some fence boards planed Nellie Johnson & her Mother came over;  

Johnson, Nellie  10/25/69 A Rood Charlie Theresa [??, looks like "Herer'l"] Nellie & Mrs Johnson came down made a 
visit;  3/4/70 quit driving stage Hubert drove up a dance to Johnson's Nellie & Rood came up;  4/23/70 went to New 
Boston got some fence boards planed Nellie Johnson & her Mother came over;  4/29/70 Nellie Johnson here papering;  
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Johnson, Warren  3/25/69 the girls Del & I went to J Daniels in eve & visited W Johnson's;  9/14/69 went to New Boston
up to Warren Johnson's to a dance had a good time;  4/22/70  went over to W Johnson's got him to come over and lay 
wall;  10/30/70 went over to W Johnson's;  1/9/71 shod horses for Father...[one for] W Johnson;  9/14/71 went over to 
Del's got his buggy went to A Rood's to a party at Bakerville in company with W Johnson, Charlie & Charlie Snow, 
carried Florence Burt had a nice time;  9/26/71 went up to Johnson's in the evening;  10/7/71 Johnson & wife Rood & 
wife Dewey & wife & Charlie came over with oxen & cart;  12/1/71 went with Cotton to W Johnson's down to New 
Boston up to O Burt came home;  6/16/72 went over to W Johnson's David Harger went down to New Boston got L 
Clark stayed to Father's;  6/24/72 came down with cattle & cart W Johnson came down with me went to laying the 
foundation for the mill;  6/26/72 worked around the mill laying the foundation got the sills on Peebles helped me & 
Johnson & Clark;
Johnson, Warren  6/27/72 worked on the foundation leveled up got the beams on the foundation Johnson went home;  

[Cash Account 1872] June 28th W Johnson work on the mill $5.00;  6/29/72 went up to Johnson turned my oxen on the 
Foster lot;  8/12/72 went down to Johnson's took breakfast worked at sawing went up to L Smith's stayed all night;  

[Cash Account 1872] Sept 25th W Johnson for keeping steers $4.75;  
Joice, John D  11/28/65 went up street looked of [meant "up"?] John D Joice chopping over to Chapinville;
Jones  5/13/71 went up to Jones place got a load of hay;  5/30/71 worked on the cross road by Jones place L Granger 
came up to Mel's;  5/31/71 finished the cross road in the forenoon worked by Giles in afternoon;  
Jones, B  12/25/70 went up to J Cotton's, across the pond over to L Smith's B Jones came up in the evening;  
Jones, George  9/7/62 George Jones wife & 2 children murdered at Cold Spring;  

Jones, Jabez  9/22/62 went to J Jones settled up;  7/29/71 shod J Jones horse;  1/17/72 shod horse for J Jones, sold 
him my robe;  [Cash Account 1872] January 17th J Jones 1 Robe $13.00 Received 20th 1 Robe to Wm [or "thin?", or 
him (later guess)] $15.00;  6/9/72 Jabez Jones died aged 77 yrs;  6/10/72 J Jones was buried;  
Jones, J  8/10/62 went up to J Jones to work at haying;  8/11/62 mowed for Mr Jones;  8/17/62 read the papers lay 
abed went back over to Mr Jones's [haying];  8/26/62 Mrs Hall came here Deacon Jackson came here borrowed 
$50.00 of Mr Jones;  8/28/62 pitched off a load of hay went to Tolland with Mr Jones;  9/2/62 went over to Jones 
mowed in the afternoon;  9/5/62 bought a cow of Mr Jones paid $14.50;  9/22/62 went to J Jones settled up; 
Memoranda J Jones in back of 1862 diary;  
Jones, L D   12/25/64 Philo Bell came here [Salisbury?] went up to L [?] D Jones got a tooth pulled;  
Jones, Miranda  7/27/62 went up to Mr Jones carried Miranda up;  6/10/63 Miranda Jones stayed here all night;  9/1/63 
Lu & Georgie & Miranda Jones came up here evening;  9/3/63 Miranda Jones started for home;  6/16/68 Georgia & I 
wrote to Miranda;  7/9/68 received a letter from Miranda;  2/18/71 commenced a letter to Miranda;  2/19/71 finished a 
letter to Miranda wrote to Georgie;  
Jones, Mr  7/2/62 Mr Jones came here;  7/27/62 went up to Mr Jones carried Miranda up;
Jones, Mrs  11/18/63 went to New Boston to the trial of T Calander for the murder of Mrs Jones & children;  
Jones, Mrs O B  1/21/70 came to Otis Mrs O B Jones rode [the stage] up to New Boston;  
Jones, Rev  9/12/69 Cotton came down & we went to Church Rev Jones assisted;  
Jordan  4/13/68 Jordan drove the cow home;

Joyce, J D  11/17/64 cut & piled wood went up to Joyceville [?];  12/7/64 cut wood ground axes up to J D Joyce;  
Julia [possibly Denslow?]  6/1/66 peeled bark Fanny & Julia came down to Snow's;

Keep  11/2/69 worked on truck [?] for Keep [Leep?];  4/13/71 shod Keep's cattle; 
Keif, F  11/7/71 attended election S C Marshall & F [?] K[?]eif nominated for representative's;  
Kellog [sic]  6/16/69 peeled bark Kellog & daughter called in evening [at Tiffany's?];  
Kelly, E  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  XE Kelly  X20;  
Kelly, J  [Beef 1864?] XJ Kelly [?]  X54;  
Kemp, Father  1/17/66 Truman came down went to Father Kemp's show at Camp's Hall filled to overflowing;  
Kent,  12/11/63 paid $2.40 for old iron;  [Memoranda  Iron Kent  341 lbs];  
King, Dr  7/21/72 stayed to Lawrences...Dr King called;  10/25/72 Lawrence was sick done his chores & went up to Otis 
and got Dr King, called to Wm Breckenridge;  
Kittridge, B L  [Cash Account 1872] May 9th  B L Kittridge on E Fowlers acct $52.70;  
Knapp  4/6/66 came to North Norfolk stay to Knapps over night;
Knockerbocker, George  4/22/64 George & Sam went up on the mountain with the girls;  4/26/64 worked in the shop in 
the forenoon went a fishing in the afternoon with George;  5/23/64 came down to Phelps's worked in the shop George 
Knockerbocker got his trunk;  
Knox, Frank  Name in back of 1862 diary;  

Lair  12/11/69  Lair rode up to Cold Spring [on the stage];  
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Lamson, T [?]  11/12/66 went [from Del's] up on Mnt Ragge across onto Mnt Washington stayed to E Wolcott's T 
Lamson was there;  
Lant  10/16/65 Mary Jane came down [to Del's, Salisbury?] stayed all night Lant stayed here & Lib Woodin;  9/29/66  
went [from Del's] up to Sam's [Loomis?] over to Chapinville with Will & Lant down to Del's dug potatoes went up to H 
Morriso[n's?];  
Landon, J  5/29/65 Coons & J Landon [?] came in the bush;  

Landon, M  11/20/69 came to Otis with H Dowd stayed over Sunday to M Landon got up at 11;  11/21/69 stayed to 
Landon's went up to A Farnham's in the evening;  11/28/69 Mild for the season sit in the house at Landon's wrote to 
Joe;  3/3/70 Cold & windy in the forenoon drifted some Landon did not go to Lee [?] [driving the stage?];  3/11/70 went 
over South with Del got a load of wood went to New Boston up to Otis stayed to Landon's;  2/11/71 took Del's horse 
carried Emma [L Smith's wife?] to Otis called to Landon's stayed to Wm Breckenridge;  

Lane  4/16/66 came in to Hartford broke the wagon got repaired sold some sugar stayed to St John's Lane proprietor;  
Lane, H  6/5/69 peeled bark, went to the Valley [from Riverton?] with H Lane;  6/7/69 peeled and stacked bark Circus to 
Winsted Lane & Tiffany went;  6/12/69 peeled bark and stacked Lane & Tiffany came in the woods;  
Langdon (in Montville?)  9/28/63 went over to Langdon's Montville with cheese 2 loads 711 lbs 10 cents per lb;  
Lant  9/17/65 went down to Mikes got the oxen Lant went with me;  10/16/65 Mary Jane came down stayed all night 
Lant stayed here & Lib Woodin;  11/17/65 [from Sam Loomis] went up to Sheffield with Lant bought some cloth for a 
pair of pants;  
Larein, T  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  XT Larein [?]  X34;  
Larkin, John  [1868 Cash Account] October 31st J Larkin [for cabbage] $1.00 Received;  11/17/68 set some traps on 
Larkin's meadow;  11/26/69 got...the stage fixed John Larkin's mother came up to New Boston;  
Larkin, T  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XT Larkin  X40;  
Lawz, D  2/11/70 Couch [?] Meleh & Daughter Bec [?] D Lawz [?] & Mrs Forsythe came down on the stage;  
Lecun, T  [Beef 1864?] XT Lecun [?]  X40 [?];  
Lee  2/15/66 went up to Colebrook River with Pixley around by Camp's chair shop stayed to Grandfather's over night 
Lee [?] came there;  
Lee, Robert E  4/9/65 Surrender of Gen Lee & his army to Gen. Grant Commander of the Union forces;  
Leonard  10/19/67 went over to Looards [meant to write "leonards"?] saw a pair of steers;  10/23/67 Father & Del went 
over to Leonard's got a pair of steers;
Leonard, H  10/18/68 went over across to Abiram's rode over to True's with True H Leonard came along drunk;  
Let [Leet?]  9/7/68 went a cooning with Let [Leet?] & Howd;  

Lewis, John  1/28/72 came [from L Smith's] up by A Cowles called over by Moore's across the pond called to Cotton's 
took supper John Lewis was there Cotton & wife & Miss Lewis came down in the evening Del came over;  
Lewis, Miss Julia  12/22/71 Mr Cotton & wife & Miss Lewis came down in evening;  1/13/72 Miss Lewis came down;  
1/24/72 Hamilton & Miss Lewis stayed here all night;  1/25/72 Cold carried Miss Lewis to School;  1/28/72 called to 
Cotton's took supper John Lewis was there Cotton & wife & Miss Lewis came down in the evening;  2/10/72 drew logs 
for Cotton he carried Julia Lewis home;  
Liem  9/5/65 went over to Chapinville & to Hammer town down to Mike's with Del over to the Liem's [?] place Sarah 
Hibberd came down;  
L[?]iggins, Eugene  8/13/67 went & mowed for Eugene L[?]iggins got in 2 loads for Fox went down to Fargo's in the 
afternoon;  
Lincoln  6/8/64 Republican Convention held at Baltimore Lincoln & Johnson nominated;  4/14/65  President Lincoln shot
at a theater in Washington;  4/15/65 A Lincoln died;  4/19/65 Abraham Lincoln Buried;  2/27/66 went to the lecture [in 
Winsted?] on A Lincoln by P[or "B"?]eck;  1/25/72 Cold carried Miss Lewis to School, saw Dr Ben--- had him come over 
and see Mother Mr Burt, Hamilton Dr Ben--- & Cotton were all here in the forenoon related stories:  Abe's pants, 
Educated,  RR Station.  S C took care of Fred through the night;
Liney, Abiram  3/20/62  Abiram Liney come up hunting rabbits killed two;  
Lloyd, Lester  8/18/69 went over to Lester Lloyd's with Howd went to mowing in the afternoon on the west lot;  
Lockwood, Mr  2/12/63 went over to Brazees went to Mr Lockwood's;  

Loomis, Mrs.  Memoranda Nov 7, 1862 O P Loomis for keeping 1 yearling heifer 25 weeks at $0.331/3 per week plus 
$0.50 for  Extra trouble = $8.83  Received May 15, 1863 $8.58 in full of all demands;  5/15/63 went to Colebrook settled 
with Mrs Loomis for keeping their heifer;  
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Loomis, Sam  11/6/63 Adelbert & S Loomis came here stayed all night settled with him;  10/30/64 went over to S 
Loomis in the evening;  11/14/64 went up to Sam Loomis's in the evening;  1/22/65 went up to S Loomis's;  1/25/65 
went up to S Loomis in the evening;  1/26/65 came to East Sheffield to North Norfolk with S Loomis & Del down to 
Norfolk Centere & to H & S Maltbys stayed over night;  2/16/65 went up to S Loomis [from Del's, Chapinville] eat supper
there;  2/18/65 cut wood went up to S Loomis' went up on Mt Ragge to a dance C Thorpe carried up a load 12 of us 
went up;  2/20/65 went up to S Loomis in evening;  2/21/65 S Loomis came down stayed all night;  2/22/65 went to New 
Marlboro with S Loomis got some chairs [Phelps?];  2/27/65 went up to County [?] Brazee [?] to a dance with Sam 
Loomis;  3/2/65 went up to S Loomis's in the eve;  3/3/65 went up to Charlie Thorpe up to Sams;  3/16/65 went over to 
Chapinville up to S Loomis';  3/26/65 S Loomis brought my trunk down;  4/2/65 went up to S Loomis in the eve;  5/6/65 
went over to Chapinville over to Sam Loomis;  5/7/65 went up on the mountain with Ellen & Jane Brown Laura & Sam Lo
Loomis, Sam (contd)  9/18/65 drew wood in the forenoon went to a lecture on the mountain went up street stayed to S 
Loomis's over night;  10/28/65 came [from Ed Harper's] down to Sam Loomis stayed all night went down to Mike's;  
11/7/65 came [from H Hotchkiss] over to Salisbury stayed to S Loomis;  11/8/65 went down to Mike's down the brook a 
fishing went up to the store stayed to Sam's;  11/12/65 went down the brook [from Del's?] up to Sam's;  11/16/65 Mrs 
Woodin died stayed to Sam's over night;  11/26/65 went up on the mountain got 2 minks came down to Sam Loomis 
took supper;  12/5/65 Sam Loomis in here [Will Vile's] in the evening;  12/7/65 went up to Sam's he & Will S Winter C 
Thorpe Mary Jane & Ellen Brown took supper to Del's we all went to Bunce's to Thanksgiving Ball;  12/9/65 went over 
to Chapinville got Mackeleroy tools chest helped Sam move the well house down to Del's;  12/10/65 Sam went to 
Sheffield;  12/14/65 went up to Sams;  12/17/65 up to Sams watched with the corpse of Chester Thorpe;  12/19/65 
went down to Mike's up to Sam's [moved to Winsted]
Loomis, Sam  12/31/65 went up to Sam's down to Del's up on the bush started to go to Mike's stayed to S Loomis;  
1/1/66 went from Sam Loomis to Mike Hibbard's eat a New Years supper there;  1/5/66 Sam Loomis came down [to 
Winsted] stayed with us all night;  3/12/66 went to Lakeville saw Hubbard the Sheriff went up to Sam Loomis's stayed 
over night;  3/30/66 went up on Sackett's bush stayed to Sam's...C Thorpe came up from Winsted;  6/8/66 came to 
Sheffield [from F Hale's, Winsted?] stayed to Sam Loomis;  6/9/66 went down to Del's down to Lakeville with Sam 
stayed with him all night;  9/29/66 went up to Sam's [from Del's] over to Chapinille with Will & Lan & down to Del's dug 
potatoes went up to H Morriso[n's?];  11/11/66 went up Sage brook up to Sam's came back down to Del's Sam came 
down;  11/14/66 went [from Del's?] down to Falls Village with Sam Loomis got a check cashed;  11/15/66 went down to 
P Ball's got some axe heads went up to Sam Loomis;  11/18/66 went up sage brook [from Del's] up to Sam's;  11/21/66 
went [from Del's] up to Sam's Gus & Sarah & the children were there;
Loomis, Sam  11/24/66 went [from Del's] up to Sam's over to Chapinville to a hen shoot;  11/25/66 went [from Del's] up 
to Sam's in the eve;  11/3/67 wrote to Rosa Sam Loomis Davis & El[v?]esson;  1/24/68 came out to Chapinville bought 
a load of oats of Bartlett stayed to Sam's;  5/11/68 Del & I went to Salisbury went over to Sarah got Mary Jane stayed to
Sam's;  9/18/68 Sam came over;  9/30/68 went to Barrington with Del to Cattle Show started at 3 o'clock went down to 
Scoville over to Chapinville called to Doyle's stayed with Will to Sam's;  12/23/68 went over through the Falls [from 
Huntsville, James Hakes?] Chapinville up to S Loomis stayed there all night went over to Chapinville with Ellen & 
Jennie to a lecture;  12/24/68 went [from Sam Loomis] down to Andrew Winter's with Jennie Sam & Ellen came down 
towards night spent the night there;  12/25/68 stayed to Andrew went up to Sam's stayed there all night;  12/26/68 
came home through Ashley Falls;  3/12/70 came [from Landon's, Otis] to Lee down on the train to Ashley Falls over to 
Chapinsville up to Sam's stayed over night;  
Loomis, Sam  3/13/70 H F [T?] Candee called in to Sam's;  3/14/70 cracked butternuts [at Sam's?] went down to A 
Ostrander's;  5/10/71 carried Erastus Hale to Sheffield took dinner at M Merrifield, went down to S Loomis stayed all 
night;  9/28/71 went to Cattle Show to Barrington Charles Johnson went with me went down to S Loomis stayed all 
night;  9/29/71 went over to Chapinville in the morning carried Ellen over went up to Barrington to the Show came back 
stayed with Charlie all night;  11/20/71 carried Joe to the River came back to Del's went to Southfield Ashley Falls & to 
Chapinville to S Loomis, stayed all night very muddy;  11/21/71 went over to East Canaan stayed to Warner's Hotel 
called in the evening at A Holsapple Jennie was there;  1/3/72 carried Em home to No Colebrook went to Winsted left 
the horse went to Chapinville on Conn Western went to S Loomis found Jennie sick stayed all night;  1/4/72 went to 
Chapinville to take train home but missed it went back & stayed all night A Holsaple [sic] & wife & son Frankie came 
there stayed all night;  
Lord  12/31/64 piled some wood went down to Lords [from Salisbury?];  3/31/66 went over to Lord's cut wood for Del & 
gathered sap;  
Loring [?]  11/30/64 cut wood Stephen Newberry helped us Barnume [?] & Loring [?] his agent came into the bush;  
4/4/65 drew wood with F Hibbard Loring & the Collier were up on the bush;  4/10/65 took up wood with Loring & an 
agent from Norfolk & Mike [Hibbard?] 1524 cords;  
Loring, Simion  [back of 1871 diary] Simion Loring  North Blandford;  
Loveland, L  5/5/72 went down to the River rode to North Colebrook with Dr Gay [Gey?] called to L Loveland;  
Loveland, Lois  5/13/68 came home [from Salisbury] wrote to Lois Loveland;  
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Loveland, Orlow  9/8/67 to Church in afternoon Orlow Loveland & his sister came over went to S [?] Hale's in the 
evening;  1/19/68 went to Church Orlow Loveland came over stayed all night;  
Lucas, Dr  9/13/62 Father & I went down to Grandfather's went to Tolland Dr Lucas came down to examine to get off 
militia roll;  
Lyman, John  6/6/67 peeled bark Del & John Lyman came in the woods;  7/24/67 [hayed at Father's] Lyman & boy 
helped us;  7/25/67 Rat & Lyman helped us [haying];  7/28/67 went over to Lymans in evening;  12/13/67 shod Lyman's 
[Twinning's?] horse;  12/18/67 killed our hogs Lyman helped us;  6/1/68 planted corn & potatoes finished planting 
Lyman & Mike helped us;  

M M 1/21/72 Fred Cotton found on meeting house hill insensible by being drugged by Augustus Slocum brought to 
Miller's by M M and Dr Benjamin sent for;  
Mackeleroy  12/9/64 cut wood & piled went down to Harpers over to Macs;  12/11/64 stormed a little sit in house went 
over to Mac went down to Harpers;  3/1/65 cut wood in the forenoon cut logs for Mac in the afternoon;  3/3/65 went up 
to Mac ground my ax went up to Charlie Thorpe up to Sams;  12/9/65 went over to Chapinville got Mackeleroy tools 
chest helped Sam move the well house down to Del's;  
Maguire  [Beef 1864?] X Maguire  X98-40;  

Maine, Mr  3/19/67 we buried our Brother [Trueman] Funeral service attended by Mr Maine from Deuteronomy 32nd 

chapter 29th verse ["O that they were wise, that they understood this, that they would consider their latter end."] a sad 
day to all his friends & acquaintances;  4/26/68 went to Church Mr Maine preached;  3/14/69 attended the funeral of 
Lucian Hotchkiss at Northways hall; services by Maine of Montville from Psalms, 17 X 15 ["As for me, I will behold thy 
face in righteousness:  I shall be satisfied, when I awake, with thy likeness."], a very large attendance;  10/31/69 came 
home from Farnham's went to Church in the afternoon Mr Maine preached from Heb 12 & 28, Serve God;  
Maine, John  [1871 Cash Account June] 26th John Maine repairing clock & watch $2.00 Paid;  
Maine, S  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  XS [?] Maine X40-28-133;  
Mallory  12/11/68 the old Mallory's tannery burned;  
Malloy [Mallory?]  4/3/66 went up on Sackett's bush helped Malloy [?] move some things to Hammer town;  4/4/66 
helped Mallory arrange things around the barn;  4/5/66 worked for Mallory;  4/6/66 came from Malloy Ashley Falls E 
Sheffield to North Norfolk stay to K[?]napp's over night;  
Maltby, Elan  1/27/65 went to Elan Maltby down to Winsted with H & S Maltby up to Colebrook Center to a spelling 
school up to M C [?] to J P's hotel would not keep us over night stayed to S Hitchcock over night;  
Maltby, Henry  6/26/64 Henry Maltby & Howard came up went up to the pond went in swimming;  8/8/64 True & Henry 
Maltby came here;  8/9/64 Henry Maltby helped us hay it;  8/13/64 finished haying Henry & I down to the river;  8/15/64 
Henry & I hayed for Hodges;  9/2/64 True, Henry & Seth Maltby, Jennie Griffin & Fanny Bidwell came up here went to 
Noyes pond sailing;  1/26/65 came to East Sheffield to North Norfolk with S Loomis & Del down to Norfolk Centere & to 
H & S Maltbys stayed over night;  1/27/65 went to Elan Maltby down to Winsted with H & S Maltby up to Colebrook 
Centre to a spelling school up to M C ]?] to J P's hotel would not keep us over night stayed to S Hitchcock over night;  
4/9/65 wrote to Ed Holcomb & to Henry Maltby;  
Maltbie, Henry  5/30/67 peeled bark Father & Henry Maltbie came up;  6/2/67 went to meeting came over to our job H 
Maltbie came over with us;  6/4/67 peeled bark Hen worked;  6/9/67 Hen went home;  6/11/67 peeled bark...Hen came 
back;  6/12/67 peeled bark Hen & Rat worked;  6/13/67 Rat & Hen worked;  6/18/67 Rat & Hen went to New Boston 
went up to Hen Norton's visited Fannie's school in afternoon;  7/6/67 sent some money to H Maltbie;  11/1/67 Henry 
Maltbie came here went over to F Hale's to meeting;  Memoranda [1867 diary] C W & A J [S?] Ives Dr to Henry Maltbie 

June 8th By 5 days work June 15th By 2 days work Case & Clarke Job June 22nd 41/2 days work Cr By Hale $5.50 Cr By 

C W Ives July 6th By cash $8.75;  

Maltby, Seth [Maltbie?]  7/10/64 Seth Maltby was here;  9/2/64 True, Henry & Seth Maltby, Jenny Griffin & Fanny 
Bidwell came up here went to Noyes pond sailing;  1/26/65 came to East Sheffield to North Norfolk with S Loomis & Del 
down to Norfolk Center & to H & S Maltbys stayed over night;  1/27/65 went to Elan Maltby down to Winsted with H & S 
Maltby up to Colebrook Center to a spelling school up to M C [?] to J P's hotel would not keep us over night stayed to S 
Hitchcock over night;  1/28/65 Seth Maltby brought me home [to Tolland] shod his horse;  1/29/65 Seth Maltby stayed 
here;  1/30/65 Seth went home;  3/10/66 came down to Winsted with Father saw F D Tyler done some business with 
him stayed to Seth Maltbie over night;  6/18/66 went to New Boston Seth Maltby came up;  6/24/66 went to meeting 
Seth Maltby came up went over to Hewitt's;  

Malthin, H  10/31/71 cut wood [at L Smith] H [?] M[?]althin came down by with lumber Harger up to Smith's in evening;  

Manchester, Frank  5/30/69 went up to home with Uncle Silas & Thadd came back to Winsted with Frank Manchester;  
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Manchester, Jerry  1/22/64 went down to Bys to a dance saw John Brown & Jerry Manchester Cavalry boys;  
Manchester, S  3/18/63  cut wood for S Manchester;  3/19/63 cut sap wood & wood at the door for S Manchester;  
3/20/63 chopped for S Manchester;  
Manly, Allan  7/11/63 Alan Manly buried;  
Manly, David  5/24/70 David Manly died;  5/25/70 Manly was buried;  
Manning  2/26/68 shod Manning's horse;  6/28/71 hoed corn for Del Charles Smith son of Fred Smith of Sandisfield 
was drowned in Manning's pond aged [blank];  
Manning, Friend  4/24/70 Friend Manning Dim Smith Anson Hale came over in the evening stayed all night;  
Marilda [Griffin?]   10/18/67 shod 2 horses for Levi Marilda [?] & Mrs Griffin came up;  12/12/67 Marilda [?] came up 
shod her horse;  10/22/68 shod a horse for Silas Amanda & Marilda came up with it;  
Marks  12/11/63 paid $0.60 for old iron;  [Memoranda  Iron Kent 341 lbs];  4/8/67 Marks stayed all night;  2/16/71 went 
to Marks [?] shop repaired our patent yokes;  
Marks, Mrs J  12/1/70 Mrs J Marks visited Mrs Smith;  12/7/72 Mrs J Marks & Mrs Gorham came up [to L Smith's] a 
visiting;  
Marshall Pond   7/9/63 went a fishing with Dr Newton & Del [on] Marshall pond very rough no luck;  
Marshall  8/3/67 went over to S Hale's with Fannie the girls & Rat went up to the center by Marshall's home in the 
evening;  12/8/67 John Brown called in the morning with Marshall went to Church;  9/11/69  went up to Marshall's to A 
Hull's;  10/14/69 went up to Marshall's helped raise the flume;  10/21/69 Marshalls raised [a] shop;  10/22/70 cut logs in 
the forenoon came [from L Smith's?] over to Father's around by Cowles & Marshall's;  11/6/70 helped Marshall get 
some cattle just at night;  4/3/71 Del went to Winsted with Marshall;  4/29/71 went down [from Father's to Burt's?] with 
bark came back by Marshall's;  
Marshall, Adelbert  12/15/63 shod a horse for A Marshall;  9/26/67 shod horse for A Marshall;  10/30/67 took a bull over 
to A Marshall's drew some stone;  11/5/67 [Cash Account Received of] A Marshall for a bull $25.50;  5/4/70 Adelbert 
Marshall & wife came up [to Uncle Sheff's?] in the evening;  
Marshall, C [?]  10/25/67 Father went down to C [?] Marshalls to evening meeting;  
Marshall, Charles  8/28/63 Charles Marshall child died;  
Marshall, Curtis  [Beef 1864?] XCurtis Marshall X64;  2/20/66 went down [from Grandfather's] to the River rode up to 
Curtis Marshall's with him went home & went to Gladdings in eve;  
Marshall, G L  3/7/70 went over to Pratt's rode up to Town meeting L Granger J Hall & G Marshall selectmen;  3/6/71 
town meeting in the afternoon L F Granger J P Hall G L Marshall Selectmen;  3/4/72 N B Twining G L Marshall & F S 
Hale Selectmen;  
Marshall, Georgia  5/13/69 W F Hale & Georgia Marshall married;  
Marshall, L  [Beef 1864?] L Marshall  X1.12;  6/12/71 went to L Marshall's got some cabbage plants;  

Marshall's Mill  1/25/64 went up to Marshalls mill drew a cherry log for yokes;  2/2/64 went over to Marshalls mill carried 
2 logs for plank;  2/3/64 went up to mill got some sawing;  2/13/72 cut a maple and drew to Marshall's mill;  
Marshall, Roswell  7/19/70 Fannie E wife of R Marshall died early in the morning at her Father's F Hale's of Fever Aged 
19;  [Back of Diary] Old Year Thou art gone, Buried with the past, Thou hast brought changes sorrow to many a heart 
Joy and happiness to many a family.  Thou art gone yet you will long be remembered by many.  Many of our 
acquaintances are sleeping their last sleep that knows no waking until the resurrection.  First that Death called from us 
was Mozart E Perry April 26 Aged 24 yrs; Fannie E wife of Roswell Marshall Daughter of B F Hale died July 19 a bride 
of but 6 [?] weeks both were young and social companions ever welcome & welcomed.  Thou hast blest our family 
circle with health Thou hast been a short and pleseant year to me I have been blessed with health surrounded by many 
blessings and comforts that many are deprived of.  May I be thankful for these & have strength for coming trials Old 
Year Good Bye[.]
Marshall, Ros  2/3/64 up to mill got some sawing done shod a horse for Ros Marshall;
Marshal, S C  11/7/71 attended election S C Marshal & F [?] K[?]eif nominated for representative's;  11/11/72 sawed 

three logs for S C Marshall;  [Cash Account 1872] Nov 12th S C Marshall sawing $1.50 Received 1 Calf skin $0.75 

Received;  12/9/72 S C Marshall came down to the mill;  [Memoranda 1872 diary] S C Marshall Dr  Nov 27th  Sawing  

535 feet  Oct 30th  Transferred to Saw Book 1873;  

Marshall, William  2/18/64 William Marshall & Etta Chapma[n?] married;  3/22/66 Wm Marshall's wife was buried;  
Martin  8/4/65 Martin came in the bush Bornay [sic] run him out;  
Martin, Charlie  5/5/70 worked on the road [for Uncle Sheff?] finished on the hill towards Chapels worked front of 
Martin's in the afternoon;  5/7/70 came home rode up to New Boston [from Uncle Sheff's?] with Charlie Martin went a 
trouting in the afternoon Rat stayed here;  
Mary  3/25/69 Mrs Dea Twining, Webber & Mary came up;  
Mary Ann  5/12/68 stayed with Jennie [Janie = Mary Jane Brown?] went down to Mary Ann over to Chapinville saw 
Ellen;
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Mason, William  2/1/66 Charlie [Thorpe] Wm Mason & I went to Mill Brook to a dance had Tuttles horse;  

McCarter, A  4/18/65 went up street down to the centre [Salisbury] with A McCarter [?];  9/6/65 rode to Sheffield with A 
McCarter went to Housatonic stayed to E S Pixley's;  11/25/65 went down to Mike's with McCarter;  
McCarther [?], A  1/27/66 James Woodin Charlie & I went to the Falls & to Lakeville went up to A McCarther down to 
Woodin's in the evening;  1/30/66 wrote to McCarther;  11/26/66 went up to McArthur over around by Hadsdells Sarah 

Wilcox [Adelbert's 2nd wife] came over Mary Jane came down stayed all night;  
McCaffry, J  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  J [?] McCaffry [sic]  40;  
McClellan, G B  8/31/64 G B McClellan & G Pendleton nominated for President & Vice at Chicago;  10/6/64 went down 
on the hill to McClellan meeting;  11/8/64 went to Town meeting voted for McClellan & Pendleton for President Henry 
Paine for Governor;  

McDonald, John  10/21/71 went up to John McDonald bought some bark of him $42.50 [?] to be paid in three weeks;  
11/7/71 went up to John McDonald paid him $42.00 for bark;  12/6/71 drew out bark on Ripley's I bought of J 
McDonald;  12/7/71 drew out bark McDonald helped me;  12/20/71 went over to John McDonald's after bark Cotton 
went with me with his team;  12/21/71 15 degrees below zero at Tolland went to New Boston with bark in the morning 

back to McDonald's loaded up came back to Cotton's;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] A Hull Bark Dec 21st 2520 Cotton 2464 

22nd 2400 Cotton 2700 23rd 2350 Cotton 2634 [sum=] 15068 McDonald bark 7 tons 1068  Cotton 3 ton 1798;  
Mcwire  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  X Mc wire [sic]  X28-35;  
Meleh  2/11/70 Couch [?] Meleh & Daughter Bec [?] D Lawz [?] & Mrs Forsythe came down on the stage;  
Melman  3/16/69 went up to C Case's to N Babb down to Melman's home up to David Farnham with Del to a dance 
stayed to Howd's over night;  
Merrifield, M  5/10/71 carried Erastus Hale to Sheffield took dinner at M Merrifield, went down to S Loomis stayed all 
night;  
Merwin, David  3/27/70 David Merwin [?] died;  
Mike [not Hibbert?]  10/7/67 Mike & Charlie came up in evening;  6/1/68 planted corn & potatoes finished planting 
Lyman & Mike helped us;  1/21/69 Mike [?] & Allen came up Joe brought around;  6/1/71 came home Dim Mike & Giles 
were here in evening;  
Miller,  9/16/62 mowed for Miller in the hollow finished out got in 8 loads;  9/24/62 shod a pair of oxen for the Miller;  
11/17/62 shod a bull & stag for Miller;  6/13/63 shod Millers horse;  8/10/66 went over to Hales & Miller with Georgia 
Len came up stayed all night;  9/22/68 fixed the flat by Millers;  10/9/70 went chestnutting on Miller's in the morning 
went to Church in the afternoon;  12/8/71 came home [from L Smith's] called to Miller's helped get a horse up;  1/21/72 
Fred Cotton found on meeting house hill insensible by being drugged by Augustus Slocum brought to Miller's by M M 
and Dr Benjamin sent for;  
Miller, A  10/11/62 shod a horse for A Miller;  1/22/63 shod a pair of cattle for A Miller;  2/28/63 shod a pair of cattle for 
A Miller [?];  9/30/67 mowed on Miller's North lot;  10/9/67 [Cash Account Received of] A Miller haying $5.00;  1/11/72 
went over to A Miller's in the evening;  2/23/72 went to PO called to Miller's;  11/23/72 run the mill Lawrence went over 
to A Miller's got a hog for me;  
Miller, Captain  4/17/62 Thomas left Captain's;  4/21/63 Father broke up on the knoll joining Captain's weak & sick lay 
abed sent after Doctor could not come;  7/13/63 went over to Captain's evening;  11/4/65 went over to Captain Miller's 
down to John Hodge's stayed all night;  8/8/66 went over to Captain Miller's in the evening;  8/11/66 berrying with the 
girls over to Burke's stopped to Captain's eat supper;  8/16/66 got the Captain's carriage started for Winsted came 
back & went to mowing for Hewitt;  8/27/66 went over to Captain's with Hale up to to Hewitt's peeled bark in the 
forenoon down to Snowe's a blackberrying;  3/27/67 shod Captain's horse;  4/25/67 went over to Captain's in evening 
[possibly with Lib & Fannie Bidwell?];  5/9/67 went over to the Captain's with the girls;  5/31/67 peeled bark came home 
the girls came up & got us went over to Captain's to a party;  7/3/67 went over to Captain's to a raising Aunt Julia & Mrs 
Taylor came up;  7/31/67 mowed [for Father] beside the Captain's lot;  9/24/67 cut corn for Captain Miller;  9/28/67 cut 
corn for Captain;  9/30/67 mowed on [probably A Miller?] Miller's North lot;  

Miller, Captain [contd]  5/6/68 went over to Captain's in evening;  6/19/68 went down on the hill with Len & Georgia 
called to Miller's;  8/8/68 lightning struck an ash on Captain's south pasture;  9/22/68 fixed the flat by Miller's;  11/11/69 
went to New Boston in the morning took Captain's wagon home drew sap wood in afternoon;  1/18/71 Father worked 
for Captain on the sap house;  1/19/71 Father worked for Captain;  6/21/71 worked on the road by Captain's, John 
Cotton helped us;  1/26/72 went to the PO in the evening called to Captain's;  7/29/72 mowed next to the Captain's;  
Miller, J  11/26/72 went down to the store in evening J Miller came up [to L Smith's] stayed all night;  
Miller, Joe  9/6/62 Levi [Ives?] traded horses with Joe Miller;  
Miller, Mrs  2/17/69 Mrs Miller Asin [?] & Mozart spent the afternoon here;  
Mills, Daniel  8/4/64 shod a horse for Granger Daniel Mills came here with Granger;  
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Mills, John  12/13/69 two Downs fellows came down [on the stage]  from New Boston John Mills & a lady to Mont[ville? 
or Monterey?] went up;  
Mills, Josephine  1/20/70 Mrs Northway Josephine Mills came down & back Jane went back G Brooks & wife came 
down;  2/4/70 Julia Denslow came down to the River & back Josephine Mills rode up to Boston;  
Mily  1/2/70 Rained hard all day done chores read the papers played Dominoes with Mily;
Minor, Pat  12/1/72  came back to Father's called to Del's took supper, J Cotton & P Minor came to Father's in the 
evening;  
Mirner  1/15/70 Fransis [sic] Sta[e?]nard came up to Mirner's Cold Spring;  
Mitchell, Selden  11/7/63 Selden Mitchill [sic] died;  11/9/63 went to the funeral of Mr Mitchill;  2/12/64 over to Aunt 
Mitchill's [sic] Auction;  
Monson, Sarah  11/30/69 Rained a dark night hard going Norton came down to Boston Sarah Monson & sister came 
down a lady up to Cold Spring [on stage];  12/2/69 Sarah Monson & sister went up in stage;  

Moore  1/28/72 came [from L Smith's] up by A Cowles called over by Moore's across the pond called to Cotton's took 
supper John Lewis was there Cotton & wife & Miss Lewis came down in the evening Del came over;  
Moore, Adda  1/9/65 Adda Moore died;  
Moore, B  [1863 Memoranda  Iron B Moore 203 lbs];  5/10/64 Deacon Tinker & B Moore called on religious affairs;  
9/22/64 went up to Bennett Moore's;  
Moore, Bennet  9/22/64 went up to Bennett Moore s;  5/6/67 Del & I went up to North quarter took a job of bark of 
Bennet Moore went up to Case's New Boston;  6/13/67 stopped peeling for Moore...went up to Howd's;  7/1/67 went up 
to B Moore's & Ace Cowles's;  Memoranda [1867 diary] Moore's Job C W Ives paid house rent $5.00 Spider & kettle 
$1.70 sum = $6.70;  Memoranda [1867 diary] Moore's Job A J Ives 1 pail & plates $0.65 Stephen Hibbard $3.50 G [?] T 

? Ives for Flour $0.50;  [Memoranda 1867 diary] Moore's Job  No days work done by C Ives May 25th 3 days work May 

30th 4 days work June 8th 5 days work  June 15th 3 days work;  [Memoranda 1867 diary] Moore's Job  No days work 

done by A Ives May 25th 3 days work May 30th 4 days work June 5th 3 days work June 15th 3 days work;  [1867] Cash 

Account July  1st Bennett Moore $45.00 Received 1st Asahel Cowles $5.00 3rd  A J Ives $10.00 4th Tom Clark $25.00 

Received 4th E Hale $8.33 8th Parsons & Triveox [?] $4.00 6th H Maltbie $8.75 10th G Ives for flour $5.00 sum=$41.08 

25th Bennett Moore $25.00 Received Settled with Del $6.55;

Moore, Bennet  [contd]  Memoranda [1867 diary] Bennett Moore Cr July 1st By cash $15.00 July 25th By E D Moore 

$25.00 Dr For peeling 4712/20 tons Hemlock bark $2.00 per ton $95.00 Received order on A Hull for balance $55.00;  
6/10/68 finished B Moore's [bark] job L Frost A Case Father & Charlie worked came home;  7/21/68 went up to B 

Moore's around to Orsoon's [?];  [1868 Cash Account] July 21st B E Moore peeling bark $20.00 Received;  [1868 Cash 

Account] September 6th B E Moore $20.00 Received;  9/23/68 Moore came out went a hunting he stayed all night;  

[1868 Memoranda] B E Moore Cr July 21st For peeling bark $20.00 Sept 6th For peeling bark $20.00;  2/4/69 went over 

to B E Moore's H Dowd came over we all went up to True's to a candy party;  [Cash Account 1869 March] 1st B E 

Moore for peeling bark $38.10 Received  6th Acct with Moore $8.88...12th Error of Moores $3.14 Received;  6/21/70 
peeled bark [for L Smith]...Bennet Moore came in the woods;  8/10/70 went down to the store up to Moore's Lawrence 
traded two heifers for a cow helped him drive them down in evening;
Moore, Bennet [contd]  4/26/72 went over to Bennet Moore's went down to the sawmill;  5/10/72 went up to E Slocum's 
to Bennett Moore's on the hill down to Hodge's Chase & G Atkins & back to Mrs Bentley stayed all night;  5/17/72 went 
up to B Moore's and on the hill;  
Moore, Calvin  10/30/63 carried a pig to Mr Bell went up to Calvin Moore's bought some old iron;  11/25/63 went up to C
Moore's got some iron;  [Memoranda Iron C Moore 1773 lbs];  [Memoranda  Cast Iron C Moore L Granger  263 lbs 876 

lbs C Moore 1299 216 C Moore 1560];  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  XCalvin Moore  X75X;  3/2/64 shod a horse for C Moore; 
10/12/67 went down to Calvin Moore's;  1/2/71 Silver Wedding Calvin Moore;  7/15/72 carried Em & Len up to C 
Moore's to get some pictures framed;  
Moore, C M  4/9/72 thunder shower in evening lightning struck C M Moore's house;  
Moore, E D  7/25/67 [Memoranda] By E D Moore $25.00;
Moore, Ella  1/2/71 C Hall & Ella Moore married;  

Moore, F T  6/19/63 hoed corn for F T Moore;  6/24/63 sick not able to work went to F Moore went fishing went to J 
Hodges;  6/25/63 worked on the road for F T Moore;  9/21/63 went to New Boston to F T Moores & Stedmans;  [Beef 

1864? 2nd page]  F T Moore  40;  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  XF T Moore  X48;  2/16/64 shod a pair of stags for F T Moore;  
3/31/64 shod a horse for F T Moore;  8/31/69 worked on the road by F T Moore's Cotton helped us;  9/1/69 worked on 
the road by Moore's finished the flat;  4/5/72 met Mrs Bentley at F T Moore, took a deed of the sawmill and shop and 

six acres land gave a mortgage for $250 and $250 down;  [Cash Account 1872] April 5th F T Moore for deeds $2.05;  
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Moore, G E  2/13/63  went to G E Moores to a Cotillion party carried Georgie Hotchkiss;  4/1/64 G Moore moved to 
Granville;  

Moore, Jeremy  4/12/69 started with a load of sugar [Memoranda Ives & Co Sugar  Apr 10  5703/4];  stayed to Strickland 
New Britain Jeremy Moore stayed with me;  9/17/72 run the mill Vincent and Jeremy Moore came down and drew in 
logs & out boards;  9/19/72 run the mill Vincent & Jeremy came down and drew in logs;  10/14/72 Vincent & Jeremy 
came down drew out lumber and in logs;  10/18/72 run the mill Barnes & Jeremy came down and drew out boards and 
in logs;  10/28/72 run the mill Barnes & Jeremy came down drew off boards and in logs;  
Moore, S  6/18/63 went to New Boston to Arbitration between S Moore & Stedman [Cotton?] adjourned;  
Moore, W  9/28/63 shod horse for W Moore;
Moore, William  7/7/64 William Moore died;  
Mopson, C  11/5/72 went to Election Voted for Greeley & Brown for Pres & Vice Pres, Bird for Gov, C Mo[?]pson for 
Representative, of Montgomery;  
Morriso[n?], H  9/29/66 went up to Sam's over to Chapinville with Will & Lan & down to Del's dug potatoes up went up 
to H Morriso[n's?] down to Del's dug potatoes;  
Morse, Lu  12/8/69 Effie Decker went up to Lu Morse's [on the stage];  
Moses, Diton  6/8/62 Diton Moses & Mary Gates called in the evening [in CT?];  6/10/62 worked on the [road?] held 
scraper with D Moses [in CT?];  
Munn  3/18/68 went up to Munn's got a sap pan;  12/30/70 Dim broke his sled went to Munn's got repaired;  9/7/71 
went up to Munn's borrowed 111 tobacco slats;  
Munn, Hen  7/22/63 Mozart Perry Hen Munn got home;  10/14/72 Henry Munn called [at the mill?];  
Munn, L  7/12/63 M Harger & L Munn got home from the South;  
Murphy, Ben  3/5/67 Ben Murphy helped cut sap wood [at Abiram's?];  
Murphy, John  2/27/63 went over to John Murphy [from Uncle Sheff's?];  3/7/63 cut wood for J Murphy;  3/9/63 went 
down to J Murphys;  3/10/63 cut wood for J Murphy;  3/11/63 cut wood for J Murphy;  3/12/63 cut for J Murphy went 
over to Sheffs in evening;  3/13/63 cut wood for J Murphy;  3/14/63 cut wood for J Murphy;  3/16/63 went down to J 
Murphy cut wood at the door;  3/17/63 cut wood for J Murphy;  12/23/63 John Murphy came up here;  12/24/63 shod a 
pair of cattle for John Murphy;  12/10/68 John Murphy's wife died;  12/13/68 attended the funeral of Mrs John Murphy 
aged 38 years discourse preached by Rev Mr Dickeman;

Murphy, Mrs John  12/10/68 John Murphy's wife died;  12/13/68 attended the funeral of Mrs John Murphy aged 38 yrs 

discourse preached by Rev Mr Dickeman [?] from 1st Corinthians 15 chap. 54-5th-6th & 57th verses ["Death is swallowed 
up in victory.  O death, where is thy sting?  O grave where is thy victory?  The sting of death is sin; and the strength of 
sin is the law.  But thanks be to God, which giveth us the victory through our Lord Jesus Christ."];  
Murphy, Lois  8/1/64 Lois Murphy died 82 years;  
Murphy, Osborn  4/22/67 Osborn Murphy [?] came up shod a pair of cattle for him;  
Murphy, Mrs Sheffield [Aunt Maria Ives Murphy]  9/11/62 Sheffield Murphy & wife started for Ohio;  3/5/63 Aunt Maria's 
birthday;  7/4/65 went down to Grandfather's Uncle Sheff [&] Aunt Maria went to Hitchcockville with us to a Ball;  
6/11/66 came [to] New Boston up to Snowe's went down to Aunt Maria's stayed over night;  6/30/66 went to Winsted 
with Dowd came back with Dewolf stayed to Aunt Maria's;  
Murphy, Sheffield [Uncle]  3/3/62 went to Collinsville with uncle Sheffield got an axe spent the evening at uncle Abiram;  
4/4/62 went down to uncle Sheffields brought up a calf;  9/11/62 Sheffield Murphy & wife started for Ohio;  10/22/62 dug
potatoes for S Murphy;  10/23/62 dug potatoes for S Murphy;  10/24/62 finished digging potatoes for S Murphy;  
11/14/62 Del borrowed some money of S Murphy;  12/31/62 shod a yoke of oxen for S Murphy;  2/8/63 went up to 
Hotchkiss went down to S Murphy;  2/9/63 chopped wood S Murphy;  2/11/63 went up to Abiram [from S Murphy's?] 
found a barrel of flour in the road;  2/13/63 came home [from S Murphy's?] went to G E Moores to a Cotillion party 
carried Georgie Hotchkiss;  2/15/63 went back to Sheffs;  2/21/63 came up home [from S Murphy's?];  2/23/63 shod 2 
pair of oxen for S Murphy came back down with him;  2/24/63 David Tiffany & wife Mrs Case came here [S Murphy's?] 
in the evening;  2/25/63 went up to Abirams in the evening [from S Murphy's?];  2/27/63 went up to New Boston with 
Sheff & Den Baxter to ball came home;

Murphy, Sheffield [Uncle, contd]  3/3/63 went back to S Murphy [from H Hotchkiss] got there about 2 o'clock [moon 
nearly full];  3/4/63 cut wood for S Murphy;  3/5/63 cut wood for Sheff had company Aunt Maria's birthday;  3/12/63 went
over to Sheffs in evening [from J Murphys];  6/21/63 went down to Sheffs went down to Hotchkiss in evening;  6/30/63 
mowed & hoed for S Murphy;  7/6/63 went to New Boston went down to Sheff's went to the River stayed all night;  
7/14/63 went down to Hotchkiss & down to Sheffs & to New Boston;  7/31/63 went down to Sheffs;  8/17/63 Sheff came 
up mowed wheat for Father;  9/9/63 went to Winsted came back by Sheffs;  11/10/63 went down to Sheffs got his 
buggy;  12/4/63 went to auction at Styles Slocum went down to Sheffs stayed all night;  12/12/63 shod a horse for S 
Murphy;  12/15/63 shod a pair of cattle for S Murphy;
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Murphy, Sheffield [Uncle, contd]  [1863 Diary] Memoranda  Sheffield Murphy Dr  February 14th by 31/2 days work  21st 

by 4 days work  28th by 21/2 days work  March 7th by 2 days work $7.50  July 1st by 11/2 days work $1.50  16th by 1 days 

work $1.00  Feb 23rd by shoeing 1 pair of oxen $1.00  S. Murphy Cr Aug 3 by cash $0.65  [sum of] $1.00 [+] 1.00 [+] 

7.50 [+] 1.37 [+] 1.50 [=] [$]12.37;  [Beef peddled in 1864?] S Murphy  X9.18;  [Beef 1864? 2nd page] XS Murphy  X242-

105;  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  XS Murphy  X130-25;  [Beef 1864? 5th page] X S Murphy  X55-32;  2/7/64 [from Abiram's] 
went down to Grandfather's up to Abiram's in the evening & to Griffin's stayed all night to Sheff's;  3/5/64 went down to 
the River up to Sheffs stayed all night;  3/6/64 muddy stayed to Sheffs went up to Bys in evening;  11/6/64 Thomson 
carried us [from Salisbury] to New Marlboro went to Hodges stayed to Sheff over night;  11/23/64 went to New Boston 
down to the River to shooting match & raffle stayed to Sheff's;  2/3/65 went down to Hodges in the evening down to 
Sheffs stayed over night;  
Murphy, Sheffield [Uncle, contd]  2/10/65 went down to Sheff to a dance stayed to Bys;  7/4/65 went down to 
Grandfathers Uncle Sheff Aunt Maria went to Hitchcockville with us to a Ball;  7/5/65 started from Uncle Sheff's & came 
back to Salisbury;  10/24/65 went down to Winsted with E Hale stayed Sheff's over night;  11/3/65 went up to N Fullers 
with Lu came to New Boston with him went down to Sheff's & home;  12/23/65 worked in the shop hired a horse of 
Austin came up to the River with Charlie stayed to Sheff's overnight;  3/20/66 came up to the River with Sage stayed to 
Grandfather's Sheff came home;  4/9/66 went over to Hodge's down to Sheff's over to E Hale's up to Frank's got his 
wagon stayed with Erastus over night;  4/19/66 went down to Sheff's got a jug of cider helped Erastus gather his tubs 
stayed to Babbit's;  3/26/67 Father went to Sheff's;  4/27/67 went down to Sheff's stayed all night;  5/1/67 went down to 
Sheff's over to F [?] Hale's in the evening;  10/9/67 went to Blandford to Cattle show went down to Sheff's & stayed all 
night;  10/10/67 stayed to the Fair came home;
Murphy, Sheffield  [Uncle, contd]  5/15/68 Father went up to Sheff's with Bravo;  5/29/69 went [from A M Perkins bark 
job] up to Winsted and up to Sheff's stayed to Uncle Silas saw Uncle Thad;  9/5/69 came down to Sheff's took supper 
came down to Tiffany's to pile bark;  9/10/69 settled with Perkins came home called to Sheff's;  11/29/69 went over to 
Sheff's [with stage, from Landon's?];  12/14/69 went a bait fishing over to Sheff's Mrs Young came down [to Sheff's, or 
just on the stage?];  12/17/69 fixed a box over to Sheff's to keep bait fish 6 passengers up to Otis [on the stage];  
4/16/70 went down to the River to Dowd's stayed to Sheff's;  5/1/70 came over to Hale's down to Dowd's over to Uncle 
Sheff's;  5/2/70 worked on the road for Sheff;  5/6/70 Sheff sold his oxen started for another yoke;  7/4/70 went to 
Riverton rode down with Anson Hale called to Sheff's he rode down with us stayed to a ball to Brown's;  [Cash Account 

1870] July 28th S R [?] Murphy $5.50 Received;  7/29/70 went down to the River over to Sheff's up to the Silk mill 
Stayed to Francis Hale all night watched with the corpse;

Murphy, Sheffield  [Uncle, contd]  9/11/70 Del & I went down to Howard's down to Sheff's came up to F Hale's;  
12/20/70 went to Winsted got some coal stopped to Sheff's took supper;  6/26/71 went to Winsted with Del took supper 
to Sheff's;  8/29/71 went down to Sheff's with Bravo up by Howard's took tea Mrs Hazard was there from Atcheson 
Kansas, Joel D Thorpe was buried at Colebrook River;  11/18/71 Uncle Silas Sheff & cousin George & their wives went 
away about noon [Father's silver wedding anniversary yesterday];  2/18/72 carried Lib over to Del's went down to the 
River to Sheff's came back by Del's;  3/25/72 done some trading in Winsted came home through Colebrook Center 
called to Sheff's took supper;  5/24/72 my eye felt better started for Granville about 4 o'clock with Em & Hattie called to 
Uncle Sheff's took tea Grandmother fell & hurt her side & hip;  

Muzzy, Betsey  1/13/63  Betsey Muzzy [?] died;  

Nel [Hale?]  8/11/68 saw Nel run a mowing machine down on the Wright place;  
Nelson, Aaron  6/16/71 M Nelson & Brother came down in evening;  3/18/72 went to Granville with Erastus carried Em 
home got the horses broke the pole out of the wagon near A Nelson's;  9/10/72 finished haying on Mrs Bentley's A 
Nelson & son helped me;  9/28/72  went up to Nelson's A Nelson came down drew in his logs;  9/30/72 sawed for A 

Nelson;  [Memoranda 1872 diary] Aaron Nelson Dr  Sept 30th  By Sawing  1259  $4.69  Cr  By Nelson & boy one day 
each at haying  [Entire entry "X"ed out];  
Nelson, Major  11/7/69 went up to Johnson's with M Nelson he bought two pigs;  6/16/71 M Nelson & Brother came 
down in evening;  10/13/71 Major Nelson & wife came out in the afternoon;  1/19/72 M Nelson called;  1/31/72 Major 
Nelson called to get subscribers for the book How to make the farm pay;  8/17/72 M Nelson came down & drew in 
some hardwood logs;  10/1/72 went down to M Nelson's got him to draw in his logs sawed for him;  10/8/72 finished 
sawing Nelson's logs;  [Memoranda 1872 diary] Major Nelson Dr  Aug 17  By Sawing hardwood  573 ft  192  135 sum 

=] 900 [cost] $4.27 [= $4.75/1000 ft]  Oct 1st By sawing hemlock $3.75 per 1000  971 feet  4th  1249  7th  1194  8th  837  

[sum =] 4251 [cost =] 15.94 [+] 4.27 [=] $20.21  Cr Oct 19th  $20.21 [=] 0000;  [Cash Account 1872] October 19th M 
Nelson sawing  $20.21 Received;  
Newberry, Steven  11/30/64 cut wood Stephen Newberry helped us Barnume [?] & Loring [?] his agent came into the 
bush;  
Newman, William  1/15/66 went down town [Winsted] in the evening to Wm Newman's;  
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Newton, Dr S  7/9/63 went a fishing with Dr Newton & Del Marshall pond very rough no luck;  8/9/63 went after Dr 
Newton for Mother;  9/5/63 was sick went & see Doctor Newton got some medicine;  9/19/63 went after Dr Newton for 

Mother;  [Beef 1864?] XDr Newton  X35;  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  XDr S Newton  25X;  3/10/67 went with Father to the 
River Dr Newton came went to Dels took tea to Silas's;  
Northrup  1/7/67 stayed to Hotchkiss went into Northrop's parts played cards in the evening;  

Northways Hall  7/22/67 a meeting of interested persons of the railroad at Northway's Hall;  3/14/69 funeral of Lucian 
Hotchkiss at Northway's Hall...a very large attendance;  1/19/71 went to New Boston a dance at Northway's Hall;  
Northway, John  7/5/69 came over to John Northway's and worked mowed below the road got in 2 load;  7/11/69 came 
over to John Northway's [to continue haying];  7/12/69 mowed over towards Butler's got in 4 loads;  7/13/69 mowed by 
the back barn got in 3 loads cocked up some went to New Boston in the evening;  7/14/69 went over to Uncle's with 
Dim came back at noon & went to Boston Dim & John went a fishing;  7/17/69 mowed & got in 4 load came home got 

through to John's;  [Memoranda 1869 diary]  John Northway Dr July 18th By 10 days work at haying $2.25 per day:  
$22.50 Received in full;  5/12/70 went to New Boston to commence peeling bark stayed to Northway's;  5/13/70 
commenced peeling bark with Dim for Northway on Daniels's went over to Baileies [?] in the evening;  5/15/70 came 
home from Northway's went to Church in the afternoon;  5/16/70 went down to Northway's peeled bark came home at 
night;  5/22/70 went to Church came down to Northway's;  2/27/71 went with Del to New Boston up to John Northway's 
looked at the farm;  4/11/71 went over to J Northway with Del with some things;
Northway, John  7/17/71 J Northway came up [to Del's?] in the forenoon;  
Northway, C [Orlow?]  8/17/63 shod a horse for Northway;  11/4/63 went up to New Boston West Smith bought a cow 
of Northway;  11/12/63 went up to C Northways down to New Boston;  11/14/63 ground apples at Hewitt's mill with 
Northway;  11/17/63 shod horse for C Northway;  11/21/63 Northway got a pig;  12/19/63 shod a horse for C Northway;  
12/21/63 shod a pair of cattle...for C Northway;  7/25/64 went down to O E Slocum's worked in the shop for E Slocum & 
C Northway;  8/9/66 shod a horse for C Northway;  9/9/67 went to work for Northway on the road;  9/21/67 worked for 
Northway cutting corn finished getting in rowen...31 loads in all [September 1863 Cash Account Received of] O 
Northway haying $15.75;  1/17/68 bought a sleigh of O Northway $85;  5/8/68 went to New Boston saw Northway he 

came up traded oxen gave [$]60.00 [?] to boot [?] paid, 30 down the next morning;  [1868 Cash Account] May 8th O 
Northway between oxen $30.00;  5/3/69 shod two pair of oxen for Northway;  5/5/69 worked for Northway got out 
Manure for potatoes;  5/6/69 went on the Belden hill making fence Grove Huntly helped;

Northway, Orlow [contd]  5/11/69 went down to O Northway's in the morning worked in the burying ground helping set 
iron fences;  5/15/69 finished planting for Northway went up to Case's with D Smith around home;  [Memoranda 1869] 

Orlow Northway Dr May 9th By 4 days work May 15th By 41/2 days work Received in full;  [Cash Account 1870] 
December 24 O Northway  peeling bark $30.00 Received;  2/12/71 came back to Father's [from Otis] called to O 
Northway's to warm;  1/30/72 got Northway's wagon drew a load of wood to the house;  2/20/72 went over by 
Lawrence, and commenced drawing Barnes bark 4 teams C Northway & Cotton helped me;  2/23/72 helped [Del] get 
two elm logs down to Gladding off from Northway's 4 feet through;  3/7/72 went to New Boston C Northway came up 
with me;  3/11/72 went and looked at the saw mill on Mrs Bentley with Northway;  5/25/72 went down to G Atkins came 
over to Father's with Em took supper went down to Northway's stayed all night;  

Northway, Orlow [contd]  5/26/72 stayed to Northway's until noon visited with Phelps & wife came up to Del's took 
supper & came over to Mr Smith's stayed all night;  7/14/72 went over to No Colebrook Em came back with me took tea 
to Del's, called to O Northway's, went up to Father's stayed all night;  8/4/72 carried Em home & brought her mother 
over to Northway's;  9/8/72 went over to Del's called to Northway's Lib came home;  9/22/72 went over to Del's with Em 
went over to Uncle Abiram's, called to Northway's to Father's came back to Lawrence;  12/2/72 went over to Uncle 
Abiram's with a sheep went to Del's got some turkey called to Northway's got some chairs & other things;  

Northway, Mrs  1/20/70 Mrs Northway Josephine Mills came down & back Jane went back G Brooks & wife came down 
[on the stage];  2/23/70 Mrs Downs & Spring & Mrs Northway visited at Dowd's had a load up to Boston [on the stage];  
Norton  11/30/69 Rained a dark night hard going Norton came [on stage] down to [New] Boston Sarah Monson & sister 
came down a lady up to Cold Spring;  12/1/69 Norton came down a load of freight up;  

Norton, Henry  7/4/64 went up to picnic up to Otis over to H Nortons across beech plain home with Erastus Hale;  
6/12/67 peeled bark Hen[ry?] & Rat worked;  6/13/67 peeled bark...Rat [?] & Hen worked;   6/18/67 Rat & Hen went to 
New Boston went up to Hen Nortons visited Fannie's school in afternoon;  6/27/67 went up to H Norton's;  10/3/71 went 
to New Boston Cold Spring H Norton's, D Parker E Otis with Del took supper with Cotton went to School meeting;  
Norton, L  4/11/64 L Nortons girl died;  12/10/69 H Haskell came down & back L Norton came up & Laura Smith came 
up to Boston [on the stage];  2/8/70 L Norton S Spear M Bradley went up [on the stage];  
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Noyes Pond  12/9/62 went a fishing on Noyes pond had good luck;  9/2/64 True, Henry & Seth Maltby Jennie Griffin & 
Fannie Bidwell came up here went up to Noyes pond sailing;  

Oatman  3/5/62 went to the social Parsons & Oatman shop carried Miss Fanny Bidwell;  12/1/62 went down to 

Oatmans Parsons;  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  X Oatman  X50-54-60;  1/23/64 carried the wagon wheels down to Oatmans 
went up to Abirams over to J Hodges;  
Oharry [?], John  10/9/65 went down to John Oharrys [sic] with Del got a chicken;  
Olmssted, Charles  8/9/65 Charles Olmssted [sic] barn burned down [Salisbury, CT?];  
Orsoon  7/21/68 went up to B Moore's around to Orsoon's [?];  
Osborn  8/22/64 went down to Grangers & Osborns stayed to Abirams over night Fanny Bidwell was there;  
Osborn  5/22/68 Osborn & Irvin came down;  10/16/68 Osborn & Corlene came down stayed all night;  
Osborn, A  2/26/62 Father & I went down to H C Brown's A Osborn & traded the stags for a cow traded cow & steers 
with Abiram for a pair of steers;  

Osborn, M A  3/7/69 wrote to M A Osborn;  [Cash Account 1872] Dec 28th M A Osborn & Co for Coal Register $5.00;  
Osborn, P  11/15/68 went over from Riverton to Winsted stopped to Hotchkiss went over to Robertsville with Georgia 
called on P Osborn in evening;  
Osborne  2/18/66 Thorit & Osborne went up to Uncle Abiram went up to Griffin's;  2/25/66 came down to Grandfather's 
[Colebrook River, from Tolland] got Osborne to bring me part way to Winsted;  4/12/66 came out of Hartford with S [?] 
Hale & Osborne;  
Osborne, H  7/29/72 H Osborne called & took dinner;  

Ostrander, Ad  12/13/64 cut & piled wood went over to A Ostrander's to a dance;  1/8/65 went down to A Ostrander's 
over to H Balls in the eve to hear him fiddle;  1/15/65 went down to A Ostrander's;  1/17/65 piled wood for A Ostrander;  
3/27/65 A Ostrander here [Del's?] in the evening sold him 2 chairs;  Memoranda [1865 Diary] A Ostrander Dr  March 

27th By 2 chairs $2.50  Cr Aug By making a pair of pants  $0.75;  4/2/65 went down to A Ostrander's got my wire [or 
"vise"?];  9/27/65 drew wood with Ostrander;  10/16/65 helped Del cut some wood went down to Ad Ostrander's;  
3/14/70 cracked butternuts [at Sam Loomis?] went down to A Ostrander's;  
Ostrander, Lydia  7/12/65 drew wood [in Salisbury, CT] Lydia Ostrander came down drew 111/2 cords;  

Ostrander, M  4/13/65 worked on the cabin M Ostrander helped us;  9/14/65 drew wood out of the brook M Ostrander, 
John & Jack Soules M Hibbard;  9/27/65 drew wood with Ostrander;  

J P's Hotel  1/27/65 went to Elan Maltby down to Winsted with H & S Maltby up to Colebrook Center to a spelling school
up to M C [?] to J P's hotel would not keep us over night stayed to S Hitchcock over night;  
Paine, Henry  11/8/64 went to Town meeting voted for McClellan & Pendleton for President Henry Paine for Governor 
stayed to Hodges over night;  
Parrott, B F  7/24/63 B F Parrotts wife died;  
Parman  4/6/65 Parman was up [to Del's, or in the bush?];  
Parker, D  10/3/71 went to New Boston Cold Spring H Norton's, D Parker E Otis with Del took supper with Cotton went 
to School meeting;  

Parks, Dexter  11/3/63 town meeting tie on Governor Parks for Repesentative 2 majority;  10/29/69 Father went to 
Blandford to Convention Dexter Parks nominated for Representative;  11/2/69 Dexter Parks elected Repasentative;  
Parsons,  3/5/62 went to the social Parsons & Oatman shop carried Miss Fanny Bidwell;  12/1/62 done chores for L 
Twining went down to Oatmans Parsons;  
Parsons, Burton  7/15/67 Burton Parsons [?] came up on the stage [to Clarks?];  
Parsons, Dr  1/14/71 helped Del cut wood for Dr Parsons on the Cowles farm;  1/17/71 helped Del cut wood for Dr 
Parsons finished the job 8 cords;  9/25/72 went over with Lawrence to New Boston to Dr Parsons auction;  
Parsons, E & T  3/8/62 went to the River carried down 10 bush of potatoes to E & T Parsons;  4/20/63 went to 
Colebrook to mill carried calf skins to Parsons;  10/27/63 went to the River carried potatoes to Parsons came back by 

Hodges;  10/13/64 went down to Parsons with hides;  [Memoranda 1869 diary] Sept 18th Timothy Persons Dr By calf 
skins $8.75 Cr By tanning $1.75 Due $7.00 Received in full $7.00;  

Parsons, Fanny  3/11/69 went to Winsted called on Fannie P stayed to H Hotchkiss all night Lucian Hotchkiss died at 

two o'clock AM the 12th of heart disease, a respected man beloved of all who knew him and kind to poor;  
Parsons, H D  10/6/62 went to H D Parsons picked up apples;  10/31/62 drawed apples from H Parsons up to S 
Roggers cider mill;  9/9/70 went down to H D Parsons in the evening;  
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Parsons, Harvey  1/21/66 spent the day with True Fanny Bidwell was there a visiting Harvey Parsons came there 
[Uncle Abiram's] in the evening;  5/9/66 peeled in the afternoon [with] H Parsons &  Charles Phelps;  2/24/67 True [&] 
Harvey Parsons here [at Abiram's] in the evening played cards made candy;  3/2/67 Harvey & Fannie came [to 
Abiram's] from Viet's;  3/3/67 True, Rufus & H Parsons came here [Abiram's] in the evening;  5/29/67 Ace, Harvey & 
Frank came down in evening played cards;  8/4/67 Harvey came up & got Fannie;  10/16/67 Harvey Parsons & Fannie 
Bidwell married;  3/11/69 to Winsted called on Fannie P; 
Parsons, Hiram  9/21/63 went to New Boston...horse low [lame?] quit rode back with Hiram Parsons;  10/5/63 went 
over to Hodges down to H Parsons;  10/27/63 to the River carried potatoes to Parsons; 1/6/64 went over to Hi Parsons 
looked at a pair of steers;  10/13/64 went down to Parsons with hides;  6/23/69 came back [from Lu Hotchkiss, 
Winsted] to Tiffany's peeled bark Hiram Parsons called;  11/10/70 went down to H Parson's to a ball as spectator;  
2/21/71 Mrs Tiffany here [L Smith's?] a visting H Parsons and two Sisters came up & spent the evening;  3/4/72 went 
over to H Parsons towards night;  
Parsons, R  8/29/67 went down to R Parson's over to By's up to Montville with Fox;  
Parsons, Samuel  4/1/62 drew some boards to Sam'l Parsons;  4/20/63 went to Colebrook to mill carried calf skins to 
Parsons;

Parsons, William  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  XW Parsns [?]  X66;  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  XW Parsons  X77;  8/24/65 drew 
wood Mike worked in the forenoon William Parsons came up here Father went home Mother stayed;  
Peebles  5/2/72 fixed the mill started the saw Peebles came down;  
Pebbles  12/6/70 got Pebbles cart;  12/7/70 went up to Van Wert's got two loads of hay;  8/17/72 Pebbles came down & 
helped me run the mill;  
Pebbles, Almond  10/6/72 went with Lawrence up to Beech Hill to the funeral of Almond Pebbles, Aged 71 yrs, went 
down to Aunt Eliza's in the evening;  
Pebbles, T  2/25/71 came up to A Cowle's over to O Ripley's up to T Pebble's looking after oxen came back to W 
Hale's took supper came over to J Cotton stayed all night;  
Pebbles, Henry  6/21/72 went to raise the shop and it fell down stripped the covering off and one roof went down to J 
Johnson up to Pebles;  6/22/72 got J Johnson L Frost & Pebles [sic] to help me take down the shop and clear away the 
frame;  6/24/72 went up to Pebles [sic] in the evening;  6/26/72 worked around the mill laying the foundation got the sills
on Pebles [sic] helped me & Johnson & Clark;  7/1/72 came down to the [mill] from home Mr Pebbles helped me board 

some on the ends;  [Memoranda 1872 diary] Dr to Henry Pebbles for work mill Jun 28th 31/2 days July 1st 1 day;  7/3/72 
put on roof boards in the afternoon went up to Pebbls [sic] & to L Smith in evening;  8/16/72 sawed some Pebbles 
came down;  8/17/72 Pebbles came down & helped me run the mill;  12/5/72 went down to Pebbles in the evening;  
12/17/72 Mr & Mrs Pebbles came up in the evening;  
Peck  2/27/66 went to the lecture on A Lincoln by P[or "B"?]eck;  

Pendleton, G  8/31/64 G B McClellan & G Pendleton nominated for President & Vice at Chicago;  11/8/64 went to Town 
meeting voted for McClellan & Pendleton for President Henry Paine for Governor stayed to Hodges over night;  
Perkins, A M  5/17/69 went to Winsted with Dimock [Smith] took a bark job of A M Perkins;  5/21/69 Dimock & I 
commenced peeling bark;  6/3/69 peeled bark Perkins came up in the woods;  6/11/69 peeled bark Perkins came in the 
woods;  6/21/69 peeled and stacked bark Perkins came up in the woods;  6/25/69 finished peeling & stacking bark;  

[Memoranda 1869] Days work on Perkins Job  S D Smith  May 21st 2 days work 29th 5 days work June 5th 51/2 days 

work 12th 43/4 days work 19th 5 days work 26th 4 days work C W Ives May 29th 7 days work June 5th 51/2 days work 12th 

43/4 days work 19th 5 days work 26th 4 days work;  [Cash Account 1869] July 3rd Perkins peeling bark $15.00 Received;  
9/8/69 piled bark part of the day went up to Winsted saw Perkins;  9/9/69 finished piling bark measured by Geo Dudley 

& Perkins 142 cords went over to Hotchkiss stayed all night;  [Cash Account 1869 Sep] 10th Received of A Perkins for 

peeling bark $84.66;  9/10/69 went over to Elmor's Del bought a bull of him $471/2 settled with Perkins came home 
called to Sheff's;  
Perry  6/1/70  went up to the Perry place & peeled bark on the lower side of the road;  
Perry, D  4/2/70 Johnson shot himself at D Perry [?];  
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Perry, Mozart  9/17/62 Mozart Perry came here;  7/22/63 Mozart Perry Hen Munn got home;  6/6/64 came back to 
Phelps worked in the shop went up to Boston saw Mozart Perry;  9/9/64 went up to Otis with S Brown saw Mozart Perry 
stayed to Clark Hotchkiss over night;  5/13/66 Mozart came over stayed all night;  5/14/66 peeled bark Mozart came 
down to go to work;  5/15/66 peeled bark Mozart commenced work;  5/20/66 Mozart & Erastus came back;  6/2/66 Ed 
Horrigon stayed all night & Rat & Mozart;  6/7/66 went to Winsted with [Erastus?] Hale & [Mozart?] Perry got some 
money stayed to F Hale's all night;  6/19/66 peeled bark Mozart cut his leg;  6/20/66 peeled bark Father helped us 
Mozart did not work [& for some time?];  7/6/66 finished hoeing for Father went up to the pond with Mozart went in 

swimming;  July 6th  Cash to Perry $2.00;  Memoranda [1866 diary] Acct of M Perry's work May 19th 4 days work May 

29th 5 days work June 2nd 6 days work June 5th 2 days work plus [list of, in pencil] 4 days, 21/2 days, 21/2 days, 11/2 days 

Perry, Mozart [contd]  Memoranda [1866 diary] E Hale Cr to M E Perry By Cash on Camp's Job $2.50 on Gilbert's job 
$2.60 C W Ives Cr to M E Perry on Gilbert job $6.00 Aug 8 Settled with Hale for Perry's work;  10/2/68 M Perry called 
here;  10/15/68 Nel Brown & Mozart stayed here all night;  10/16/68 Moze stayed here;  10/17/68 went to New Boston 

in evening with Moze he had a tooth pulled;  [1868 Cash Account] October 4th M Perry $0.25 Received...18th M Perry 
razor $1.50 Received;  2/17/69 Mrs Miller Asin [?] & Mozart spent the afternoon here;  5/1/69 Mozart came over & 

stayed;  5/2/69 Wm Treat & Mozart here;  5/3/69 Del & Mozart went to the River;  [Cash Account 1869] May 9th Gave M 
E Perry $3.00;  7/23/69 Mozart came over raked with a wheel rake;  8/2/69 Mozart stayed all night;  11/27/69 Will Rugg 
Del & Anson & Seymour Hale were down Moze came up;  4/25/70 called and see Mozart very low;  4/26/70 Mozart E 

Perry died at Wm Snows Tolland of Consumption at 41/2 PM  Aged 24 yrs A kind & cheerful fellow always welcomed by 
his associates;
Perry, Mozart [contd]  4/28/70 attended the Funeral of Mozart Perry, Sermon by Rev. P W Smith text from Prov 14 
chap 32 verse ["The wicked is driven away in his wickedness:  but"] The righteous hath hope in his death; [Back of 

1870 diary] Old Year Thou art gone, Buried with the past, Thou hast brought changes sorrow to many a heart Joy and 

happiness to many a family.  Thou art gone yet you will long be remembered by many.  Many of our acquaintances are 

sleeping their last sleep that knows no waking until the resurrection.  First that Death called from us was Mozart E Perry 

April 26 Aged 24 yrs; Fannie E wife of Roswell Marshall Daughter of B F Hale died July 19 a bride of but 6 [?] weeks 

both were young and social companions ever welcome & welcomed.  Thou hast blest our family circle with health Thou 

hast been a short and pleasant year to me I have been blessed with health surrounded by many blessings and 

comforts that many are deprived of.  May I be thankful for these & have strength for coming trials Old Year Good Bye[.]
Perry, Samuel  5/7/64 Samuel Perry died sudden at New Hartford;  9/17/64 up to Otis with Miles Hawley to auction of 
estate of S Perry bought a saw;  
Person, Dellas [Dallas? Parson?]  5/14/68 Dellas [Dallas?] Person Mary Jane Baldwin were married;  
Persons, Timothy [Parsons?]  9/18/69 Memoranda Sept 18th Timothy Persons Dr  By calf skins $8.75 Cr By tanning 
$1.75 Due $7.00 Received in full $7.00;  

Peter [possibly Borinay?]  5/24/65 helped Peter build pit heads;  5/31/65 helped Peter build pit heads;  6/8/65 carried 
leaves dug dirt covered pit Peter & I worked alone in the forenoon had the head ache in the afternoon;  6/21/65 covered
pits wheeled wood Peter came down to Board;  7/31/65 drew wood 11 cords Peter went to Lime Rock;  
Phelon, William  11/27/72 run the mill E Barnes & Wm Phelon came over drew out boards and in logs;  
Phelps, Charles  1/8/64 Hotchkiss bought [a pair of steers?] of C Phelps $130;  5/9/66 peeled bark [with] H Parsons & 
Charles Phelps;  7/22/66 Phelps came up to see his heiffer;  
Phelps, E  [New Marlboro?] 4/22/63 E Phelps came up & got a pig;  
Phelps [?], O  10/6/62 bought a horse & buggy O Phelps [?];  4/24/66 went down to Phelps down to Beldens up to 
Horrigons over to Franks & to Seymour in the evening;  7/19/67 O Phelps wife buried;  

Phelps, Edward [chair shop]  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XE Phelps  X40;  2/29/64 down to Phelpses took a job in the shop;  
3/8/64 commenced work for Phelps in the shop;  3/12/64 [worked all week in the shop] worked in the shop bought a 
pair of yearling steers of C Denslow $70 came home;  3/17/64 worked in the shop in the forenoon [& last 2 days] had a 
sore hand quit & came home;  3/29/64 went to New Boston down to Phelps's;  4/5/64 went down to Phelps shop to 
work;  4/6/64 worked in the shop Phelps went off with chairs;  4/9/64 worked in the shop [all week] came home;  
4/11/64 worked in the shop [thru 4/16];  4/18/'64 worked in the shop [thru 4/23] boring seats Phelps went to Fathers got 
a pig;  4/24/64 went to meeting came back to Phelps's [worked 4/25 - 4/30];  5/2/64 came down to the shop & worked 
[thru 5/7];  5/5/64 worked in the shop Phelps went off with chairs;  5/6/64 worked in the shop Phelps came back from 
Pittsfield;  5/11/64 went down to Phelps to work by the month;  5/18/64 came back to Phelps worked in the shop; 
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Phelps, Edward [chair shop]  5/23/64 came down to Phelps's worked in the shop George Knockerbocker got his trunk;  
5/26/64 worked in the shop Phelps went down to the River got a load of seats [slats?];  5/29/64 went up to the pond 
read had a nap came down to Phelps;  6/2/64 Truman brought some potatoes down to Phelps;  6/5/64 came back to 
Phelps worked in the shop went up to Boston saw Mozart Perry;  6/12/64 came back to Phelps's;  6/16/64 Phelps went 
off with a load of chairs worked in the shop;  6/18/64 worked in the shop came home brought up a set of chairs;  
6/19/64 came back to Phelps's;  6/20/64 worked in the shop a while Adelbert came down went up home went down to 
Grandfather's;  6/21/64 came back to the shop and worked;  6/24/64 worked in the shop Burrill Denslow came up on 
the stage we went up to [New] Boston;  6/25/64 worked at the shop got through settled up came home;  10/15/64 
carried a quarter of beef to Phelps;  [Beef 1864?] XE Phelps  X99;

Phelps contd  2/6/65 went over to New Boston west look at Emons colt down to Phelps shop with F Hale;  2/13/65 went 
down to Phelps in the morning [from Mrs Snows in New Boston] came home;  4/24/66 Erastus & I went down to Phelps 
down to Belden's up to Horrigon's over to Frank's & to Seymour in the evening;  3/10/70 went down to the chair shop 
came home Salome & Cottons folks were down here & spent the evening;  5/26/72 stayed to Northway's until noon 
visited with Phelps & wife came up to Del's took supper & came over to Mr Smith's stayed all night;  

Phil [possibly Philo Bell?]  12/19/64 went to Chapinville cut wood went down to Phil's to a dance;  12/24/64 cut wood in 
the forenoon went over to Chapinville got some oysters had a dance to Phil's had a hard time [tooth pulled tomorrow?];  
Philan  1/9/65 Philan [?] & I cut wood;  
Pickett, Rev Mr  3/23/62 G Hale's funeral preacher Rev Mr Pickett;  1/8/63 went to Mr Pickitts donation Sandisfield;  
1/25/63 went to meeting Mr Pickett preached;  8/7/64 went to meeting Mr Pickett preached;  

Piper, E J  [Memoranda 1870 diary]  E J Piper Springfield 1 Oz Valerian 1/2 Oz Commercial Musk 1 Pint Whiskey;
Pixley, Edwin S  3/16/64 worked in [Phelps] shop went over to Pixlys [sic] in the evening;  9/27/64 peddled meat went 
up to Montville stayed to E S Pixley all night;  9/28/64 went out to Barrington with E Pixley to cattle show stayed to L 
Pixley all night;  9/29/64 went out to the show came and stayed to Pixley's over night;  9/30/64 went out to Barrington 
came back to Pixley's stayed over night;  10/1/64 came home a foot with Erastus Hale;  10/9/64 went down to E S 

Pixley's in the evening;  [Beef peddled in 1864?] E S Pixley  X7.77...E S Pixley  2.77;  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  XE Pixley  
X72-30-48-55;  1/1/65 wrote a letter to E S Pixley;  1/10/65 received a letter from E Pixley;  1/16/65 went to Housatonic 
stayed to Edwin Pixley's over night;  3/26/65 wrote a letter to E S Pixley & one to New York;  8/8/65 received a letter 
from Pixley;  9/6/65 rode to Sheffield with A McCarter went to Housatonic stayed to E S Pixley's;  10/18/65 went [from 
Del's, Salisbury] down to Mike's came to Housatonic rode up with Sage of Lakeville stayed to E S Pixley's;  10/19/65 
stayed with Pixley bought a horse harness & wagon of him;
Pixley, Edwin S [contd]  10/26/65 bought a tub of butter of Hotchkiss came to Housatonic stayed to Pixley's;  10/27/65 
rained in the afternoon stayed to Pixley's went & stayed with Ed Harper over night;  Memoranda [1865 Diary]  E S 

Pixley  Dr  Oct 31st  By cash  $55.47  Cr. Nov 24th By cash  $5.00  Cr. Feb 15th 1866  By cash  $10.00;  1/7/66 wrote to 
Pixley;  1/30/66 received letter from Pixley...wrote to...Pixley;  2/14/66 sick did not work went down town in afternoon 
Pixley stayed with me;  2/15/66 went up to Colebrook River with Pixley around by Camp's chair shop stayed to 
Grandfather's over night;  1/15/69 letter from E Pixley;  
Pixley, L  9/28/64 went out to Barrington with E Pixley to cattle show stayed to L Pixley all night;  
Polly, Aunt  5/1/68 Father Mother & Aunt Polly went to Winsted;  
Pomeroy  10/13/63 Pomeroy stayed here all night;  
Pomeroy, Daniel B  1863 diary:  Comp F 27 Mass Cvy New Bern N C;
Potter, L  8/22/70 L Potter called stayed to dinner;  
Potts  1/7/62 drawed logs from the Potts lot;  1/9/62 drawed logs from the Potts lot;  
Pratt  3/7/70 went over to Pratt's rode up to Town meeting L Granger J Hall & G Marshall selectmen;  
Pratt, Edward  2/10/70 blustering went [with the stage] to Otis Ed Pratt [?] went to Winsted;  
Pratt, G  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XG Pratt  X25-30;  
Pratt, H  [Beef 1864?] XH Pratt  X25;  [Beef 1864? 3rd page] X Pratt  X90;  
Pratt, Mrs  1/10/70 Harrison & I went up to Howard's Hube went down with the stage & Mrs Pratt went up;  
Pratt, O  [Cash Account 1870] Feb 7th O Pratt oysters $1.38;  [Cash Account April 1871]  8th Sundries to Pratts $0.30 
Paid;  

Ransom  8/5/64 went over to Ransom's [from Grandfathers] up to E Otis around home;  
Restell, Madame  [1868 diary note] Fifth avenue & Fifty second St Madame R[or B?]estell;  
Rev [from Blandford]  10/30/70 went over to M Johnson's went to Church Rev [blank space] from Blandford preached 
came over to Smith's;  
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Richards, A H  3/10/62  carried A H Richards to Granville;  7/3/62 A H Richards stayed here all night;  7/4/62 went down
to New Boston with Richards went to the ball at night had a good time;  
Richards, I [?]  6/16/63 went over to A Halls up to Blandford stayed with I [?] Richards;  9/10/64 went over to Blandford 
got some wool carded went to I Richards;  
Richardson Brook  6/28/62 hoed potatoes for father we all went a fishing down the Richardson brook caught 130;  
7/13/63 went a fishing down the Richardson brook;  
Richardson Lot  8/19/63 mowed for S Hales on the Richardson lot;  8/22/63 mowed on the Richardson lot finished 
it...got through with Hale;  10/13/63 went over to the Richardson lot [recuperating from the mumps];  
Richardson, H  8/30/63 went over to Sandisfield funeral sermon of Lieutenant B Deming & B Wolcott F & G Allen H 
Richardson preached;  
Riddeford [?]  1/28/66 came back to Winsted took supper at Riddeford's [?];
Riley [?]  1/30/66 wrote to Riley;
Ripley, O  10/20/68 wrote to O Riply;  2/25/71 came up to A Cowle's over to O Ripley's up to T Pebble's looking after 
oxen came back to W Hale's took supper came over to J Cotton stayed all night;  12/6/71 drew out bark on Ripley's I 
bought of J McDonald;  
Roberts, E  4/18/68 sold Brown head & the gray cows to E Robberts;  7/2/70 E Robberts stayed to Father's;  
Roberts, J  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  XJ Roberts  X42;  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  XJ Roberts  X75-165;  

Robinson, H  5/19/63 went over to H Robinson to work put up fence;  5/23/63 fixed fence came home;  5/25/63 went 
over to H Robinsons sawed wood;  5/26/63 sawed wood came home;  5/29/63 went to Robinson in the morning to work 
fixed fence G Treat helped;  10/18/63 went up to Granville [from Hodges] went home H Robinson met me on the Hill 
went home with him;  10/19/63 picked apples Robinson went with cheese;  10/20/63 he went with cheese picked 
apples felt about sick;  10/21/63 went to picking apples with Robinson got tired out had to stop work came home;  
10/30/70 came over to Smith's went down to Robinson's in the evening;  10/4/72 got Robinson's wagon went down to G

Atkins he paid me the balance on note;  [Cash Account 1872] October 5th H Robinson meat $2.00;  
Robinson, Marie  5/22/70 Wm Whitney & Marie Robinson were married;  
Robinson, R R  [1868 diary note] 41 Thomas Street R R Robinson & Helen Jewitt;  
Rogers, Homer  6/16/71 worked on the road by Homer's [sic] Rogers barn got nearly home;  

Rogers, R S  10/31/62 drawed apples from H Parsons up to S Roggers cider mill;  2/7/63 went down on the hill hired 
out to R S Roggers for sapping;  3/23/63 commenced work for S Rogers scalded tubs;  4/12/63 went back to Rogers 
[had been sick, "came down home" yesterday];  4/16/63 went home;  4/30/63 went down on the hill settled with Rogers; 

5/2/63 went down on the Hill bought S Rogers sugar sold 1 [?] to Hale;  Memoranda R S Rogers, Dr  March 28th by 6 

days work  April 4th by 5 days work  [April] 11th by 6 days work  [April] 18th by 51/2 days work  [April] 20th Received $5.00  

[April] 30th Received $14.00 in full of all demands $19.00 Due S Rogers $24.72  Paid in full;  
Rood, A  10/25/69 A Rood Charlie Theresa Nellie & Mrs Johnson came down made a visit;  3/4/70 quit driving stage 
Hubert drove up a dance to Johnson's Nellie & Rood [?] came up;  9/14/71 went over to Del's got his buggy went to A 
Rood's to a party at Bakerville in company with M Johnson, Charlie & Charlie Snow, carried Florence Burt had a nice 
time;  10/7/71 Johnson & wife Rood & wife Dewey & wife & Charlie came over with oxen & cart;  9/8/72 went up to 
Cottons, Rood & wife C Denslow & wife there went a cranberrying;  
Root, Miss Case [meant Case & Root?]  3/25/62 went down to Grandpas Miss Case Root;  4/5/62 Uncle Abiram & wife, 
True & Misses Case & Root came up to Dels we danced in the evening;  
Rosa [not sister?]  12/25/69 went up home Dowd & wife went to New Boston with me Rosa went up home;  1/4/70 Miss 
[Mrs?] Dowd went up to Boston Rosa went back, a passenger up to New Boston;

Rowley, Bennet  1/8/68 came home [from Chapinville] Rowley & Hodges was here;  1/29/68 went to singing school up 
to Bennet Rowley came down [sic];  2/18/68 went to singing school Rowley came out & stayed all night;  
Rowley, Mrs  7/12/72  worked on the mill in forenoon hoed potatoes for Mrs Bentley in afternoon Mrs Rowley & Winnie 
Bentley came up;  
Rugg, Dea [?]  8/14/67 went to mowing Del went to Winsted Dea [?] Rugg & wife came to Fox;  7/26/68 Rugg called 
here Sunday night;  
Rugg, Will  11/27/69 Will Rugg Del & Anson & Seymour Hale were down Moze came up L Caul [?] H Tuttle came [on 
stage] from B [New Boston?] to CS [Cold Spring?] ;
Rurick  2/2/72 N Brown & Ruric[or "a"?]k called in the morning;  

Rurick, Miss  2/3/62 little better but pretty sick Dr called Miss Rurick & J Warner were here all day Joel stayed all night; 
Rurick, Mrs  1/10/62 even[in]g played cards at Mrs Rurick;  2/5/62 Mrs Rurick & J Warner were here in the afternoon;  
2/14/62 went up to Mrs Rurick played cards with J Warner;  12/11/62 wrote a letter to Mrs Rurick;
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Russell, Rev Henry  4/14/72  set up sap tubs went over to Lawrence Smith got Em went to Colebrook stayed to Ira 
Smith's Married at Colebrook by Rev Henry Russell Cyrus W Ives & Emma [Emoline] O Smith;  
Rydel [?]  4/11/66 went from Tariffville to Hartford with sugar stayed to Rydel's [Ryder's?];  

Sackett  3/14/66 went up on Sacketts bush [Chapinville?] with Will stayed with him all night;  3/15/66 Sackett came 
down wanted I should draw his wood;  3/30/66 went up on Sackett's bush stayed to Sam's [Loomis];  4/3/66 went up on 
Sackett's bush helped Mallory [?] move some things to Hammer town;  
Sage [Lakeville]  10/18/65 went [from Del's, Salisbury?] down to Mike's came to Housatonic rode up with Sage of 
Lakeville stayed to E S Pixley's;  
Sage, E  [Beef peddled in 1864?] E Sage  X2.41;  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  XE Sage  X92-81...E Sage  X76-75-90;  [Beef 

1864? 3rd page]  XE Sage X85, 80=60;  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  XE Sage  X74-142;  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XE Sage  
X105;  1/22/66 came back to Winsted with E Sage;  3/20/66 came up to the River with Sage stayed to Grandfather's 
Sheff came home;  12/25/67 shod a pair of horses for E Sage;  

Sage, John  8/10/67 went over to John Sage [from Abiram's?] carried Mrs Saged [sic] & Fannie Bidwell to Winsted;  
Sage, Josiah  3/21/70 went over to Lower South West Sandisfield to Josiah Sage's with John Cotton;  
Sage, Lewis  8/8/71 went up to Sandisfield with E Sears took some grass of L Sage to cut on shares;  8/18/71 went up 
to Lewis Sage's cutting grass on shares Ed Sears in Co with me brought home one load [to Father's];  8/19/71 finished 
up to Sage's Ed brought home a load;  
Sage, R  4/15/65 John Ivorys [?] team drew up the boards worked on the cabin got 2 loads of hay to R Sages 
[Salisbury?];  

Saira [?]  3/5/65 to Hillsdale with C Thorpe Ellen & Mary Jane Brown & Saira [?] stayed all night to Augustus Holtsapple;
Sam  4/22/64 George & Sam went up on the mountain with the girls;  
Sam'l  9/13/68 Sam[']l [?] & wife C Clark came out in evening Rat stayed here all night;  
Sane  4/26/65 went up to Sane [?] Egremont with Lib & Jane Brown got some pictures taken came back through 
Sheffield eat supper to Mrs Browns;  
Sarah  11/24/69 Hattie De Wolf & Sarah came down in the stage & a lady from Montville went up;  1/18/70 went up to 
Tolland called to F [?] Hales & S Hale's went to Otis Sarah went up to Otis broke a wheel of the stage got a wagon of L 
Caul;  
Sarah  2/2/72 went to Colebrook River & home again took tea to Uncle Silas Sarah was at home;  
Sawyer, C  11/13/72 went to Winsted with Father C Sawyer went down with us, stayed to Father's all night;  
Sawyer Fishe & Co  1/19/63 went down to Colebrook River settled up with Sawyer Fishe & Co for Father;
Scoville, H  8/9/70 H Scoville drowned in the reservoir at Otis near the old Gulf bridge;  8/11/70 Curt & Del came down 
& got Dim & I; went over to the reservoir; the body of H Scoville found by Wm Stowe Aged 20 yrs;  
Scoville, S  11/3/64 went down to Scoville's in the evening;  11/12/64 helped Scoville get in some corn & potatoes;  
12/16/64 cut wood Del hooped barrels for Scoville;  12/20/64 helped butcher for Scoville;  12/23/64 cut wood went 
down to S Scoville cut up a beef;  1/12/65 Del helped Scoville;  1/18/65 Del helped Scoville fill his icehouse;  2/24/65 
cut pine logs for S Scoville;  3/8/65 picked over apples up to Scoville in the evening;  6/5/65 a drove of cattle stayed to 
Scoville over night;  6/24/65 went up to Scoville in the evening;  7/6/65 hoed corn on the East farm for Sam Scoville;  
7/8/65 hoed for Sam Scoville & plaster corn finished;  7/14/65 drew wood Francis helped Mike cut rye for Scoville drew 
9 cords;  9/4/65 went up to Scoville's & dug some roots went up to the store;  11/24/65 worked for Sam Scoville went to 
the east farm got some boards;

Scoville, S [contd]  Memoranda [1865 Diary] S C Scoville  Dr  Feb 24th By 3/4 day cutting logs  July 6th By 1 day a hoeing 

July 8th By 3/4 day a hoeing  Cr  July 2nd By wagon to Tolland  June 24th Dr By 1 set of chairs to Luke Flood  $9.00  [+] 

2.00 [+] 1.50 [+] 1.00 [+] 8.80 [=] 22.30  Oct 17th Received in full;   $13.00;  9/30/68 went to Barrington with Del to Cattle 
Show started at 3 o'clock went down to Scoville over to Chapinville called to Doyle's stayed with Will to Sam's;  
Scoville, S C  6/12/65 S C Scoville died;  6/;14/65 worked in bush in the forenoon went to the funeral of S C Scoville in 
the afternoon buried under Masonic orders;  

Scoville, T [S?]  [1863 Memoranda] several pages of complex arithmatic calculations; and a series of 64 short 
horizontal lines (with 4 vertical ones on top row) plus "T E [S C?] Scoville 63";  9/28/69 T [S?] Scoville came here;  
Scranton  12/11/72 went over to Father's took the horse carried Lib down to Scra[e?]nton's went up to Del's got the 
oxen came back to Father's stayed all night went over to Wm Howd's in the evening;  
Sealey  4/2/66 State Election in Connecticut English & Sealey [?] candidates for Governor;  
Sears, A  11/8/71 worked for Del sawing sap wood went over to A Sears in evening;  11/10/71 filed saws over to Sears; 
11/12/71 got up Sear's sheep;  
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Sears, Ed  6/10/71 Cotton & wife & Miss Burt E Sears & Del were here in eve;  8/8/71 went up to Sandisfield with E 
Sears took some grass of L Sage to cut on shares;  8/9/71 mowed for Del Ed Sears worked for him got in 3 load & 3 
load for Sears;  8/12/71 mowed the old barn lot had 1 load Ed Sears helped us Mrs Sears & Sarah came over Ed Del & 
I went a fishing to the pond in evening;  8/14/71 Ed Sears Del Cotton & boys helped us [haying at Father's];  8/18/71 
went up to Lewis Sage's cutting grass on shares Ed Sears in Co with me;  8/19/71 finished up to Sage's Ed brought 
home a load;  8/20/71 went over to Belden's with Ed Sears just at night to see his colt;  9/26/71 Del & Ed Sears came 
over;  1/5/72 came [from Ira Smith's?] to Del's stayed all night went over to E Sears' in evening;  8/22/72 mowed the lot 
near Sears [for Del] the last mowing to be done got in four load at the upper barn got the other caught out Dim worked;  
11/29/72 Took Father's horse & sleigh & went over to Del's stayed all night.  Ed Sears came over in the evening;  
Sears, Mrs  8/12/71 mowed the old barn lot had 1 load Ed Sears helped us Mrs Sears & Sarah came over;  
Sears, Sarah  8/12/71 mowed the old barn lot had 1 load Ed Sears helped us Mrs Sears & Sarah came over;  
Sears, M  5/12/71 set a tire for M Sears;  
Section, W  [Beef 1864?] XW Section [?]  X120;  
Seymour  11/3/68 attended election voted for Seymour & Blair for President & vice President;  
Seymour  7/28/63 went over to Seymours;  8/14/63 mowed in the big mowing Seymour & his 2 boys helped;  8/15/63 
Seymour & his boys helped haying;
Seymour, F (soldier)  6/14/63 went to Sandisfield to meeting funeral Sermon of F Seymour & J J [?] Smith soldiers 
carried over Georgie & Lu & Selenda;  7/28/63 went over to Seymours;  8/14/63 mowed in the big mowing Seymour & 
his 2 boys helped;  8/15/63 Seymour & his boys helped haying;
Seymour, T H,  2/18/63  Connecticut Democratic State Convention T H Seymour for Governor;  9/3/68 T H Seymour 
died aged 61 years;  
Shaw  [1868 Cash Account] October 24th Sheu [Shaw?] for tinning $0.30;  11/13/69 went down to Shaw's over to 
Hodges stayed all night;  
Shaw, P  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  P Shaw  X36;  
Shephard, Deac  10/31/70 got Deac [?] Shephard's cart went up to Van Wert's got two loads of hay;  
Sheridan, Phil  3/15/70 went [from Sam Loomis?] over to Ashley Falls took the train for Bridgeport & Ansonia stopped 
to Joe's stayed all night went to Phil Sheridan's Concert;  
Silvernals, M  Cash Account 1868 Jan 7th M Silvernals Oats $10.90;  
Simmons, Fransis [sic]  5/7/67 Fransis [sic] Simmons came up in the evening;  
Simons  8/6/64 to New Boston West over to Simons street in search of a steer stayed to Ace Cowles;
Simons, A  9/21/62 went to West Granville with A Simons to meeting;  11/10/62 Simons & Hotchkiss come down in the 
evening;  
Simons, E  2/22/64 Denslow & E [Si?]mons came here looked of [meant at?] the steers;  

Simons, F  11/10/62 Simons & Hotchkiss came down in the evening;  2/8/65 went down [to Halls] in the evening with F 
Simons;  8/9/66 F Simons & Belden came here went up to O Snow's;  7/29/69 Carlos & F Simons came up;  

Simons, Malinthe  2/11/65 Malinthe [?] Simons came up & stayed all night;  5/14/65 wrote a letter to Malynthe [?] 
Simons;  5/27/65 received letters from sisters [Rosa & Lib?] & Malynthe;  6/18/65 wrote a letter to Malynthe;  
Skinner  4/5/63  went down to Skinners;  
Skinner, Belle  12/7/69 Belle Sh[k?]inner went up to Otis [on stage];  12/15/69 Bell Skinner came down to the River [on 
stage];  
Slater  10/25/62 went up to Slaters traded a pair of 5 year old cattle for a pair of 2 year steers cow [scratched out?] & 2 
calves;  10/27/62 exchanged cattle with Slater;

Slocum, Augustus  1/21/72 Fred Cotton found on meeting house hill insensible by being drugged by Augustus Slocum 
brought to Miller's by M M and Dr Benjamin sent for;  1/27/72 Augustus Slocum arrested for poisoning Fred Cotton;  
Slocum, D  7/21/64 went over to Hodge's & D Slocum's;  11/2/66 went down to D Slocum's & to John Hodge's;  
Slocum, Emery  9/27/62 E & E Slocum brothers came here;  2/12/63 Emery Slocum lost a colt;  12/19/63 shod a pair of 
oxen for E Slocum;  7/25/64 went down to O E Slocum's worked in the shop for E Slocum & C Northway;  8/24/64 went 

over to the Haden farm looked at beef bought 2 heifers of E Slocum $72;  Memoranda  Aug 24th  Beef bought of M E 

Slocum  [$]70;  3/26/72 E Slocum came out to see me;  5/10/72 went up to E Slocum's to Bennett Moore's on the hill 
down to Hodge's Chase & G Atkins & back to Mrs Bentley stayed all night;  6/25/72 went up in L Smith's woods got a 
stick of timber had E Slocum's oxen;  9/29/72 came back [from N Colebrook to L Smith's?] called at Del's took supper 
at Father's called to E Slocum's;  11/11/72 sawed for E Slocum he drew in some logs;  11/25/72 E Slocum drew in a 
few logs sawed them for him;
Slocum, F [?]  4/2/63  went to an auction at F [?] Slocums in a sleigh;  
Slocum, Francis  7/4/69 Francis Slocum taken into the Church;  
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Slocum, O E  9/27/62 7/25/64 went down to O E Slocum's worked in the shop for E Slocum & C Northway;  8/24/64 
went over to the Haden farm looked at beef bought 2 heifers of E Slocum $72;  10/21/66 went down to O E Slocum's 
called to John Hodge's;  11/18/67 Went down to O E [?] Slocum's got Mrs Treat;  6/15/68 went down to O E Slocum's 
with Len & Georgia in eve;  7/2/68 carried Len down to O E Slocum's;  12/12/68 went down to O Slocum's carried 
Grandmother to the River;  [Cash Account 1872] Nov 18th O E Slocum $16.50 Received;  [Memoranda 1872 diary] O E 
Slocum, Jr Dr  For Sawing  Nov 9  1165  11  1616  12  1593  [sum =] 4374  [at $3.75 per thousand feet =] $16.40  Nov 

15th Received $10.00 18th Received $6.40  22nd  Sawing scantling  132 feet  28th  493  29  400 [sum =] 1025  $3.87  Cr 

April 19th 1873 By 875 feet 1/2 inch pine in the log no price agreed upon.  Transferred to Saw Book 1873;
Slocum, Mirian  11/13/63 Mirian [sic] Slocum was buried;  
Slocum, Mrs  1/18/69 went to writing school taught by Mrs Slocum;  1/19/69 went to writing school [taught by Mrs 
Slocum?];  1/23/69 went to writing school;  1/25/69 went to writing school in eve;  1/26/69 went down on Salome's 
mountain to writing school;  

Slocum, Styles  9/4/63 very sickly about town Styles Slocum died;  12/1/63 carried the girls to J Hodges went over to 
Auction at Styles Slocums;  12/4/63 went to auction at Styles Slocum went down to Sheffs stayed all night;  
Slocum, T  4/19/64 T Slocum had an auction;  
Smith  3/26/62 went over to Smiths scattered sap tubs built sap arch;  4/20/62 went over to Smiths read the paper;  
12/29/63 Smith cut wood for us;  12/30/63 sledded wood Smith chopped;  1/5/64 Smith threshed;  2/4/64 Smith 

threshed;  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  X Smith  X50;  
Smith [from Sheffield]  4/12/67 Rufus & Lib came over Smith from Sheffield stayed here all night;  
Smith Lot  7/29/66 went up on the Smith lot raked up some hay [on the Sabbath!];  
Smith and Weldon  1/21/68 Smith & Welden called made application for an accidental insurance policy Father & 
Mother gone;  
Smith, Adelia  12/6/70 Mrs Eliza Smith & Adelia Smith visited here [L Smith's?];  12/11/70 Adelia Smith & her Brother 
called a few moments [at L Smith's?] she went home;  12/6/71 went down to Harger's & Eliza Smith's in evening Adelia 
Smith was there;  10/17/72 Nelson & Adelia Smith came over Adelia came up here [L Smith's] stayed all night;  
10/18/72 Nel & Adelia Smith stayed here [L Smith's] all night;  
Smith, Charles  6/28/71 hoed corn for Del Charles Smith son of Fred Smith of Sandisfield was drowned in Manning's 
pond aged [blank];  
Smith, Chiron  1/1/67 went to New Boston over to True's up to Chiron Smith's with Uncle [Abiram] got a yoke;  1/2/67 
built a bridge across the Smith brook;
Smith, Corintha  2/17/70 Corintha Smith & Corinthe [sic] Twining came [on the stage] from New Boston to Otis;  
2/19/70 Corin Smith went down Hildreth & wife Dr Champlin came up [on the stage];  
Smith, S Dimock  2/4/68 D Smith B Downs & Del came up went to singing school down to J Hodge's;  2/26/68 D Smith 
came here;  4/5/68 D Smith came over from Hale's stayed to tea;  5/3/68 Dimock came here & stayed all night;  
10/18/68 went over across to Abiram's rode over to True's with True H Leonard came along drunk came home D Smith 
was here;  12/20/68 D Smith called stayed all night played cards in evening;  3/21/69 Dimock Smith came up;  5/15/69 
finished at Northway's went up to Case's with D Smith around home;  5/16/69 went to Church Dimock Smith came up 
stayed all night;  5/17/69 went to Winsted with Dimock took a bark job of A M Perkins;  5/19/69 Dimock stayed all night;  
5/20/69 came to Winsted in company with Harvey Johnson, by Dowd to Riverton the girls brought Dim & the tools down 
came to Tiffany's to board;  5/21/69 Dimock & I commenced peeling bark;  5/23/69 went over to H Hotchkiss with 
Dimock came back to Tiffany;  6/13/69 went over to Riverton with Smith, over to Winsted around by Whalon's took 
supper;  6/14/69 went to Winsted with Smith went to the old Hoe shop;
Smith, S Dimock [contd]  7/14/69 went over to Uncle's with Dim came back at noon & went to Boston Dim & John 
[Northway?] went a fishing;  7/26/69 Dim came over;  9/22/69 Willie Smith came down stayed all [sic] Dimock came 
around;  9/23/69 Dim stayed here;  9/24/69 Dim and the girls went to Granville;  10/1/69 attended the [Barrington] fair 
stayed at the Union Dimock stayed with us went up to Mrs Waters in the eve attended the Circus;  10/2/69 attended the 
horse trot went to Mrs Waters looked at the P. O. [D?] stone came home D S came to New Marlboro with us;  10/20/69 
Dim came up;  11/15/69 Dim came here;  2/22/70 went with bark tore a shoe off Dim's sled on the mountain;  3/9/70 
went up to Otis a fishing with Snow & Dimock came back about noon went down to Boston in the evening stayed to 
Snow;  3/26/70 Dim Smith came over in the eve;  3/27/70 Dim came over;  4/24/70 went to church Friend Manning Dim 
Smith Anson Hale came over in the evening stayed all night;  4/25/70 Dim stayed here;  4/29/70 went to Winsted Dim 
went with me;  
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Smith, S Dimock [contd]  5/8/70 went to Church Lurinda Hale came over in the evening Dim & John Cotton were here 
played euchre;  5/10/70 went over to North Colebrook with Dim stayed all night raised part of the cheese factory;  
5/13/70 commenced peeling bark with Dim for Northway on Daniels's went over to Baileies [?] in the evening;  5/17/70 
planted corn for Father Dim helped;  5/29/70 went up to Cotton's came home & went to bed went over to L Tiffany in 
evening with Dim;  6/5/70 went to Church went over to S Hale's in the evening with Dim played Euchre;  6/6/70 Father 
brought Dim & me over to L Smith's peeled bark in the afternoon;  6/12/70 went to Church came over to Smith's after 
meeting with Dim;  6/26/70 wrote to Joe & Jennie went down to the P O with Dim;  7/2/70 peeled bark Lawrence helped 
Dim & I went home;  8/11/70 Curt & Del came down & got Dim & I; went over to the reservoir; the body of H Scoville 
found by Wm Stowe Aged 20 yrs;  8/14/70 Dim & I went [from C Babb's] over to D Farnham's in the afternoon;  8/20/70 
Len came up Dim went down with her;  
Smith, S Dimock [contd]  8/24/70 went blackberrying went over to Eli Clark's with Dim;  8/29/70 Del went to Otis with 
Dim;  8/31/70 went over to James Johnson's with Dim;  9/7/70 went over to Van Wert's with Dim bought some hay;  

[Cash Account 1870] September 8th S D Smith $0.50 Received;  9/27/70 Lib came over [to L Smith's?] Dim & Len went 
home with her;  10/2/70 Father & Dim went to Colebrook in the evening;  10/18/70 went up on Beech Hill with Dim;  
10/19/70 went down to N Gaylord's Dim bought a pair of oxen of him $225;  11/1/70 went to Johnson's saw mill with a 
load of logs for boards brought back two loads Dim sawed them;  11/7/70 Tommy came over stayed all night Dim & I 
went over to Tolland stayed all night;  12/13/70 Dim run Johnson saw mill;  12/19/70 Dim came over with Lawrence 
stags shod them;  12/27/70 Dim went over to Tolland got his oxen shod;  12/30/70 Dim broke his sled went to Munn's 
got repaired;  1/1/71 drew three loads of logs from Chestnut Hill to Bentley's mill Dim drew the same;  1/3/71 drew logs 
three loads Dim drew one load broke his sled runner put in another;  
Smith, S Dimock [contd]  1/9/71 Smith called I did not feel very well;  1/27/71 repaired sleds loaded up mine Dim's ox 
lame;1/28/71 went to New Boston with a load of bark Dim did not go his ox lame;  2/2/71 went with bark Dim had 
Lawrence stags to go with a load;  2/3/71 went with bark very icy Dim went with Lawrence team;  2/6/71 went with two 

loads of bark Dim used his oxen;  [Cash Account 1871] Feb 10th Dim $10.00 paid;  2/13/71 loaded bark Dim went over 
to the pond with a load;  2/22/71 went with bark tore a shoe off Dims sled on the mountain;  3/2/71 Rat Hale came over 
Dim was here;  3/5/71 went over to L Smith's went to Church at West Granville in the afteroon came home Dim came 
over with me;  4/16/71 Dim came up towards night went over to B F Hale & over to S Hale's;  4/22/71 went to New 
Boston with bark E Hale drove Dim's oxen;  6/1/71 came home Dim Mike & Giles were here in evening;  6/5/71 Dim 
came over;  [Cash Account 1871] March S D Smith Dr April 10 By 1 hrd meal $2.10 April 15th By making yoke $1.50 
Sled shoes $0.75 Total = $4.35 Settled June 8 Received in full;  
Smith, S Dimock [contd]  7/23/71 stayed to Smith's Dim came up from Barkhamstead in afternoon came home with me 
toward night;  7/29/71 Dim came over went a fishing;  10/22/71 Dim was here [Father's] went up to Cotton's came back 
to Smith;  1/17/72 Dim was here;  1/18/72 Dim stayed here all day & night;  2/11/72 came home [from L Smith's] done 
chores Dim was here;  3/7/72 Dim called here;  3/25/72 Dim was here stayed all night;  4/2/72 went over to Granville 
got 3 loads of bark Erastus went over with Dim's oxen;  4/3/72 Dim came over in the evening settled with him;  
[Memoranda 1871 diary] Dim drew 13 [ton] 720 [plus] 11 [ton] 1820 [=] 26 [ton] 540 [calc=25 ton 540]  [times $9/ton? 

plus adjustments=] [$]249.56;  [Memoranda 1872 diary] April 4th Settled with S D Smith Dr  $16.75;  6/23/72 went to 
Church at No Colebrook with Em & Len, Tommy & Dim came over;  8/22/72 Dim worked [haying for Del];  12/6/72 Dim 
came here about noon, we went into the woods east of Harger's to see James Johnson;  12/20/72 Dim came here [L 
Smith's] stayed all night;  12/28/72 Aunt Eliza Dim came to Lawrence;  
Smith, Doctor E  6/12/63 Dr Smith stayed all night;  11/11/63 went down to Dr Smiths got a load of iron;  12/30/63 
sledded wood Smith chopped Dr E Smith stayed here all night;  
Smith, E  11/16/71 Erastus & I went up to E Smith's to Turkey raffle got 2 apiece;  
Smith, E  5/8/63 started from Wethersfield with fish stayed with E Smith;  5/13/63 bought 60 doz alewhops [in 
Wethersfield?] stayed with E Smith;  
Smith, Mrs Eliza  12/6/70 Mrs Eliza Smith & Adelia Smith visited here [L Smith's?];  10/27/71 hooped a pork bbl for 
Eliza;  12/6/71 went [from L Smith's] down to Harger's & Eliza Smith's in evening Adelia Smith was there;  4/30/72 
helped Lawrence make fence for Eliza Smith...fixed fence on Chestnut Hill lot beside the road;  10/6/72 went with 
Lawrence up to Beech Hill to the funeral of Almond Pebbles, Aged 71 yrs, went down to Aunt Eliza's in the evening;  
10/13/72 went down to Aunt Eliza's;  11/25/72 Aunt Eliza came down to the mill in the afternoon;  12/13/72 drew a load 
of slabs for Aunt Eliza;  12/16/72 drew five loads of wood for Aunt Eliza Smith from Chestnut Hill lot Nelson Harger & Si 
Howd chopped it;  12/18/72 drew a load of wood for Aunt Eliza;  12/25/72 went down to Aunt Eliza in the evening 
Andrew Hunt was drawing wood for her;  12/28/72 Aunt Eliza Dim came to Lawrence;  12/30/72 sawed wood for Aunt 
Eliza;  12/31/72 split wood for Aunt Eliza;  1/1/73 sawed wood for Mrs Eliza Smith;  1/2/73 cut wood for Mrs Smith;  
1/3/73 cut wood for Mrs Smith;  1/4/73 cut wood for Mrs Smith;  
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Smith, Emma [Emeline] 7/27/68 Emma Smith called;  10/7/70 came over to Lawrence's in the afternoon went down to 
Smith's in eve;  11/16/70 came back with Father's oxen drew out bark Emma's two Nephews from Goshen came over;  
11/25/70 went from Lawrence to Winsted & to North Colebrook carried Emma over home stayed all night;  11/26/70 
came home through Colebrook River & New Boston took dinner with Uncle Silas called to Dowd;  2/11/71 took Del's 
horse carried Emma [L Smith's wife?] to Otis called to Landon's stayed to Wm Breckenridge;  3/17/71 Emma came 
over with Father stayed all night;  6/17/71 Emma Smith came over stayed all night;  6/18/71 Rained hard all day Emma 
was here read the papers hulled some corn &c;  6/19/71 carried Em home went to New Boston Miss Burt came home 
with me;  6/24/71 received a letter from Em;  6/25/71 went over to L Smith's carried Em over to Colebrook and back 
home I got home at 11 o'clock;  8/13/71 got L Twining's horse went to L Smith's rode out [to Father's] with Emma;  
9/19/71 went to Otis to Cattle Show carried Len & Em Smith stayed to L Smith's all night;
Smith, Emma [contd]  10/18/71 went over to L Smith's to chopping wood Emma Smith went home;  10/29/71 went over 
to Del's took supper went over across to N [?] Smith's across to Thompson's out to Colebrook to I Smith spent the eve 
with Emma;  11/12/71 wrote to Joe & Em;  11/26/71 wrote to Georgie, Jennie & Emma;  12/31/71 brought Emma over, 
called to Del's took supper stayed to Father's all night;  1/1/72 Emma Smith was here, went to J Cotton's from there to 
E Day's Otis to a ball waited on Emma Smith;  1/2/72 went from Otis to West Granville to L Smith's left Em, came 
home Del was here, helped Father butcher a cow;  1/3/72 went to L Smith's carried Em home to No Colebrook went to 
Winsted left the horse went to Chapinville on Conn Western RR went to S Loomis found Jennie sick stayed all night;  
3/14/72 went over to L Smith Em came home with me;  3/15/72 went to Winsted Em went down with me called and 
took supper at Uncle Silas;  3/16/72 started to carry Em back to Granville roads were not broke out Hodges rode out 
with us;  3/17/72 Em was here [at Father's] all day;  
Smith Ives, Emma [contd]  3/18/72 went to Granville with Erastus carried Em home;  3/20/72 wrote to Em;  4/14/72 set 
up sap tubs went over to Lawrence Smith got Em went to Colebrook stayed to Ira Smith's Married at Colebrook by Rev 
Henry Russell Cyrus W Ives & Emma [Emeline] O [Olivia] Smith;  4/15/72 came over to Father's with Em stayed all 
night John Cotton & wife came down in evening;  4/16/72 carried Em over to L Smith's;  4/20/72 went over to L Smith, 
Em was alone;  5/4/72 Em & Ira went to Colebrook;  5/21/72 went down to Winsted with Em & Len left Len down there 
came back to Mr Smith stayed all night;  5/24/72 my eye felt better started for Granville about 4 o'clock with Em & 
Hattie called to Uncle Sheff's took tea Grandmother fell & hurt her side & hip stayed to Lawrence all night;  5/25/72 
went down to G Atkins came over to Father's with Em took supper went down to Northway's stayed all night;  5/29/72 
took the stage to Winsted & cars to Ansonia with Em stayed to Joe Hakes;  6/2/72 Doctor my eye picked some 
wintergreen berries with Em towards night;  6/3/72 chored about helped Em;  
Smith Ives, Emma [contd]  6/5/72 helped Em some she did not feel very well had a severe cold;  6/7/72 Em was sick;  
6/8/72 Em was quite sick took care of her Dr came up just at night she was more comfortable;  6/9/72 took care of Em 
Dr came up just at night...went up to Mr Hall's to get Mina [?] to do some baking;  6/12/72 took care of Em;  6/23/72 
went to Church at No Colebrook with Em & Len Tommy & Dim came over came home brought Len over;  7/14/72 went 
over to No Colebrook Em came back with me took tea to Del's, called to O Northway's, went up to Father's stayed all 
night;  7/15/72 carried Em & Len up to C Moores to get some pictures framed called to Mrs Bentleys they went up to 
Lawrence;  7/17/72 carried Em to Winsted and up home stayed with [her] all night;  8/1/72 got Mr Hall's horse went to 
No Colebrook got Em & attended the funeral of Grandmother at Colebrook River;  8/3/72 Em & I came over to Del's 
stayed over night canned some berries;  8/4/72 carried Em home & brought her mother over to Northway's stayed to 
Del's over night;  8/24/72 went [from Father's] over to Colebrook to see Em;  

Smith Ives, Emma [contd]  8/25/72 stayed with Em until four oclock came back to Dels;  9/12/72 came to Father's with 
Em Del & wife Rosa & her children took supper had chicken roast beef and watermelon went up to H Johnson's to a 
dance;  9/13/72 went up to J Cotton in the afternoon with Em;  9/14/72 carried Em over to Lawrence & my trunk 
intending to remain through the winter;  9/21/72 run the mill...Em and I went out to Father's stayed all night Erastus was 
there stayed all night;  9/22/72 went over to Del's with Em went over to Uncle Abirams, called to Northway's to Father's 
came back to Lawrence;  9/28/72  went to Winsted up to Colebrook with Em started at 3 o'clock;  10/5/72 went over to 
No Colebrook got Em and her things came back to Lawrence;  10/19/72 Em & I went over to Tolland and back;  

11/4/72 Em went down to L Harger's;  11/16/72 Em came down to the mill;  [Cash Account 1872] Nov 19th Em chickens 
$7.70;  11/20/72 Albert Breckenridge came down Em & Lawrence went to Otis;  
Smith Ives, Emma [contd]  11/28/72 Father came over & carried Em and me over to to take Thanksgiving supper with 
him Del & wife Lib & Len were there stayed all night;  11/30/72 went [from Del's] with Em to Colebrook called at A Hall's 
stayed to Father Smith's all night;  12/21/72 Em was lame with rheumatism moved a bed and things into the north room 
slept;  12/22/72 Very cold and windy Em was quite lame, hands swelled done the house work read;  12/29/72 done the 
chores about the house Em was sick with rheumatism;  

Smith, F  1/30/65 shod a pair of cattle for F Smith;  9/5/67 came over home called to Fargo's went up to F Smith's;
Smith, Fred  6/28/71 hoed corn for Del Charles Smith son of Fred Smith of Sandisfield was drowned in Manning's pond 
aged [blank];  
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Smith, Hattie  5/24/72 started for Granville about 4 o'clock with Em & Hattie called to Uncle Sheff's took tea 
Grandmother fell & hurt her side & hip stayed to Lawrence all night;  
Smith, I W  4/25/69 went to Church Smith preached;  1/1/71 went over to Tolland to Church Sermon by I W Smith 
Settled Pastor from Hart[land?] The birth of Christ;  7/25/71 Rev I Smith called here;  
Smith, Ira [Emma's father]  12/14/70 helped Lawrence saw his ash went down to the store in the evening Ira Smith 
came over stayed all night;  10/29/71 went over to Del's took supper went over across to N [?] Smith's across to 
Thompson's out to Colebrook to I Smith spent the eve with Emma;  12/2/71 went to Glassheen [?] to H Belden's up 
through free quarter over to North Colebrook to Ira Smith's stayed all night;  12/3/71 stayed to Smith's all day came 
home called to Del's;  12/30/71 went over to Del's got his horse and went to Ira Smith's;  4/14/72 set up sap tubs went 
over to Lawrence Smith got Em went to Colebrook stayed to Ira Smith's Married at Colebrook by Rev Henry Russell;  
5/3/72 Ira Smith came up and stayed all night;  5/4/72 Em & Ira went to Colebrook;  5/5/72 went down to the River rode 
to North Colebrook with Dr Gay [Gey?] called to L Loveland stayed to Ira Smith's all night;  5/11/72 went out to Father's 
took supper had a RR meeting, went down to the River up to North Colebrook to Ira Smith's stayed all night;  5/12/72 
stayed to Mr Smith until 6 o'clock came over by Del's to Father's;  
Smith, Ira [contd]  5/20/72 Len & I came over to Ira Smith's stayed all night;  5/21/72 went down to Winsted with Em & 
Len left Len down there came back to Mr Smith stayed all night;  5/22/72 my eye was worse sit in the house at Mr 
Smith's and Doctor my eye;  5/23/72 Doctor my eye stayed to Mr Smith;  5/26/72 stayed to Northway's until noon visited
with Phelps & wife came up to Del's took supper & came over to Mr Smith's stayed all night;  5/27/72 went over to 
Winsted got Len brought her up to Mr Smith went down to the River stayed all night to Uncle Silas;  5/28/72 went up to 
Del's took dinner came over to Mr Smith's stayed all night;  6/3/72 helped Mr Smith pile some stove wood;  6/4/72 
made a barpost & set it A Cauldwell & wife came down [to Ira Smith's];  6/6/72 Ed Thompson called [to Ira Smith's] 
chored about;  6/13/72 borrowed a ladder got some shingle patched Mr Smith house in the forenoon came down to the 
River up to New Boston and to Father's;  6/22/72 went out to Father's & from there to No Colebrook to Ira Smith's;  
6/23/72 went to Church at No Colebrook with Em & Len Tommy & Dim came over;

Smith, Ira [contd]  6/30/72 went over to Del's took breakfast went over to North Colebrook to Mr Smith's came back to 
Father's;  7/14/72 went [from Del's] over to No Colebrook Em came back with me took tea to Del's, called to O 
Northway's, went up to Father's stayed all night;  7/17/72 carried Em to Winsted and up home [her Father's?] stayed 
with [her] all night;  11/30/72 went [from Del's] with Em to Colebrook called at A Hall's stayed to Father Smith's all night; 
Smith, Mrs Ira  8/4/72 carried Em home & brought her mother over to Northway's stayed to Del's over night;  
Smith, J J (soldier)  6/14/63  went to Sandisfield to meeting funeral Sermon of F Seymour & J J [?] Smith soldiers 
carried over Georgie & Lu & Selenda;  
Smith, Laura  12/10/69 H Haskell came down & back L Norton came up & Laura Smith came up to Boston [on the 
stage];  
Smith, Lawrence (Collins Hill?)  11/8/62 went down to L Smith's;  11/30/62 went down to L Smith;  11/1/63 went down 
to L Smiths in the evening;  11/4/63 went up to New Boston West Smith bought a cow of Northway;  2/17/64 shod a 
horse for L Smith callins [?] hill;  3/11/67 Father done some work for Lawrence sat up with True;  4/9/68 shod Lawrence 
horse;  4/21/68 shod...a pair of oxen for Lawrence;  6/6/70 Father brought Dim & me over to L Smith's peeled bark in 
the afternoon;  6/10/70 peeled bark George Bradley cut his foot Father called Lawrence went to New Boston;  6/12/70 
went to Church came over to Smith's after meeting with Dim;  6/14/70 shingled one side of barn for Lawrence;  6/16/70 
peeled bark Lawrence helped us;  6/18/70 peeled bark Lawrence helped us;  6/19/70 went over home started early in 
the morning went to Church came over to Smith's after meeting;  6/21/70 peeled bark Del came up and helped us 
Father helped Lawrence hoe potatoes Bennet Moore came in the woods;  6/22/70 peeled bark some big trees west of 
the brook Del helped us & Father & Lawrence in the afternoon;  
Smith, Lawrence [contd]  6/24/70 Very warm peeled bark Lawrence helped us went down to Bentley's pond & washed;  
6/27/70 peeled bark Lawrence helped us;  6/28/70 peeled bark Lawrence helped us;  6/29/70 peeled bark Lawrence 
helped us;  6/30/70 peeled bark Lawrence helped us;  7/2/70 peeled bark Lawrence helped Dim & I went home;  7/5/70 

came over to Granville in evening;  7/6/70 commenced haying L Smith;  [Cash Account 1870] July 10th L Smith board 
$5.00;  8/1/70 came over to Smith's went up to Wm Howd's peeled bark in the afternoon;  8/2/70 piled & peeled bark 
Lawrence worked a while;  8/4/70 peeled bark Lawrence worked a while;  8/8/70 peeled bark Lawrence helped us 
worked over the hill;  8/9/70 peeled bark over the hill Lawrence helped us;  8/10/70 went down to the store up to 
Moore's Lawrence traded two heifers for a cow helped him drive them down in evening;  9/8/70 went over to Van 
Wert's paid him for the hay $135.00 came down to L Smith's sawed logs in afternoon;  9/12/70 came over to Smith cut 
logs 92;  9/15/70 sawed logs Lawrence went to East Granville George Bradley came over;  
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Smith, Lawrence [contd]  9/19/70 came back to Smith's sawed logs Father came and brought us over;  9/21/70 
Lawrence helped us make a bridge;  9/26/70 came back to Smith's cut logs had the head ache;  9/28/70 helped 
Lawrence make cider in Goodwin's hand mill;  10/3/70 A Daughter born to Lawrence Smith;  10/7/70 came over to 

Lawrence's in the afternoon went down to Smith's in eve;  [Memoranda 1870 diary] Oct 7th Settled with Lawrence Smith 
due this day $13.50;  10/8/70 went after cattle for Lawrence in the afternoon;  10/12/70 killed a bull for Lawrence;  
10/13/70 cut logs Lawrence went over to Sandisfield stayed all night;  [Cash Account 1870] October 13 Lawrence Smith
for board $20.00;  10/17/70 James Johnson came up in the evening to buy our logs;  10/18/70 J Johnson came up 

looked at our logs; bought them $357.50;  [Memoranda 1870 diary] Lawrence Smith Dr Oct 13th By cash $20.00;  
10/21/70 cut logs for Lawrence went down to the PO in the evening called to Tiffany's;  10/25/70 went over to L Smiths 
sawed logs for him;  10/26/70 cut logs for Lawrence;  
Smith, Lawrence [contd]  10/27/70 drew some logs to Johnson's mill;  10/29/70 helped Lawrence pile logs Father came 
over helped him saw some shingle stuff;  10/30/70 came over to Smith's went down to Robinson's in the evening;  
11/25/70 went from Lawrence to Winsted & to North Colebrook carried Emma over home stayed all night;  11/27/70 
went up to Cotton's in the morning went to Church in the afternoon came back to Smith's;  12/1/70 Mrs J Marks visited 
Mrs Smith;  12/3/70 Father & Lib came over [to Smith's?] in the evening;  12/6/70 Mrs Eliza Smith & Adelia Smith 
visited here [L Smith's?];  12/8/70 J Johnson & wife called here [L Smith's?];  12/9/70 had a candy party here [L 
Smith's?] a very nice time Father came over;  12/11/70 Adelia Smith & her Brother called a few moments [at L 
Smith's?] she went home;  12/13/70 helped Lawrence cut ash in forenoon;  12/14/70 helped Lawrence saw his ash 
went down to the store in the evening Ira Smith came over stayed all night;  12/15/70 helped Lawrence draw out ash 
logs went to the mill with one load;  
Smith, Lawrence [contd]  12/19/70 Dim came over with Lawrence stags shod them;  12/25/70 went up to J Cotton's, 
across the pond over to L Smith's B Jones came up in the evening;  1/1/71 Boarding with Lawrence Smith West 
Granville;  1/4/71 finished drawing logs:  139 hemlock 3 chestnut, 2 ash, went down to the PO in the evening with L 
Smith;  1/9/71 shod horses for Father...Smith called I did not feel very well;  1/11/71 Father carried me to L Smith's 
West Granville came back drove the oxen over;  1/18/71 went over to L Smith's;  1/24/71 Shod the oxen came over to 
L Smith drove the oxen over with me;  1/25/71 went to New Boston with bark, the first we drew;  1/26/71 Lawrence went
to Winsted carried Mrs Harbburt [?] down Father brought Len over;  2/2/71 went with bark Dim had Lawrence stags to 
go with a load;  2/3/71 went with bark very icy Dim went with Lawrence team;  2/13/71 Father brought us over to 
Lawrence's loaded up bark Dim went over to the pond with a load;  3/5/71 very muddy went over to L Smith's went to 
Church at West Granville in the afternoon came home Dim came over with me; 
Smith, Lawrence [contd]  3/19/71 carried Lib over to G Treat's stayed to L Smith's all night;  3/20/71 drew off boards 
and on logs at Bentley's mill Lawrence helped me;  3/31/71 went over to L Smith's got him to help me get off some 
boards at Bentleys mill helped him draw on some logs;  4/9/71 carried Lib over to Granville went up to L Smith's stayed 
all night B Bradley & wife was there;  4/17/71 went over to Granville in stage up to O Barnes over to L Smith down to H 
Cox's to get an ox wagon;  4/21/71 came over to L Smith loaded up two loads of bark went down to [R?] Smith got 

meal L Tiffany came up;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] Dr To Lawrence Smith for Board Jan 8th 1 week Feb 1st 1week Cr 

Feb 5th 2 hundred meal $4.00 Dr Feb 8th 1 weeks board Settled April 21st Dr to L Smith $26.67 [minus] Cr to Selenda 
$10.00 [equals] $16.67;  4/22/71 went to New Boston with bark...came back to Lawrence's;  4/25/71 went [from 
Father's] down with bark to Burt's came back loaded up stayed to Lawrence's;  4/31/71 J Hall & Smith went to Granville 
in the evening;  
Smith, Lawrence [contd]  5/3/71 went [from Father's] down with bark came back to Lawrence's went trouting with 
Erastus;  5/5/71 Lawrence & Erastus went down town;  5/17/71 went over to L Smith's stayed all night;  6/5/71 went 
over to L Smith's stayed all night;  6/25/71 went over to L Smith's carried Em over to Colebrook and back home I got 
home at 11 o'clock;  7/1/71 went over to L Smith's in the evening;  7/22/71 carried Florence Burt to Westfield to the 
cars for home...went over to L Smith's stayed all night;  7/23/71 stayed to Smith's Dim came up from Barkhamstead in 
afternoon;  8/13/71 got L Twining's horse went to L Smith's rode out with Emma;  8/27/71 went over to L Smith's in 
afternoon stayed all night;  9/2/71 Lib & I went to L Smith's stayed all night;  9/3/71 stayed to Smith came home in the 
evening;  9/16/71 went down to Hodges to J Johnson's down to R Smith's back to L Smith's stayed all night;  9/18/71 
went over to L Smith's stayed all night with Len;  9/19/71 went to Otis to Cattle Show carried Len & Em Smith stayed to 
L Smith's all night;  
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Smith, Lawrence [contd]  9/21/71 went to Blandford to Cattle Show with Cotton, came back by West Granville called to 
L Smith's;  10/7/71 Miss Florence Burt came down in the morning went to West Granville with me in the afternoon to L 
Smith, took tea carried her to Cotton's;  10/11/71 went to Granville with a load of boards stayed to Smith's all night;  
10/12/71 went over to Smith's with a load of boards came home;  10/14/71 Mr Cotton & wife Florence Burt Selenda & I 
went over to L Smith's a chestnutting;  10/18/71 went over to L Smith's to chopping wood Emma Smith went home 
helped Mrs Smith in afternoon came home in evening;  10/20/71 went over to Smith's cut wood in the afternoon;  
10/22/71 went home across Chestnut Hill doctored my ox's leg Dim was here went up to Cotton's came back to Smith;  
10/24/71 cut wood helped Lawrence get the cattle off Chestnut Hill Cotton & Len came over in the evening;  10/25/71 
helped Lawrence drive the Chestnut Hill cattle over to Granville Corners cut wood in the afternoon;  
Smith, Lawrence [contd]  10/26/71 cut wood [for L Smith] a little while in the afternoon went over to E Barnes in 
forenoon came back with Harger;  10/30/71 came over to Father's with Del with oxen & cart brought some apples to 
Hall's came over to Smith's cut wood in afternoon;  10/31/71 cut wood H [?] M[?]althin came down by with lumber 
Harger up to Smith's in eve[nin]g;  11/2/71 worked for Lawrence cutting bass logs Mrs Breckinridge came down stayed 
all night;  11/3/71 cut bass logs for Lawrence;  11/4/71 helped Lawrence get in logs to Bentley's cut logs came home in 
the evening;  11/5/71 went up to Cotton's with Erastus over to F Hale's over to L Smith and home in evening;  12/4/71 
went with oxen cart & sled to L Smith's;  12/5/71 drew out bark for Smith;  12/11/71 went over to L Smith's piled wood in 
the forenoon helped him cut bass logs in afternoon went to Smith's store in the evening;  12/12/71 worked for Smith 
cutting bass logs;  12/13/71 cut logs for Smith;  1/2/72 went from Otis to West Granville to L Smith's left Em, came 
home Del was here, helped Father butcher a cow;  
Smith, Lawrence [contd]  [Memoranda 1871 diary] Dr to L Smith  A Settlement $26.76 Received Cr to Selenda $10.00 

Paid Dec 7th Dr for board 21 days $10.50 Received Cr 41/2 days work $4.50 Paid Cr By 2 gals maple molasses $2.00 
Paid Cr By Lumber Cr by Repairing clock $0.75 Paid Cr by 11 crds wood $11.00 Paid Sums: $37.17 Received $6.25 

Paid Jan 15th 1872 Settled all accts and received pay C W Ives;  1/3/72 went over to L Smith's carried Emma home to 

North Colebrook;  1/14/72 went over to L Smith's stayed all night;  [Cash Account 1872] Jan 15th L Smith $2.35 
Received balanced acct;  1/23/72 went to L Smith's in the evening;  1/27/72 went over to L Smith's stayed all night;  
2/10/72 went to the PO & over to L Smith's stayed all night;  2/19/72 went with bark Fred Cotton drove one team 
finished Lawrence's;  
Smith, Lawrence [contd]  [Memoranda 1871 diary] L Smith Bark $80.80 [Vertically written in left margin]  L Smith's Bark 

Mar 6th, 1871 [sic] 2730  Old bark 2170 [=] 4900 [separate sum] Jan 9th [old] 2980 Feb 17 [old] 2970  3120  2640  2870  
Feb 19 2670  1670 [total sum=] 23,820 [=] 11 [ton] 1820 [minus] 2 [ton] 900 [=] 9 [ton] 920  Old & new 2670 Deducted 1 
axe for new.  Drew this winter 9 ton 920 [+] 1 [ton] 170 [=] 10 [ton] 1090;  2/20/72 went over by Lawrence, and 
commenced drawing Barnes bark;  2/26/72 went over to R Smith West Granville in evening stayed to L Smith's all 
night;  3/3/72 spent the evening at Lawrence Smith's;  3/8/72 went to West Granville carried Lib over to L Smith went to 
R Smith's got 4 hundred meal called to Mrs Bentley;  3/14/72 went over to L Smith Em came home with me;  3/30/72 
went down to Mrs Bentley's over to L Smith's stayed all night;  3/31/72 stayed to Lawrence's until towards night;  [Cash 

Account 1872] April 5th L Smith bark $70;  

Smith, Lawrence [contd]  4/14/72 set up sap tubs went over to Lawrence Smith got Em went to Colebrook stayed to Ira 
Smith's Married at Colebrook by Rev Henry Russell Cyrus W Ives & Emma [Emoline] O [Olivia] Smith;  4/16/72 carried 
Em over to L Smith's;  4/20/72 went over to L Smith, Em was alone;  4/21/72 done L Smith's chores, he went to Otis to 
see his wife;  4/22/72 came over to L Smith stayed all night;  4/23/72 went to Westfield a foot took the train to 
Northampton to see about a circular mill came back to Smith;  4/25/72 gathered Father's sap tubs got a load of hay of 
Ly Twining went to New Boston came over to L Smith's;  4/27/72 work repairing the dam Lawrence helped me;  4/29/72 
graveled the dam Lawrence helped me;  4/30/72 helped Lawrence make fence for Eliza Smith;  5/3/72 went over to 
Father's with Lawrence;  5/6/72 went from Colebrook to Winsted done some trading came through Riverton Colebrook 
River New Boston took supper to Father stayed to Lawrence all night;  
Smith, Lawrence [contd]  5/8/72 went down to Hodge's towards night & up to West Granville & to Lawrence's stayed 
there all night Wm Breckenridge was there;  5/9/72 took Lawrence horse went to Westfield left it went to Northampton 
around to Springfield and back to Lawrence;  5/24/72 my eye felt better started for Granville about 4 o'clock with Em & 
Hattie called to Uncle Sheff's took tea Grandmother fell & hurt her side & hip stayed to Lawrence all night;  6/14/72 
went down to Hodge's J Johnson's & to L Smith took dinner went over to V Barnes borrowed $200 of him came home 
[to Father's];  6/25/72 went up in L Smith's woods got a stick of timber had E Slocum's oxen;  7/3/72 put on roof boards 
in the afternoon went up to Pebbls [sic] & to L Smith in evening;  7/7/72 went up to Lawrence Smith spent the day;  
7/15/72 carried Em & Len up to C Moores to get some pictures framed called to Mrs Bentley's they went up to 
Lawrence went to Chase up to L Smith stayed all night;  7/16/72 chored about the mill went up to Lawrence stayed all 
night;  7/18/72 came over to the River up to Tolland and over to L Smith;  
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Smith, Lawrence [contd]  7/19/72 mowed for Lawrence;  7/20/72 mowed for Lawrence;  7/21/72 stayed to Lawrence's 
picked some huckleberries...Dr King called;  7/22/72 sawed some in the forenoon mowed in the afternoon for Lawrence 
came out to Father's in stage;  8/11/72 went over to L Smith's stayed all night;  8/12/72 went down to Johnson's took 
breakfast worked at sawing went up to L Smith's stayed all night;  8/31/72 worked in the mill went up to L Smith's 
stayed all night;  9/1/72 helped Lawrence awhile came home about noon;  9/2/72 went down to Mrs Bentley's with the 
oxen went up to Lawrence;  9/9/72 mowed on Mrs Bentley got in two load went up to L Smith's in the evening;  9/14/72 
carried Em over to Lawrence & my trunk intending to remain through the winter;  9/15/72 went out to Father's with the 
horse went up to Cotton's picked some cranberries came back to Lawrence's;  9/22/72 went over to Del's with Em went 
over to Uncle Abiram's, called to Northway's to Father's came back to Lawrence;  9/23/72 two fellows from Agawam 
stayed to Lawrence all night;  
Smith, Lawrence [contd]  9/25/72 went over with Lawrence to New Boston to Dr Parson's auction;  [Cash Account 

1872] Sept 25th L Smith $5.00;  9/27/72 run the mill Lawrence came down in the afternoon;  9/29/72 came back [from 
Colebrook to L Smith's?] called at Dels took supper at Fathers called to E Slocum's;  10/2/72 dug potatoes for 
Lawrence;  10/3/72 dug potatoes for Lawrence;  10/5/72 went over to No Colebrook got Em and her things came back 
to Lawrence;  10/6/72 went with Lawrence up to Beech Hill to the funeral of Almond Pebbles, Aged 71 yrs, went down 
to Aunt Eliza's in the evening;  10/10/72 went with Lawrence over to Del's and picked up apples came home at night;  
10/17/72 shingled Lawrence helped me;  10/20/72 helped Lawrence get the cattle off the hill;  10/21/72 helped 
Lawrence start his cattle;  10/25/72 Lawrence was sick done his chores & went up to Otis and got Dr King:  called to 
Wm Breckenridge took care of Lawrence;  10/29/72 done Lawrence chores;  11/4/72 came [from Father's] back to 
Lawrence hooped some bbls went to the mill in the afternoon;  

Smith, Lawrence [contd]  11/8/72 helped Lawrence butcher his cow at Harger's barn in the afternoon;  11/20/72 Albert 
Breckenridge came down Em & Lawrence went to Otis;  11/23/72 Lawrence went over to A Miller's got a hog for me;  
12/4/72 went with Lawrence into the woods & cut logs;  12/5/72 went into the woods with Lawrence cut logs came back 
at two o'clock;  12/6/72 Albert went into the woods with me cut logs for Lawrence, he went to Colebrook;  12/13/72 piled 
logs for Lawrence in the forenoon;  12/14/72 piled logs for Lawrence in the forenoon;  12/15/72 went to Church in the 
afternoon with Lawrence;  12/17/72 drew two loads of hay from Mrs Bentley's Lawrence helped me;  12/18/72 
Lawrence helped Harger butcher a heifer;  12/19/72 helped Lawrence finish piling logs in afternoon;  12/24/72 went with
Lawrence to the store;  12/28/72 Aunt Eliza Dim came to Lawrence;  12/30/72 helped Mr Harger break out the road 
from his house to Lawrence's;  1/2/73 Mrs Gibbs came over a visiting Lawrence's wife went home with her;  

Smith, Lucius  3/26/62 went over to Smiths scattered sap tubs;  11/8/62 went down to L Smiths;  11/30/62 went down & 
got the papers went down to L Smi[th?];  2/21/63 Lucius Smith died;  2/22/63 L Smith funeral sermon preached [sic];
Smith, Laura  12/10/69 H Haskell came down & back L Norton came up & Laura Smith came up to Boston [on the 
stage];
Smith, Martha  9/11/72 went home [from L Smith's] Uncle Abiram & wife came over, went over to No Colebrook carried 
Martha [?] Smith & Electa Dimock over stayed all night;  
Smith, Minnie  1/26/70 L Granger Martha Claflin & Minnie Smith went up to Cold Spring & Strong; carried them to 
Claflin's;  
Smith, Mr  4/12/70 Mr Smith came down got some sugar to eat;  
Smith, Mrs [Lawrence's Mother? or Wife?]  12/1/70 Mrs J Marks visited Mrs Smith;  1/7/71 Mrs Smith sick had the Dr  
Del came over;  10/18/71 went over to L Smith's to chopping wood Emma Smith went home helped Mrs Smith in 
afternoon;  3/19/72 wrote to Mrs L Smith;  4/21/72 done L Smith's chores, he went to Otis to see his wife;  1/2/73 Mrs 
Gibbs came over a visiting Lawrence's wife went home with her;  
Smith, N  10/29/71 went over to Del's took supper went over across to N [?] Smith's across to Thompsons out to 
Colebrook to I Smith spent the eve with Emma;  
Smith, Nelson  10/17/72 Nelson & Adelia Smith came over Adelia came up here stayed all night;  10/18/72 Nel & Adelia 
Smith stayed here [L Smith's?] all night;  

Smith, P W  4/25/69 went to Church Smith preached;  4/12/70 sugared off Mr Smith came down got some sugar to eat; 
4/28/70 attended the Funeral of Mozart Perry, Sermon by Rev P W Smith text from Prov 14 chap 32 verse ["The 
wicked is driven away in his wickedness:  but"] The righteous hath hope in his death;  7/30/70 went after Sarah 
Horrigon She sketched a picture of the Babe [Francis Hale's]; Attended the funeral services by Mr Smith, Suffer little 
children to come unto me JC;  11/13/70  went to Church at W[est] G[ranville] Mr P W Smith preached;  

Smith, Rosil  10/9/62 shod a horse for R Smith;  9/11/62 shod horse for R Smith;  12/18/62 R Smith Georgie & Lucius 
called here [bad foot cut 12/17];  10/7/63 went up to Cold Spring with a load of iron went up to Otis to R Smith's;  9/4/66 
came [from splitting wood at Nelson's?] up home went to New Boston took the Stage to Otis stage to R Smith;  9/21/66 
helped start George off went over to Lee took the Stage to Otis stayed to Smith's;  5/27/67 Rosil Smith died;  
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Smith, R  8/6/70 peeled bark in the forenoon piled bark went down to R Smith's in evening;  2/5/71 went down to R 
Smith got 7 hundred meal;  2/13/71 went down to R Smith's got 500 hundred meal;  4/10/71 went down to R Smith's & 
James Jhonson's;  4/21/71 went down to [R?] Smith got meal;  9/16/71 went over to Del's came back went down to 
Hodge's to J Johnson's down to R Smith's back to L Smith's stayed all night;  12/11/71 went [from Father's] over to L 
Smith's...went to [R?] Smith's store in the evening;  12/12/71 worked for Smith cutting bass logs went down to the store 
in evening;  1/15/72 went [from L Smith's] down to R Smith's store in the morning;  2/26/72 went over to R Smith West 
Granville in evening stayed to L Smith's all night;  3/8/72 went to West Granville carried Lib over to L Smith went to R 
Smith's got 4 hundred meal;  4/26/72 went down to R Smith's in evening;  4/28/72 Father brought me back [to L 
Smith's] went down to R Smith store with him;  [Memoranda 1872 diary] Lbs Sugar Wright place E Fowler 137 [+] R 
Smith 234 [+] 20 [sum =] 391;
Smith, R  [Cash Account 1872] Oct 18th R Smith account $4.25 Sundries $2.00;  [Cash Account 1872] Dec 6th R Smith 

Sundries $0.68...28th R Smith sundries $0.16;  
Smith, T [?]  9/5/67 came over [from Fox's?] home called to Fargo's went up to T [?] Smith's;  
Smith, Tommy  5/24/69 peeled bark [with Dimock Smith] Tommy came down;  5/25/69 Tommy commenced work;  
11/7/70 Tommy came over stayed all night Dim & I went over to Tolland stayed all night;  6/'23/72 went to Church at No 
Colebrook with Em & Len Tommy & Dim came over;  
Smith, Willie  9/22/69 Willie Smith came down stayed all [sic] Dimock came around;  
Smith, William  [Cash Account 1872] Nov 4th Wm Smith towards bbl flour $5.00...18th Wm Smith balance on flour $5.25 
1 wrapper [?] $1.10 Salt $0.40;  
Snow [Cold Spring]  [1863 Memoranda Iron Snow 242 lbs];  4/2/64 Snow from Cold Spring came here got a load of 
iron;  
Snow  7/26/64 worked in the shop for Snow Hotchkiss Hall & Grandfather Lu was over;  8/9/68 went up to Snow's got 
my hair cut;  9/14/68 fixed fence between Snow & us;  

Snow, Allen  4/7/68 Allen came down got some potatoes;  6/17/68 worked on the roads Allen helped us in afternoon;  
9/29/68 dug potatoes Allen Snow helped us;  1/21/69 Mike [?] & Allen came up Joe brought around;  4/5/69 drew sap 
wood finished setting sap trees Allen Snow worked for us;  4/1/72 Del & Allen Snow came over in the evening;  
Snow, Alonzo  8/13/66 went to New Boston up to A Snow's with Erastus;  5/12/67 went to Church went up to Alonzo 
Snow's;  5/14/67 went up to Wm Howd's up to A Snow's bought a cow of him $42;  7/2/67 Alon Snow came down & got 
some potatoes;  12/10/67 shod a pair of oxen for A Snow;  4/4/68 shod A Snowe stags;  4/20/68 went up to A Snowe 
over to Fred's down to Homer's Lib & Albert came over;  4/28/68 went up to Snow's got my heifer;  5/5/68 went up to A 
Snow's in eve;  5/9/68 went up to Snow's in eve;  6/18/68 worked on the road commenced at the dry bridge Alonzo 
Snow helped us;  6/19/68 worked on the road A Snow helped us;  7/26/68 went up to A Snow & to Church in afternoon; 
10/10/68 A Snow's wife called in afternoon;  10/11/68 went to Church in the afternoon went up to A Snow's in the 
evening;  10/20/68 Father & I dug potatoes for A Snow;  10/21/68 worked on the road Snow helped us;  11/29/68 went 
up to A Snow's in evening;  12/29/68 Father butchered for Hall went up to Snow's in evening;  1/27/69 shod A Snow's 
oxen;  4/4/69 went to Snow's in evening;  

Snow, A[lonzo?]  [contd]  3/8/70 went down to the River with Del rode up to Boston with Dowd stayed to A Snow;  
3/9/70 went up to Otis a fishing with Snow & Dimock came back about noon went down to Boston in the evening stayed
to Snow;  5/26/70 peeled bark [at Northway's] went down to A Snow's Fannie Hale was there;  

Snow, Charles  10/7/67 Mike & Charlie came up in evening;  3/26/68 syruped down to the Wright place Charles Snow 
helped me;  5/27/68 Charlie came over & commenced work peeling bark;  6/2/68 came over to the job peeled bark 
Charles worked;  6/3/68 peeled bark Charles worked for us;  6/4/68 peeled bark Charles worked;  6/5/68 peeled bark 
Charles worked;  6/6/68 peeled bark Charlie helped us he went home;  6/8/68 Charlie came back in eve;  6/10/68 
finished B Moore's job L Frost A Case Father & Charlie worked came home;  7/19/68 went up to Fred Snowe got 
Charlie;  7/23/68 mowed finished this side of the barn Carlos [?] & Charlie helped us;  7/27/68 Charlie worked;  7/28/68 

Charlie worked;  [1868 Cash Account] September 22nd Charles Snow for work in haying for Father $5.00;  12/3/68 
Charlie Snow came down cut sap wood;  12/4/68 sawed sap wood Charlie worked for us;  12/8/68 cut sled length wood 
drew to the house...Charlie Snow worked;  12/9/68 carried Mrs Treat home went up to J Snow's with Charlie in eve;  
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Snow, Charles [contd]  [1868 Memoranda] Charles Snow's work May 30  21/2 days  June 6  8 days  June 10  11/2 days  

June 10  Cr By Cash $5.00 Cr By cash $5.00 Cr By cash $3.50;  [1868 Cash Account] March 30th  C Snow $0.90;  

[1868 Cash Account] April 6th C Snowe for work $1.75;  [1868 Cash Account] June 10th C Snow for work $5.00...18th C 

Snowe for work $8.50;  [1868 Cash Account] October 15th C Snow work in haying for Father  $3.00...28th Cash paid C 
Snow for haying balanced by Father $8.00 Received;  1/11/69 cut logs Charlie helped us;  1/12/69 sawed logs Charlie 
helped us;  10/22/69 shod Charles Snow's horse;  9/14/71 went over to Del's got his buggy went to A Rood's to a party 
at Bakerville in company with M Johnson, Charlie & Charlie Snow, carried Florence Burt had a nice time;  

Snowe, Fred  12/14/67 took a yearling to F Snowe's;  12/23/67 shod a horse for F Snowe;  [1868 Cash Account] April 

28th F Snowe keeping heifer $3.00;  7/19/68 went up to Fred Snowe got Charlie;  7/20/68 moved a mow of hay from F 

Snow's 3 load;  8/4/68 Fred Snowe came down;  [1868 Cash Account] August 4th F Snow for hay $22.50;  9/14/68 fixed 
fence between Snow & us;  1/18/69 shod F Snow's stags;  4/1/72 went up to Fred Snow's called to O E Snow;  
Snow, J  9/3/62 went over to J Snows;  10/19/62 went up to J Snow's;  8/10/66 went with Father up to Snow took some 
cattle up;  3/25/68 went up to John Snow's in eve;  4/28/68 went up to Snows got my heifer; 12/9/68 carried Mrs Treat 
home went up to J Snow's with Charlie in eve;  
Snow, Mary  4/19/69 carried Mary Snowe home went to New Boston in evening;  
Snow, Mrs  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  Mrs Snow  17-50;  2/12/65 went down to New Boston in the eve stayed to Mrs 

Snow's;  [Cash Account 1872] Oct 19th Mrs Snowe [sic] acct $2.51 Received;  
Snow, Orson E  8/9/66 Simons & Belden came here went up to O Snow's;  8/10/66 went with Father up to Snow took 
some cattle up;  8/27/66 went over to Captain with Hale up to to Hewitt's peeled bark in the forenoon down to Snowe's 
a blackberrying;  11/28/66 shod a horse & pair of oxen for O Snowe;  12/10/67 shod a horse for O Snow;  12/12/67 
shod a pair of oxen for O Snow;  2/28/68 shod a horse for O Snow;  10/30/68 shod O Snow's horse;  11/23/68 shod...O 
Snow's oxen;  12/15/71 went up to O Harding's O Snow's & H Soule's;  12/25/71 Father & I went up to Orson Snow's 
bought some hay;  2/6/72 went...up to O E Snow's Twining barn got two loads of hay;  4/1/72 went up to Fred Snow's 

called to O E Snow;  [Cash Account 1872] April 5th O E Snow hay $45;  4/18/72 went up to O E Snow's paid him $42 for
hay;  
Snow, O W  12/16/63 shod 2 pair of cattle for O W Snow;  
Snow, William  [Cash Account 1869 Nov] 16th Wm Snow boots $4.25;  4/26/70 Mozart E Perry died at Wm Snow's 

Tolland of Consumption at 41/2 PM  Aged 24 yrs A kind & cheerful fellow always welcomed by his associates;  [Cash 

Account 1872] Jan 2nd Wm Snowe 6 turkeys $12.30 Received;  2/13/72 Wm Snow Died at 8 o'clock PM Aged 48 
years;  2/16/72 Wm Snow buried did not go to the funeral he was buried on Burt Hill;  
Snowe, Mary  4/19/69 carried Mary Snowe home;
Snowe, S  5/6/66 Truman brought Erastus & I down to S Snowe's;  5/18/66 peeled bark Erastus & Snowe went to 
Montville;  5/20/66 went up to Father's with Snowe;  5/27/66 came down to Snow's in the evening;  6/1/66 peeled bark 
Fanny & Julia came down to Snow's;  6/3/66 came [from Father's] down to Snowe's;  6/11/66 came [to] New Boston up 
to Snowe's went down to Aunt Maria's stayed over night;  [Memoranda 1866 diary] Ives & Hale Board to S [?] H Snowe 

May 12th 12 days  May 18th Cr By cash $10.00  May 19th 17 days [?]  May 20th 15 days  June 2nd 18 days  June 5th 6 

days:  Amount 68 days $38.90 minus Cr $33.90 [=] Aug 13 Cash $5.00;  [Cash Acct 1866] Aug 13th Board to Snowe's 
$3.00;  
Snowe, Webber & Tilly [?]  8/24/67 Webber & Tilly [?] Snowe died;  
Snowe, Willie  3/13/71 went on the hill to see Fowler about Sugar got Willie Snowe to help us emptied sap tubs drew 
some wood syruped off on Father's;  
Sohn  6/11/65 Ellen & Jane came down Charlie [Thorpe?] & Sohn [meant to write "John"; Woodin?] went up in the bush 
got some winter greens;  6/18/68 Charlie & Sohn came down took tea;  
Soule, Mrs  9/8/62  Father & I mowed for Mrs Soule [Toule?];  
Soule, H  2/28/71 went up to O Harding's & to Boardman's looking for a pair of oxen went down across from H Soule's, 
to New Boston bought a pair of oxen of A Hull, 5 years old weight 2800 paid $200;  5/21/71 went up to Cotton's up to H 
Soule's with him;  9/12/71 went with Cotton to H Soule's to work cutting tobacco;  10/2/71 went up to H Soule's to a 
dance;  10/12/71 went to H Soule's to a dance had a very nice time;  12/15/71 went up to O Harding's O Snow's & H 
Soule's;  
Soules, Jack  9/11/65 drew wood with Jack Soules 18 cord;  9/14/65 drew wood out of the brook M Ostrander, John & 
Jack Soules M Hibbard;  9/16/65 Jack was sick he went home;  9/20/65 drew wood...Jack down in the evening;  
10/12/65 drew wood Jack Soules came in the bush;  
Soules, John  9/14/65 drew wood out of the brook M Ostrander, John & Jack Soules M Hibbard;  
Spear, S  2/8/70 L Norton S Spear M Bradly [sic] went up [on the stage];  
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Spelman  9/6/70 went with Del up to Boardman's met T Harrington & Spelman in the Belden woods Del traded his oxen 
for a horse with Spelman;  
Spring  2/23/70 Mrs Downs & Spring & Mrs Northway visited at Dowd's had a load up to Boston [on the stage];  
Stannard, Francis  1/15/70 Fransis [sic] Sta[e?]nard came up to Mirner's Cold Spring;  
Star  4/14/69 Star cow died;  4/15/69 skinned a cow;  
Stedman, Jewett  6/7/71 got out manure on tobacco piece Jewett helped me;  7/1/71 hoed potatoes Jewett Stedman 
helped us;  
Stignel  10/14/68 over to Abiram's carried Stignel [?] 10 cabbage;  
Stillman, Aaron  9/6/63 Father went down & took care of A Stillman;  9/7/63 Father taking care of Stillman;  9/9/63 
Aaron Stillman died about noon Mrs Babcock at 9 o'clock;  9/11/63 Stillman & Mrs Babcock buried;  
Stone [New Hartford]  3/8/64 sold the steers to Stone New Hartford $130;  
Stowe, Mrs  9/2/63 Mrs Stowe died with Dysentery about 8 o'clock evening;  9/4/63 Mrs Stowe buried very sickly about 
town;  
Stowe, Calvin  9/29/67 Calvin Stowe died aged 78;  
Stowe, Duran  8/2/63 Duran Stowe funeral sermon preached Erastus Hale was out;  
Stowe, William  8/11/70 Curt & Del came down & got Dim & I; went over to the reservoir; the body of H Scoville found 
by Wm Stowe Aged 20 yrs;  
Stowel  1/13/63  went down to Stowles in the evening;  [back of 1863 diary] Stowell  33 Woodbridge Street
Stratton  9/4/64 Selenda & I went over to Montville to meeting stayed to Mr Hotchkiss all night went up to Mr Stratton's 
in evening;  
Stratton, G  3/6/67 G Stratton here [Abiram's];  

Strickland [New Britain]  4/12/69 started with a load of sugar stayed to Strickland New Britain Jeremy Moore stayed with
me;  4/13/69 went to Meriden sold out came back to New Brittain fed came to Unionville stayed all night;  

Strong  1/26/70 L Granger Martha Claflin & Minnie Smith went up to Cold Spring & Strong; carried them to Claflin's;  
Strong, Frank  3/2/70 Frank Strong & wife went up [on the stage];  
Sutton, W  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XW Sutton  X72;  
Swenzen, C  1/31/63  went to Colebrook carried down some hoops & bedding [?] to Swenzen;  [Beef 1864? 4th page]  
XC Swenzen  X138;  3/12/72 Father carried the gathering tub down to Swenzen;  
Swetman, L  6/2/63 worked on the road held scraper with L Swetman [?];  
Sykes, Jesse [Suffield CT]  10/16/63 went with John [Hodges] to Suffield with cattle stayed with Jesse Sykes;  10/17/63 
came home got home 8 o'clock stayed to J Hodges all night;  

Taft, A  11/23/71 carried Augusta & Alila Doyle home took dinner with them saw Josephine had a very good pleasant 
visit Agusta came over to A Taft's with me enjoyed her company very much, came to Del's;  
Taft, Atwood  2/20/70 went to Church in the afternoon & evening [in Otis?] Mr Atwood Taft [?];  
Tarington, G  3/15/65 G Tarington moved his grocery [Salisbury CT?];  
Tarnter, Corinth  11/5/65 went Grandfather's he was sick George & his wife & Uncle Silas were there came home with 
Father Rat Hale James Williams & wife Corinth & J [?] Tarnter [?] came in the evening;  
Tarnter, J  11/5/65 went Grandfather's he was sick George & his wife & Uncle Silas were there came home with Father 
Rat Hale James Williams & wife Corinth & J [?] Tarnter [?] came in the evening;  
Taylor, Mrs  7/3/67 went over to Captain's to a raising Aunt Julia & Mrs Taylor came up;  
Telancher, [?] Mr  4/16/62 went to funeral of Mr Telancher [?] with a sleigh brought the corpse down;  
Tespic,  6/22/62 sermon by Mr Tespic [possibly Feifield?] [in CT?];  

Thatcher,  1/6/63 sawed wood for Thatcher;  1/10/63 sawed wood for Thatcher;  1/12/63 sawed wood for Thatcher;  
Thomas,  4/17/62 Thomas left Captains;  
Thompson  10/29/71 went over to Del's took supper went over across to N [?] Smith's across to Thompson's out to 
Colebrook to Ira Smith spent the eve with Emma;  
Thompson, Ed  6/6/72 Ed Thompson called [at Ira Smith's];  
Thomson  10/22/64 5 of us hired Thomson to carry us to Canaan went to a dance in the evening;  11/5/64 went down 
to Thomson's in evening;  11/6/64 went home Thomson carried us to New Marlboro;  11/21/64 hired Thomson to bring 
us to Sandisfield;  11/25/64 came back to Salisbury Truman brought us to New Marlboro Thomson home;  12/6/64 M 
Hibbart E Hale Del & I hired Thomson to take us to Barrington;  
Thorit  2/16/66 Very cold sit in the house at Grandfather's Eugenia & Thorit came down in the evening;  2/18/66 Thorit 
& Osborne went up to Uncle Abiram went up to Griffin's;  
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Thorpe, Charles  2/18/65 cut wood went up to S Loomis' went up on Mt Ragge to a dance C Thorpe carried up a load 
12 of us went up;  3/3/65 went up to Mac ground my ax went up to Charlie Thorpe up to Sam's;  3/5/65 went to Hillsdale
in the afternoon with C Thorpe Ellen & Mary Jane Brown & Saira [?] stayed all night to Agustus Holtsapple;  6/11/65 
Ellen & Jane came down Charlie [Thorpe?] & Sohn [meant to write "John"? [Woodin?] went up in the bush got some 
winter greens;  8/27/65 Charles Thorpe came down [to Del's, Salisbury?] in the evening;  9/1/65 went up to Ellen 
Brown's over to Chapinville with C Thorpe went up to G Bunce's Sheffield to a dance;  11/28/65 C Thorpe & J Watson 
came down in the evening;  12/7/65 went up to Sam's he & Will S Winter C Thorpe Mary Jane & Ellen Brown took 
supper to Del's we all went to Bunce's to Thanksgiving Ball;  12/8/65 Will & Charlie came down [to Del's] threshed a 
little;  12/15/65 went up to the store sold H Candec [Candee?] 3 mink for $21.50 walked to Canaan with Charlie Thorpe 
took the stage for Winsted stayed to Darling's over night;  
Thorpe, Charles [contd]  12/19/65 Mary Jane C Thorpe & I came to Canaan with Coons Charlie & I came to Winsted;  
12/23/65 came up to the River with Charlie stayed to Sheff's overnight;  12/30/65 came to Salisbury with Charles 
Thorpe had a team of Austin;  1/1/66 Employed at the Hoe shop Winsted & to work heating for C Thorpe;  1/26/66 
hired a team of Tuttle Charlie & I came to Salisbury through the Falls stayed to Del's;  1/27/66 James Woodin Charlie & 
I went to the Falls & to Lakeville went up to A McCarther down to Woodin's in the evening;  1/28/66 Charlie fixed the 
shay came back to Winsted took supper to Biddeford's;  1/31/66 Charlie & Jim went to Mill brook went to Donation;  
2/1/66 Charlie Wm Mason & I went to Mill Brook to a dance had Tuttle's horse;  2/7/66 Truman came down went to 
New Boston with him to a Ball Charles went;  3/30/66 went up on Sackett's bush stayed to Sam's [Loomis]...C Thorpe 
came up from Winsted;  
Thorpe, Charles [contd]  Memoranda [1866 diary]  C [?] C Thorpe  Dr  Dec 22nd 1865  By 1 pair gloves $2.25  By Cash 

$0.40 Jan 2nd By team to Salisbury $4.50 By cash $1.00 By cash $2.00 Mill Brook dance $1.25 Board over Sunday 
dance $1.00 [Sum of all except last entry = $11.40]  [Whole list "X"ed out.];  
Thorpe, Chester  12/16/65 came [back to Del's, Salisbury?] from Winsted mended a pair of boots went up to the store 
in the evening Chester Thorpe died;  12/17/65 went up to Sam's watched with the corpse of Chester Thorpe;  12/18/65 
went to the funeral of Chester Thorpe;  
Thorpe, Joel D  8/29/71 went down to Sheff's with Bravo up by Howard's took tea Mrs Hazard was there from Atcheson 
Kansas, Joel D Thorpe was buried at Colebrook River;  
Thurston  4/10/66 started with a load of sugar down through New Hartford Canton Simsbury to Tarifville [sic] stayed to 
Thurston's;  
Tiffany, David,  2/25/63  David Tiffany & wife [&?] Mrs Case came here [S Murphy's?] in the evening;  
Tiffany, L  5/20/69 came to Tiffany's [Winsted] to board [peeling bark for A M Perkins];  5/23/69 went over to H 
Hotchkiss with Dimock came back to Tiffany;  5/26/69 Tiffany & wife went to New Hartford in eve;  6/7/69 peeled and 
stacked bark Circus to Winsted Lane & Tiffany went;  6/12/69 peeled bark and stacked Lane & Tiffany came in the 
woods;  6/23/69 came back [from Lu Hotchkiss, Winsted] to Tiffany's peeled bark Hiram Parsons called;  [Memoranda 

1869] Board to Tiffany June 26th 3 weeks Lost time 4 days;  9/5/69 came down to Sheff's took supper came down to 
Tiffany's to pile bark;  5/29/70 [Different Tiffany?] went up to Cotton's came home & went to bed went over to L Tiffany 
in evening with Dim;  7/14/70  went down to Tiffany in the evening;  10/16/70 went up into Tiffany's woods in the 
morning;  10/21/70 cut logs for Lawrence went down to the PO in the evening called to Tiffany's;  12/27/70 went up on 
Tiffany cut some sled stakes;  1/6/71 went down to Harger's to L Tiffany's in the forenoon went up to Wm Howd's & to 
A Cowles's played Euchre;  4/21/71 L Tiffany came up [to L Smith's?];  

Tiffany, Mrs  2/21/71 Mrs Tiffany here a visting [at L Smith's?] H Parsons and two Sisters came up & spent the evening; 
Tinker, Deacon  5/10/64 Deacon Tinker & B Moore called on religious affairs;  7/22/72 Dea Tinker was buried;  
Tinker, Edward,  3/8/63  Edward Tinkers wife buried;  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  XE Tinker [?]  X54;  3/21/64 went down to 
E L Tinker bought some iron;  3/22/64 went down to Tinkers got a load of iron;  
Tirrel, S  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XS Tirrel  X100;  
Treat, Erwin  6/24/67 Erwin Treat & his wife came over [to Father's];  5/19/68 Erwin Treat called;  12/1/68 Father & 
Lyman went to an auction to Treat's;  

Treat, G  5/29/63 went to Robinson in the morning to work fixed fence G Treat helped;  3/19/71 carried Lib over to G 
Treat's stayed to L Smith's all night;  6/27/71 G Treat & wife came over;  8/3/72 G Treat & wife called at Father's;  
Treat, Lester  6/26/68 worked on the road Lester Treat horse run down the mountan injuring a Mrs Eggleston fatally 
supposed at the time;  11/24/68 went to New Boston in morning & evening went over to L Treat's auction Lyman rode 
over with us;  
Treat, Lizzie  5/19/70 peeled bark went over to F Bailey's in the eve played cards, Lizzie Treat was there;  
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Treat, Mrs  7/6/63 went & got Mrs Treat went to New Boston;  7/11/63 Mrs Treat went home;  10/24/63 Father took the 
colt over to Granville to Champlain carried Mrs Treat home;  3/21/64 Mrs Treat here a sewing;  3/26/64 carried Mrs 
Treat home;  8/19/64 Mrs Treat here a sewing;  9/19/67 went up home Mrs Treat was there a sewing;  11/18/67 went 
down to O E [?] Slocum's got Mrs Treat;  11/21/67 Mrs Treat went over to S Hale's;  3/10/68 Mrs Treat here sewing;  
12/7/68 Mrs Treat came out;  12/9/68 carried Mrs Treat home went up to J Snow's with Charlie in eve;  12/14/68 Mrs 

Treat came out to work;  [Cash Account 1870] July 28th Silk for Mrs Treat $0.50;  [Cash Account 1870] September 29 
Mrs Treat $0.50 Received;  
Treat, William  1/25/69 Mr Wm Treat came over stayed all night;  1/26/69 done chores visited with Treat;  2/24/69 Mr 
Treat came over stayed all night;  2/25/69 Mr Treat stayed here;  2/26/69 Del carried Treat to Winsted;  5/1/69 Wm 
Treat came here;  5/2/69 Rained hard all day sit in house read done chores Wm Treat & Mozart were here trees 
covered with ice;  6/29/69 Treat came over;  1/16/72 Father & the girls went over to West Granville to attend the funeral 
of Wm Treat;  
Truit, S  [Beef 1864?] XS Truit [?]  X132;  
Tuttle  2/25/65 went up to Sheffield [from Del's?] over to an auction at Tuttle's;  1/26/66 hired a team of Tuttle Charlie & 
I came to Salisbury through the Falls stayed to Del's;  2/1/66 Charlie Wm Mason & I went to Mill Brook to a dance had 
Tuttle's horse;  
Tuttle, H  11/27/69 L Caul [?] H Tuttle came from B to CS [New Boston to Cold Spring? on stage];  
Twining,  2/6/72 went...up to O E Snow's Twining barn got two loads of hay;  

Twining, Alphonzo  12/21/63 shod a pair of cattle for A Twining;  11/21/67 shod a horse for A Twining;  12/18/67 
Alphonzo Twining came over & got his oxen shod;  12/11/68 shod A Twining's oxen;  4/23/69 shod A Twining's stags;  
Twining, Alexander  2/28/62 A Twining died;  3/1/62 March 1 Alexander Twining died Sinking Typhoid;  3/5/62 Mr A 
Twining buried;  

Twining, Corinthe  2/17/70 Corintha Smith & Corinthe [sic] Twining came [on the stage] from New Boston to Otis;  

Twining, Dea P T  10/19/62 went to meeting down to Dea Twinning [sic] rained stayed all night;  9/14/63 Father shod 
the Deacons horse;  3/28/64 shod...a horse for Dea Twining;  12/24/67 shod Deacon's horse;  2/14/68 went down to 
the mill called to Dea Twining's went to Winsted with Lib stayed to Joe's all night;  4/21/68 shod...a horse for Dea 

Twining;  [1868 Cash Account] May 5th [?] P T Twining use of sap place $8.00;  7/12/68 went to Church half a day went 
to Dea Twining's to prayer meeting;  3/19/69 went over to S Hale's down to Dea Twining's in evening;  9/15/69 Dea P T 
Twining very sick;  9/18/70 went over to L Twining's went down to Dea to meeting with Anson Rat came over;  12/23/70 
Shod Dea horse;  1/10/71 shod Dea Twining horse [for Father];  4/14/71 went to New Boston in the evening settled with 

Dea about the sap place;  [Cash Account April 1871] 14th P T Twining sugar $43.00 Paid;  
Twining, Mrs Dea  3/25/69 Mrs Dea Twining, Webber & Mary came up;  

Twining, George  1/16/63  went to school saw George Twining;  10/10/71 George Twining came here stayed all night;  
10/11/71 went up to Cotton's with George went to Granville with a load of boards stayed to Smith's all night;  
Twining, Homer  1/27/68 Homer Twining baby died, went over to Lyman in evening;  9/5/68 found a bee tree on 
Homer's near Lyman's spring;  4/22/69 a son born to Homer Twining, 12 lbs;  9/23/69 Lib came home from Homer's;  
4/13/70 fixed the road in the afternoon called to H Twining's to tea;  6/4/70 came home [from peeling bark for Hull] in 
the afternoon called to Hall's & to Homer's;  9/2/70 went down to Homer's;  1/3/71 Tin wedding at Homer Twining's;  
4/6/71 Homer came up got some chains mended;  4/11/71 set a cart tire for Homer Twining;  6/15/71 worked on the 
road by the old school house & down by Homer's;  6/16/71 worked on the road by Homer's Roger's barn got nearly 
home;  8/31/71 worked for John Cotton haying Homer & Giles worked for him;  1/13/72 shod Homer's horse;  2/28/72 
Homer & Nelson Twining & Cotton here in evening;  
Twining, Lewis [some L Twinings = Lewis?]  12/4/67 shod Lewis Twining's horse;  [Cash Account 1872] March 29th 

Received check of A Hull for $110  $110.00 Received Note to Lewis Twining $109.50;  [Cash Account 1872] April 5th L 
Twining acct $15.60;  
Twining, Lucius  4/13/71 went over to Lucius Twining's with Bell;  
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Twining, Lyman  3/16/62 L Twining, A Cowles, H Hotchkiss called in Father very sick;  4/9/62 Father went over to L 
Twining for the first time;  4/21/62 went to Canton broke L [M, or N?] Twining's Sulky axle;  11/22/62 killed a pig for 
Twining;  11/29/62 killed cow for L Twining;  12/1/62 done chores for L Twining;  1/6/63 shod horse for L Twining;  
6/9/63 went over to L Twining in evening;  6/20/63 worked on the road for L Twining;  7/8/63 Mr Twining visited here;  
9/25/63 went over to L Twining's pretty sore hurt me to walk;  9/28/63 2 shoes for L Twining;  12/8/63 went to New 
Boston with Lyman got some cloth;  11/21/63 went over to Lyman's got a [tumbrel?];  12/12/63 shod a horse for L 
Twining;  1/8/64 bought a pair of steers of L Twining paid $110...came home [from Otis];  1/10/64 went over to prayer 

meeting at L Twining's;  [Beef 1864? 3rd page]  XL T Twining X50;  1/21/64 went over to L Twining's to a meeting went 
home with Georgie;  2/11/64 went over to Lyman Twining in the evening;  6/27/64 went over to L Twining's borrowed 15 
dollars;  9/20/64 peddled meat stayed to Lyman Twining all night;  

Twining, Lyman [contd]  9/21/64 went to Winsted to Circus had Lyman's horse;  3/27/66 went over to Lyman Twining's 
in the evening;  3/18/67 Lyman Twining & wife Nelson & wife came up in the afternoon [Truman died 3/16];  3/25/67 

shod L Twining's horse;  4/28/67 went over to meeting to L Twining in eve;  [1867] Cash Account May...15th Borrowed 

of Lyman Twining $30.00 15th 1 cow $42.00;  9/28/67 shod 2 horses for L Twining;  11/21/67 shod a pair of horses for L 

Twining;  11/26/67 went over to L Twining in the evening;  Cash Account November 26th Borrowed of Lyman Twining 
$15.00;  12/4/67 killed a hog for Lyman Twining;  12/13/67 shod Lymans horse;  12/23/67 shod a pair [of horses?] for L 

[S?] Twining;  [1868 Cash Account Jan] [Jan] 19th Lyman Twining acc 1867 $10.00;  1/23/68 went over to L Twining's in 
evening;  1/27/68 Homer Twining baby died, went over to Lyman in evening;  3/4/68 went over to L Twining in forenoon 

broke roads in afternoon.  A very severe blow;  3/23/68 shod L Twining oxen;  [1868 Cash Account April 11th L Twining $

Twining, Lyman [contd]  5/7/68 went over to L Twining's in eve;  5/21/68 blasted out a rock west of L Twining's;  6/1/68 
finished planting corn & potatoes Lyman & Mike helped us;  6/30/68 went over & bled my steers & Lyman's;  7/6/68 
mowed for Lyman Twining;  7/8/68 went over to L Twining's worked 3 hours;  7/10/68 worked for Twining;  7/11/68 
mowed in the lower lot for Twining got in 4 loads Father worked for him;  7/13/68 the hottest day ever worked mowed 
for L Twining;  9/5/68 found a bee tree on Homer's near Lyman's spring;  9/15/68 worked on the road over by L 
Twining's;  9/17/68 went over to Lyman's in evening;  11/12/68 went over to L Twining's in evening settled with him due 
him $1.50;  11/24/68 went to New Boston in morning & evening went over to L Treat's auction Lyman rode over with us; 
12/1/68 Father & Lyman went to auction to Treat's;  1/9/69 drew 2 loads of hay from Chestnut hill had Lyman's oxen;  
1/25/69 shod N & L Twining's horses;  1/27/69 shod Lyman Twining's horse;  1/28/69 finished drawing logs for Twining 
3 loads 12 logs went over to L Twinings in evening...72 logs in all;  
Twining, Lyman [contd]  3/10/69 went over to L Twining's in afternoon;  3/15/69 went over to L Twining's in the evening; 
3/30/69 went over to L Twining's;  4/1/69 cut wood for L Twining;  4/23/69 cut wood for L Twining in forenoon;  4/24/69 
finished Lyman's wood pile;  5/10/69 helped L Twining in forenoon;  5/19/69 shod Lyman's horse;  8/5/69 mowed on 
Lyman linnie lot;  8/6/69 finished [haying] over to Lyman's;  10/24/69 went over to L Twinings in the eve;  [Cash Account

1869 Nov] 17th Lyman Twining $1.50;  3/22/70 went over to L Twining's in the evening;  3/29/70 went over to L 
Twining's;  9/17/70 went up to Nel Hale's carried his saw home went over to L Twining's took supper Jane Hale was 
there;  9/18/70 went over to L Twining's went down to Dea to meeting with Anson Rat came over;  10/29/70 went over 
to L Twining's in the evening;  11/26/70 went over to L Twining in the evening;  12/17/70 came over home [from L 
Smith's?] went over to L Twining's in evening;  1/9/71 shod horses for Father, [one for] L Twining;  1/10/71 went over to 
L Twining in evening saw a fire in the west...Gov Hull propt burned Sandisfield;  
Twining, Lyman [contd]  2/15/69 went to L Twining's in evening;  1/11/71 went over to L Twining's got 2 bush apples;  

[Memoranda 1871 diary] Dr to Lyman Twining Oct 1870 For 4 bush apples $2.00 Jan 10th 1871 For 2 bush apples 
$1.50  "no price agreed" penciled in [later?] $3.50 Also in pencil Jan 10 Bark $9.36 - 1560 lbs Trees on Linsy [Linny?] 

lot $10.00 cash $22.86;  [Memoranda 1871 diary] L Twining Dr By digging potatoes 21/2 days $3.25 Drawing wood & 
bark $4.50 Haying 2 days $4.50 = $12.25 [subtracted from $22.86 = $10.61;  3/7/71 watched with L Twining;  3/22/71 
took care of L Twining during the night;  6/2/71 helped Father over to Lyman Twining raise an addition on the back of 
his house;  6/13/71 went over to L Twining's in the evening;  7/7/71 C Denslow J & F Cotton Father & I worked for L 
Twining at haying;  7/8/71 worked for L Twining finished him out at home;  8/4/71 mowed in Lyman Twining's pasture 
by the school house;  8/13/71 got L Twining's horse went to L Smith's rode out [to Father's] with Emma;  9/18/71 got in 
Lyman Twining corn;  9/27/71 dug potatoes for L Twining;  
Twining, Lyman [contd]  10/19/71 went over to L Twining's;  11/6/71 Father and I helped Erastus Hale cut sap wood on 
L Twining's went over there in evening;  11/25/71 helped clean up L Twining's oats;  12/29/71 shod a horse for L 
Twining;  1/10/72 took what bark Father & L Twining had to Hull;  1/12/72 drew 3 loads of wood for L Twining;  1/17/72 

Lyman Twining came over;  2/3/72 went over to L Twining's in the evening;  [Cash Account 1872] Feb 2nd Borrowed L 
Twining $10.00;  2/29/72 drew sap wood for Erastus Hale on Lyman Twining's;  3/9/72 Cotton & I went up to the 
Twining farm got two small loads of hay;  3/12/72 drew two loads of wood for Lyman Twining;  3/27/72 drew some 
wood for L Twining;  4/25/72 got a load of hay of Ly Twining;  
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Twinings Mill  11/4/67 went down to Twining's mill got some plank;  12/19/71 drew two loads of logs to Twining's mill for 
Cotton;  2/12/72 drew three loads of logs for Cotton to Twining's mill;  
Twining, Mrs L  1/28/64 Mrs Twining visited here;  11/20/68 Grandmother & Mother visited Mrs L Twining;  
Twining, Mrs Dea  3/25/69 Mrs Dea Twining, Webber & Mary came up;
Twining, Nelson B  10/3/63 set 2 shoes on N Twining horse;  11/28/63 Shod a pair of stags for N B Twining;  [1864] 
Memoranda  [Beef bought of] N B Twining  [$]32;  1/19/64 shod a pair of stags for N Twining;  5/9/64 Father shod a 
horse for N Twining;  8/30/66 commenced chopping for Nelson boarded to J P Hall's;  [Cash Account] Oct 1866 

received $43.371/2 for cutting 863/4 cords wood for N B Twining;  3/18/67 Lyman Twining & wife Nelson & wife came up 
in the afternoon [Truman died 3/16];  5/20/67 shod a horse for N B Twining;  9/6/67 shod a pair of cattle for Nelson 
Twining;  12/11/67 shod Nelson Twinings oxen;  2/21/68 shod Nelson's horse;  2/27/68 went to New Boston in eve 

called to N Twining's got some molasses candy;  5/14/68 shod N Twining's oxen;  [1868 Cash Account] June 12th N B 
Twining $20.00 Received;  9/21/68 Nelson Twining came up in evening;  11/21/68 shod Jim & N Twining's horse;  

11/26/68 went down to N Twining's got a turkey;  [1868 Cash Account] November 26th N Twining drawing wood $14.50 
Received;  1/25/69 shod N & L Twining's horses;  
Twining, Nelson B [contd]  4/21/69 shod N B Twinings oxen;  11/15/69 sawed logs on N Twining's west of the Job 
house;  7/29/71 shod N B Twining's colt;  2/28/72 Homer & Nelson Twining & Cotton here in evening;  3/4/72 N B 
Twining G L Marshall & F S Hale Selectmen;  
Twining, William  12/28/71 Cotton came down and we went to Otis up to Wm Twining's;  
Tyler Place  3/12/69 went to the Tyler place with Luc Mrs H rode down town & back with me; came home by the old 
place;  

Tyler, F D  1/24/66 went down to the office of F D Tyler got a writ for Mike Hibbard;  3/10/66 came down to Winsted 
with Father saw F D Tyler done some business with him stayed to Seth Maltbie over night;  3/13/66 Mike Hibbard came 
up to settle wrote to Tyler;  4/22/66 Wrote to F D Tyler;  3/12/69 went to the Tyler place with Luc [Hotchkiss?];  
Tyrrel, N  April 15, 1871 Cash Accts paid N Tyrell $4 for taking up and removing corpses;  
Tyrrel, [?] S [?]  1/3/63  shod a pair of oxen for S [?] Tyrrel [?];  

Uncle Gilbert  3/6/70 went up to Howard's called to Uncle [possibly meant to say "called to Uncle Abiram's, and 
Gilbert's; Griffin's folks came over"?] Gilberts Griffins folks came over spent to [sic] evening;

Vales, Wilb[ur?] [same as Will Viles?]  9/28/65 went to cattle show to Barrington with Wilb [?] Vales, Ellen & Mary Jane 
Brown;  
Van Hice, Ellen  12/11/69 Ellen Van Hice [Hull?] died to Flint's;  

Van Wert, J  8/14/66 Father shod a pair of cattle for Vanwert;  9/7/70 went over to Van Wert's with Dim bought some 

hay;  [Cash Account 1870] September 7th J Van Wert for hay $17.00;  9/8/70 went over to Van Wert's paid him for the 
hay $135.00 came down to L Smith's sawed logs in afternoon;  10/31/70 got Deac [?] Shephard's cart went up to Van 
Wert's got two loads of hay;  12/7/70 went up to Van Wert's [with Pebbles cart] got two loads of hay;  12/8/70 went to 
Van Wert's got two loads of hay;  5/20/71 went up to Van Wert's got some hay;  
Veit, Mr [S?]  3/4/62 carried Eugenia Griffin to New Boston & Francis Bidwell to Mr Veits's stayed to tea; 12/13/66 
Abiram went over to Viet's [sic] to Thanksgiving;  12/21/66 went over [from Abiram's?] to meeting to Viets's in the eve;  
2/11/67 went over with By to North Norfolk to hire a Wilcox girl took supper at Viet's;  2/24/67 went over to True's 
Fargo's, S [?] Viet's;  3/2/67 By went to New Boston Harvey & Fannie came from Viet's;  11/8/67 went [from Abiram's] 
up to Viet's in the evening;  
Viles, Will [or "Viles"?]  9/28/65 went to cattle show to Barrington with Wilb Vales, Ellen & Mary Jane Brown;  12/1/65 
went and looked at some wood on the old bush with Will Viles;  12/2/65 Will & I helped Del get wood;  12/4/65 helped 
Will saw some logs on the old bush stayed with him all night;  12/5/65 Helped Will split logs;  12/6/65 butchered Del's 
hog Will helped us he weighed 425 lbs helped Will in the afternoon split logs;  12/7/65 went up to Sam's he & Will S 
Winter C Thorpe Mary Jane & Ellen Brown took supper to Del's we all went to Bunce's to Thanksgiving Ball;  12/8/65 
Will & Charlie came down [to Del's] threshed a little;  3/14/66 went up on Sackett's bush [Chapinville?] with Will [Vales?] 
stayed with him all night;  9/29/66 went up to Sam's over to Chapinville with Will & Lant down to Del's dug potatoes 
went up to H Morriso[n's?];  9/30/68 went to Barrington with Del to Cattle Show started at 3 o'clock went down to 
Scoville over to Chapinville called to Doyle's stayed with Will to Sam's;  10/1/68 drove up to Barrington Will rode up with 
me spent the day on the fair ground;  

Warner  11/21/71 split out some pin timber [at S Loomis] went over to East Canaan stayed to Warner's Hotel called in 
the evening at A Holsapple Jennie was there;  
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Warner, Joel  2/2/62 very sick the sickest day I ever knew W Holcomb J Warner called in Dr Wilcox came in AM 
Holcomb watch;  2/3/62 little better but pretty sick Dr called Miss Burick & J Warner were here all day Joel stayed all 
night;  2/5/62 Mrs Burick & J Warner were here in the afternoon;  2/12/62 went up to J Holcombs played cards with Joel 
Warner;  2/14/62 went up to Mrs Burick played cards with J Warner;  
Warren  7/15/64 Warren & I mowed west of Halls house got in 2 loads;  1/25/68 carried a load of oats [from Chapinville] 
to the River came home Warren stayed here all night;  
Waters, Mrs  2/11/69 Hube & I went to Barrington saw Mrs Clark Hube got an examination from Mrs Waters;  10/1/69 
attended the [Barrington] fair stayed at the Union Dimock stayed with us went up to Mrs Waters in the eve attended the 
Circus;  10/2/69 attended the horse trot went to Mrs Waters looked at the PO [D?] stone came home D S came to New 
Marl.. with us;  
Waters, A & Company  [Cash Account 1872] Nov 13th A Waters & Co towards a stove $10.00 Tin $4.00 Dress pattern 
$1.12 Boxes $0.25;  
Watson, J  11/28/65 C Thorpe & J Watson came down in the evening;  
Webber  3/25/69 Mrs Dea Twining, Webber & Mary came up;  

Webber, Clara  3/21/67 Clara Webber & Larinda Hale called;  12/5/67 went over to Burt hill school house to a prayer 
meeting with Clara & Len;  12/21/67 Clara came up & stayed all night;  2/12/68 went over to Abiram's got a load of sap 
tubs shod Rollin Baldwin's horse went up to singing school Clara came up;  2/21/68 went to A Fowler's to the young 
folk's prayer meeting with Len & Clara;  2/26/68 went to prayer meeting with Len & Clara;  3/25/69 Mrs Dea Twining, 
Webber & Mary came up;  8/5/72 Clara Webber got thrown from a wagon and injured in East Granville;  
Welch, S  1/25/70 Ellie Beach came down S Welch went to Otis to call for a dance to Day's;  
Welden  1/21/68 Smith & Welden called made an application for an accidental insurance policy;  11/16/68 [Cash 
Account] Insurance accidental policy $15.00;  1/14/69 went to Winsted carried C Welden down saw Dr Bidwell made 
application for compensation on accident insurance;  
Wetzel, General  4/3/65 Richmond captured by Gen Wetzel [?] under Gen Grant it being abandoned;  
Whalon  6/8/69 went up to Whalon's in the evening [from Tiffany's, Riverton?];  6/13/69 went over to Riverton with 
Smith, over to Winsted around by Whalon's took supper;  
Wheeler  6/10/72 went down to Wheelers store [from Ira Smith's];  
Wheeler, D  12/3/63 bought some iron of D Wheeler [in West Granville?];  [Memoranda Iron D Wheeler 850 lbs];  
1/4/64 went over to West Granville got some old iron at Wheelers;  

Wheeler, H  8/25/71 Del & I went to Cannaan to Camp meeting stayed to H Wheeler all night had a dance there;  
Wheeler, W I   10/15/67 Cash Account 15th W I [?] Wheeler $0.50;  
Wheeler, Miss  9/29/65 went to cattle show Truman & Erastus Selenda & Miss Wheeler came down Erastus & Selenda 
stayed all night;  12/6/69 snowed all day quite hard went up with a sleigh Miss Wheeler two Hall ladies Miss Harrington 
Corlena & others a load came down;  
Whipple, Ruth  11/19/69 went over to B F Hale's in evening Ruth Whipple was there;  
White  1/19/66 went down to Billings & White [Winsted?] in evening;  
White, Reuben  4/22/70 Reuben White buried;  
White, Theresa  3/18/67 Lyman Twining & wife Nelson & wife came up in the afternoon [Truman died 3/16] went to the 
River Dr came up see mother Theresa rode up to Homer's;  3/27/67 Larinda & Theresa called;  11/28/67 Fransis Hale 
& Theresa White were married;  12/30/68 went up to Otis a fishing Theresa Salome Lurinda & Jane went; 1/29/69 
Theresa came over in afternoon;  
Whiting, J J  1/31/70 fair sleighing went up with a stag J J Whiting up to Otis [on the stage];  [Cash Account 1872] Oct 

19th Sent to J J Wh[i?]ting $20.00;  
Whitney  7/15/66 wrote to Mary Jane Georgia Cauldwell & Whitney;  
Whitney, Harrison  9/4/67 finished Fox's haying Father came over Rat & Harrison Whitney had a time [at Fox's?];  
11/22/68 H Whitney came over Father went over helped take care of Anson through the night;  11/29/68 H Whitney 
called in the morning;  12/15/68 H Whitney & wife came over;  
Whitney, William  5/22/70 Wm Whitney & Marie Robinson were married;  
Wilcox  2/11/67 went over with By to North Norfolk to hire a Wilcox girl took supper to Viet's;  
Wilcox, Dr  2/2/62 [In CT] very sick the sickest day I ever knew W Holcomb J Warner called in Dr Wilcox came in AM 
Holcomb watch [measles];  2/3/62 little better but pretty sick Dr called Miss Burick & J Warner were here all day Joel 
stayed all night;  2/4/62 a little better Dr called;  
Wilcox, Frank  2/15/70 Saw Frank Wilcox at Colebrook River;  
Wilcox, S [?]  4/10/62  Went to New Hartford with S [?] Brown stayed S [?] Wilcox over [or "bad"?] night;  
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Wilcox, H  4/1/64 H Wilcox came here bought some iron;  [1868 Cash Account Jan] 8th H Wilcox acc 67 $10.00;  [Cash 

Account 1869 Aug]  28th H Wilcox acct '68 $10.00;  [Cash Account 1869 Nov] 15th H Wilcox for merchandise $7.75;  

[Cash Account 1870] May 7th H Wilcox $10.00;  [Cash Account 1870] June 2nd H Wilcox & Co old acct $5.71;  
Wilcox, Miles  5/9/63 came home sold out my fish bought 2 sheep & a lamb of M Wilcox;  5/16/63 went down to 
Wilcox'es got my sheep;  5/19/66 bought 2 shad of Wilcox;  12/25/63 shod a horse for Miles Wilcox;  1/1/64 shod a pair 
of cattle for M Wilcox;  
Wilcox, Sarah  11/26/66 went [from Del's] up to McArthur over around by Hadsdell's Sarah Wilcox [Adelbert's 2nd wife?] 
came over Mary Jane came down stayed all night;  1/7/68 went over to Chapinville bought some oats went over to 
Sarah's [Wilcox, or Brown?] down to the Centre in eve with M J [Mary Jane?] stayed there all night;  5/11/68 Del & I 
went to Salisbury went over to Sarah [Wilcox, or Brown?] got Mary Jane stayed to Sam's;  11/24/70 went over to 
Father's eat Thanksgiving supper S Wilcox & Lib were there;  

Williams, E  10/1/68 drove up to Barrington Will rode up with me spent the day on the fair ground came home arrived at 

91/2 o'clock [full moon] bought a pig of E Williams;  [1868 Cash Account] October 2nd E Williams for pig $4.00;  
Williams, James  11/5/65 went Grandfather's he was sick George & his wife & Uncle Silas were there came home with 
Father Rat Hale James Williams & wife Corinth & J [?] Tarnter [?] came in the evening;  
Williams, Mrs  [Beef 1864?] Mrs Williams  X2.89;  [Beef 1864? 2nd page]  XMrs Williams  +35-60-54-20;  [Beef 1864? 

3rd page]  XMrs Williams  X66;  [Beef 1864? 5th page]  XMrs Williams  X33;  
Winter, Andrew  10/17/65 went up to Ellen's to Chapinville packed my trunk Andrew Winter was here went up to Hop's 
in the evening;  12/24/68 went down to Andrew Winters [from S Loomis] with Jennie Sam & Ellen came down towards 
night spent the night there;  12/25/68 Stayed to Andrew went up to Sams stayed there all night;
Winter, S [or "J"?]  12/7/65 went up to Sam's he & Will S [or "J"?] Winter C Thorpe Mary Jane & Ellen Brown took 
supper to Del's we all went to Bunce's to Thanksgiving Ball;  

Winters, David [Winsted area?]  9/8/65 David Winters & Fred Calender came to Holshapple's they went & got drunk;  
2/5/66 David Winters came down took dinner with us went down to the Office saw the play called the Dutch Lady[?];
Witherbee, Maria  4/5/65 saw Hiram Woodin at Maria Witherbee;  
Wolcott  1/27/70 Dowd came up to New Boston stayed all night W[?]olcout [Wolcott?] came up Lizzie Hall went up to 
Otis [on the stage];  
Wolcott, B  8/30/63 went over to Sandisfield funeral sermon of Lieutenant B Deming & B Wolcott F & G Allen H 
Richardson preached;  
Wolcott, Edward  2/21/62 Edward Wolcoot [sic] came up & looked at the steers;  11/12/66 went [from Del's] up on Mnt 
Ragge across onto Mnt Washington stayed to E Wolcott's T Lamson was there;  
Wolcott, Orlow  8/18/66 worked for Hewitt got in 3 load Orlow Wolcott came there bought some cattle went to New 
Boston with him;  

Woodin, Hiram  11/18/64 cut wood Hiram Woodin helped us;  12/21/64 cut wood in the forenoon went over to 
Chapinville in the afternoon H Woodin & I went up to [blank];  12/26/64 Hiram Woodin & I went down to the centre 
down to Milerton;  12/30/64 cut wood H Woodin started for home;  4/5/65 saw Hiram Woodin at Maria Witherbee;  
Woodin, N[?]ume  3/17/66 went to the center with Del & Nume [?] Woodin Mary Jane came down stayed;  
Woodin, James  1/27/66 James Woodin Charlie & I went to the Falls & to Lakeville went up to A McCarther down to 
Woodin's in the evening;  1/31/66 Charlie & Jim went to Mill brook went to Donation;  

Woodin, John  1/4/65 J Woodin cut wood in our strip;  1/5/65 John Woodin got through chopping;  6/11/65 Ellen & Jane 
came down Charlie [Thorpe?] & Sohn [meant to write "John"; Woodin?] went up in the bush got some winter greens;  
Woodin, [?] Libbe [?]  7/25/65 went over to Chapinville to get the oxen shod Dr came Lib Woodin sutchered [?];  
10/1/65 Ellen [Brown] was sick went up there in the evening Lib Woodin to work here [Dels, Salisbury?];  10/6/65 Lib & 
Laura went up to Ellen's in afternoon;  10/15/65 picked up some chestnuts in the afternoon Lib Woodin came up;  
10/16/65 Mary Jane came down [to Del's, Salisbury?] stayed all night Lant stayed here & Lib Woodin;  12/12/65 Lib 
Woodin came up stayed all night;  1/14/66 wrote to Libbe Woodin;  1/24/66 received a letter from Lib Woodin;  3/4/66 
wrote to Lib Woodin;  3/15/66 went down & see Lib Woodin with Agnes;  3/29/66 went down to Woodin's in the 
afternoon [from Del's];  
Woodin, Mrs  11/16/65 Mrs Woodin died;  11/18/65 Mrs Woodin buried;
Woodin, Ward  12/27/64 cut wood Ward Woodin's wife brought his children over to him & left them stayed here [at 
Adelbert's, Salisbury?];  12/28/64 cut wood in the afternoon Ward Woodins wife came here stayed all night;  
Wright  7/16/68 a tin peddler stayed here all night Wright from E Hartland;  7/27/68 Wright stayed here all night;  
9/25/68 Wright a tin peddler stayed all night;  
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Wright  7/3/69 went down to [New] Boston to a picnic Wright came along and put out;  
Wright  3/4/64 Hotchkiss moved from the Wright farm to Sandisfield;  3/23/68 set the Wright sap place in afternoon;  
3/26/68 gathered & boiled syruped down to the Wright place Charles Snow helped me;  3/28/68 Father gathered & 
boiled syruped off down to the Wright place;  3/31/68 boiled & syruped off down to the Wright place;  4/2/68 gathered 
sap on the Wright place sugared off;  4/12/68 gathered 2 turns on the Wright place just at night;  7/27/68 Wright stayed 
here all night;  8/11/68 saw Nel run a mowing machine down on the Wright place;  2/24/69 hooped sap tubs in the 
Wright house;  2/28/69 yoked the oxen drove to the Wright place;  3/22/69 scalded and scattered tubs on the Wright 
place;  4/4/69 syruped down to both Wrights places;  11/3/69 cut sap wood on the Wright place;  3/30/70 scattered sap 
tubs on the Wright place;  4/8/70 set sap trees on Father's set a pan on the Wright place;  4/11/70 gathered sap on the 
Wright place 6 bbls syrup down on Father's;  3/4/71 scalded and scattered sap tubs on the Wright place set the grove 
sap run well;  3/7/71 Father & Del set sap trees on the Wright place;
Wright [contd]  3/9/71 gathered sap all day on the Wright place gathered 35 bbs;  3/10/71 Father & I gathered Sap in 
his works syruped off on the Wright place;  3/14/71 gathered sap in the afternoon on the Wright place 17 bbls;  3/15/71 
syruped off on the Wright place;  3/17/71 gathered sap on the Wright place in the afternoon;  3/18/71 gathered and 
boiled sap on the Wright place;  3/19/71 Del syruped off on the Wright place;  3/29/71 gathered two turns on the north 
Wright place;  4/5/71 syruped off in the evening at both Wright places the last time;  3/20/72 cut sap wood on the 
Wright place Del helped me;  3/22/72 drew sap wood on the Wright place;  3/27/72 scalded tubs on the Wright place;  
3/28/72 scattered sap tubs on the Wright place;  3/30/72 set sap trees on the Wright place did not run very well;  4/3/72 
set sap trees on the Wright place;  4/4/72 gathered 9 bbls of sap in afternoon on the Wright place boiled sap;  4/5/72  
syruped off on the Wright place;  4/6/72 gathered 9 bbls of sap on the Wright place;  4/7/72 boiled sap on the Wright 
place syruped off;  4/13/72 sugared off on the Wright place;
Wright [contd]  4/17/72 gathered and boiled sap on the Wright place syruped off;  4/18/72 gathered and boiled sap on 
the Wright place syruped off;  [Memoranda 1872 diary] Lbs Sugar Wright place  E Fowler  137 [+] R Smith  234 [+] 20 
[sum =] 391;  
Wright, E [New Marlboro?]  3/17/65 came to Ashley Falls took the cars to Barrington stage to New Marlboro stayed to E 
Wright's overnight;  
Wright, H  5/16/70  went down to Northway's peeled bark came home at night H Wright stayed here;  
Wright, Mrs  7/8/63 went to Montville with Lu, Georgie & her Mother & Mrs Wright;  5/22/64 called on Mrs Wright in 
evening;  7/2/64 white washed the kitchen & some for Mrs Wright;  

Young  12/29/69 Dowd's wife visited at Young's [?] Riverton Jane kept house for her;  
Young, Mrs  12/14/69 went a bait fishing over to Sheff's Mrs Young came down [on the stage, or to Sheff's?];  


